De Giorgi-Nash-Moser estimates for evolutionary partial integro-differential equations

Habilitationsschrift

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Dr. rer. nat. habil.

vorgelegt der

Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät III der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg

von

Herrn Dr. rer. nat. Rico Zacher geb. am: 04. Dezember 1973 in: Weimar

Gutachter:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Jan Prüß, Halle (Saale)
- 2. Prof. Dr. Ugo Gianazza, Pavia
- 3. Prof. Dr. Stig-Olof Londen, Helsinki

Halle (Saale), 17. Dezember 2010 (Tag der Verteidigung)

To Nina and Juliana

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	3		
	1.1	Evolutionary partial integro-differential equations	3		
	1.2	Applications in physics	4		
	1.3	Main objectives and literature	5		
	1.4	Overview	7		
2	Preliminaries 1				
	2.1	Some notation	11		
	2.2	Kernels of type \mathcal{PC}	11		
	2.3	A fundamental identity for integro-differential operators of the form $\frac{d}{dt}(k * u)$	13		
	2.4	Auxiliary lemmas on fast geometric convergence	14		
	2.5	Moser iterations and an abstract lemma of Bombieri and Giusti	15		
	2.6	Weighted Poincaré inequalities	17		
	2.7	Parabolic embeddings	18		
	2.8	L_p -estimates for linear equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	19		
3	Abstract equations in Hilbert spaces 22				
	3.1	Setting and introductory remarks	21		
	3.2	A basic interpolation result	22		
	3.3	The main existence and uniqueness result	24		
	3.4	Second order problems	31		
4	Boundedness of weak solutions and the maximum principle 33				
	4.1	Introductory remarks	33		
	4.2	Linear equations	34		
	4.3	Quasilinear equations	42		
	4.4	Degenerate and singular problems	45		
5	The weak Harnack inequality 47				
	5.1	Introductory remarks and the weak Harnack estimate	47		
	5.2	The regularized weak formulation, time shifts, and scalings	49		
	5.3	Mean value inequalities	50		
	5.4	Logarithmic estimates	57		
	5.5	The final step of the proof	64		
	5.6	Optimality of the exponent $\frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$ in the weak Harnack inequality	66		
	5.7	Applications of the weak Harnack inequality	67		

6	Höl	der estimates for weak solutions of fractional evolution equations	71		
	6.1	The main regularity theorem	71		
	6.2	A basic nonlocal growth lemma	73		
	6.3	An L_2 -estimate for v on a cylinder containing $Q(\rho)$	80		
	6.4	A sup-bound for v on the cylinder $Q(\rho)$	86		
	6.5	Oscillation estimates	94		
	6.6	Regularity up to $t = 0$	99		
	6.7	Regularity up to the parabolic boundary	102		
7 Global solvability of a quasilinear problem					
	7.1	The global solvability theorem	105		
	7.2	Proof of the theorem	105		
8 The Harnack inequality for the fractional derivation operator			111		
	8.1	Harnack inequalities and the main result	111		
	8.2	Proof of the Harnack inequality	113		
	8.3	Counterexamples	114		
	8.4	Nonhomogeneous fractional differential equations	116		
Bi	Bibliography 1				

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Evolutionary partial integro-differential equations

The present contribution is devoted to the study of some classes of linear and quasilinear partial integro-differential equations which can be all written in the general form

$$\partial_t \int_0^t k(t-\tau) \Big(u(\tau, x) - u_0(x) \Big) d\tau - \operatorname{div} a \big(t, x, u(t, x), Du(t, x) \big) \\ = b \big(t, x, u(t, x), Du(t, x) \big), \quad t \in (0, T), \, x \in \Omega.$$
(1.1)

Here T > 0, Ω is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N , $u : [0, T] \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is the unknown, and Du stands for the gradient of u with respect to the spatial variables. The function u_0 is given and plays the role of the initial data for u, that is $u|_{t=0} = u_0$ in Ω .

The kernel $k \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is assumed to be of type \mathcal{PC} by which we mean the following:

(K) k is nonnegative and nonincreasing, and there exists a kernel $l \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that k * l = 1 in $(0, \infty)$.

Here and in what follows k * v denotes the convolution on the positive halfline with respect to the time variable, that is, $(k * v)(t) = \int_0^t k(t - \tau)v(\tau) d\tau$, $t \ge 0$. If $k \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ satisfies (K) we also write $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$. Note that $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$ implies that l is completely positive, in particular l is nonnegative, cf. [15, Theorem 2.2 and Proposition 2.1].

An important example is given by

$$k(t) = g_{1-\alpha}(t)e^{-\gamma t} \text{ and } l(t) = g_{\alpha}(t)e^{-\gamma t} + \gamma(1 * [g_{\alpha}(\cdot)e^{-\gamma \cdot}])(t), \quad t > 0,$$
(1.2)

where $\alpha \in (0, 1), \gamma \geq 0$, and g_{β} denotes the Riemann-Liouville kernel

$$g_{\beta}(t) = \frac{t^{\beta-1}}{\Gamma(\beta)}, \ t > 0, \ \beta > 0.$$

Both kernels in (1.2) are strictly positive and decreasing; observe that $\dot{l}(t) = \dot{g}_{\alpha}(t)e^{-\gamma t} < 0$, t > 0. Their Laplace transforms are given by

$$\hat{k}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{(\lambda + \gamma)^{1-\alpha}}, \quad \hat{l}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{(\lambda + \gamma)^{\alpha}} \left(1 + \frac{\gamma}{\lambda}\right), \quad \text{Re } \lambda > 0,$$

which shows that k * l = 1 on $(0, \infty)$. Hence we have both $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$, and $(l, k) \in \mathcal{PC}$.

In the special case (1.2) equation (1.1) amounts to a *time fractional* equation of order $\alpha \in (0,1)$. Specializing further, by putting $\gamma = 0$ in (2.1), we obtain the pair $(k,l) = (g_{1-\alpha}, g_{\alpha})$, $\alpha \in (0,1)$. In this situation the integro-differential operator in (1.1) becomes the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivation operator of order $\alpha \in (0,1)$ defined by

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} v = \partial_t (g_{1-\alpha} * v), \ t > 0,$$

for sufficiently smooth functions v. It is the composition of the fractional integration operator $g_{1-\alpha}^*$, which has order $-(1-\alpha)$, and the derivation operator ∂_t .

The linear version of (1.1) takes the form

$$\partial_t \Big(k * (u - u_0) \Big) - \mathcal{L}u = f + \operatorname{div} g, \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega,$$
(1.3)

where

$$\mathcal{L}u = \operatorname{div}\left(A(t,x)Du + b(t,x)u\right) + \left(c(t,x)|Du\right) + d(t,x)u.$$

Here $A = (a_{ij})$ is $\mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ -valued, b and c take values in \mathbb{R}^N , and d is a real-valued function. Further, $(\cdot|\cdot)$ denotes the scalar product in \mathbb{R}^N and the functions $u_0 = u_0(x)$, f = f(t, x), and g = g(t, x) are given data.

A large part of this contribution deals with the time fractional diffusion equation

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) - \operatorname{div}\left(A(t,x)Du\right) = f, \quad t \in (0,T), \, x \in \Omega.$$
(1.4)

The main point here is that concerning the coefficients a_{ij} we merely assume measurability, boundedness, and a uniform parabolicity condition.

In (1.1), the functions $a: (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ and $b: (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}$ are measurable and satisfy suitable structure conditions, see Section 4.3 below.

Before describing the main objectives and results we discuss some applications of the above equations in mathematical physics.

1.2 Applications in physics

A strong motivation for studying equations of the type (1.1), in particular (1.4), comes from physics. Time fractional diffusion equations are used to model anomalous diffusion, see e.g. the survey [55]. In this context, equations of the type (1.4) are termed *subdiffusion equations* (the time order α lies in (0, 1); in the case $\alpha \in (1, 2)$, which is not considered here, one speaks of *superdiffusion equations*. While in normal diffusion (described by the heat equation or more general parabolic equations), the mean squared displacement of a diffusive particle behaves like const t for $t \to \infty$, equation (1.4), usually with A = Id, exhibits the behaviour const t^{α} , for which there is evidence in a diverse number of systems, see [55] and the references therein. Time fractional diffusion equations of time order $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ are also closely related to a class of Montroll-Weiss continuous time random walk models where the waiting time density behaves like const $t^{-\alpha-1}$ for $t \to \infty$, see e.g. [35], [36], [55]. Problems of the type (1.4) are further used to describe diffusion on fractals ([55], [65]), and they also appear in mathematical finance, see e.g. [68].

Another context where equations of the type (1.1) appear is the modelling of dynamic processes in materials with *memory*. They typically arise by combining the usual conservation laws such as balance of energy or balance of momentum with some constitutive laws pertaining to materials with memory. An example is given by the theory of heat conduction with memory, see [63] and the references therein. Another application is the following special case of a model for the diffusion of fluids in porous media with memory, which has been introduced in [7]:

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(p - p_0) - \operatorname{div}(\kappa(p)Dp) = f, \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega,$$

$$p = 0, \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Gamma,$$

$$p|_{t=0} = p_0, \ x \in \Omega.$$
(1.5)

Here $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, p = p(t, x) denotes the pressure of the fluid, $\kappa = \kappa(p)$ stands for the permeability of the porous medium, and f is related to external sources in the equation of balance of mass. Model (1.5) is obtained by combining the latter equation with a modified version of Darcy's law for the mass flux q which reads

$$q = -\partial_t^{1-\alpha} \big(\kappa(p)Dp\big),$$

and by assuming that the (average) mass of the fluid is proportional to the pressure. We refer to [37], where a more general model is considered.

In the physical literature one also finds models of the type (1.1) where k enjoys property (K) but the dynamics is not fractional in time. An important example is a class of ultraslow diffusion equations. In the context of anomalous diffusion these equations are used to model the case where the mean squared displacement has a logarithmic growth. This so-called 'strong anomaly' is encountered in several systems, e.g. in polymer physics, see the recent papers [9], [10], [46], [59], [73]. In [54] ultra slow diffusion equations are obtained when looking at scaling limits of certain continuous time random walk models with random waiting times between jumps. Mathematically, ultra slow diffusion can be described by means of equations of the form (1.3) where the operator $\partial_t (k * u)$ is a so-called distributed order derivative, that is, the kernel k takes the form

$$k(t) = \int_0^1 g_{1-\alpha}(t)\mu(\alpha) \, d\alpha, \quad t > 0.$$
 (1.6)

Here $\mu : [0, 1] \to [0, \infty)$ is a weight function, it is different from zero on a set of positive measure. It can be shown that under appropriate conditions on μ the kernel k in (1.6) is of type \mathcal{PC} , see [46].

1.3 Main objectives and literature

The main goal of this work is to develop a theory of weak solutions for problems of the form (1.3) and (1.1) and to study the regularity problem in the time fractional case.

To be more specific, let us consider the linear time fractional diffusion equation (1.4), which is the prototypical example. As already mentioned before, we only want to assume that the coefficients a_{ij} be measurable and bounded, that is, $A \in L_{\infty}((0,T) \times \Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$, and that they satisfy a uniform parabolicity condition, that is, there exists a constant $\nu > 0$ such that

$$(A(t,x)\xi|\xi) \ge \nu|\xi|^2$$
, for a.a. $(t,x) \in (0,T) \times \Omega$, and all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

A first important question is to find a suitable notion of weak solution for equation (1.4). One problem is to understand the role of the initial condition $u|_{t=0} = u_0$ in Ω . If this condition cannot be given a direct meaning within the weak setting, then at least one should require that it is automatically satisfied whenever the weak solution is smooth.

Having found an appropriate weak setting, the next task then consists in proving existence and uniqueness for (1.4), together with a suitable boundary condition like, e.g., in the associated Dirichlet problem. To achieve this, suitable energy estimates are required.

In the elliptic and classical parabolic case it is well-known that for second-order problems the maximum principle is valid. Moreover, there exists a powerful theory of a priori estimates, often referred to as De Giorgi-Nash-Moser theory, which provides local and global estimates for weak solutions of the respective equations such as local and global boundedness, the Harnack and the weak Harnack inequality, and Hölder continuity of weak solutions, see [29], [34] for the elliptic and [49], [51] for the parabolic case. Hölder estimates are of utmost significance for the study of quasilinear problems. In fact, in the elliptic case their discovery opened up the theory of quasilinear equations in higher dimensions; in the parabolic case they among others allow to prove global in time existence.

Hölder continuity of weak solutions to elliptic equations in divergence form with discontinuous coefficients was proved by De Giorgi [19] and, independently, by Nash [60]. Nash also obtained the corresponding result for parabolic equations. Another seminal contribution was made by Moser [56], who found a new proof of the De Giorgi-Nash theorem by means of the Harnack inequality. Later, Moser ([57], [58]) also established the parabolic version of the Harnack inequality for positive weak solutions of equations in divergence form, and using this result he was able to give a different proof for Nash's regularity result in the parabolic case. In the non-divergence case corresponding results were obtained by Krylov and Safonov [47], [48]. Concerning Harnack and Hölder estimates for degenerate and singular parabolic equations we refer to [20], [22], [23], [24], and [25].

Since the time fractional case with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ can be viewed in some sense as an intermediate case between the elliptic ($\alpha = 0$) and the classical parabolic case ($\alpha = 1$), one might conjecture that corresponding results can also be obtained in the time fractional situation. However, there is a significant difference to the cases $\alpha = 0$ and $\alpha = 1$: the time fractional equations are *nonlocal*, due to the non-local nature of the operator ∂_t^{α} in time. This feature complicates the matter considerably, as the theory described above essentially relies on *local* estimates. Another difficulty consists in the lack of a simple calculus for integro-differential operators like ∂_t^{α} . In particular one needs a kind of chain rule for such operators in order to use the test-function method, the latter being the basic tool for deriving a priori bounds for weak solutions of equations in divergence form.

One of the main objectives of this contribution is to prove a time fractional analogue of the classical parabolic version of the celebrated De Giorgi-Nash theorem, that is, we want to show that under appropriate assumptions on the data f and u_0 any weak solution of the time fractional diffusion equation (1.4) with arbitrary $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ is Hölder continuous in the interior of the parabolic cylinder $(0, T) \times \Omega$. We are further interested in conditions which ensure Hölder continuity up to the parabolic boundary. Having achieved this it is another goal to demonstrate the strength of these regularity results by establishing global strong well-posedness for a quasilinear time fractional problem.

Besides the regularity problem we are further interested in Harnack estimates for time fractional diffusion equations. Does there hold a weak Harnack inequality for nonnegative supersolutions, and if so, what is the optimal exponent? In the purely time-dependent case, that is, for scalar equations of the form

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) + \sigma u = 0, \quad t \in (0,T),$$

with $\sigma \geq 0$, a weak Harnack inequality with optimal exponent $1/(1-\alpha)$ has been proved by the author in [78]. Much more difficult seems to be the question whether a full Harnack inequality holds for nonnegative solutions of the time fractional equation (1.4) with f = 0. Note that in the literature, neither the weak nor the full Harnack inequality are known to hold in the time fractional case even with the Laplacian, that is, when A(t, x) = Id.

Concerning the case of rough coefficients, to the author's knowledge nothing seems to be known for time fractional diffusion equations like (1.4). The main obstruction for the existing

results to be applicable is that we merely assume measurability with respect to t of the leading coefficients. On the other hand there exist many papers where equations of the type (1.4), as well as nonlinear or abstract variants of them are studied in a strong(er) setting, assuming more smoothness on the coefficients and nonlinearities, see e.g. [3], [13], [14], [17], [27], [31], [63], [81], [82]. Note that (1.4) can be rewritten as

$$u - g_{\alpha} * \operatorname{div} (ADu) = u_0 + g_{\alpha} * f, \ t \in (0, T), x \in \Omega,$$

which is a parabolic Volterra equation, so that for regular coefficients the theory in, e.g., [63] and [81] yields results on existence, uniqueness and regularity. In particular there exists a fully developed L_p -theory (see also Theorem 2.8.1 below) as well as optimal Schauder estimates. In some papers generalized solutions are constructed for problems of the type (1.1) where the quasilinear term is not allowed to depend explicitly on t, see [31] and [38]. These results are based on the theory of accretive operators.

We further remark that concerning non-local operators there exists a very active field of research which deals with integro-differential operators the prototype of which is $(-\Delta)^{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in$ (0,1). These operators are closely connected to purely jump processes. We refer to [1], [2], [6], [39], [40], [43], [70], [72] and the references given therein for Harnack and Hölder estimates for harmonic functions with respect to this type of operators.

1.4 Overview

We give now an overview of the contents of this contribution and describe the main results and some of the principal ideas behind them.

Chapter 2 is devoted to preliminaries and collects the basic tools needed for our investigation of the problems to be studied. After fixing some notation we first discuss some basic properties of kernels of type \mathcal{PC} and give some more examples. An important issue is how such kernels can be suitably approximated by more regular kernels which are also nonnegative and nonincreasing. This can be achieved by means of the Yosida approximations $B_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, of the operator B defined by $Bu = \frac{d}{dt}(k * u)$, e.g. in $L_2([0, T])$. In fact, one can show that $B_n u = \frac{d}{dt}(k_n * u)$, where k_n has the desired properties and $k_n \to k$ in $L_1([0, 1])$ as $n \to \infty$. A crucial tool for our approach is provided by the fundamental identity (2.6), stated in Lemma 2.3.1. This identity gives a formula for expressions of the form $H'(u)\frac{d}{dt}(k * u)$ and can be viewed as a kind of 'chain rule' for the operator B. In Section 2.4 we state two lemmas on the geometrically fast convergence to zero of sequences of numbers satisfying certain recursive inequalities. These lemmas are needed for the De Giorgi technique, which will be used in the proofs of L_{∞} -bounds and regularity of weak solutions. Section 2.5 provides the basic tools of Moser's iteration technique including an abstract lemma of Bombieri and Giusti which is very useful for accomplishing the 'crossover at zero'. This method will be later used in the proof of the weak Harnack inequality. The remaining part of Chapter 2 is devoted to weighted Poincaré inequalities and parabolic embeddings, and we state a result about maximal L_p -regularity for linear time fractional initial-boundary value problems of second order.

In Chapter 3 we address the problem of existence of weak solutions to linear equations in the case of rough coefficients. This is done in the canonical Hilbert space setting. Let \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} be real separable Hilbert spaces such that $\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ densely and identify \mathcal{H} with its dual \mathcal{H}' , that is, $\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{V}'$. We study the abstract problem

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left([k*(u-x)](t),v\right)_{\mathcal{H}} + a\big(t,u(t),v\big) = \left\langle f(t),v\right\rangle_{\mathcal{V}'\times\mathcal{V}}, \quad v\in\mathcal{V}, \text{ a.a. } t\in(0,T),$$
(1.7)

where d/dt means the generalized derivative of real functions on (0, T), k is a kernel of type \mathcal{PC} , $x \in \mathcal{H}$ and $f \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}')$ are given data, and $a : (0, T) \times \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{V} \to \mathbb{R}$ is measurable w.r.t.

t and a bounded \mathcal{V} -coercive bilinear form w.r.t. the second and third argument. By means of the Galerkin method and the Hilbert space version of a special case of the fundamental identity, relation (2.8), we prove existence and uniqueness of a solution u of (1.7) in the class

$$W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H}) = \{ u \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}) : k * (u - x) \in {}_0H_2^1([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') \},\$$

where the zero means vanishing trace at t = 0, see Theorem 3.3.1. This result can be viewed as the analogue of the well-known existence and uniqueness result for the corresponding abstract parabolic equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt} \left(u(t), v \right)_{\mathcal{H}} + a \left(t, u(t), v \right) = \left\langle f(t), v \right\rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}, & v \in \mathcal{V}, \text{ a.a. } t \in (0, T), \\ u(0) = x \in \mathcal{H}, \\ u \in H_2^1([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') \cap L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}), \end{cases}$$

see e.g. Theorem 4.1 and Remark 4.3 in Chapter 4 in [52] or [87, Section 23].

Besides the existence result we also prove some useful interpolation results for functions in the class $W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$ with $x \in \mathcal{H}$ and $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$. It is shown that for $u \in W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$ the function k * u belongs to the space $C([0, T]; \mathcal{H})$, and if in addition $l \in L_{p,w}([0, T])$, the weak L_p space, for some p > 1 then $u \in L_{2p,w}([0, T]; \mathcal{H})$. The corresponding statement without 'weak' is true as well. We finally apply these results to time fractional diffusion equations like (1.4) with measurable coefficients and establish the unique (weak) solvability of the corresponding Dirichlet problem in the class

$$u \in L_{\frac{2}{2}, w}([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)) \cap L_2([0, T]; \mathring{H}^1_2(\Omega)), \text{ with } u - u_0 \in {}_0H_2^{\alpha}([0, T]; H_2^{-1}(\Omega))\}.$$

For the solution we additionally obtain $g_{1-\alpha} * u \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega))$ with $g_{1-\alpha} * u|_{t=0} = 0$.

In Chapter 4 we study linear and quasilinear second-order equations of the type (1.3) and (1.1), respectively. The leading coefficients of \mathcal{L} in (1.3) are merely assumed to be measurable and bounded, and they satisfy a uniform parabolicity condition. The main purpose of the chapter is to show that under appropriate conditions on the data and nonlinearities, respectively, any weak solution is essentially bounded on $(0, T) \times \Omega$, provided it is bounded on the parabolic boundary, see Corollary 4.2.1 and Theorem 4.3.1. Concerning the kernel, the crucial assumption is that $(k,l) \in \mathcal{PC}$ where $l \in L_p([0,T])$ for some p > 1. This condition allows to gain higher integrability w.r.t. time from the energy estimates. Our proofs of the L_{∞} -bounds use De Giorgi's iteration technique and rely on truncated energy estimates, which are derived by means of the fundamental identity (2.6). The latter is only possible after reformulating the problems in a different weak form where the singular kernel k is replaced with the more regular kernel k_n $(n \in \mathbb{N})$ resulting from the Yosida approximation method described above. This is an important technical detail as our method resolves the time regularization problem for equations of the type (1.1) in the weak setting. In the classical parabolic case this can be achieved by means of Steklov averages, a method which no longer works in the case of (1.1).

Chapter 5 deals with the weak Harnack inequality for nonnegative weak supersolutions of the time fractional diffusion equation

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) - \operatorname{div}\left(A(t,x)Du\right) = 0, \quad t \in (0,T), \, x \in \Omega, \tag{1.8}$$

where $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega)$, and A is as described at the beginning of Section 1.3. To formulate the result, let B(x, r) denote the open ball with radius r > 0 centered at $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$, and let λ_N be the Lebesgue measure in \mathbb{R}^N . For $\delta \in (0, 1)$, $t_0 \ge 0$, $\tau > 0$, and a ball $B(x_0, r)$, define the parabolic cylinders

$$Q_{-}(t_0, x_0, r) = (t_0, t_0 + \delta \tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, \delta r),$$

$$Q_{+}(t_0, x_0, r) = (t_0 + (2 - \delta)\tau r^{2/\alpha}, t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, \delta r).$$

We will prove that for any $\eta > 1$, $\tau > 0$, $t_0 \ge 0$ and r > 0 with $t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha} \le T$, any ball $B(x_0,\eta r) \subset \Omega$, any 0 , and any nonnegative weak supersolution <math>u of (1.8) in $(0, t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0,\eta r)$ with $u_0 \ge 0$ in $B(x_0,\eta r)$, we have the inequality

$$\left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{N+1}(Q_{-}(t_0, x_0, r))}\int_{Q_{-}(t_0, x_0, r)} u^p d\lambda_{N+1}\right)^{1/p} \le C \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{Q_{+}(t_0, x_0, r)} u, \tag{1.9}$$

where the constant $C = C(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \tau, \eta, \alpha, N, p)$. The proof uses Moser's iteration technique and relies on rather intricate local estimates for powers of u and $\log u$. Once again, the fundamental identity (2.6) is the principal tool in the derivation of these a priori estimates. We also show that the critical exponent $\frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$ is optimal. Note that by sending $\alpha \to 1$ we recover the critical exponent $1 + \frac{2}{N}$ of the weak Harnack inequality in the classical parabolic case. As a simple consequence of the weak Harnack inequality (1.9) we obtain the strong maximum principle for weak subsolutions of (1.8). Another application is a theorem of Liouville type, which says that any bounded weak solution of (1.8) on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ with $u_0 = 0$ vanishes a.e. on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$. It will be further shown that in the case $u_0 = 0$ any bounded weak solution u of (1.8) is continuous at $(0, x_0)$ for all $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $\lim_{(t,x)\to(0,x_0)} u(t,x) = 0$, that is, the initial condition $u|_{t=0} = 0$ is satisfied in the classical sense. We point out that the weak Harnack inequality described above is not strong enough to show Hölder continuity for weak solutions of (1.8), the main obstruction being the global positivity assumption (in time). This is a significant difference to the case $\alpha = 1$, where the weak Harnack inequality implies a Hölder estimate for weak solutions.

The regularity problem for weak solutions of (1.4) with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and rough coefficients as before is addressed in *Chapter 6*. Here we prove the main result of this contribution, Theorem 6.1.1. It states that for $u_0 \in L_{\infty}(\Omega)$ and $f \in L_r([0,T]; L_q(\Omega))$ with r and q sufficiently large any bounded weak solution of (1.4) is Hölder continuous in the interior of the parabolic cylinder $(0,T) \times \Omega$. The proof uses De Giorgi's technique and the method of *non-local growth lemmas*, which has been recently developed in [70] for integro-differential operators like the fractional Laplacian. In contrast to the proof of the weak Harnack inequality memory terms that result from time-shifts in the equation cannot be dropped but must be estimated carefully to make the proof work. As before, the fundamental identity (2.6) is frequently used to derive various a priori estimates for u and certain logarithmic expressions involving u. In Chapter 6 we also give sufficient conditions for Hölder continuity up to the parabolic boundary. Here we do not aim at high generality but we are content with finding some simple conditions which are satisfied in the strong L_p -setting considered in the following chapter.

In *Chapter* 7 we apply the regularity results from the preceding chapter to prove the unique *global* strong solvability of the quasilinear problem

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) - \operatorname{div}\left(A(u)Du\right) = f, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega,$$

$$u = g, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Gamma,$$

$$u|_{t=0} = u_0, \ x \in \Omega,$$

(1.10)

which is a generalization of the model (1.5). Here $\alpha \in (0, 1), T > 0, N \ge 2$, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is a bounded domain with C^2 -smooth boundary Γ . Concerning the nonlinearity it will be assumed that $A \in C^1(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$ is symmetric and that there exists $\nu > 0$ such that $(A(y)\xi|\xi) \ge \nu|\xi|^2$ for all $y \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Assuming $p > N + \frac{2}{\alpha}$ it will be shown that under suitable regularity and compatibility conditions on the data u_0, f, g problem (1.10) possesses a unique strong solution uin the class

$$u \in H_p^{\alpha}([0,T]; L_p(\Omega)) \cap L_p([0,T]; H_p^2(\Omega)),$$

see Theorem 7.1.1. The point here is that T > 0 can be given arbitrarily large. Note that short-time existence of strong or classical solutions to problems like (1.10) can be established

by means of maximal regularity and the contraction mapping principle. This has been known before, see e.g. [14] and [82].

Chapter 8 is devoted to the full Harnack inequality for the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivation operator. So in this part we restrict ourselves to the purely time-dependent case. To describe the main result of this chapter, Theorem 8.1.1, let $t_* \ge 0$, $0 < \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \sigma_3$, and $\rho > 0$. Suppose that $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and $u_0 \ge 0$. We will prove that for any sufficiently smooth, nonnegative function u on $(0, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ that satisfies

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0)(t) = 0, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho),$$

we have the Harnack inequality

$$\sup_{W_{-}} u \le \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_1} \inf_{W_{+}} u, \tag{1.11}$$

where

$$W_{-} = (t_* + \sigma_1 \rho, t_* + \sigma_2 \rho), \quad W_{+} = (t_* + \sigma_2 \rho, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho).$$

We will further show that, similarly to the case of the fractional Laplacian, the Harnack inequality is no longer valid if the global positivity assumption is replaced by a local one. Furthermore, the Harnack estimate fails to hold if the relation $\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0) = 0$ is only satisfied on the smaller interval $(t_* + \sigma_1 \rho, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$. In the last section of the chapter (1.11) is generalized to nonnegative solutions of a class of nonhomogenous fractional differential equations. The results indicate that a full Harnack inequality should also hold for time fractional diffusion equations like (1.8) with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$.

Acknowledgements. In the first place, I am grateful to Prof. Dr. Jan Prüss for many fruitful discussions and valuable suggestions. During the last decade I could learn from him a lot about Volterra equations and maximal regularity. I would also like to express my gratitude to Prof. Dr. Philippe Clément for proposing the topic during my research stay at the Technical University Delft in the fall semester 2003/2004. I am further grateful to my colleague Dr. Mathias Wilke for many stimulating discussions. I would like to thank the *Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft*, *DFG*, *Bonn*, *Germany*, for financial support during my research stay at Vanderbilt University, Nashville, in the academic year 2006/2007. Finally, I would like to express my most sincere thanks to my wife, Dr. Nina Großer for her constant support in every respect.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

2.1 Some notation

We begin by fixing some notation. For T > 0 and a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ with boundary $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ let Ω_T denote the cylindrical domain $(0,T) \times \Omega$ and put also $\Gamma_T = (0,T) \times \Gamma$. For $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and r > 0, by $B(x_0,r)$ and $B_r(x_0)$ we mean the open ball of radius r centered at x_0 . The Lebesgue measure in \mathbb{R}^N will be denoted by λ_N or μ_N .

The boundary Γ is said to satisfy the property of *positive geometric density*, if there exist $\beta \in (0,1)$ and $\rho_0 > 0$ such that for any $x_0 \in \Gamma$, any ball $B(x_0,\rho)$ with $\rho \leq \rho_0$ we have that $\lambda_N(\Omega \cap B(x_0,\rho)) \leq \beta \lambda_N(B(x_0,\rho))$, cf. e.g. [20, Section I.1].

By y_+ we mean the positive part of $y \in \mathbb{R}$, i.e. $y_+ := \max\{y, 0\}$. Note that $y_+^2 := (y_+)^2$. Further, Sym $\{N\}$ stands for the space of N-dimensional real symmetric matrices. For s > 0 and $1 the symbols <math>H_p^s$ and B_{pp}^s refer to Bessel potential (Sobolev spaces for integer s) and Sobolev-Slobodeckij spaces, respectively. Recall that $\mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega) := \overline{C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{H_2^1(\Omega)}$. The derivative of a kernel $k \in H_1^1([0,T])$ will be usually denoted by k.

2.2 Kernels of type \mathcal{PC}

The following class of kernels has been introduced in [85] and is basic to our treatment of (1.1).

Definition 2.2.1 A kernel $k \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is called to be of type \mathcal{PC} if it is nonnegative and nonincreasing, and there exists a kernel $l \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that k * l = 1 in $(0, \infty)$. In this case, we say that (k, l) is a \mathcal{PC} pair and write $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$.

From $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$ it follows that l is completely positive (see e.g. Theorem 2.2 in [15]), in particular l is nonnegative, cf. [15, Proposition 2.1].

Example 2.2.1 An important example is given by

$$k(t) = g_{1-\alpha}(t)e^{-\mu t} \quad \text{and} \quad l(t) = g_{\alpha}(t)e^{-\mu t} + \mu(1 * [g_{\alpha}e^{-\mu \cdot}])(t), \quad t > 0,$$
(2.1)

with $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $\mu \geq 0$. As already shown in Section 1.1, we have both $(k,l) \in \mathcal{PC}$, and $(l,k) \in \mathcal{PC}$.

Example 2.2.2 There exist pairs $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$ with the property that for any p > 1 and T > 0 the kernel l does not belong to $L_p([0, T])$. To construct such a pair, let $(\gamma_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of

positive real numbers such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \gamma_n < \infty$. Let further $(\alpha_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of numbers in (0,1) that converges to 0 as $n \to \infty$. We then set

$$l(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \gamma_n g_{\alpha_n}(t) e^{-t}, \quad t > 0.$$

By Euler's integral for the Gamma function,

$$|g_{\alpha_n}(\cdot)e^{-\cdot}|_{L_1(\mathbb{R}_+)} = 1, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

and therefore $l \in L_1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with $|l|_{L_1(\mathbb{R}_+)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \gamma_n$. Moreover, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $g_{\alpha_n}(t)e^{-t}$ is completely monotone, that is $(-1)^j (g_{\alpha_n} e^{-\cdot})^{(j)}(t) \ge 0$, t > 0, for j = 0, 1, 2, ... Consequently, lenjoys the same property. Furthermore, by Theorem 5.4 in Chapter 5 of [32], the kernel l has a resolvent $k \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ of the first kind, that is k * l = 1 on $(0, \infty)$, and this resolvent is completely monotone as well. In particular, k is nonnegative and nonincreasing, and so $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$. Since $\alpha_n \to 0$, there do not exist p > 1 and T > 0 such that $l \in L_p([0, T])$.

 \mathcal{PC} pairs enjoy a useful stability property with respect to exponential shifts. Writing $k_{\mu}(t) = k(t)e^{-\mu t}$, t > 0, $\mu \ge 0$, we have

$$(k,l) \in \mathcal{PC} \Rightarrow (k_{\mu}, l_{\mu} + \mu(1 * l_{\mu})) \in \mathcal{PC}, \ \mu \ge 0.$$
 (2.2)

To prove (2.2), we first note that for any $\mu \ge 0$, k_{μ} is evidently nonnegative and nonincreasing, and $l_{\mu} + \mu(1 * l_{\mu})$ is nonnegative. Multiplying k * l = 1 by $1_{\mu}(t) = e^{-\mu t}$ gives $k_{\mu} * l_{\mu} = 1_{\mu}$, which in turn implies that $\mu k_{\mu} * 1 * l_{\mu} = \mu 1 * 1_{\mu} = 1 - 1_{\mu}$. Adding these relations, we see that $k_{\mu} * [l_{\mu} + \mu(1 * l_{\mu})] = 1$.

We next discuss an important method of approximating kernels of type \mathcal{PC} . Let $1 \leq p < \infty$, $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$, T > 0, and X be a real Banach space. Then the operator B defined by

$$Bu = \frac{d}{dt} (k * u), \ D(B) = \{ u \in L_p([0,T]; X) : k * u \in {}_0H_p^1([0,T]; X) \}$$

where the zero means vanishing at t = 0, is known to be *m*-accretive in $L_p([0, T]; X)$, cf. [11], [16], and [31]. Its Yosida approximations B_n , defined by $B_n = nB(n+B)^{-1}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, enjoy the property that for any $u \in D(B)$, one has $B_n u \to Bu$ in $L_p([0,T]; X)$ as $n \to \infty$. Further, one has the representation

$$B_n u = \frac{d}{dt} (k_n * u), \quad u \in L_p([0,T]; X), \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

$$(2.3)$$

where $k_n = ns_n$, and s_n is the unique solution of the scalar-valued Volterra equation

$$s_n(t) + n(s_n * l)(t) = 1, \quad t > 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

see e.g. [75]. Denoting by $h_n \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ the resolvent kernel associated with nl, we have

$$h_n(t) + n(h_n * l)(t) = nl(t), \quad t > 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(2.4)

and hence, by convolving (2.4) with k,

$$(k * h_n)(t) + n(k * h_n * l)(t) = n, \quad t > 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

which shows that

$$k_n = ns_n = k * h_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Note that complete positivity of l implies that h_n is nonnegative, and that the kernels s_n are nonnegative and nonincreasing for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, see e.g. [63, Proposition 4.5] and [15, Proposition 2.1]. From $s_n = 1 - 1 * h_n$ we further see that $s_n \in H_1^1([0,T])$. In view of (2.5) we conclude that the kernels $k_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, are also nonnegative and nonincreasing, and that they belong to $H_1^1([0,T])$.

Note that for any function $f \in L_p([0,T];X)$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, there holds $h_n * f \to f$ in $L_p([0,T];X)$ as $n \to \infty$. In fact, defining u = l * f, we have $u \in D(B)$, and

$$B_n u = \frac{d}{dt} (k_n * u) = \frac{d}{dt} (k * l * h_n * f) = h_n * f \to Bu = f \text{ in } L_p([0, T]; X)$$

as $n \to \infty$. In particular, $k_n \to k$ in $L_1([0,T])$ as $n \to \infty$.

2.3 A fundamental identity for integro-differential operators of the form $\frac{d}{dt}(k * u)$

We next state a fundamental identity for integro-differential operators of the form $\frac{d}{dt}(k * u)$, cf. also [78], [84]. It can be viewed as the analogue to the chain rule (H(u))' = H'(u)u'.

Lemma 2.3.1 Let T > 0 and U be an open subset of \mathbb{R} . Let further $k \in H_1^1([0,T])$, $H \in C^1(U)$, and $u \in L_1([0,T])$ with $u(t) \in U$ for a.a. $t \in (0,T)$. Suppose that the functions H(u), H'(u)u, and H'(u)(k * u) belong to $L_1([0,T])$ (which is the case if, e.g., $u \in L_\infty([0,T])$). Then we have for a.a. $t \in (0,T)$,

$$H'(u(t))\frac{d}{dt}(k*u)(t) = \frac{d}{dt}(k*H(u))(t) + (-H(u(t)) + H'(u(t))u(t))k(t) + \int_0^t (H(u(t-s)) - H(u(t)) - H'(u(t))[u(t-s) - u(t)])[-\dot{k}(s)] \, ds.$$
(2.6)

The lemma follows from a straightforward computation. Note that in particular identity (2.6) applies to the Yosida approximations of the operator $\frac{d}{dt}(k * u)$ discussed in Section (2.2). We remark that an integrated version of (2.6) can be found in [32, Lemma 18.4.1]. Observe that the last term in (2.6) is nonnegative in case H is convex and k is nonincreasing.

An important example with regard to truncated energy estimates is given by $H(y) = \frac{1}{2}(y_+)^2$, $y \in \mathbb{R}$. Evidently, $H \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$ with derivative $H'(y) = y_+$, $y \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume in addition that the kernel $k \in H^1_1([0,T])$ is nonnegative and nonincreasing. Then it follows from (2.6) and the convexity of H that for any function $u \in L_2([0,T])$,

$$u(t)_{+} \frac{d}{dt} (k * u)(t) \geq \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \left(k * (u_{+})^{2} \right)(t) + \frac{1}{2} k(t)(u_{+})^{2}(t)$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \left(k * (u_{+})^{2} \right)(t), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T).$$

$$(2.7)$$

The following identity is basic to energy estimates in the Hilbert space setting. For $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{R}$ it coincides with (2.6) with $H(y) = \frac{1}{2}y^2, y \in \mathbb{R}$.

Lemma 2.3.2 Let \mathcal{H} be a real Hilbert space with scalar product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\mathcal{H}}$ and T > 0. Then for any $k \in H_1^1([0,T])$ and any $v \in L_2([0,T];\mathcal{H})$ there holds

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt}(k*v)(t), v(t)\right)_{\mathcal{H}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt}(k*|v(\cdot)|^{2}_{\mathcal{H}})(t) + \frac{1}{2}k(t)|v(t)|^{2}_{\mathcal{H}} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} [-\dot{k}(s)]|v(t) - v(t-s)|^{2}_{\mathcal{H}}ds, \quad a.a. \ t \in (0,T).$$

$$(2.8)$$

The subsequent two lemmas are also obtained by simple algebra. The first one can be viewed as a product rule for expressions of the form $\frac{d}{dt}(k * [u_1u_2])$.

Lemma 2.3.3 Let T > 0, $k \in H_1^1([0,T])$, $v \in L_1([0,T])$, and $\varphi \in C^1([0,T])$. Then

$$\varphi(t) \frac{d}{dt} (k * v)(t) = \frac{d}{dt} \left(k * [\varphi v] \right)(t) + \int_0^t \dot{k}(t-\tau) \left(\varphi(t) - \varphi(\tau) \right) v(\tau) \, d\tau, \quad a.a. \ t \in (0,T).$$

Lemma 2.3.4 Let T > 0 and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. Suppose that $v \in {}_0H_1^1([0, T])$ and $\varphi \in C^1([0, T])$. Then

$$\left(g_{\alpha}*(\varphi\dot{v})\right)(t) = \varphi(t)(g_{\alpha}*\dot{v})(t) + \int_{0}^{t} v(\sigma)\partial_{\sigma}\left(g_{\alpha}(t-\sigma)[\varphi(t)-\varphi(\sigma)]\right)d\sigma, \quad a.a.\ t \in (0,T).$$

If in addition v is nonnegative and φ is nondecreasing there holds

$$(g_{\alpha} * (\varphi \dot{v}))(t) \ge \varphi(t)(g_{\alpha} * \dot{v})(t) - \int_0^t g_{\alpha}(t-\sigma)\dot{\varphi}(\sigma)v(\sigma)\,d\sigma, \quad a.a.\ t \in (0,T).$$

2.4 Auxiliary lemmas on fast geometric convergence

The following lemmas concerning the geometric convergence of sequences of numbers will be needed for the De Giorgi iteration arguments in Chapter 4 and 6. The first can be found, e.g., in [49, Chapter II, Lemma 5.6] and [20, Chapter I, Lemma 4.1]. Its proof is by induction.

Lemma 2.4.1 Let $\{Y_n\}$, n = 0, 1, 2, ..., be a sequence of positive numbers, satisfying the recursion inequality

$$Y_{n+1} \le Cb^n Y_n^{1+\gamma}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

where C, b > 1 and $\gamma > 0$ are given numbers. If

$$Y_0 \le C^{-1/\gamma} b^{-1/\gamma^2},$$

then $Y_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

The next result has been taken from [20, Chap. I, Lemma 4.2], see also [49].

Lemma 2.4.2 Let $\{Y_n\}$ and $\{Z_n\}$, n = 0, 1, 2, ..., be sequences of positive numbers, satisfying the recursive inequalities

$$Y_{n+1} \leq Cb^n (Y_n^{1+\beta} + Y_n^{\beta} Z_n^{1+\gamma}),$$

$$Z_{n+1} \leq Cb^n (Y_n + Z_n^{1+\gamma})$$

for n = 0, 1, 2, ..., where C, b > 1 and $\beta, \gamma > 0$ are given numbers. If

$$Y_0 + Z_0^{1+\gamma} \le (2C)^{-\frac{1+\gamma}{\delta}} b^{-\frac{1+\gamma}{\delta^2}}, \quad with \ \delta = \min\{\beta, \gamma\},$$

then $\{Y_n\}$ and $\{Z_n\}$ tend to zero as $n \to \infty$.

2.5 Moser iterations and an abstract lemma of Bombieri and Giusti

Throughout this section U_{σ} , $0 < \sigma \leq 1$, will denote a collection of measurable subsets of a fixed finite measure space endowed with a measure μ , such that $U_{\sigma'} \subset U_{\sigma}$ if $\sigma' \leq \sigma$. For $p \in (0, \infty)$ and $0 < \sigma \leq 1$, $L_p(U_{\sigma})$ stands for the Lebesgue space $L_p(U_{\sigma}, d\mu)$ of all μ -measurable functions $f: U_{\sigma} \to \mathbb{R}$ with $|f|_{L_p(U_{\sigma})} := (\int_{U_{\sigma}} |f|^p d\mu)^{1/p} < \infty$.

The following two lemmas are basic to Moser's iteration technique. The arguments in their proofs have been repeatedly used in the literature (see e.g. [29], [51], [56], [57], [66], [74]), so it is worthwhile to formulate them as lemmas in abstract form, also for future reference. We provide proofs for the sake of completeness.

The first Moser iteration result reads as follows, see also [18, Lemma 2.3].

Lemma 2.5.1 Let $\kappa > 1$, $\bar{p} \ge 1$, $C \ge 1$, and $\gamma > 0$. Suppose f is a μ -measurable function on U_1 such that

$$|f|_{L_{\beta\kappa}(U_{\sigma'})} \le \left(\frac{C(1+\beta)^{\gamma}}{(\sigma-\sigma')^{\gamma}}\right)^{1/\beta} |f|_{L_{\beta}(U_{\sigma})}, \quad 0 < \sigma' < \sigma \le 1, \ \beta > 0.$$

$$(2.9)$$

Then there exist constants $M = M(C, \gamma, \kappa, \bar{p})$ and $\gamma_0 = \gamma_0(\gamma, \kappa)$ such that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{U_{\delta}} |f| \le \left(\frac{M}{(1-\delta)^{\gamma_0}}\right)^{1/p} |f|_{L_p(U_1)} \quad \text{for all } \delta \in (0,1), \ p \in (0,\bar{p}]$$

Proof: For q > 0 and $0 < \sigma \le 1$, let

$$\Phi(q,\sigma) = (\int_{U_{\sigma}} |f|^q \, d\mu)^{1/q}$$

Let $0 and <math>\delta \in (0, 1)$. Set $p_i = p\kappa^i$, $i = 0, 1, \ldots$ and define the sequence $\{\sigma_i\}$, $i = 0, 1, \ldots$, by $\sigma_0 = 1$ and $\sigma_i = 1 - \sum_{j=1}^i 2^{-j}(1-\delta)$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots$; observe that $1 = \sigma_0 > \sigma_1 > \ldots > \sigma_i > \sigma_{i+1} > \delta$ as well as $\sigma_{i-1} - \sigma_i = 2^{-i}(1-\delta)$, $i \geq 1$. Suppose now $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By using (2.9) with $\beta = p_i$, $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Phi(p_{n},\delta) &\leq \Phi(p_{n},\sigma_{n}) = \Phi(p_{n-1}\kappa,\sigma_{n}) \leq \left(\frac{C(1+p\kappa^{n-1})^{\gamma}}{[2^{-n}(1-\delta)]^{\gamma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}\kappa^{-(n-1)}} \Phi(p_{n-1},\sigma_{n-1}) \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C(2\bar{p}\kappa^{n-1})^{\gamma}}{[2^{-n}(1-\delta)]^{\gamma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}\kappa^{-(n-1)}} \Phi(p_{n-1},\sigma_{n-1}) \\ &\leq \left(\frac{\tilde{C}(C,\bar{p},\gamma)^{n}\kappa^{\gamma(n-1)}}{(1-\delta)^{\gamma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}\kappa^{-(n-1)}} \Phi(p_{n-1},\sigma_{n-1}) \leq \dots \\ &\leq \left(\tilde{C}^{\sum_{j=0}^{n-1}(j+1)\kappa^{-j}}\kappa^{\gamma}\sum_{j=0}^{n-1}j\kappa^{-j}}(1-\delta)^{-\gamma}\sum_{j=0}^{n-1}\kappa^{-j}\right)^{1/p} \Phi(p_{0},\sigma_{0}) \\ &\leq \left(\frac{M(C,\bar{p},\gamma,\kappa)}{(1-\delta)^{\frac{\gamma\kappa}{\kappa-1}}}\right)^{1/p} \Phi(p,1). \end{split}$$

We let now n tend to ∞ and use the fact that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi(p_n, \delta) = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{U_{\delta}} |f|$$

to get

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{U_{\delta}} |f| \leq \left(\frac{M(C,\bar{p},\gamma,\kappa)}{(1-\delta)^{\frac{\gamma\kappa}{\kappa-1}}}\right)^{1/p} |f|_{L_{p}(U_{1})}.$$

Hence the proof is complete. \Box

The second Moser iteration result is the following, see also [18, Lemma 2.5].

Lemma 2.5.2 Assume that $\mu(U_1) \leq 1$. Let $\kappa > 1$, $0 < p_0 < \kappa$, and $C \geq 1$, $\gamma > 0$. Suppose f is a μ -measurable function on U_1 such that

$$|f|_{L_{\beta\kappa}(U_{\sigma'})} \le \left(\frac{C}{(\sigma-\sigma')^{\gamma}}\right)^{1/\beta} |f|_{L_{\beta}(U_{\sigma})}, \quad 0 < \sigma' < \sigma \le 1, \ 0 < \beta \le \frac{p_0}{\kappa} < 1.$$
(2.10)

Then there exist constants $M = M(C, \gamma, \kappa)$ and $\gamma_0 = \gamma_0(\gamma, \kappa)$ such that

$$|f|_{L_{p_0}(U_{\delta})} \leq \left(\frac{M}{(1-\delta)^{\gamma_0}}\right)^{1/p-1/p_0} |f|_{L_p(U_1)} \quad for \ all \ \delta \in (0,1), \ p \in (0,\frac{p_0}{\kappa}].$$

Proof: Set $p_i = p_0 \kappa^{-i}$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots$ Given $\delta \in (0, 1)$ we take again the sequence $\{\sigma_i\}$, $i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$, defined by $\sigma_0 = 1$ and $\sigma_i = 1 - \sum_{j=1}^i 2^{-j} (1-\delta)$, $i \ge 1$. Suppose now $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By using (2.10) with $\beta = p_i$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$, we obtain

$$\Phi(p_{0},\delta) \leq \Phi(p_{0},\sigma_{n}) = \Phi(p_{1}\kappa,\sigma_{n}) \leq \frac{C^{\kappa/p_{0}}}{[2^{-n}(1-\delta)]^{\gamma\kappa/p_{0}}} \Phi(p_{1},\sigma_{n-1})$$

$$\leq \frac{C^{\kappa/p_{0}}}{[2^{-n}(1-\delta)]^{\gamma\kappa/p_{0}}} \frac{C^{\kappa^{2}/p_{0}}}{[2^{-(n-1)}(1-\delta)]^{\gamma\kappa^{2}/p_{0}}} \Phi(p_{2},\sigma_{n-2}) \leq \dots$$

$$\leq \frac{C^{\frac{1}{p_{0}}(\kappa+\kappa^{2}+\dots+\kappa^{n})}}{2^{-\frac{\gamma}{p_{0}}(n\kappa+(n-1)\kappa^{2}+\dots+2\kappa^{n-1}+\kappa^{n})}(1-\delta)^{\frac{\gamma}{p_{0}}(\kappa+\kappa^{2}+\dots+\kappa^{n})}} \Phi(p_{n},\sigma_{0}).$$

Since $p_i = p_0 \kappa^{-i}$, we have

$$\frac{1}{p_0} \sum_{j=1}^n \kappa^j = \frac{\kappa(\kappa^n - 1)}{p_0(\kappa - 1)} = \frac{\kappa}{p_0(\kappa - 1)} \left(\frac{p_0}{p_n} - 1\right) = \frac{\kappa}{\kappa - 1} \left(\frac{1}{p_n} - \frac{1}{p_0}\right).$$

Employing the formula

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} j\kappa^{j-1} = \frac{1 - (n+1)\kappa^n + n\kappa^{n+1}}{(\kappa - 1)^2}$$

we have further

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (n+1-j)\kappa^{j} &= (n+1)\sum_{j=1}^{n} \kappa^{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} j\kappa^{j} \\ &= (n+1)\kappa \frac{\kappa^{n}-1}{\kappa-1} - \kappa \frac{1-(n+1)\kappa^{n}+n\kappa^{n+1}}{(\kappa-1)^{2}} \\ &= \kappa \frac{\kappa^{n+1}-(n+1)\kappa+n}{(\kappa-1)^{2}} \leq \frac{\kappa}{(\kappa-1)^{2}}\kappa^{n+1} \\ &\leq \frac{\kappa^{3}}{(\kappa-1)^{3}} \left(\kappa^{n}-1\right) \leq \frac{\kappa^{3}}{(\kappa-1)^{3}} \left(\frac{p_{0}}{p_{n}}-1\right), \end{split}$$

which yields

$$\frac{1}{p_0} \sum_{j=1}^n (n+1-j)\kappa^j \le \frac{\kappa^3}{(\kappa-1)^3} \left(\frac{1}{p_n} - \frac{1}{p_0}\right).$$

Therefore

$$\Phi(p_0,\delta) \le \left[\frac{2^{\frac{\gamma\kappa^3}{(\kappa-1)^3}}C^{\frac{\kappa}{\kappa-1}}}{(1-\delta)^{\frac{\gamma\kappa}{\kappa-1}}}\right]^{\frac{1}{p_0}-\frac{1}{p_0}}\Phi(p_n,\sigma_0).$$

Given $p \in (0, p_0/\kappa]$ there exists $n \ge 2$ such that $p_n . We then have$

$$\frac{1}{p_n} - \frac{1}{p_0} = \frac{\kappa^n - 1}{p_0} \le \frac{\kappa^n + \kappa^{n-1} - \kappa - 1}{p_0} = \frac{(1+\kappa)(\kappa^{n-1} - 1)}{p_0}$$
$$= (1+\kappa)(\frac{1}{p_{n-1}} - \frac{1}{p_0}) \le (1+\kappa)(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{p_0}),$$

as well as

$$\Phi(p_n, \sigma_0) = \Phi(p_n, 1) \le \Phi(p, 1),$$

by Hölder's inequality and the assumption $\mu(U_1) \leq 1$. All in all, we obtain

$$\Phi(p_0,\delta) \le \left[\frac{2^{\frac{\gamma\kappa^3}{(\kappa-1)^3}}C^{\frac{\kappa}{\kappa-1}}}{(1-\delta)^{\frac{\gamma\kappa}{\kappa-1}}}\right]^{(1+\kappa)(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{p_0})}\Phi(p,1),$$

which proves the lemma. \Box

The following abstract lemma is due to Bombieri and Giusti [4]. For a proof we also refer to [66, Lemma 2.2.6] and [18, Lemma 2.6]

Lemma 2.5.3 Let $\delta, \eta \in (0, 1)$, and let γ, C be positive constants and $0 < \beta_0 \leq \infty$. Suppose f is a positive μ -measurable function on U_1 which satisfies the following two conditions: (i)

$$|f|_{L_{\beta_0}(U_{\sigma'})} \le [C(\sigma - \sigma')^{-\gamma} \mu(U_1)^{-1}]^{1/\beta - 1/\beta_0} |f|_{L_{\beta}(U_{\sigma})},$$

for all σ , σ' , β such that $0 < \delta \le \sigma' < \sigma \le 1$ and $0 < \beta \le \min\{1, \eta\beta_0\}$. (ii)

$$\mu(\{\log f > \lambda\}) \le C\mu(U_1)\lambda^{-1}$$

for all $\lambda > 0$. Then

$$|f|_{L_{\beta_0}(U_{\delta})} \le M\mu(U_1)^{1/\beta_0},$$

where M depends only on δ , η , γ , C, and β_0 .

2.6 Weighted Poincaré inequalities

The following result can be found in [57, Lemma 3], see also [51, Lemma 6.12].

Proposition 2.6.1 Let $\varphi \in C(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with non-empty compact support of diameter d and assume that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$. Suppose that the domains $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : \varphi(x) \geq a\}$ are convex for all $a \leq 1$. Then for any function $u \in H_2^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(u(x) - u_{\varphi} \right)^2 \varphi(x) \, dx \le \frac{2d^2 \mu_N(\operatorname{supp} \varphi)}{|\varphi|_{L_1(\mathbb{R}^N)}} \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |Du(x)|^2 \varphi(x) \, dx,$$

where

$$u_{\varphi} = \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u(x)\varphi(x) \, dx}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \varphi(x) \, dx}.$$

The next Poincaré-type inequality has been taken from [20, Chap. I, Prop. 2.1], see also [49].

Proposition 2.6.2 Let Ω be a bounded convex set in \mathbb{R}^N and let $w \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ with values in [0,1]be such that the sets $\{x \in \Omega : w(x) > c\}$ are convex for all $c \in (0,1)$. Let $v \in H^1_2(\Omega)$ and assume that the set $\mathcal{E}_0 := \{v = 0\} \cap \{w = 1\}$ has positive measure. Then

$$\left(\int_{\Omega} v^2 w \, dx\right)^{1/2} \leq C \, \frac{(\operatorname{diam} \Omega)^N}{\lambda_N(\mathcal{E}_0)^{\frac{N-1}{N}}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |Dv|^2 w \, dx\right)^{1/2},$$

where the constant C only depends on N.

2.7Parabolic embeddings

We next state an interpolation result which will be frequently used throughout this contribution.

Let T > 0 and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . For 1 we define the space

$$V_p := V_p([0,T] \times \Omega) = L_{2p}([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)) \cap L_2([0,T]; H_2^1(\Omega)),$$
(2.11)

endowed with the norm

$$|u|_{V_p([0,T]\times\Omega)} := |u|_{L_{2p}([0,T];L_2(\Omega))} + |Du|_{L_2([0,T];L_2(\Omega;\mathbb{R}^N))}$$

Suppose that

$$p'\left(1-\frac{2}{r}\right) + N\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{q}\right) = 1,$$
 (2.12)

where p' = p/(p-1), and

$$r \in [2, 2p], \qquad q \in \left\lfloor 2, \frac{2N}{N-2} \right\rfloor \quad \text{for } N > 2$$

$$r \in (2, 2p], \qquad q \in [2, \infty) \qquad \text{for } N = 2$$

$$r \in \left\lfloor \frac{4p}{p+1}, 2p \right\rceil, \quad q \in [2, \infty] \qquad \text{for } N = 1.$$

Assuming that $\partial \Omega$ satisfies the property of positive density we have that $V_p \hookrightarrow L_r([0,T]; L_q(\Omega))$. Moreover, there exists a constant C = C(N, q) such that

$$|u|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))} \le C|u|_{V_p([0,T]\times\Omega)},\tag{2.13}$$

for all $u \in V_p \cap L_2([0,T]; \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega))$. This is a consequence of the Gagliardo-Nirenberg and Hölder's inequality. For a proof we refer to [76]. The case $p = \infty$ is contained, e.g., in [49, p. 74 and 75]. Setting

$$\kappa := \kappa_p := \frac{2p + N(p-1)}{2 + N(p-1)}$$
(2.14)

with $\kappa_{\infty} = 1 + 2/N$, it follows from (2.13) that

$$|u|_{L_{2\kappa}([0,T]\times\Omega)} \le C(N,p)|u|_{V_p([0,T]\times\Omega)},$$
(2.15)

for all $u \in V_p \cap L_2([0,T]; \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)).$

2.8 L_p -estimates for linear equations

We conclude this preliminary part with a maximal L_p -regularity result, which is a special case of [82, Theorem 3.4] on linear boundary value problems in the context of parabolic Volterra equations.

Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain with C^2 -boundary Γ , and $N \ge 2$. We consider the problem

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} (u - u_0(x)) - a_{ij}(t, x) D_i D_j u = f, \quad t \in (0, T), \, x \in \Omega,$$

$$u = g, \quad t \in (0, T), \, x \in \Gamma,$$

$$u|_{t=0} = u_0, \quad x \in \Omega,$$

(2.16)

where we use the sum convention.

Theorem 2.8.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $p > \frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2}$. Suppose that $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j=1,\ldots,N} \in C([0,T] \times \overline{\Omega}; \text{Sym}\{N\})$, and there exists $\nu > 0$ such that $a_{ij}(t, x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \nu|\xi|^2$ for all $(t, x) \in [0,T] \times \overline{\Omega}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Then the problem (2.16) has a unique solution u in the class

$$Z := H_p^{\alpha}([0,T]; L_p(\Omega)) \cap L_p([0,T]; H_p^2(\Omega)) \hookrightarrow C([0,T] \times \overline{\Omega})$$

if and only if the following conditions are satisfied.

- (i) $f \in L_p([0,T]; L_p(\Omega)), g \in Y_D := B_{pp}^{\alpha(1-\frac{1}{2p})}([0,T]; L_p(\Gamma)) \cap L_p([0,T]; B_{pp}^{2-\frac{1}{p}}(\Gamma)), and u_0 \in Y_{\gamma} := B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\Omega);$
- (ii) $u_0 = g|_{t=0}$ on Γ .

In this case one has an estimate of the form

$$|u|_{Z} \le C(|f|_{L_{p}(\Omega_{T})} + |g|_{Y_{D}} + |u_{0}|_{Y_{\gamma}}),$$

where C only depends on $\alpha, p, N, T, \Omega, A$.

Chapter 3

Abstract equations in Hilbert spaces

3.1 Setting and introductory remarks

Let \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} be real separable Hilbert spaces such that \mathcal{V} is densely and continuously embedded into \mathcal{H} . Identifying \mathcal{H} with its dual \mathcal{H}' we have $\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{V}'$, and

$$(h, v)_{\mathcal{H}} = \langle h, v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}, \quad h \in \mathcal{H}, v \in \mathcal{V},$$

$$(3.1)$$

where $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\mathcal{H}}$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}$ denote the scalar product in \mathcal{H} and the duality pairing between \mathcal{V}' and \mathcal{V} , respectively.

In this chapter we study the abstract problem

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left([k*(u-x)](t),v\right)_{\mathcal{H}} + a\left(t,u(t),v\right) = \left\langle f(t),v\right\rangle_{\mathcal{V}'\times\mathcal{V}}, \quad v\in\mathcal{V}, \text{ a.a. } t\in(0,T),$$
(3.2)

where d/dt means the generalized derivative of real functions on (0,T), $k \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is a scalar kernel of type \mathcal{PC} , see Definition 2.2.1, k * u stands for the convolution on the positive halfline, and $a: (0,T) \times \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{V} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a bounded \mathcal{V} -coercive bilinear form. Further, $x \in \mathcal{H}$ and $f \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}')$ are given data.

We seek a solution u of (3.2) in the regularity class

$$W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H}) := \{ u \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}) : k * (u - x) \in {}_0H_2^1([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') \},\$$

where the zero means vanishing trace at t = 0. The vector x can be regarded as initial data for u, at least in a weak sense. If e.g. u, and $\frac{d}{dt}(k * [u - x])$ belong to $C([0, T]; \mathcal{V}')$, then the condition k * (u - x)(0) = 0 implies u(0) = x, see Section 3.3.

In the special case

$$k(t) = g_{1-\alpha}(t)e^{-\mu t}, \quad t > 0, \; \alpha \in (0,1), \; \mu \ge 0, \tag{3.3}$$

(3.2) amounts to an abstract differential equation of fractional order $\alpha \in (0, 1)$.

In this chapter we will prove that problem (3.2) possesses exactly one solution in the class $W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$, see Theorem 3.3.1 below. This result can be regarded as the analogue of the well-known existence and uniqueness result for the corresponding abstract parabolic equation

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{d}{dt}(u(t), v)_{\mathcal{H}} + a(t, u(t), v) = \langle f(t), v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}, \quad v \in \mathcal{V}, \text{ a.a. } t \in (0, T), \\
u(0) = x \in \mathcal{H}, \\
u \in H_2^1([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') \cap L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}),
\end{cases}$$
(3.4)

see e.g. Theorem 4.1 and Remark 4.3 in Chapter 4 in [52] or [87, Section 23]. We point out that concerning time regularity the bilinear form a is only assumed to be measurable in t. This allows, e.g., to treat parabolic partial integro-differential equations in divergence form with merely bounded and measurable coefficients, see Section 3.4.

The proof of Theorem 3.3.1 is based on the Galerkin method and suitable a priori estimates for solutions of (3.2). These estimates are derived by means of the basic identity (2.8). It has been known before but does not seem to appear in the literature in the context of problems of the form (3.2). We remark that recently ([75]) the identity (2.8) was successfully employed to construct Lyapunov functions for certain nonlinear differential equations of fractional order between 0 and 2.

In order to be able to apply (2.8), we approximate the kernel k by the sequence (k_n) which is obtained from the Yosida approximation of the operator B defined by $Bv = \frac{d}{dt}(k * v)$, e.g. in $L_2([0,T])$, see Section 2.2. This method was already used in [75], we also refer to [31], where a more general class of integro-differential operators (in time) is studied.

Note that (3.2) is equivalent to the equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}[k*(u-x)](t) + A(t)u(t) = f(t), \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0,T),$$
(3.5)

in \mathcal{V}' , where the operator $A(t): \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{V}'$ is defined by

$$\langle A(t)u, v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} = a(t, u, v), \quad u, v \in \mathcal{V}.$$
(3.6)

For equations of the form (3.5) with $A(t) \equiv A$ there exists a vast literature, even in general Banach spaces, see e.g. [31], and [63] and the references given therein. However, in the case of time-dependent A and without smoothness assumption nothing seems to be known in the literature concerning existence and uniqueness, except for [85], which forms the basis for this chapter.

3.2 A basic interpolation result

Let \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} be real Hilbert spaces as described above, that is $\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{V}'$. In the theory of abstract parabolic equations the continuous embedding

$$H_2^1([0,T];\mathcal{V}') \cap L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}) \hookrightarrow C([0,T];\mathcal{H})$$

$$(3.7)$$

is well-known, see e.g. Proposition 2.1 and Theorem 3.1 in Chapter 1 of [52], or Proposition 23.23 in [87]. The following theorem provides the analogue of (3.7) in the case of the space $W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$.

Theorem 3.2.1 Let \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} be real Hilbert spaces as described above $(\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{V}')$. Let further T > 0, and $k \in L_{1, loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ be of type \mathcal{PC} . Suppose that $x \in \mathcal{H}$, and $u \in W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$. Then k * (u - x) and k * u belong to the space $C([0, T]; \mathcal{H})$ (after possibly being redefined on a set of measure zero). The mapping $\{t \mapsto |k * u|_{\mathcal{H}}^2(t)\}$ is absolutely continuous on [0, T], with

$$\frac{d}{dt}|k*u|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}(t) = 2\left\langle [k*(u-x)]'(t), [k*u](t)] \right\rangle_{\mathcal{V}'\times\mathcal{V}} + 2k(t)\left(x, (k*u)(t)\right)_{\mathcal{H}}$$
(3.8)

for a.a. $t \in [0, T]$. Furthermore,

$$|k * u|_{C([0,T];\mathcal{H})} \le C\Big(\Big|\frac{d}{dt}[k * (u-x)]\Big|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} + |u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})} + |x|_{\mathcal{H}}\Big),$$
(3.9)

the constant C depending only on T, $|k|_{L_1([0,T])}$, and the constant of the embedding $\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}$.

We remark that in the case x = 0, the property $k * u \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{H})$ follows immediately from the embedding (3.7). In fact, $u \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V})$ implies $k * u \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V})$, by Young's inequality, and so

$$k * u \in H_2^1([0,T]; \mathcal{V}') \cap L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}) \hookrightarrow C([0,T]; \mathcal{H}).$$

We point out that for $x \neq 0$ this simple reduction is not possible.

Proof of Theorem 3.2.1. Note first that $(k * x)(\cdot) = (1 * k)(\cdot)x \in H_1^1([0,T];\mathcal{H}) \hookrightarrow C([0,T];\mathcal{H})$. Thus $k * (u - x) \in C([0,T];\mathcal{H})$ if and only if $k * u \in C([0,T];\mathcal{H})$.

Let $k_n \in H_1^1([0,T])$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, be the kernel associated with the Yosida approximation B_n of the operator

$$Bv = \frac{d}{dt} (k * v), \quad D(B) = \{ v \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') : k * v \in {}_0H_2^1([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') \}.$$
(3.10)

Then $k_n * u \in H_2^1([0,T]; \mathcal{V})$, and we have for $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left| (k_n * u)(t) - (k_m * u)(t) \right|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 = 2 \left([k_n * u]'(t) - [k_m * u]'(t), [k_n * u](t) - [k_m * u](t) \right)_{\mathcal{H}}$$

Thus, in view of (3.1) and Young's inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (k_n * u)(t) - (k_m * u)(t) \right|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 &= \left| (k_n * u)(s) - (k_m * u)(s) \right|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \\ &+ 2 \int_s^t \left\langle [k_n * (u - x)]'(\tau) - [k_m * (u - x)]'(\tau), [k_n * u](\tau) - [k_m * u](\tau) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} d\tau \\ &+ 2 \int_s^t [k_n(\tau) - k_m(\tau)] \left(x, [k_n * u](\tau) - [k_m * u](\tau) \right)_{\mathcal{H}} d\tau \\ &\leq \left| (k_n * u)(s) - (k_m * u)(s) \right|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \left| \frac{d}{dt} [k_n * (u - x)] - \frac{d}{dt} [k_m * (u - x)] \right|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')}^2 \\ &+ \left| k_n * u - k_m * u \right|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})}^2 + 2 |x|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 |k_n - k_m|_{L_1([0,T])}^2 + \frac{1}{2} |k_n * u - k_m * u |_{C([0,T];\mathcal{H})}^2 \end{aligned}$$
(3.11)

for all $s, t \in [0, T]$. Since $k_n \to k$ in $L_1([0, T])$ as $n \to \infty$, we have $k_n * u \to k * u$ in $L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{H})$ as well as in $L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V})$. Further, $u - x \in D(B)$ implies that $\frac{d}{dt}[k_n * (u - x)] \to \frac{d}{dt}[k * (u - x)]$ in $L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}')$.

We fix now a point $s \in (0, T)$ for which

$$(k_n * u)(s) \to (k * u)(s)$$
 in \mathcal{H} as $n \to \infty$.

Taking then in (3.11) the maximum over all $t \in [0,T]$ and absorbing the last term, it follows that $(k_n * u)$ is a Cauchy sequence in $C([0,T]; \mathcal{H})$. Thus $k_n * u$ converges in $C([0,T]; \mathcal{H})$ to some $v \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{H})$. Since we also know that $k_n * u \to k * u$ in $L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{H})$, we deduce k * u = va.e. in [0,T], proving the first part of the theorem.

Similarly as above we see that

$$|(k_n * u)(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 = |(k_n * u)(s)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + 2\int_s^t \left\langle [k_n * (u - x)]'(\tau), [k_n * u](\tau) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} d\tau + 2\int_s^t k_n(\tau) \Big(x, (k_n * u)(\tau) \Big)_{\mathcal{H}} d\tau$$

for all $s, t \in [0, T]$, and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Taking the limits as $n \to \infty$ we obtain

$$|(k * u)(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} = |(k * u)(s)|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + 2 \int_{s}^{t} \left\langle [k * (u - x)]'(\tau), [k * u](\tau) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} d\tau + 2 \int_{s}^{t} k(\tau) \Big(x, (k * u)(\tau) \Big)_{\mathcal{H}} d\tau$$
(3.12)

for all $s, t \in [0, T]$. Hence $\{t \mapsto |k * u|_{\mathcal{H}}^2(t)\}$ is absolutely continuous on [0, T], and (3.8) holds true.

To obtain (3.9), we estimate the integral terms in (3.12) similarly as for (3.11) and integrate with respect to s. This yields

$$|(k * u)(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{T} |(k * u)|_{L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{H})}^{2} + \left| \frac{d}{dt} [k * (u - x)] \right|_{L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V}')}^{2} \\ + |k * u|_{L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V})}^{2} + 2|x|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} |k|_{L_{1}([0,T])}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} |k * u|_{C([0,T];\mathcal{H})}^{2}$$
(3.13)

for all $t \in [0, T]$. We then take the maximum over all $t \in [0, T]$, absorb the last term, and use Young's inequality for convolutions, to the result

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2} |k * u|_{C([0,T];\mathcal{H})}^2 &\leq \frac{1}{T} |k|_{L_1([0,T])}^2 |u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{H})}^2 + \left| \frac{d}{dt} [k * (u - x)] \right|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')}^2 \\ &+ |k|_{L_1([0,T])}^2 |u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})}^2 + 2|x|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 |k|_{L_1([0,T])}^2, \end{aligned}$$

which implies (3.9).

3.3 The main existence and uniqueness result

In this section we are concerned with existence and uniqueness for the abstract problem (3.2). Recall that \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} are real separable Hilbert spaces such that \mathcal{V} is densely and continuously embedded into \mathcal{H} . Identifying \mathcal{H} with its dual \mathcal{H}' , we have $\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{V}'$, and the relation (3.1) holds. It will be assumed that dim $\mathcal{V} = \infty$.

We will suppose that the following assumptions are satisfied.

- (**Hk**) $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$ for some $l \in L_{1, loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$.
- (Hd) $x \in \mathcal{H}, f \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}').$
- (Ha) For a.a. $t \in (0,T)$, the mapping $a(t, \cdot, \cdot) : \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{V} \to \mathbb{R}$ is bilinear, and there exist constants M > 0, c > 0, and $d \ge 0$, which are independent of t, such that

$$|a(t, u, v)| \le M|u|_{\mathcal{V}}|v|_{\mathcal{V}},\tag{3.14}$$

$$a(t, u, u) \ge c|u|_{\mathcal{V}}^2 - d|u|_{\mathcal{H}}^2,$$
 (3.15)

for all $u, v \in \mathcal{V}$ and a.a. $t \in (0, T)$. Moreover, the function $\{t \mapsto a(t, u, v)\}$ is measurable on (0, T) for all $u, v \in \mathcal{V}$.

We seek a solution of (3.2) in the space

$$W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H}) = \{ u \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}) : k * (u - x) \in {}_0H_2^1([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') \}.$$

Note that the vector x plays the role of the initial data for u, at least in a weak sense. If e.g. u, and $\frac{d}{dt}(k * [u - x]) =: \tilde{f}$ belong to $C([0, T]; \mathcal{V}')$, then the assumption (Hk) and the condition k * (u - x)(0) = 0 entail that

$$u - x = \frac{d}{dt} \left(l * k * [u - x] \right) = l * \tilde{f}$$

in $C([0, T]; \mathcal{V}')$, and therefore u(0) = x.

In order to construct a solution in the desired class, we will use the Galerkin method. We will assume that

(Hb) $\{w_1, w_2, \ldots\}$ is a basis in \mathcal{V} , and (x_m) is a sequence in \mathcal{H} such that $x_m \in \text{span}\{w_1, \ldots, w_m\}$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and $x_m \to x$ in \mathcal{H} as $m \to \infty$.

Setting

$$u_m(t) = \sum_{j=1}^m c_{jm}(t)w_j, \qquad x_m = \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{jm}w_j.$$

and replacing u, x, and v in (3.2) by u_m, x_m , and w_i , respectively, we formally obtain for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the system of Galerkin equations

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{d}{dt} \left[k * (c_{jm} - \beta_{jm}) \right](t)(w_j, w_i)_{\mathcal{H}} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} c_{jm}(t) a(t, w_j, w_i) = \langle f(t), w_i \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}},$$
(3.16)

for a.a. $t \in (0, T)$, where *i* runs through the set $\{1, \ldots, m\}$.

The main result in this section is the following.

Theorem 3.3.1 Let T > 0, and \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} be real Hilbert spaces as described above. Suppose the assumptions (Hk), (Hd), (Ha), and (Hb) hold. Then the problem (3.2) has exactly one solution u in the space $W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$. The mapping $(x, f) \mapsto u$ is linear, and there exists a constant $M_0 > 0$ such that

$$|k*(u-x)|_{H_2^1([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} + |u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})} \le M_0\Big(|x|_{\mathcal{H}} + |f|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')}\Big)$$
(3.17)

for all $x \in \mathcal{H}$ and $f \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}')$. Moreover, for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the Galerkin equation (3.16) possesses precisely one solution $u_m \in W(x_m, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$. The sequence (u_m) converges weakly to u in $L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V})$ as $m \to \infty$.

Proof. Uniqueness. Suppose that $u_1, u_2 \in W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$ are solutions of (3.2). The difference $u = u_1 - u_2$ then belongs to the space $W(0, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$ and satisfies the equation

$$\langle (k * u)'(t), v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} + a(t, u(t), v) = 0, \quad v \in V, \text{ a.a. } t \in (0, T).$$

We may take v = u(t), thereby getting

$$\langle (k * u)'(t), u(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} + a(t, u(t), u(t)) = 0, \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0, T).$$
 (3.18)

Let $k_n \in H_1^1([0,T])$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, be the kernel associated with the Yosida approximation B_n of the operator B defined in (3.10). Then (3.18) is equivalent to

$$\langle (k_n * u)'(t), u(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} + a(t, u(t), u(t)) = h_n(t), \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0, T),$$
(3.19)

where

$$h_n(t) = \langle (k_n * u)'(t) - (k * u)'(t), u(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T).$$

Since $k_n * u \in H^1_2([0,T];\mathcal{H})$, we may apply (3.1) to the first term in (3.19), to the result

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt}(k_n * u)(t), u(t)\right)_{\mathcal{H}} + a(t, u(t), u(t)) = h_n(t), \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0, T),$$
(3.20)

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

The kernels k_n are nonnegative and nonincreasing. Thus, by Lemma 2.3.2,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\left(k_n * |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2\right)(t) \le \left(\frac{d}{dt}\left(k_n * u\right)(t), u(t)\right)_{\mathcal{H}}, \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0, T).$$

The second term in (3.20) is estimated by means of the abstract Gårding inequality (3.15) in (Ha). Proceeding this way, it follows from (3.20) that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(k_n * |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \right)(t) \le 2d|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + 2h_n(t), \quad \text{a.a.} \ t \in (0,T).$$
(3.21)

Observe that all terms in (3.21) viewed as functions of t belong to $L_1([0, T])$. Therefore we may convolve (3.21) with the kernel l from assumption (Hk). Letting then n go to ∞ and selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, we arrive at

$$|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \le 2d \, (l * |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2)(t), \quad \text{a.a.} \, t \in (0, T).$$
(3.22)

Here we use the fact that $h_n \to 0$ in $L_1([0,T])$, which entails $l * h_n \to 0$ in $L_1([0,T])$, and that

$$l * \frac{d}{dt} \left(k_n * |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \right) = \frac{d}{dt} \left(k_n * l * |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \right) \to \frac{d}{dt} \left(k * l * |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \right) = |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2$$

in $L_1([0,T])$ as $n \to \infty$.

Since *l* is nonnegative, (3.22) implies that $|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 = 0$ a.e. in (0, T), by the abstract Gronwall lemma [86, Prop. 7.15], i.e. u = 0.

Existence. 1. We show first that for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the system of Galerkin equations (3.16) admits a unique solution $\psi := \psi_m := (c_{1m}, \ldots, c_{mm})^T$ on [0, T] in the class $W(\xi, \mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^m)$, where $\xi := \xi_m := (\beta_{1m}, \ldots, \beta_{mm})^T$.

Since the vectors w_1, \ldots, w_m are linearly independent, the matrix $((w_j, w_i)_{\mathcal{H}}) \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ is invertible. Hence (3.16) can be solved for $\frac{d}{dt} [k * (c_{jm} - \beta_{jm})]$, which leads to an equivalent system of the form

$$\frac{d}{dt} [k * (\psi - \xi)](t) = B(t)\psi(t) + g(t), \quad \text{a.a.} \ t \in (0, T),$$
(3.23)

where $B \in L_{\infty}([0,T]; \mathbb{R}^{m \times m})$, and $g \in L_2([0,T]; \mathbb{R}^m)$, by the assumptions (Ha) and (Hd). In order to solve (3.23), we transform it into the system of Volterra equations

$$\psi(t) = \xi + l * [B(\cdot)\psi(\cdot)](t) + (l * g)(t), \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0, T),$$

which has a unique solution $\psi \in L_2([0,T];\mathbb{R}^m)$, see e.g. [32, Chapter 9]. But then $\psi \in W(\xi,\mathbb{R}^m,\mathbb{R}^m)$, and hence it is also a solution of (3.23). This shows that for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the Galerkin equation (3.16) has exactly one solution $u_m \in W(x_m,\mathcal{V},\mathcal{H})$.

2. We next derive a priori estimates for the Galerkin solutions. The Galerkin equations (3.16) are equivalent to

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt}\left[k*(u_m-x_m)\right](t), w_i\right)_{\mathcal{H}} + a(t, u_m(t), w_i) = \langle f(t), w_i \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}, \quad \text{a.a.} \ t \in (0, T),$$
(3.24)

 $i = 1, \ldots, m$. Multiplying (3.24) by c_{im} and summing over i, we obtain

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt}\left[\left(k*\left(u_m-x_m\right)\right](t),u_m(t)\right)_{\mathcal{H}}+a(t,u_m(t),u_m(t))=\langle f(t),u_m(t)\rangle_{\mathcal{V}'\times\mathcal{V}}.$$
(3.25)

Let $k_n \in H^1_1([0,T])$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, be as in the uniqueness part above. Then (3.25) can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d}{dt} (k_n * u_m)(t), u_m(t) \end{pmatrix}_{\mathcal{H}} + a(t, u_m(t), u_m(t)) = k_n(t)(x_m, u_m(t))_{\mathcal{H}} + \langle f(t), u_m(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} + h_{mn}(t), \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0, T),$$
 (3.26)

with

$$h_{mn}(t) = \langle [k_n * (u_m - x_m)]'(t) - [k * (u_m - x_m)]'(t), u_m(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}.$$

Using Lemma 2.3.2 and inequality (3.15), we find that

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} (k_n * |u_m(\cdot)|^2_{\mathcal{H}})(t) + \frac{1}{2} k_n(t) |u_m(t)|^2_{\mathcal{H}} + c |u_m(t)|^2_{\mathcal{V}} \leq d |u_m(t)|^2_{\mathcal{H}} + k_n(t) (x_m, u_m(t))_{\mathcal{H}} + \langle f(t), u_m(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} + h_{mn}(t),$$

which, by Young's inequality, yields the estimate

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(k_n * |u_m(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2\right)(t) + c|u_m(t)|_{\mathcal{V}}^2 \le 2d|u_m(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + k_n(t)|x_m|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \frac{1}{c}|f(t)|_{\mathcal{V}'}^2 + 2h_{mn}(t).$$
(3.27)

Similarly as in the uniqueness part, we see that $l * h_{mn} \to 0$ and

$$l * \frac{d}{dt} \left(k_n * |u_m(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \right) \to |u_m(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2$$

in $L_1([0,T])$ as $n \to \infty$. Consequently, if we convolve (3.27) with l, and let n tend to ∞ , selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, we obtain the estimate

$$|u_m(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \le 2d \left(l * |u_m(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \right)(t) + |x_m|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \frac{1}{c} \left(l * |f(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{V}'}^2 \right)(t)$$
(3.28)

for a.a. $t \in (0,T)$, and all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. By positivity of l, it follows from (3.28) that

$$|u_m|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{H})} \le C\Big(|x_m|_{\mathcal{H}} + |f|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')}\Big),\tag{3.29}$$

where the constant C depends only on c, d, l, T.

Returning to (3.27), we may integrate from 0 to T - note that $(k_n * |u_m(\cdot)|^2_{\mathcal{H}})(0) = 0$ - and then let n go to ∞ to find that

$$c\int_0^T |u_m(t)|_{\mathcal{V}}^2 dt \le 2d\int_0^T |u_m(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dt + |k|_{L_1([0,T])} |x_m|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \frac{1}{c}\int_0^T |f(t)|_{\mathcal{V}}^2 dt.$$

This, together with (3.29) and the assumption $x_m \to x$ in \mathcal{H} , yields the *a priori* bound

$$|u_m|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})} \le C_1 \Big(|x|_{\mathcal{H}} + |f|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} \Big), \quad m \in \mathbb{N},$$
(3.30)

with some $C_1 > 0$ being independent of $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

3. By (3.30) there exists a subsequence of (u_m) , which we will again denote by (u_m) , such that

$$u_m \to u \quad \text{in } L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}) \quad \text{as } m \to \infty,$$
(3.31)

for some $u \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V})$. We will show that $u \in W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$, and that u is a solution of (3.2).

Let $\varphi \in C^1([0,T];\mathbb{R})$ with $\varphi(T) = 0$. Multiplying (3.24) by φ and using integration by parts, we obtain

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \varphi'(t)([k * (u_{m} - x_{m})](t), w_{i})_{\mathcal{H}} dt + \int_{0}^{T} \varphi(t)a(t, u_{m}(t), w_{i}) dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \varphi(t)\langle f(t), w_{i} \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}$$
(3.32)

for all $m \ge i$, because $[k * (u_m - x_m)](0) = 0$. We apply then the limits (3.31), and $x_m \to x$ in \mathcal{H} to equation (3.32). By means of (3.14), the embedding $\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}$, and Young's and Hölder's inequality, one easily verifies that this leads to

$$-\int_0^T \varphi'(t)([k*(u-x)](t), w_i)_{\mathcal{H}} dt + \int_0^T \varphi(t)a(t, u(t), w_i) dt = \int_0^T \varphi(t)\langle f(t), w_i \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}$$
(3.33)

for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Observe that $([k * (u - x)](t), w_i)_{\mathcal{H}} = \langle [k * (u - x)](t), w_i \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}$, by (3.1). It is not difficult to see that the terms in (3.33) represent linear continuous functionals on the space \mathcal{V} , with respect to w_i . Consequently, in light of (Hb), (3.33) implies

$$-\int_{0}^{T}\varphi'(t)\langle [k*(u-x)](t),v\rangle_{\mathcal{V}'\times\mathcal{V}}dt + \int_{0}^{T}\varphi(t)a(t,u(t),v)\,dt = \int_{0}^{T}\varphi(t)\langle f(t),v\rangle_{\mathcal{V}'\times\mathcal{V}} \quad (3.34)$$

for all $v \in \mathcal{V}$.

Since (3.34) holds in particular for all $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(0,T)$, we infer that k * (u-x) has a generalized derivative on (0,T) with

$$\frac{d}{dt}[k*(u-x)](t) + A(t)u(t) = f(t), \quad \text{a.a.} t \in (0,T),$$
(3.35)

where the operator $A(t): \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{V}'$ is defined as in (3.6). From $u \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V})$ and $|A(t)u(t)|_{\mathcal{V}'} \leq M|u(t)|_{\mathcal{V}}$ for a.a. $t \in (0,T)$, we deduce that $A(\cdot)u \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}')$. Since $f \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}')$, too, it follows that $[k * (u - x)]' \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}')$.

To see that $u \in W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$, it remains to show that [k*(u-x)](0) = 0. We set z := k*(u-x). Then $z \in H_2^1([0,T]; \mathcal{V}') \hookrightarrow C([0,T]; \mathcal{V}')$, and by (3.34) and (3.35), there holds

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \varphi'(t) \langle z(t), v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} dt = \int_{0}^{T} \varphi(t) \langle z'(t), v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}$$
(3.36)

for all $v \in \mathcal{V}$, and all $\varphi \in C^1([0,T];\mathbb{R})$ with $\varphi(T) = 0$. Choosing φ such that $\varphi(0) = 1$, and approximating z in $H^1_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')$ by a sequence of functions $z_n \in C^1([0,T];\mathcal{V}')$, it follows from (3.36) and the formula of integration by parts that $\langle z(0), v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} = 0$ for all $v \in \mathcal{V}$. Hence z(0) = 0.

Summarizing, we have found a function $u \in W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$ that solves the operator equation (3.35). Since (3.35) is equivalent to (3.2), the existence proof is complete.

Moreover, (3.35) has exactly one solution in the class $W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$. Consequently, all subsequences of the *original* sequence (u_m) that are weakly convergent in $L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V})$ have the same limit u. Hence, the original sequence (u_m) converges weakly to u in $L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V})$.

Continuous dependence on the data. From $u_m \rightharpoonup u$ in $L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V})$ and the estimate (3.30), it follows by means of the theorem of Banach and Steinhaus, that

$$|u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})} \le \liminf_{m \to \infty} |u_m|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})} \le C_1 \Big(|x|_{\mathcal{H}} + |f|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} \Big).$$

Using this estimate, together with $|A(\cdot)u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} \leq M|u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})}$, (Hd), and (3.35), we obtain the desired estimate (3.17).

If not only the kernel l in (Hk) but also some p-th power of it with p > 1 belongs to $L_1([0, T])$, then one can get an additional estimate for solutions of (3.2). This is the consequence of the first part of the subsequent interpolation result for functions in the space $W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$. It also contains the analogue of

$$\int_0^T t^{-1} |u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dt < \infty \quad \text{for all } u \in {}_0H_2^1([0,T];\mathcal{V}') \cap L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}),$$

see [52, Chap. 3, Prop. 5.3 and Prop. 5.4], in the case of the space $W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$.

By $L_{p,w}([0,T])$, $p \in [1,\infty)$ we mean the weak L_p space of Lebesgue measurable functions on (0,T).

Theorem 3.3.2 Let \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} be real Hilbert spaces as described above $(\mathcal{V} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{V}')$. Let further T > 0, $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$, and suppose that $x \in \mathcal{H}$, and $u \in W(x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H})$. Then the following statements hold.

(i) If $l \in L_{p,w}([0,T])$ for some p > 1 then $u \in L_{2p,w}([0,T];\mathcal{H})$, and there holds

$$|u|_{L_{2p,w}([0,T];\mathcal{H})} \le C\Big(\Big|\frac{d}{dt}[k*(u-x)]\Big|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} + |u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})} + |x|_{\mathcal{H}}\Big),$$
(3.37)

the constant C depending only on T, and $|l|_{L_{p,w}([0,T])}$. If $l \in L_p([0,T])$ for some p > 1 then $u \in L_{2p}([0,T]; \mathcal{H})$, and the estimate corresponding to (3.37) holds.

(ii) There holds the estimate

$$\left(\int_{0}^{T} k(t)|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} dt\right)^{1/2} \leq C_{1}\left(\left|\frac{d}{dt}[k*(u-x)]\right|_{L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V})} + |u|_{L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V})} + |x|_{\mathcal{H}}\right),$$

where the constant C_1 only depends on $|k|_{L_1([0,T])}$.

Proof. We proceed similarly as in the proof of the previous result. The key idea again is to apply the identity (2.8) from Lemma 2.3.2.

Let (k_n) be the sequence of approximating kernels used above, and put

$$g(t) = \langle (k * [u - x])'(t), u(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}, \quad t \in (0, T),$$

and

$$h_n(t) = \langle (k_n * [u - x])'(t) - (k * [u - x])'(t), u(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}}, \quad t \in (0, T).$$

Then

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt}\left(k_n \ast u\right)(t), u(t)\right)_{\mathcal{H}} = k_n(t)(x, u(t))_{\mathcal{H}} + g(t) + h_n(t), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T),$$

with each term being in $L_1([0,T])$. Using (2.8) and the inequality $ab \leq \frac{1}{4}a^2 + b^2$ it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\left(k_n * |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2\right)(t) + \frac{1}{4}k_n(t)|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \le k_n(t)|x|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + g(t) + h_n(t), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0,T).$$
(3.38)

To prove (i), we drop the second term on the left, which is nonnegative, convolve the resulting inequality with l, and send n to ∞ . Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 we obtain

$$|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \le 2\Big(|x|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + (l * g)(t)\Big), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T).$$

Young's inequality for weak type L_p spaces (see e.g. [30, Theorem 1.2.13]) then gives

$$|u|_{L_{2p,w}([0,T];\mathcal{H})}^{2} = \left| |u(\cdot)|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \right|_{L_{p,w}([0,T])} \leq 2 \left(|l|_{L_{p,w}([0,T])} |g|_{L_{1}([0,T])} + T^{1/p} |x|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \right),$$

which together with

$$2|g|_{L_1([0,T])} \le \left|\frac{d}{dt}[k*(u-x)]\right|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V}')}^2 + |u|_{L_2([0,T];\mathcal{V})}^2$$

implies the first desired bound in (i). If $l \in L_p([0,T])$ one may apply Young's classical inequality for convolutions to establish the asserted estimate in (i).

As to (ii), we integrate (3.38) from 0 to T, and drop the term $k_n * |u(\cdot)|^2_{\mathcal{H}}(T)$, to the result

$$\int_0^T k_n(t) |u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dt \le 4 \Big((1 * k_n)(T) |x|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + |g|_{L_1([0,T])} + |h_n|_{L_1([0,T])} \Big)$$

Observe that $(1 * k_n)(T) \to (1 * k)(T)$, and $|h_n|_{L_1([0,T])} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Therefore, for sufficiently large n we have

$$\int_0^T k_n(t) |u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dt \le 8 \Big((1 * k)(T) |x|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + |g|_{L_1([0,T])} \Big).$$

Since $k_n \to k$ in $L_1([0,1])$, the assertion then follows from Fatou's lemma.

In the case of fractional evolution equations we have the following corollary. Here we set

$$_{0}H_{2}^{\alpha}([0,T];\mathcal{V}') := \{v|_{[0,T]}: v \in H_{2}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R};\mathcal{V}') \text{ and } \operatorname{supp} v \subseteq \mathbb{R}_{+}\}$$

where $H_2^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}; \mathcal{V}')$ stands for the Bessel potential space of order α of \mathcal{V}' -valued functions on the line.

Corollary 3.3.1 Let T > 0, and \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{H} be real Hilbert spaces as described above. Suppose (Hd), (Ha), and (Hb), and assume that $k(t) = g_{1-\alpha}(t)e^{-\mu t}$, t > 0, with $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and $\mu \ge 0$. Then the problem (3.2) admits exactly one solution u in the space

$$W(\alpha; x, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{H}) := \{ u \in L_2([0, T]; \mathcal{V}) : u - x \in {}_0H_2^{\alpha}([0, T]; \mathcal{V}') \}.$$

Furthermore, we have

$$(g_{1-\alpha}e^{-\mu}) * u \in C([0,T];\mathcal{H}), \ u \in L_{\frac{2}{1-\alpha},w}([0,T];\mathcal{H}), \ and \ \int_0^T t^{-\alpha}|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dt < \infty.$$

There exists a constant $M = M(\alpha, \mu, T) > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} |u-x|_{{}_{0}H_{2}^{\alpha}([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} + |u|_{L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V})} + |(g_{1-\alpha}e^{-\mu}) * u|_{C([0,T];\mathcal{H})} + |u|_{L_{\frac{2}{1-\alpha},w}([0,T];\mathcal{H})} \\ + (\int_{0}^{T} t^{-\alpha}|u(t)|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} dt)^{1/2} &\leq M \Big(|x|_{\mathcal{H}} + |f|_{L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V}')} \Big), \end{aligned}$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{H}$ and $f \in L_2([0,T]; \mathcal{V}')$.

Proof. Let l as in (2.1). Then

$${}_{0}H_{2}^{\alpha}([0,T];\mathcal{V}') = \{l * v : v \in L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V}')\} \\ = \{v \in L_{2}([0,T];\mathcal{V}') : (g_{1-\alpha}e^{-\mu \cdot}) * v \in {}_{0}H_{2}^{1}([0,T];\mathcal{V}'),$$

for the first equals sign see e.g. [81, Corollary 2.1]; the second one follows from k * l = 1. Note further that $l \in L_{1/(1-\alpha),w}([0,T])$. So the assertions of the corollary follow immediately from the previous results.

Note that taking *formally* the limit $\alpha \to 1$ in the above estimates (with $\mu = 0$) we recover the well-known estimates for solutions of the abstract parabolic equation (3.4).

3.4 Second order problems

Let T > 0, and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N with $N \ge 3$. We consider the problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (k * (u - u_0)) - \operatorname{div} (A Du) + (b|Du) + cu = g, & t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega, \\ u(t, x) = 0, & t \in (0, T), \ x \in \partial\Omega, \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), & x \in \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(3.39)

Here $(\cdot|\cdot)$ denotes the scalar product in \mathbb{R}^N . We make the following assumptions on the kernel k, the coefficients, and the data.

- (**Hk**) $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$ for some $l \in L_{1, loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$.
- (**Hd**) $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega), g \in L_2([0,T]; L_{\frac{2N}{2N+2}}(\Omega)).$
- **(HA)** $A \in L_{\infty}((0,T) \times \Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$, and $\exists \nu > 0$ such that

 $(A(t,x)\xi|\xi) \ge \nu|\xi|^2$, for a.a. $t \in (0,T), x \in \Omega$, and all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

(Hc) $b \in L_{\infty}((0,T) \times \Omega; \mathbb{R}^N), c \in L_{\infty}((0,T) \times \Omega).$

We set $\mathcal{V} = \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)$, and $\mathcal{H} = L_2(\Omega)$, endowed with the inner product $(u, v)_{\mathcal{H}} = \int_{\Omega} uv \, dx$. Define

$$a(t,u,v) = \int_{\Omega} \left(\left(A(t,x)Du(x)|Dv(x) \right) + \left(b(t,x)|Du(x) \right)v(x) + c(t,x)u(x)v(x) \right) dx \right)$$

and

$$\langle f(t), v \rangle_{\mathcal{V}' \times \mathcal{V}} = \int_{\Omega} g(t, x) v(x) \, dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T).$$

Then the weak formulation of (3.39) reads

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left([k*(u-u_0)](t),v\right)_{\mathcal{H}} + a(t,u(t),v) = \langle f(t),v\rangle_{\mathcal{V}'\times\mathcal{V}}, \quad v\in\mathcal{V}, \text{ a.a. } t\in(0,T),$$
(3.40)

and we seek a solution in the class

$$W(u_0, \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega), L_2(\Omega)) = \{ u \in L_2([0, T]; \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)) : k * (u - u_0) \in {}_0H_2^1([0, T]; H_2^{-1}(\Omega)) \}.$$

It is folklore that in the described setting the assumptions (Hd), and (Ha) in Theorem 3.3.1 are satisfied. Concerning (Hb), we could take $\{w_1, w_2, \ldots\}$ to be the complete set of eigenfunctions for $-\Delta$ in $\mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)$. Consequently, we obtain

Corollary 3.4.1 Suppose the assumptions (Hk), (Hd), (HA), and (Hc) hold. Then the problem (3.39) has a unique weak solution $u \in W(u_0, \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega), L_2(\Omega))$ in the sense that (3.40) is satisfied. Further, $k * u \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega))$. In the case $k(t) = g_{1-\alpha}(t)e^{-\mu t}$, t > 0, with $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and $\mu \ge 0$, we have

$$u \in L_{\frac{2}{1-\alpha}, w}([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)) \cap L_2([0,T]; \check{H}_2^1(\Omega)), and u - u_0 \in {}_0H_2^{\alpha}([0,T]; H_2^{-1}(\Omega))\}.$$

Of course, a corresponding result also holds in the case $N \leq 2$ with the assumption on g appropriately modified. In any case, $g \in L_2([0,T] \times \Omega)$ is sufficient.

Chapter 4

Boundedness of weak solutions and the maximum principle

4.1 Introductory remarks

Let T > 0, and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . In this chapter we investigate linear partial integro-differential equations of the form

$$\partial_t \Big(k * (u - u_0) \Big) - \mathcal{L}u = f + \operatorname{div} g, \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega,$$
(4.1)

as well as related quasilinear problems

$$\partial_t \left(k \ast (u - u_0) \right) - \operatorname{div} a(t, x, u, Du) = b(t, x, u, Du), \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega,$$
(4.2)

where in both cases $k \in L_{1, loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is a kernel of type \mathcal{PC} .

In (4.1), \mathcal{L} is a second order operator w.r.t. the spatial variables in divergence form:

$$\mathcal{L}u = \operatorname{div}\left(A(t,x)Du + b(t,x)u\right) + (c(t,x)|Du) + d(t,x)u.$$

Here A is $\mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ -valued, b and c take values in \mathbb{R}^N , and d is a real-valued function. Recall that $(\cdot|\cdot)$ denotes the scalar product in \mathbb{R}^N . The functions $u_0 = u_0(x)$, f = f(t, x), and g = g(t, x) are given data; the function u_0 plays the role of the initial data for u.

Concerning the leading coefficients of \mathcal{L} we merely assume measurability, boundedness, and a uniform parabolicity condition. The coefficients of the lower order terms are assumed to belong to certain Lebesgue spaces of mixed type, so they need not be bounded.

In (4.2), the functions $a : (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ and $b : (0,T) \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}$ are measurable and satisfy suitable structure conditions, see (Q1)–(Q5) in Section 4.3.

One of the main objectives of this chapter is to derive results asserting the boundedness on Ω_T of appropriately defined weak solutions of (4.1) and (4.2), respectively, that are bounded on Γ_T . We further establish the analogue of the well-known weak maximum principle for weak solutions of the parabolic equation corresponding to (4.1), i.e. $\partial_t u - \mathcal{L}u = f + \text{div } g$, see e.g. [49, Theorem 7.2, p. 188].

Our proofs of the global boundedness results use De Giorgi's iteration technique and are based on suitable a priori estimates for weak solutions of (4.1) and (4.2), respectively. These estimates, which by partly standard arguments (c.p. [49, Chapters III and V]) lead to suitable Caccioppoli type inequalities, are derived by means of the basic inequality (2.7). One of the technical difficulties in deriving the desired estimates in the weak setting is to find an appropriate time regularization of the equation. In the classical parabolic theory this is achieved by means of Steklov averages in time. In the case of equations (4.1) and (4.2) this method does not work any more, since Steklov average operators and convolution do not commute. It turns out that instead one can again use the Yosida approximation of the operator B defined by $Bv = \partial_t(k * v)$, e.g. in $L_2([0,T])$, which leads to a regularization of the kernel k(not of u!).

4.2 Linear equations

In this section we study the linear equation (4.1). Let T > 0, and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N such that $\partial\Omega$ satisfies the property of positive density, the latter will be assumed throughout this chapter. In what follows (except for Theorem 4.2.2 and Theorem 4.2.3) we will assume that

(H1) There exists $l \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that $(k,l) \in \mathcal{PC}$. Further, $l \in L_p([0,T])$ for some p > 1.

(H2) $A \in L_{\infty}((0,T) \times \Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$, and $\exists \nu > 0$ such that

$$(A(t,x)\xi|\xi) \ge \nu|\xi|^2$$
, for a.a. $(t,x) \in \Omega_T$, and all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

(H3) $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega)$, and

$$\left| |b|^2 + |g|^2 + |c|^2 + |d| + |f| \right|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))} =: C_D < \infty,$$

where

$$\frac{p'}{r} + \frac{N}{2q} = 1 - \beta$$

and

$$r \in \left[\frac{p'}{(1-\beta)}, \infty\right], \ q \in \left[\frac{N}{2(1-\beta)}, \infty\right], \ \beta \in (0,1) \quad \text{for} \quad N \ge 2,$$

$$r \in \left[\frac{p'}{(1-\beta)}, \frac{2p'}{(1-2\beta)}\right], \ q \in [1,\infty], \ \beta \in \left(0, \frac{1}{2}\right) \quad \text{for} \quad N = 1.$$

We say that a function u is a weak solution (subsolution, supersolution) of (4.1) in Ω_T , if u belongs to the space

$$\tilde{V}_p := \{ v \in L_{2p}([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)) \cap L_2([0,T]; H_2^1(\Omega)) \text{ such that} \\ k * v \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)), \text{ and } (k * v)|_{t=0} = 0 \},$$

and for any nonnegative test function

$$\eta \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega_{T}) := H_{2}^{1}([0,T]; L_{2}(\Omega)) \cap L_{2}([0,T]; \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(\Omega))$$

with $\eta|_{t=T} = 0$ there holds

$$\int_0^T \int_\Omega \left(-\eta_t [k * (u - u_0)] + (ADu + bu|D\eta) - (c|Du)\eta - du\eta \right) dxdt$$
$$= (\leq, \geq) \int_0^T \int_\Omega \left(f\eta - (g|D\eta) \right) dxdt.$$
(4.3)

It is not difficult to verify, by means of Hölder's inequality and the interpolation inequality (2.13), that under conditions (H1)-(H3) the integrals in (4.3) are finite, see also the proof of Theorem
4.2.1 below. We point out that (4.1) is considered without any boundary conditions, in this sense weak solutions of (4.1) as defined above are *local* ones (w.r.t. x). Note that for an energy estimate for weak solutions $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ of (4.1) one can work with a weaker version of condition (H3), see e.g. Theorem 4.2.2 below. We further remark that weak solutions of (4.1) in the class \tilde{V}_p have already been constructed in Chapter 3 under the assumptions (H1), (H2), and a stronger variant of (H3), see Section 3.4. Notice also that the function u_0 plays the role of the initial data for u, at least in a weak sense. In case of sufficiently smooth functions u and $k * (u - u_0)$ the condition $(k * u)|_{t=0} = 0$ implies $u|_{t=0} = u_0$, see Section 3.3.

The following lemma is basic to deriving a priori estimates for weak (sub-/super-) solutions of (4.1) as it provides an equivalent weak formulation of (4.1) where the kernel k is replaced with the more regular kernel k_n ($n \in \mathbb{N}$) defined in (2.5). In what follows the kernels h_n , $n \in \mathbb{N}$, are as in Section 2.2.

Lemma 4.2.1 Let the assumptions (H1)–(H3) be satisfied. Then $u \in V_p$ is a weak solution (subsolution, supersolution) of (4.1) if and only if for any nonnegative function $\psi \in H_2^1(\Omega)$ one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_t [k_n * (u - u_0)] + (h_n * [ADu + bu] | D\psi) - (h_n * [(c|Du) + du])\psi \right) dx$$

= $(\leq, \geq) \int_{\Omega} \left([h_n * f]\psi - (h_n * g|D\psi) \right) dx, \quad a.a. \ t \in (0, T), \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$ (4.4)

Proof. We may restrict ourselves to the subsolution case as the remaining cases can be treated analogously.

The 'if' part is readily seen as follows. Given an arbitrary nonnegative $\eta \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega_T)$ satisfying $\eta|_{t=T} = 0$, we take in (4.4) $\psi(x) = \eta(t, x)$ for any fixed $t \in (0, T)$, integrate from t = 0 to t = T, and integrate by parts w.r.t. the time variable. Relation (4.3) then follows by sending $n \to \infty$; here we use the approximating properties of the kernels h_n described in Section 2.2.

To show the 'only-if' part, we choose the test function

$$\eta(t,x) = \int_{t}^{T} h_{n}(\sigma-t)\varphi(\sigma,x) \, d\sigma = \int_{0}^{T-t} h_{n}(\sigma)\varphi(\sigma+t,x) \, d\sigma, \quad t \in (0,T), \, x \in \Omega, \tag{4.5}$$

with arbitrary $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and nonnegative $\varphi \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega_T)$ satisfying $\varphi|_{t=T} = 0$; η is nonnegative since φ and h_n are so (see Section 2.2). Then

$$\eta_t(t,x) = \int_t^T h_n(\sigma - t)\varphi_\sigma(\sigma, x) \, d\sigma, \quad \text{a.a.} \ (t,x) \in \Omega_T.$$

By Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\int_0^T \left(\int_t^T h_n(\sigma - t)\psi_1(\sigma) \, d\sigma \right) \psi_2(t) \, dt = \int_0^T \psi_1(t) \left(\int_0^t h_n(t - \sigma)\psi_2(\sigma) \, d\sigma \right) \, dt,$$

for all $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in L_2([0,T])$. So it follows from (4.3) and $k_n = h_n * k$ (c.p. (2.5)) that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int_\Omega \left(-\varphi_t [k_n * (u - u_0)] + (h_n * [ADu + bu] | D\varphi) - (h_n * [(c|Du) + du])\varphi \right) dx \, dt \\ & \leq \int_0^T \int_\Omega \left([h_n * f]\varphi - (h_n * g|D\varphi) \right) dx \, dt, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}. \end{split}$$

Observe that $k_n * (u - u_0) \in {}_0H_2^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega))$. Therefore, integrating by parts and using $\varphi|_{t=T} = 0$ yields

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \left(\varphi \partial_{t} [k_{n} * (u - u_{0})] + (h_{n} * [ADu + bu]] | D\varphi) - (h_{n} * [(c|Du) + du]) \varphi \right) dx dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \left([h_{n} * f] \varphi - (h_{n} * g|D\varphi) \right) dx dt$$
(4.6)

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varphi \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega_{T})$ with $\varphi|_{t=T} = 0$. By means of a simple approximation argument, we infer that (4.6) holds true for any φ of the form $\varphi(t, x) = \chi_{(t_1, t_2)}(t)\psi(x)$, where $\chi_{(t_1, t_2)}$ denotes the characteristic function of the time-interval (t_1, t_2) , $0 < t_1 < t_2 < T$, and $\psi \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$ is nonnegative. Appealing to the Lebesgue differentiation theorem, we then obtain the desired relation (4.4).

In what follows we say that a function $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ satisfies $u \leq K$ a.e. on Γ_T for some number $K \in \mathbb{R}$ if $(u - K)_+ \in L_2([0, T]; \mathring{H}^1_2(\Omega))$, likewise for lower bounds on Γ_T .

Theorem 4.2.1 Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Let further the assumptions (H1) - (H3) be satisfied. Suppose $K \ge 0$ is such that $u_0 \le K$ a.e. in Ω . Then there exists a constant $C = C(p, q, r, |l|_{L_p([0,T])}, T, N, \nu, \Omega, C_D)$ such that for any weak subsolution $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ of (4.1) in Ω_T satisfying $u \le K$ a.e. on Γ_T there holds $u \le C(1+K)$ a.e. in Ω_T .

Remarks 4.2.1 (i) There is a corresponding result for weak supersolutions u of (4.1) in the situation where $u_0 \ge K$ a.e. in Ω , and $u \ge K$ a.e. on Γ_T , for some $K \le 0$. This follows immediately from Theorem 4.2.1 by replacing u with -u, and u_0 with $-u_0$.

(ii) The statement of Theorem 4.2.1 remains true if r and q in (H3) are different for different coefficients and data, that is when $|b|^2 \in L_{r_1}([0,T]; L_{q_1}(\Omega)), |g|^2 \in L_{r_2}([0,T]; L_{q_2}(\Omega))$, and so forth with r_i and q_i satisfying the same conditions as r and q in (H3). This can been seen by working with several functions $\mu_{\kappa,i}$ and by generalizing the iteration argument for the function ϕ , see below. In the classical parabolic case this issue is discussed in [49, Chapter III, Remark 7.2].

Proof of Theorem 4.2.1. Suppose $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ is a weak subsolution of (4.1) in Ω_T . Then, by Lemma 4.2.1, for any nonnegative function $\psi \in \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)$ relation (4.4) holds with the ' \leq ' sign. For $t \in (0,T)$ we take in (4.4) the test function $\psi = u_{\kappa}^+ := (u_{\kappa})_+$, where $u_{\kappa} := u - \kappa$, and $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfying the condition

$$\kappa \ge \kappa_0 := \max\{0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_T} u\}.$$
(4.7)

The resulting inequality can be written in the form

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(u_{\kappa}^{+} \partial_{t} (k_{n} * u_{\kappa}) + (h_{n} * [ADu + bu]] Du_{\kappa}^{+} \right) - (h_{n} * [(c|Du) + du]) u_{\kappa}^{+} \right) dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \left([h_{n} * f] u_{\kappa}^{+} - (h_{n} * g|Du_{\kappa}^{+}) + u_{\kappa}^{+} (u_{0} - \kappa) k_{n} \right) dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T).$$
(4.8)

Clearly,

$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\kappa}^{+}(u_0 - \kappa)k_n \, dx \le 0, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T),$$

by positivity of k_n and (4.7). Thanks to (2.7) we further have

$$u_{\kappa}^{+}\partial_{t}(k_{n} \ast u_{\kappa}) \geq \frac{1}{2}\partial_{t}\left(k_{n} \ast (u_{\kappa}^{+})^{2}\right), \quad \text{a.a.} (t, x) \in \Omega_{T}.$$
(4.9)

Using these relations it follows from (4.8) that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_t [k_n * (u_{\kappa}^+)^2] + (h_n * [ADu + bu] | Du_{\kappa}^+) - (h_n * [(c|Du) + du]) u_{\kappa}^+ \right) dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \left([h_n * f] u_{\kappa}^+ - (h_n * g | Du_{\kappa}^+) \right) dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0, T).$$
(4.10)

Next we convolve (4.10) with the nonnegative kernel l from assumption (H1), and observe that in view of

$$k_n * (u_{\kappa}^+)^2 \in {}_0H_1^1([0,T]; L_1(\Omega))$$

and $k_n = k * h_n$ we have

$$l * \partial_t \left(k_n * (u_\kappa^+)^2 \right) = \partial_t \left(l * k_n * (u_\kappa^+)^2 \right) = h_n * (u_\kappa^+)^2$$

Sending then $n \to \infty$, and selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, we thus arrive at

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (u_{\kappa}^{+})^{2} dx + l * \int_{\Omega} (ADu|Du_{\kappa}^{+}) dx \le l * F, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0,T),$$
(4.11)

where

$$F(t) = \int_{\Omega} \left(-(bu+g|Du_{\kappa}^{+}) + [(c|Du)+du+f]u_{\kappa}^{+} \right) dx$$

By (H2), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} (ADu|Du_{\kappa}^{+}) dx = \int_{\Omega} (ADu_{\kappa}^{+}|Du_{\kappa}^{+}) dx \ge \nu \int_{\Omega} |Du_{\kappa}^{+}|^{2} dx, \qquad (4.12)$$

and thus

$$\int_{\Omega} (u_{\kappa}^+)^2 \, dx \leq 2\, l \ast F, \quad \text{a.a.} \ t \in (0,T).$$

Young's inequality for convolutions then gives

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{L_{2p}([0,t_{1}];L_{2}(\Omega))}^{2} = |(u_{\kappa}^{+})^{2}|_{L_{p}([0,t_{1}];L_{1}(\Omega))}$$

$$\leq 2|l|_{L_{p}([0,t_{1}])}|F|_{L_{1}([0,t_{1}])} \leq 2|l|_{L_{p}([0,T])}|F|_{L_{1}([0,t_{1}])}$$
(4.13)

for all $t_1 \in (0, T]$.

Returning to (4.11), we may also drop the first term, convolve the resulting inequality with k, and use k * l = 1 as well as (4.12), thereby obtaining

$$\nu |Du_{\kappa}^{+}|^{2}_{L_{2}([0,t_{1}];L_{2}(\Omega))} \leq |F|_{L_{1}([0,t_{1}])}.$$
(4.14)

In order to estimate $|F|_{L_1([0,t_1])}$, which appears on the right side of both (4.13) and (4.14), we proceed similarly as in [49, p. 184]. We denote the Lebesgue measure in \mathbb{R}^N by λ_N and set

$$A_{\kappa}(t) = \{ x \in \Omega : u(t,x) > \kappa \}, \quad t \in (0,T).$$

Then

$$\begin{split} |F|_{L_1([0,t_1])} &\leq \varepsilon |Du_{\kappa}^+|^2_{L_2([0,t_1];L_2(\Omega))} \\ &+ C(\varepsilon) \int_0^{t_1} \int_{A_{\kappa}(t)} \left(|b|^2 u^2 + |g|^2 + |c|^2 (u_{\kappa})^2 + |du|u_{\kappa} + |f|u_{\kappa} \right) dx \, dt, \end{split}$$

for all $\varepsilon > 0$. Selecting ε sufficiently small and assuming $\kappa \ge 1$, this together with (4.13), and (4.14) gives

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C(\nu,|l|_{p},T,p) \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \int_{A_{\kappa}(t)} \mathcal{D}(t,x) \Big((u_{\kappa})^{2} + \kappa^{2} \Big) \, dx \, dt, \tag{4.15}$$

where $|l|_p := |l|_{L_p([0,T])}$, and

$$\mathcal{D}(t,x) = |b(t,x)|^2 + |g(t,x)|^2 + |c(t,x)|^2 + |d(t,x)| + |f(t,x)|,$$

and $V_p([0, t_1] \times \Omega)$ is defined as in (2.11). Using Hölder's inequality and (H3) we thus have with 1/r + 1/r' = 1 and 1/q + 1/q' = 1 that

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C|\mathcal{D}|_{L_{r}([0,t_{1}];L_{q}(\Omega))}|(u_{\kappa}^{+})^{2} + \kappa^{2}\chi_{\{u>\kappa\}}|_{L_{r'}([0,t_{1}];L_{q'}(\Omega))};$$
(4.16)

here C is as in (4.15), and $\chi_{\{u>\kappa\}}$ denotes the characteristic function of the set of points $(t, x) \in (0, t_1) \times \Omega$ at which $u(t, x) > \kappa$. We may then estimate, using again Hölder's inequality,

$$|(u_{\kappa}^{+})^{2}|_{L_{r'}([0,t_{1}];L_{q'}(\Omega))} \leq |u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{L_{2r'(1+\delta)}([0,t_{1}];L_{2q'(1+\delta)}(\Omega))}^{2} \mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{\sigma}{r'(1+\delta)}},$$
(4.17)

with

$$\mu_{\kappa} = \begin{cases} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \lambda_{N} (A_{\kappa}(t))^{\frac{r'}{q'}} dt & : q > 1\\ \lambda_{1}(\{t \in (0, t_{1}) : \lambda_{N}(A_{\kappa}(t)) > 0\}) & : q = 1, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\delta = \frac{2\beta}{2(p'-1)+N}$$

It is not difficult to verify that, by virtue of (H3), the numbers $\tilde{r} := 2r'(1+\delta)$ and $\tilde{q} := 2q'(1+\delta)$ are subject to the condition (2.12) with (r, q) being replaced by (\tilde{r}, \tilde{q}) . Therefore, using inequality (2.13), it follows from (4.17) that

$$|(u_{\kappa}^{+})^{2}|_{L_{r'}([0,t_{1}];L_{q'}(\Omega))} \leq C(N,q)|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2}\mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{\delta}{r'(1+\delta)}}.$$
(4.18)

We may further write

$$|\kappa^{2}\chi_{\{u>\kappa\}}|_{L_{r'}([0,t_{1}];L_{q'}(\Omega))} = \kappa^{2}\mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{1}{r'}}.$$
(4.19)

Combining (4.16), (4.18), and (4.19) we obtain

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C_{1}|\mathcal{D}|_{L_{r}([0,t_{1}];L_{q}(\Omega))}\left(|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2}\mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{\partial}{\Gamma'(1+\delta)}} + \kappa^{2}\mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{1}{T'}}\right),$$
(4.20)

with $C_1 = C_1(\nu, |l|_p, T, p, N, q).$

We now choose $t_1 = T/n$ where $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is so large that

$$C_1|\mathcal{D}|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))} t_1^{\frac{\delta}{r'(1+\delta)}} \lambda_N(\Omega)^{\frac{\delta}{q'(1+\delta)}} \le \frac{1}{2}.$$
(4.21)

Setting $C_2^2 = 2C_1 |\mathcal{D}|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))}$, inequality (4.20) then implies

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C_{2}^{2}\kappa^{2}\mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{1}{r'}}, \quad \kappa \geq \tilde{\kappa}_{0} := \max\{\kappa_{0},1\}.$$
(4.22)

Define the function

 $\phi(\kappa) = \mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{1}{\tilde{r}}}, \quad \kappa \geq \tilde{\kappa}_0.$

We will show that $\phi(2M) = 0$ provided $M \ge \tilde{\kappa}_0$ is sufficiently large. The argument is analogous to the proof of Theorem 6.1 in Chapter II of [49]. For the sake of completeness we give the details.

By virtue of inequalities (2.13) and (4.22), we have for any $\kappa_2 > \kappa_1 \ge \tilde{\kappa}_0$

$$(\kappa_2 - \kappa_1)\phi(\kappa_2) \le |u_{\kappa_1}^+|_{L_{\bar{r}}([0,t_1];L_{\bar{q}}(\Omega))} \le C(N,q)|u_{\kappa_1}^+|_{V_p([0,t_1]\times\Omega)} \le C_3\kappa_1\phi(\kappa_1)^{1+\delta},$$
(4.23)

where $C_3 = CC_2$. We take $\kappa_2 = \xi_{n+1}$ and $\kappa_1 = \xi_n$ with $\xi_n = M(2-2^{-n})$, n = 0, 1, 2, ..., and $M \ge \tilde{\kappa}_0$ being fixed. This gives

$$\phi(\xi_{n+1}) \le \frac{C_3 \xi_n}{\xi_{n+1} - \xi_n} \, \phi(\xi_n)^{1+\delta} \le 4C_3 2^n \phi(\xi_n)^{1+\delta},$$

which, together with Lemma 2.4.1, shows that the sequence $Y_n = \phi(\xi_n)$, $n = 0, 1, \ldots$, will go to zero as $n \to \infty$, provided $\phi(\xi_0)$ is sufficiently small, namely

$$\phi(\xi_0) = \phi(M) \le (4C_3)^{-1/\delta} 2^{-1/\delta^2}.$$
(4.24)

By taking in (4.23) $\kappa_2 = M = m \tilde{\kappa}_0$ and $\kappa_1 = \tilde{\kappa}_0$, we obtain

$$\phi(M) \leq \frac{C_3}{m-1} \phi(\tilde{\kappa}_0)^{1+\delta} \leq \frac{C_3}{m-1} t_1^{(1+\delta)/\tilde{r}} \lambda_N(\Omega)^{(1+\delta)/\tilde{q}}.$$

Hence (4.24) is satisfied for

$$m = 1 + C_3 t_1^{(1+\delta)/\tilde{r}} \lambda_N(\Omega)^{(1+\delta)/\tilde{q}} (4C_3)^{1/\delta} 2^{1/\delta^2}$$

It follows that for this m

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{[0,t_1]\times\Omega} u \le 2M = 2m\tilde{\kappa}_0. \tag{4.25}$$

To obtain a bound on the whole time-interval [0, T], we proceed by induction. Using (4.25) we next derive an estimate on $[t_1, 2t_1]$, which together with (4.25) is then employed to find an upper bound on $[2t_1, 3t_1]$, and so forth until we reach T after finitely many steps. Due to the nonlocalness of the integro-differential operator in time, in each step we have to use the bounds established in all of the previous steps, that is up to t = 0.

Let $T_0 \in (0, T)$ and suppose that $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ is a weak subsolution of (4.1) in Ω_T which is bounded above on $[0, T_0] \times \Omega$. Then as above we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_t (k_n * u_\kappa) + (h_n * [ADu + bu]] D\psi \right) - (h_n * [(c|Du) + du]) \psi \right) dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \left([h_n * f] \psi - (h_n * g|D\psi) + \psi (u_0 - \kappa) k_n \right) dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (T_0, T), \tag{4.26}$$

for any nonnegative $\psi \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$, $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$, and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Recall that $k_{n} \in H_{1}^{1}([0,T])$ with derivative $\dot{k}_{n} \leq 0$. We define

$$H_{\kappa,n}(t,x) = \int_0^{T_0} [-\dot{k}_n(t-\tau)] u_\kappa(\tau,x) \, d\tau, \ t \in (T_0,T), \ x \in \Omega.$$
(4.27)

By Jensen's inequality,

$$|H_{\kappa,n}(t,x)|^2 \le \left(k_n(t-T_0) - k_n(t)\right) \int_0^{T_0} \left[-\dot{k}_n(t-\tau)\right] |u_\kappa(\tau,x)|^2 \, d\tau, \tag{4.28}$$

which shows that $H_{k,n} \in L_2([T_0, T] \times \Omega)$. Therefore we may use the decomposition

$$(k_n * u_\kappa)(t, x) = \int_{T_0}^t k_n(t - \tau) u_\kappa(\tau, x) \, d\tau + \int_0^{T_0} k_n(t - \tau) u_\kappa(\tau, x) \, d\tau, \quad t \in (T_0, T),$$

to rewrite (4.26) as

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_t \int_{T_0}^t k_n(t-\tau) u_{\kappa}(\tau, x) \, d\tau + (h_n * [ADu+bu]|D\psi) - (h_n * [(c|Du)+du])\psi \right) dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \left([h_n * f]\psi - (h_n * g|D\psi) + \psi(u_0 - \kappa)k_n + \psi H_{\kappa,n} \right) dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (T_0, T). \quad (4.29)$$

We then shift the time according to $s = t - T_0$. Employing the notation $\tilde{v}(s) = v(s + T_0)$, $s \in (0, T - T_0)$, for functions v defined on (T_0, T) , (4.29) becomes

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_s (k_n * \tilde{u}_{\kappa}) + \left((h_n * [ADu + bu])^{\tilde{}} | D\psi \right) - (h_n * [(c|Du) + du])^{\tilde{}} \psi \right) dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \left([h_n * f]^{\tilde{}} \psi - \left((h_n * g)^{\tilde{}} | D\psi \right) + \psi (u_0 - \kappa) \tilde{k}_n + \psi \tilde{H}_{\kappa,n} \right) dx, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, T - T_0).$$
(4.30)

Setting $T_0 = t_1$, we can now argue as above to get an upper bound for u on $[t_1, 2t_1] \times \Omega$. We restrict κ to

$$\kappa \geq \tilde{\kappa}_1 := \max\{\tilde{\kappa}_0, \operatorname{ess\,sup} u\} = \max\{\tilde{\kappa}_0, 2m\tilde{\kappa}_0\} = 2m\tilde{\kappa}_0, \\ \underset{[0,t_1]\times\Omega}{}$$

which entails that $u_0 - \kappa \leq 0$ as well as $\tilde{H}_{\kappa,n} \leq 0$. Consequently, the terms involving these functions can be dropped in (4.30). We take $\psi = \tilde{u}_{\kappa}^+$ and use the analogue of (4.9). Convolving the resulting inequality with l, and sending $n \to \infty$ then yields

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\tilde{u}_{\kappa}^+)^2 \, dx + l * \int_{\Omega} (\tilde{A} D \tilde{u} | D \tilde{u}_{\kappa}^+) \, dx \leq l * \tilde{F}, \quad \text{a.a.} \ s \in (0, T - t_1),$$

which is the time shifted version of (4.11). We conclude that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\substack{[t_1,t_2] \times \Omega}} u \le 2m\tilde{\kappa}_1 = 4m^2\tilde{\kappa}_0. \tag{4.31}$$

These arguments can now be repeated for the time-intervals $[jt_1, (j+1)t_1], j = 2, ..., n-1$, thereby obtaining a bound

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega_T} u \le C \tilde{\kappa}_0,$$

with a constant $C = C(p, q, r, |l|_p, T, N, \nu, \lambda_N(\Omega), C_D).$

As an immediate consequence of Theorem 4.2.1 and Remark 4.2.1(i) we obtain the global boundedness of weak solutions of (4.1) that are bounded on the parabolic boundary of Ω_T .

Corollary 4.2.1 Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Assume that the assumptions (H1) - (H3) are satisfied. Suppose $K \ge 0$ is such that $|u_0| \le K$ a.e. in Ω . Then there exists a constant $C = C(p, q, r, |l|_{L_p([0,T])}, T, N, \nu, \Omega, C_D)$ such that for any weak solution $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ of (4.1) in Ω_T satisfying $|u| \le K$ a.e. on Γ_T there holds $|u| \le C(1+K)$ a.e. in Ω_T .

For weak subsolutions (supersolutions) of (4.1) the maximum (minimum) principle is valid in the subsequent form. Let (H3') stand for

$$u_0 \in L_2(\Omega), \quad |c|^2 + |d| \in L_r([0,T]; L_q(\Omega))$$

where

$$\frac{p'}{r} + \frac{N}{2q} = 1$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} r &\in [p', \infty), \ q \in \left[\frac{N}{2}, \infty\right] \quad \text{for} \quad N \geq 2, \\ r &\in [p', 2p'], \ q \in [1, \infty] \quad \text{for} \quad N = 1. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 4.2.2 Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose that the conditions (H1),(H2), and (H3') are fulfilled, and assume that $b \equiv g \equiv 0$, $f \equiv 0$, and $d \leq 0$ in Ω_T . Then for any weak subsolution (supersolution) $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ of (4.1), we have for a.a. $(t, x) \in \Omega_T$

$$u(t,x) \le \max\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_T} u\right\} \qquad \Big(u(t,x) \ge \min\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\Gamma_T} u\right\} \Big),$$

provided this maximum (minimum) is finite.

Proof. It suffices to consider the subsolution case. Note first that Lemma 4.2.1 also holds under the conditions of Theorem 4.2.2. We take

$$\kappa = \max\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_T} u\right\}$$

in (4.11), assuming that this quantity is finite. By the assumptions on the coefficients and data, we have

$$F(t) \le G(t) := \int_{\Omega} (c|Du) u_{\kappa}^+ dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0,T).$$

We may then argue similarly as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1 to find that for any $t_1 \in (0,T]$

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C(\nu,|l|_{L_{p}([0,T])},p,T)|G|_{L_{1}([0,t_{1}])},$$

and thus

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq \tilde{C}(\nu,|l|_{p},p,T) \left||c|^{2}\right|_{L_{r}([0,t_{1}];L_{q}(\Omega))} |u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{L_{2r'}([0,t_{1}];L_{2q'}(\Omega))}^{2}.$$
(4.32)

By (H3'), the numbers 2r' and 2q' are subject to the condition (2.12). Therefore, using inequality (2.13), we deduce that

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C_{0} \left| |c|^{2} \right|_{L_{r}([0,t_{1}];L_{q}(\Omega))} |u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2}$$

with a positive constant $C_0 = C_0(\nu, |l|_p, p, T, N, q)$. For t_1 satisfying the condition

$$C_0 \left| |c|^2 \right|_{L_r([0,t_1];L_q(\Omega))} < 1$$

we then obtain

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|^{2}_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)} \leq 0,$$

that is $u \leq \kappa$ a.e. in $(0, t_1) \times \Omega$. To establish this inequality on Ω_T we proceed by induction as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, using the fact that the function $H_{\kappa,n}$ defined in (4.27) is nonpositive on (T_0, T) whenever $u \leq \kappa$ a.e. in $(0, T_0) \times \Omega$.

We remark that in the time fractional case the maximum principle stated above was recently reproved in [53] for classical solutions.

In all of the previous results we assumed that the kernel l belongs to $L_p([0,T])$ for some p > 1. It turns out that the maximum principle still holds when this assumption is dropped and in addition we have $c \equiv 0$.

Theorem 4.2.3 Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose there exists $l \in L_{1, loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$. Let further (H2) be satisfied, and assume that $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega)$, $b \equiv c \equiv g \equiv 0, f \equiv 0, and 0 \ge d \in L_{\infty}([0, T]; L_q(\Omega))$, where $q \in [N/2, \infty]$ for $N \ge 3, q \in (1, \infty]$ for N = 2, and $q \in [1, \infty]$ for N = 1. Then for any weak subsolution (supersolution) $u \in \tilde{V}_1$ of (4.1), we have for a.a. $(t, x) \in \Omega_T$

$$u(t,x) \le \max\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_T} u\right\} \qquad \Big(u(t,x) \ge \min\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\Gamma_T} u\right\} \Big),$$

provided this maximum (minimum) is finite.

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of the preceding theorem. Observe that the assumptions on d ensure that $duu_{\kappa}^+ \in L_1(\Omega_T)$. Since $c \equiv 0$, we have this time $F \leq 0$ a.e. in (0,T), and hence $(V_1(\Omega_T) = L_2([0,T]; H_2^1(\Omega)))$

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{1}([0,T]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq 0, \quad \text{with } \kappa = \max\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u_{0}, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_{T}} u\right\},$$

which immediately implies the assertion.

We remind the reader that in Example 2.2.2 it was shown that the case p = 1 can occur, that is, there exist pairs $(k, l) \in \mathcal{PC}$ such that for any p > 1 and T > 0 the kernel l does not belong to $L_p([0, T])$.

4.3 Quasilinear equations

In this section we extend the previous results to quasilinear equations of the form (4.2) with suitable structure conditions. This is possible, as also known from the elliptic and parabolic case, since the test function method used above does not depend so much on the linearity of the operator \mathcal{L} but on a certain nonlinear structure.

Let (H1) hold, and $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega_T)$. We will assume that the functions $a: \Omega_T \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}^N$ and $b: \Omega_T \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}$ are measurable and satisfy

(Q1)
$$(a(t, x, \xi, \eta)|\eta) \ge C_0 |\eta|^2 - c_0 |\xi|^\gamma - \varphi_0(t, x),$$

(Q2)
$$|a(t,x,\xi,\eta)| \leq C_1 |\eta| + c_1 |\xi|^{\bar{\gamma}} + \varphi_1(t,x),$$

(Q3)
$$|b(t,x,\xi,\eta)| \leq C_2 |\eta|^{\frac{2(\gamma-1)}{\gamma}} + c_2 |\xi|^{\gamma-1} + \varphi_2(t,x),$$

for a.a. $(t,x) \in \Omega_T$, and all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Here $C_i, c_i, i = 0, 1, 2$, are positive constants, and

(Q4) The parameter γ lies in the range

$$2 \le \gamma < 2\tilde{\gamma}$$
, with $\tilde{\gamma} := \frac{2p' + N}{2p' + N - 2}$.

(Q5) The functions φ_i , i = 0, 1, 2, defined on Ω_T are nonnegative, $\varphi_1 \in L_2(\Omega_T)$, and $\varphi_0, \varphi_2 \in L_{\hat{q}}(\Omega_T)$, where

$$\frac{1}{\hat{q}}\left(p'+\frac{N}{2}\right) = 1-\hat{\beta}, \quad \hat{\beta} \in (0,1].$$

A function $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ is called a *weak solution (subsolution, supersolution)* of equation (4.2) in Ω_T , if a(t, x, u, Du) and b(t, x, u, Du) are measurable, and for any nonnegative test function $\eta \in \mathring{H}_2^{1,1}(\Omega_T)$ with $\eta|_{t=T} = 0$ there holds

$$\int_0^T \int_\Omega \left(-\eta_t [k * (u - u_0)] + (a(t, x, u, Du) | D\eta) - b(t, x, u, Du) \eta \right) dx \, dt = (\le, \ge) \, 0.$$
(4.33)

One verifies using (2.13), which shows $V_p \hookrightarrow L_{2\tilde{\gamma}}(\Omega_T)$, and Hölder's inequality that under the above structure conditions this definition makes sense, see also the estimates below.

Theorem 4.3.1 Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Let $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega)$, and assume that (H1), (Q1)-(Q5) are satisfied. Let q be a fixed positive number such that

$$(\gamma - 2)\left(p' + \frac{N}{2}\right) < q \le 2\tilde{\gamma}.$$

Suppose further that $K \ge 0$ is such that $u_0 \le K$ a.e. in Ω . Then any weak subsolution $u \in \tilde{V}_p$ of (4.2) satisfying $u \le K$ a.e. on Γ_T is essentially bounded above in Ω_T by a constant C depending only on the data, q, and $|u|_{L_q(\Omega_T)}$. In the case $\gamma = 2$, the constant C depends only on the data.

An analogous result holds for supersolutions that are bounded below on the parabolic boundary, c.p. Remark 4.2.1(i) in the linear case.

Proof of Theorem 4.3.1. We proceed as in the linear case. Note first that one can easily prove a result analogous to Lemma 4.2.1. Following the lines in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1 we obtain for $\kappa \geq \kappa_0$ (see (4.7)), by means of the assumed structure conditions,

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \int_{A_{\kappa}(t)} \left(\left[|Du|^{\frac{2(\gamma-1)}{\gamma}} + |u|^{\gamma-1} + \varphi_{2} \right] u_{\kappa}^{+} + |u|^{\gamma} + \varphi_{0} \right) dx \, dt, \qquad (4.34)$$

where the constant C depends only on $|l|_p$, T, p and the constants appearing in (Q1) and (Q3). The first term on the right is estimated using Young's inequality,

$$|Du|^{\frac{2(\gamma-1)}{\gamma}}u_{\kappa}^{+} \leq \varepsilon |Du|^{2} + C(\varepsilon)(u_{\kappa}^{+})^{\gamma}, \quad \varepsilon > 0$$

Hence, choosing ε sufficiently small, the gradient term can be absorbed by the left hand side in (4.34). Setting $\mu_{\kappa} := |\lambda_N(A_{\kappa}(\cdot))|_{L_1([0,t_1])}$,

$$\beta := 1 - \frac{1}{q} (\gamma - 2) \left(p' + \frac{N}{2} \right) \in (0, 1], \text{ and } \delta := \frac{2\beta}{2(p' - 1) + N},$$

we further have (c.p. [49, p. 425, 426])

$$\int_{0}^{t_{1}} \int_{A_{\kappa}(t)} |u|^{\gamma} dx dt \leq |u|_{L_{q}(\Omega_{T})}^{\gamma-2} |u\chi_{\{u>\kappa\}}|_{L_{\frac{2q}{q-(\gamma-2)}}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \\
\leq C(N,q) |u|_{L_{q}(\Omega_{T})}^{\gamma-2} \left(|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{\delta(q-\gamma+2)}{(1+\delta)q}} + \kappa^{2} \mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{q-(\gamma-2)}{q}} \right).$$
(4.35)

Recall that $V_p \hookrightarrow L_{2\tilde{\gamma}}(\Omega_T)$, so $|u|_{L_q(\Omega_T)}$ is finite.

As in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1 we may estimate, with the aid of (Q5),

$$\int_{0}^{t_{1}} \int_{A_{\kappa}(t)} (\varphi_{2}u_{\kappa}^{+} + \varphi_{0}) \, dx \, dt \leq C(N, \hat{q}) |\varphi_{2} + \varphi_{0}|_{L_{\hat{q}}(\Omega_{T})} \Big(|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{\delta}{\hat{q}'(1+\hat{\delta})}} + \kappa^{2} \mu_{\kappa}^{\frac{1}{\hat{q}'}} \Big), \quad (4.36)$$

provided that $\kappa \geq 1$; here $\hat{\delta}$ is defined as δ with β replaced by $\hat{\beta}$. From (4.34)– (4.36) and the trivial inequality $\mu_{\kappa} \leq t_1 \lambda_N(\Omega)$ we then infer that

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq C\Big(|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2}t_{1}^{\rho} + \kappa^{2}\mu_{\kappa}^{\min\left\{\frac{q-(\gamma-2)}{q},\frac{1}{\hat{q}'}\right\}}\Big),\tag{4.37}$$

where

$$o = \min\left\{\frac{\delta(q-\gamma+2)}{(1+\delta)q}, \frac{\hat{\delta}}{\hat{q}'(1+\hat{\delta})}
ight\}$$

and C depends on the data (including $\lambda_N(\Omega)$), q, and on $|u|_{L_q(\Omega_T)}$; in the case $\gamma = 2$ the constant C depends only on the data. Choose t_1 so small that $Ct_1^{\rho} \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Then

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}]\times\Omega)}^{2} \leq 2C\kappa^{2}\mu_{\kappa}^{\min\left\{\frac{q-(\gamma-2)}{q},\frac{1}{\hat{q}'}\right\}}, \quad \kappa \geq \tilde{\kappa}_{0} = \max\{\kappa_{0},1\}$$

Defining $\phi(\kappa) = \mu_{\kappa}^{1/\tilde{q}}, \, \kappa \geq \tilde{\kappa}_0$, with

$$\tilde{q} = \begin{cases} \frac{2(1+\delta)q}{q-(\gamma-2)} &: \frac{q-(\gamma-2)}{q} < \frac{1}{\hat{q}'} \\ 2\hat{q}'(1+\hat{\delta}) : \frac{q-(\gamma-2)}{q} \ge \frac{1}{\hat{q}'}, \end{cases}$$

we may then proceed exactly as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, thereby establishing first an upper bound on $(0, t_1) \times \Omega$, and then also on Ω_T , by an analogous induction argument.

The maximum principle holds in the following form.

Theorem 4.3.2 Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose there exists $l \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that $(k,l) \in \mathcal{PC}$. Suppose further $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega)$, (Q1) with $c_0 = 0$ and $\varphi_0 \equiv 0$, as well as (Q2) with $\varphi_1 \in L_2(\Omega_T)$, and assume that $b \equiv 0$. Then for any weak subsolution (supersolution) $u \in \tilde{V}_1$ of (4.2), we have for a.a. $(t, x) \in \Omega_T$

$$u(t,x) \le \max\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_T} u\right\} \qquad \Big(u(t,x) \ge \min\left\{0, \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\Omega} u_0, \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\Gamma_T} u\right\} \Big),$$

provided this maximum (minimum) is finite.

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of Theorem 4.2.3.

Finally we consider the case of 'natural' or Hadamard growth conditions with respect to |Du|. Suppose for simplicity that

$$(\mathbf{Q}) \qquad (a(t, x, \xi, \eta)|\eta) \ge C_0 |\eta|^2, \quad |a(t, x, \xi, \eta)| \le C_1 |\eta|, \quad |b(t, x, \xi, \eta)| \le C_2 |\eta|^2,$$

for a.a. $(t, x) \in \Omega_T$, and all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$, where C_i , i = 0, 1, 2 are positive constants. In the classical parabolic case one knows that weak solutions of the corresponding problem under the conditions (Q) are in general not bounded. However there exist results (also in a more general situation) providing L_{∞} bounds in terms of the data under the additional assumption that the weak solution is bounded, see e.g. [49, Chapter V, Theorem 2.2]. It turns out that analogous results can be proved for (4.2). Here we only formulate such a result in the case where (Q) holds.

Theorem 4.3.3 Let T > 0 and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose there exists $l \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that $(k,l) \in \mathcal{PC}$. Suppose further $u_0 \in L_{\infty}(\Omega)$, and that (Q) is satisfied. Then for any bounded weak solution $u \in \tilde{V}_1$ of (4.2),

$$|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_{T})} \leq \max\Big\{|u_{0}|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_{T}}|u|\Big\}.$$

Proof. We proceed as in the proof of [20, Theorem 17.1]. Set

$$\kappa_0 = \Big\{ |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_T} |u| \Big\},\,$$

and assume that $K := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega_T} u > \kappa_0$. We then take test functions u_{κ}^+ where $\kappa = K - \varepsilon \ge \kappa_0$, $\varepsilon > 0$, and estimate as above. By (Q) we obtain

$$|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{1}(\Omega_{T})}^{2} \leq C(C_{0}, C_{2}) \Big| |Du_{\kappa}^{+}|^{2} u_{\kappa}^{+} \Big|_{L_{1}(\Omega_{T})} \leq \varepsilon C(C_{0}, C_{2}) \Big| |Du_{\kappa}^{+}|^{2} \Big|_{L_{1}(\Omega_{T})}.$$

Thus if ε is sufficiently small, we have $|u_{\kappa}^{+}|_{V_{1}(\Omega_{T})}^{2} \leq 0$, that is $u \leq \kappa < K$ a.e. in Ω_{T} , a contradiction. Hence, $u \leq \kappa_{0}$ a.e. in Ω_{T} . The lower bound is proved analogously.

4.4 Degenerate and singular problems

We conclude this chapter by stating a very recent result obtained in [76] to demonstrate that the theory developed in this chapter can be extended to quasilinear problems with a so-called *p-structure*. For the sake of simplicity we restrict ourselves to the situation with fractional dynamics. An important special case then is the following time fractional *p*-Laplace equation

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) - \operatorname{div}\left(|Du|^{p-2}Du\right) = f \quad \text{in } \Omega_T,$$
(4.38)

with $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and p > 1. The following result was proved in [76, Theorem 1.2].

Theorem 4.4.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, p > 1, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose that $u_0 \in L_{\infty}(\Omega)$ and that $f \in L_s(\Omega_T)$ with $s > \frac{N}{p} + \frac{1}{\alpha}$. Let further q > 1 be a fixed number satisfying

$$s > \frac{N}{p} + q' > \frac{N}{p} + \frac{1}{\alpha}.$$

$$(4.39)$$

Then for any (appropriately defined) weak solution u of (4.38) in Ω_T which is essentially bounded on Γ_T there holds

$$|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_{T})} \leq C(N, p, \alpha, s, |f|_{L_{s}(\Omega_{T})}, T, |\Omega|, \max\{|u_{0}|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Gamma_{T}}|u|\}).$$

Corresponding results in the case $\alpha = 1$ are well-known, see the monograph [20].

Chapter 5

The weak Harnack inequality

5.1 Introductory remarks and the weak Harnack estimate

Let T > 0 and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . In this chapter we will prove a weak Harnack inequality for nonnegative weak supersolutions of the time fractional diffusion equation

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) - \operatorname{div}\left(A(t,x)Du\right) = 0, \quad t \in (0,T), \, x \in \Omega, \tag{5.1}$$

where $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. We will assume that

(H1) $A \in L_{\infty}(\Omega_T; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$, and

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{N} |a_{ij}(t,x)|^2 \le \Lambda^2, \quad \text{for a.a.} (t,x) \in \Omega_T.$$

(H2) There exists $\nu > 0$ such that

$$(A(t,x)\xi|\xi) \ge \nu|\xi|^2$$
, for a.a. $(t,x) \in \Omega_T$, and all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

(H3) $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega)$.

We say that a function u is a weak solution (subsolution, supersolution) of (5.1) in Ω_T , if u belongs to the space

$$\mathcal{S}_{\alpha} := \{ v \in L_{\frac{2}{1-\alpha}, w}([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)) \cap L_2([0,T]; H_2^1(\Omega)) \text{ such that} \\ g_{1-\alpha} * v \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)), \text{ and } (g_{1-\alpha} * v)|_{t=0} = 0 \},$$

and for any nonnegative test function

$$\eta \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega_{T}) = H_{2}^{1}([0,T]; L_{2}(\Omega)) \cap L_{2}([0,T]; \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(\Omega))$$

with $\eta|_{t=T} = 0$ there holds

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \left(-\eta_t [g_{1-\alpha} * (u-u_0)] + (ADu|D\eta) \right) dx dt = (\leq, \geq) 0.$$
 (5.2)

Recall that $L_{p,w}$ stands for the weak L_p space.

Existence of weak solutions of (5.1) in the class S_{α} follows from Corollary 3.4.1. Notice that the regularity class for weak solutions differs slightly from the one considered in Section 4.2. For the specific kernels $k = g_{1-\alpha}$ and $l = g_{\alpha}$ it is more natural to work with the weak L_p space as $g_{\alpha} \in L_{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}, w}([0,T])$ but $g_{\alpha} \notin L_{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}([0,T])$. We have $S_{\alpha} \subset \tilde{V}_{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}-\varepsilon}$ for all $0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}$. To formulate the main result of this chapter, let B(x,r) denote the open ball with radius

To formulate the main result of this chapter, let B(x, r) denote the open ball with radius r > 0 centered at $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$. In this chapter, the Lebesgue measure in \mathbb{R}^N is denoted by μ_N . For $\delta \in (0, 1), t_0 \ge 0, \tau > 0$, and a ball $B(x_0, r)$, define the boxes

$$Q_{-}(t_0, x_0, r) = (t_0, t_0 + \delta \tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, \delta r),$$

$$Q_{+}(t_0, x_0, r) = (t_0 + (2 - \delta)\tau r^{2/\alpha}, t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, \delta r).$$

Theorem 5.1.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1)–(H3) are satisfied. Let further $\delta \in (0,1)$, $\eta > 1$, and $\tau > 0$ be fixed. Then for any $t_0 \geq 0$ and r > 0 with $t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha} \leq T$, any ball $B(x_0,\eta r) \subset \Omega$, any 0 , and any nonnegative weak supersolution <math>u of (5.1) in $(0, t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0,\eta r)$ with $u_0 \geq 0$ in $B(x_0,\eta r)$, there holds

$$\left(\frac{1}{\mu_{N+1}(Q_{-}(t_0, x_0, r))} \int_{Q_{-}(t_0, x_0, r)} u^p \, d\mu_{N+1}\right)^{1/p} \le C \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{Q_{+}(t_0, x_0, r)} u, \tag{5.3}$$

where the constant $C = C(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \tau, \eta, \alpha, N, p)$.

Theorem 5.1.1 will be proved in Sections 5.2–5.5. It states that nonnegative weak supersolutions of (5.1) satisfy a weak form of Harnack inequality in the sense that we do not have an estimate for the supremum of u on $Q_{-}(t_0, x_0, r)$ but only an L_p estimate. In Section 5.6 we will show that the critical exponent $\frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$ is optimal, i.e. the inequality fails to hold for $p \geq \frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$. Theorem 5.1.1 can be viewed as the time fractional analogue of the corresponding result in

Theorem 5.1.1 can be viewed as the time fractional analogue of the corresponding result in the classical parabolic case $\alpha = 1$, see e.g. [51, Theorem 6.18] and [74]. Sending $\alpha \to 1$ in the expression for the critical exponent yields 1 + 2/N, which is the well-known critical exponent for the heat equation. We would like to point out that the statement of Theorem 5.1.1 remains valid for (appropriately defined) weak supersolutions of (5.1) on $(t_0, t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, \eta r)$ which are nonnegative on $(0, t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, \eta r)$. Here the global positivity assumption cannot be replaced by a local one, as simple examples show, see Section 8.3. This significant difference to the case $\alpha = 1$ is due to the non-local nature of ∂_t^{α} . The same phenomenon is known for integro-differential operators like $(-\Delta)^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, see e.g. [41].

As a simple consequence of the weak Harnack inequality we derive the strong maximum principle for weak subsolutions of (5.1), see Theorem 5.7.1 below. As a further application of the weak Harnack inequality we obtain a theorem of Liouville type, see Corollary 5.7.1 below. It states that any bounded weak solution of (5.1) on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ with $u_0 = 0$ vanishes a.e. on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$.

In the classical parabolic case boundedness and the weak (or full) Harnack inequality imply an Hölder estimate for weak solutions, cf. [20], [49], [51], [57]. We also refer to [29] and [56] for the elliptic case. In the present situation one cannot argue anymore as in the classical parabolic case, due to the global positivity assumption in Theorem 5.1.1. The same problem arises for the fractional Laplacian, see [70]. However, in our case it is possible to establish at least continuity at t = 0. This is done in Theorem 5.7.2 in the case $u_0 = 0$. It is shown that in this case any bounded weak solution u of (5.1) is continuous at $(0, x_0)$ for all $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $\lim_{(t,x)\to(0,x_0)} u(t,x) = 0$. Thus for such weak solutions the initial condition $u|_{t=0} = 0$ is satisfied in the classical sense.

Our proof of Theorem 5.1.1 relies on a priori estimates for time fractional problems, which are derived by means of the fundamental identity (2.6) for the regularized fractional derivative.

It further uses Moser's iteration technique and Lemma 2.5.3 of Bombieri and Giusti [4], which allows to avoid the rather technically involved approach via *BMO*-functions. This simplification is already of great significance in the classical parabolic case, see Moser [58] and Saloff-Coste [66].

We point out that the results obtained in this chapter can be easily generalized to quasilinear equations of the form

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0) - \operatorname{div} a(t, x, u, Du) = b(t, x, u, Du), \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega,$$
(5.4)

with suitable structure conditions on the functions a and b. This is possible, as also known from the elliptic and the classical parabolic case, since the test function method used in the proof of Theorem 5.1.1 does not depend so much on the linearity of the differential operator w.r.t. the spatial variables but on a certain nonlinear structure, cf. [29], [51], and [74].

We further remark that in the purely time-dependent case, that is for scalar equations of the form

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) + \sigma u = 0, \quad t \in (0,T),$$

with $\sigma \geq 0$, a weak Harnack inequality with optimal exponent $\frac{1}{1-\alpha}$ was proved in [83] for nonnegative supersolutions, see Section 8.1 for the precise statement. As a curiosity, note that putting N = 0 in the expression $\frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$ results in the critical exponent from the purely timedependent case.

5.2 The regularized weak formulation, time shifts, and scalings

The following lemma provides the regularized weak formulation of (5.1), with the singular kernel $g_{1-\alpha}$ being replaced by the kernel $g_{1-\alpha,n}$ $(n \in \mathbb{N})$ given by

$$g_{1-\alpha,n} = ns_{\alpha,n} = h_{\alpha,n} * g_{1-\alpha}.$$

Here $s_{\alpha,n}$ and $h_{\alpha,n}$ are the unique solutions of the scalar-valued Volterra equations

$$s_{\alpha,n}(t) + n(s_{\alpha,n} * g_{\alpha})(t) = 1, \quad t > 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

$$h_{\alpha,n}(t) + n(h_{\alpha,n} * g_{\alpha})(t) = ng_{\alpha}(t), \quad t > 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

cf. Section 2.2. In what follows $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ is fixed, so we may put $h_n := h_{\alpha,n}, n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 5.2.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1)–(H3) are satisfied. Then $u \in S_{\alpha}$ is a weak solution (subsolution, supersolution) of (5.1) in Ω_T if and only if for any nonnegative function $\psi \in H_2^1(\Omega)$ one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_t [g_{1-\alpha,n} \ast (u-u_0)] + (h_n \ast [ADu] | D\psi) \right) dx = (\leq, \geq) 0, \quad a.a. \ t \in (0,T), \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Lemma 5.2.1 is a special case of Lemma 4.2.1 except for the slightly different regularity class for weak solutions. The proof is the same.

Let $u \in S_{\alpha}$ be a weak supersolution of (5.1) in Ω_T and assume that $u_0 \ge 0$ in Ω . Then Lemma 5.2.1 and positivity of $g_{1-\alpha,n}$ imply that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_t (g_{1-\alpha,n} * u) + (h_n * [ADu] | D\psi) \right) dx \ge 0, \quad \text{a.a.} \ t \in (0,T), \ n \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{5.5}$$

for any nonnegative function $\psi \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$.

Let now $t_1 \in (0, T)$ be fixed. For $t \in (t_1, T)$ we introduce the shifted time $s = t - t_1$ and set $\tilde{f}(s) = f(s + t_1), s \in (0, T - t_1)$, for functions f defined on (t_1, T) . From the decomposition

$$(g_{1-\alpha,n} * u)(t,x) = \int_{t_1}^t g_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)u(\tau,x)\,d\tau + \int_0^{t_1} g_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)u(\tau,x)\,d\tau, \quad t \in (t_1,T),$$

we then deduce that

$$\partial_t (g_{1-\alpha,n} * u)(t,x) = \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u})(s,x) + \int_0^{t_1} \dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s+t_1-\tau) u(\tau,x) \, d\tau.$$
(5.6)

Assuming in addition that $u \ge 0$ on $(0, t_1) \times \Omega$ it follows from (5.5), (5.6), and the positivity of ψ and of $-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}$ that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}) + \left((h_n * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} | D\psi \right) \right) dx \ge 0, \quad \text{a.a.} \ s \in (0, T-t_1), \ n \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{5.7}$$

for any nonnegative function $\psi \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$. This relation will be the starting point for all of the estimates in the next two sections.

We conclude this section with a remark on the scaling properties of equation (5.1). Let $t_0, r > 0$ and $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Suppose $u \in S_\alpha$ is a weak solution (subsolution, supersolution) of (5.1) in $(0, t_0 r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, r)$. Changing the coordinates according to $s = t/r^{2/\alpha}$ and $y = (x - x_0)/r$ and setting $v(s, y) = u(sr^{2/\alpha}, x_0 + yr), v_0(y) = u_0(x_0 + yr),$ and $\tilde{A}(s, y) = A(sr^{2/\alpha}, x_0 + yr),$ the problem for u is transformed to a problem for v in $(0, t_0) \times B(0, 1)$, namely there holds with $D = D_y$ (also in the weak sense)

$$\partial_s^{\alpha}(v - v_0) - \operatorname{div}\left(A(s, y)Dv\right) = (\leq, \geq)0, \quad s \in (0, t_0), \ y \in B(0, 1).$$
(5.8)

5.3 Mean value inequalities

For $\sigma > 0$ we put $\sigma B(x, r) := B(x, \sigma r)$. Recall that μ_N denotes the Lebesgue measure in \mathbb{R}^N .

Theorem 5.3.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1)–(H3) are satisfied. Let $\eta > 0$ and $\delta \in (0,1)$ be fixed. Then for any $t_0 \in (0,T]$ and r > 0 with $t_0 - \eta r^{2/\alpha} \ge 0$, any ball $B = B(x_0, r) \subset \Omega$, and any weak supersolution $u \ge \varepsilon > 0$ of (5.1) in $(0, t_0) \times B$ with $u_0 \ge 0$ in B, there holds

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{U_{\sigma'}} u^{-1} \le \left(\frac{C\mu_{N+1}(U_1)^{-1}}{(\sigma - \sigma')^{\tau_0}}\right)^{1/\gamma} |u^{-1}|_{L_{\gamma}(U_{\sigma})}, \quad \delta \le \sigma' < \sigma \le 1, \ \gamma \in (0, 1].$$

Here
$$U_{\sigma} = (t_0 - \sigma \eta r^{2/\alpha}, t_0) \times \sigma B$$
, $0 < \sigma \le 1$, $C = C(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \eta, \alpha, N)$ and $\tau_0 = \tau_0(\alpha, N)$.

Proof: We may assume that r = 1 and $x_0 = 0$. In fact, in the general case we change coordinates as $t \to t/r^{2/\alpha}$ and $x \to (x - x_0)/r$, thereby transforming the equation to a problem of the same type on $(0, t_0/r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(0, 1)$, cf. Section 5.2.

Fix σ' and σ such that $\delta \leq \sigma' < \sigma \leq 1$ and put $B_1 = \sigma B$. For $\rho \in (0, 1]$ we set $V_{\rho} = U_{\rho\sigma}$. Given $0 < \rho' < \rho \leq 1$, let $t_1 = t_0 - \rho \sigma \eta$ and $t_2 = t_0 - \rho' \sigma \eta$. Then $0 \leq t_1 < t_2 < t_0$. We introduce further the shifted time $s = t - t_1$ and set $\tilde{f}(s) = f(s + t_1)$, $s \in (0, t_0 - t_1)$, for functions f defined on (t_1, t_0) . Since $u_0 \geq 0$ in B and u is a positive weak supersolution of (5.1) in $(0, t_0) \times B$, we have (cf. (5.7))

$$\int_{B} \left(v \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}) + \left((h_n * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} | Dv \right) \right) dx \ge 0, \quad \text{a.a.} \ s \in (0, t_0 - t_1), \ n \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{5.9}$$

for any nonnegative function $v \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(B)$. For $s \in (0, t_{0} - t_{1})$ we choose the test function $v = \psi^{2} \tilde{u}^{\beta}$ with $\beta < -1$ and $\psi \in C_{0}^{1}(B_{1})$ so that $0 \leq \psi \leq 1$, $\psi = 1$ in $\rho' B_{1}$, $\sup \psi \subset \rho B_{1}$, and $|D\psi| \leq 2/[\sigma(\rho - \rho')]$. By the fundamental identity (2.6) applied to $k = g_{1-\alpha,n}$ and the convex function $H(y) = -(1+\beta)^{-1}y^{1+\beta}$, y > 0, there holds for a.a. $(s, x) \in (0, t_{0} - t_{1}) \times B$

$$-\tilde{u}^{\beta}\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\tilde{u}) \geq -\frac{1}{1+\beta}\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\tilde{u}^{1+\beta}) + \left(\frac{\tilde{u}^{1+\beta}}{1+\beta} - \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}\right)g_{1-\alpha,n}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{1+\beta}\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\tilde{u}^{1+\beta}) - \frac{\beta}{1+\beta}\tilde{u}^{1+\beta}g_{1-\alpha,n}.$$
(5.10)

We further have

$$Dv = 2\psi D\psi \,\tilde{u}^{\beta} + \beta \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{\beta-1} D\tilde{u}$$

Using this and (5.10) it follows from (5.9) that for a.a. $s \in (0, t_0 - t_1)$

$$-\frac{1}{1+\beta} \int_{B_{1}} \psi^{2} \partial_{s} (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}) dx + |\beta| \int_{B_{1}} \left((h_{n} * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} |\psi^{2} \tilde{u}^{\beta-1} D \tilde{u} \right) dx$$

$$\leq 2 \int_{B_{1}} \left((h_{n} * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} |\psi D \psi \tilde{u}^{\beta} \right) dx + \frac{\beta}{1+\beta} \int_{B_{1}} \psi^{2} \tilde{u}^{1+\beta} g_{1-\alpha,n} dx.$$
(5.11)

Next, choose $\varphi \in C^1([0, t_0 - t_1])$ such that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$, $\varphi = 0$ in $[0, (t_2 - t_1)/2]$, $\varphi = 1$ in $[t_2 - t_1, t_0 - t_1]$, and $0 \leq \dot{\varphi} \leq 4/(t_2 - t_1)$. Multiplying (5.11) by $-(1 + \beta) > 0$ and by $\varphi(s)$, and convolving the resulting inequality with g_{α} yields

$$\int_{B_1} g_{\alpha} * \left(\varphi \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * [\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}])\right) dx + \beta (1+\beta) g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \left((h_n * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} |\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{\beta-1} D \tilde{u} \right) \varphi dx$$

$$\leq 2|1+\beta| g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \left((h_n * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} |\psi D \psi \tilde{u}^\beta \right) \varphi dx + |\beta| g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta} g_{1-\alpha,n} \varphi dx, \quad (5.12)$$

for a.a. $s \in (0, t_0 - t_1)$. By Lemma 2.3.4,

$$\int_{B_1} g_{\alpha} * \left(\varphi \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * [\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}]) \right) dx \ge \int_{B_1} \varphi g_{\alpha} * \left(\partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * [\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}]) \right) dx$$
$$- \int_0^s g_{\alpha} (s-\sigma) \dot{\varphi}(\sigma) \left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \int_{B_1} \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta} dx \right) (\sigma) d\sigma.$$
(5.13)

Furthermore, by virtue of

$$g_{1-\alpha,n} * [\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}] \in {}_0H_1^1([0, t_0 - t_1]; L_1(B_1))$$

and $g_{1-\alpha,n} = g_{1-\alpha} * h_n$ as well as $g_{\alpha} * g_{1-\alpha} = 1$ we have

$$g_{\alpha} * \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * [\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}]) = \partial_s (g_{\alpha} * g_{1-\alpha,n} * [\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}]) = h_n * (\psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}).$$
(5.14)

Combining (5.12), (5.13), and (5.14), sending $n \to \infty$, and selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, we thus obtain

$$\int_{B_1} \varphi \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta} dx + \beta (1+\beta) g_\alpha * \int_{B_1} \left(\tilde{A} D \tilde{u} | \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{\beta-1} D \tilde{u} \right) \varphi dx$$

$$\leq 2|1+\beta| g_\alpha * \int_{B_1} \left(\tilde{A} D \tilde{u} | \psi D \psi \tilde{u}^\beta \right) \varphi dx + |\beta| g_\alpha * \int_{B_1} \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta} g_{1-\alpha} \varphi dx$$

$$+ \int_0^s g_\alpha (s-\sigma) \dot{\varphi}(\sigma) \left(g_{1-\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{1+\beta} dx \right) (\sigma) d\sigma, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_0 - t_1).$$
(5.15)

Put $w = \tilde{u}^{\frac{\beta+1}{2}}$. Then $Dw = \frac{\beta+1}{2}\tilde{u}^{\frac{\beta-1}{2}}D\tilde{u}$. By assumption (H2), we have

$$\beta(1+\beta) g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \left(\tilde{A} D \tilde{u} | \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{\beta-1} D \tilde{u} \right) \varphi \, dx \geq \nu \beta(1+\beta) g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \varphi \psi^2 \tilde{u}^{\beta-1} | D \tilde{u} |^2 \, dx$$
$$= \frac{4\nu\beta}{1+\beta} g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \varphi \psi^2 | D w |^2 \, dx.$$
(5.16)

Using (H1) and Young's inequality we may estimate

$$2\left|\left(\tilde{A}D\tilde{u}|\psi D\psi\,\tilde{u}^{\beta}\right)\varphi\right| \leq 2\Lambda\psi|D\psi|\left|D\tilde{u}|\tilde{u}^{\beta}\varphi = 2\Lambda\psi|D\psi|\left|D\tilde{u}|\tilde{u}^{\frac{\beta-1}{2}}\tilde{u}^{\frac{\beta+1}{2}}\varphi\right|$$
$$\leq \frac{\nu|\beta|}{2}\psi^{2}\varphi|D\tilde{u}|^{2}\tilde{u}^{\beta-1} + \frac{2}{\nu|\beta|}\Lambda^{2}|D\psi|^{2}\varphi\tilde{u}^{\beta+1}$$
$$= \frac{2\nu|\beta|}{(1+\beta)^{2}}\psi^{2}\varphi|Dw|^{2} + \frac{2}{\nu|\beta|}\Lambda^{2}|D\psi|^{2}\varphi w^{2}.$$
(5.17)

From (5.15), (5.16), and (5.17) we conclude that

$$\int_{B_1} \varphi \psi^2 w^2 \, dx + \frac{2\nu|\beta|}{|1+\beta|} \, g_\alpha * \int_{B_1} \varphi \psi^2 |Dw|^2 \, dx \le g_\alpha * F, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_0 - t_1), \tag{5.18}$$

where

$$F(s) = \frac{2\Lambda^2 |1+\beta|}{\nu|\beta|} \int_{B_1} |D\psi|^2 \varphi w^2 \, dx + |\beta|\varphi(s)g_{1-\alpha}(s) \int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx + \dot{\varphi}(s) (g_{1-\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx)(s) \ge 0, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_0 - t_1).$$

We may drop the second term in (5.18), which is nonnegative. By Young's inequality for convolutions and the properties of φ we then infer that for all $p \in (1, 1/(1 - \alpha))$

$$\left(\int_{t_2-t_1}^{t_0-t_1} \left(\int_{B_1} [\psi(x)w(s,x)]^2 \, dx\right)^p \, ds\right)^{1/p} \le |g_\alpha|_{L_p([0,t_0-t_1])} \int_0^{t_0-t_1} F(s) \, ds,\tag{5.19}$$

where

$$|g_{\alpha}|_{L_{p}([0,t_{0}-t_{1}])} = \frac{(t_{0}-t_{1})^{\alpha-1+1/p}}{\Gamma(\alpha)[(\alpha-1)p+1]^{1/p}} \le \frac{\eta^{\alpha-1+1/p}}{\Gamma(\alpha)[(\alpha-1)p+1]^{1/p}} =: C_{1}(\alpha,p,\eta).$$
(5.20)

We choose any of these p and fix it.

Returning to (5.18), we may also drop the first term, convolve the resulting inequality with $g_{1-\alpha}$ and evaluate at $s = t_0 - t_1$, thereby obtaining

$$\int_{t_2-t_1}^{t_0-t_1} \int_{B_1} \psi^2 |Dw|^2 \, dx \, ds \le \frac{|1+\beta|}{2\nu|\beta|} \int_0^{t_0-t_1} F(s) \, ds.$$
(5.21)

Using

$$\int_{t_2-t_1}^{t_0-t_1} \int_{B_1} |D(\psi w)|^2 \, dx \, ds \le 2 \int_{t_2-t_1}^{t_0-t_1} \int_{B_1} \left(\psi^2 |Dw|^2 + |D\psi|^2 w^2\right) \, dx \, ds$$
(5.19)-(5.21) that

we infer from (5.19)–(5.21) that

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi w|^{2}_{V_{p}([t_{2}-t_{1},t_{0}-t_{1}]\times B_{1})} &\leq 2\Big(C_{1}(\alpha,p,\eta) + \frac{|1+\beta|}{\nu|\beta|}\Big)\int_{0}^{t_{0}-t_{1}}F(s)\,ds \\ &+ 4\int_{0}^{t_{0}-t_{1}}\int_{B_{1}}|D\psi|^{2}w^{2}\,dx\,ds. \end{aligned}$$
(5.22)

We will next estimate the right-hand side of (5.22). By the assumptions on ψ and φ , and since $|\beta| > 1$, we have

$$\int_0^{t_0-t_1} \int_{B_1} |D\psi|^2 w^2 \, dx \, ds \le \frac{4}{\sigma^2 (\rho - \rho')^2} \int_0^{t_0-t_1} \int_{\rho B_1} w^2 \, dx \, ds$$

and

$$F(s) \leq \left(\frac{8\Lambda^2 |1+\beta|}{\nu\sigma^2(\rho-\rho')^2} + |\beta|g_{1-\alpha}((t_2-t_1)/2)\right) \int_{\rho B_1} w^2 dx + \frac{4}{t_2-t_1} \left(g_{1-\alpha} * \int_{\rho B_1} w^2 dx\right)(s), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_0-t_1)$$

Recall that $\sigma \geq \delta > 0$. So we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t_{0}-t_{1}} &F(s) \, ds \ \leq \Big(\frac{8\Lambda^{2}|1+\beta|}{\nu\sigma^{2}(\rho-\rho')^{2}} + \frac{2^{\alpha}|\beta|}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)(\rho-\rho')^{\alpha}(\sigma\eta)^{\alpha}} \Big) \int_{0}^{t_{0}-t_{1}} \int_{\rho B_{1}} w^{2} \, dx \, ds \\ &+ \frac{4}{(\rho-\rho')\sigma\eta} \int_{0}^{t_{0}-t_{1}} g_{2-\alpha}(t_{0}-t_{1}-\tau) \int_{\rho B_{1}} w(\tau,x)^{2} \, dx \, d\tau \\ &\leq C(\nu,\Lambda,\delta,\eta,\alpha) \frac{1+|1+\beta|}{(\rho-\rho')^{2}} \int_{0}^{t_{0}-t_{1}} \int_{\rho B_{1}} w^{2} \, dx \, ds. \end{split}$$

Combining these estimates and (5.22) yields

$$|\psi w|_{V_p([t_2-t_1,t_0-t_1]\times B_1)} \le C(\nu,\Lambda,\delta,\eta,\alpha,p) \,\frac{1+|1+\beta|}{\rho-\rho'} \,|w|_{L_2([0,t_0-t_1]\times\rho B_1)}.$$

We apply next the interpolation inequality (2.15) to the function ψw and make use of $\psi = 1$ in $\rho' B_1$ to deduce that

$$|w|_{L_{2\kappa}([t_2-t_1,t_0-t_1]\times\rho'B_1)} \le C(\nu,\Lambda,\delta,\eta,\alpha,p,N) \frac{1+|1+\beta|}{\rho-\rho'} |w|_{L_2([0,t_0-t_1]\times\rho B_1)},$$
(5.23)

where the number $\kappa > 1$ is given in (2.14). Since $w = \tilde{u}^{\frac{\beta+1}{2}}$ and by transforming back to the time t, we see that (5.23) is equivalent to

$$\left(\int_{V_{\rho'}} u^{-|1+\beta|\kappa} \, d\mu_{N+1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2\kappa}} \leq \frac{\tilde{C}(1+|1+\beta|)}{\rho-\rho'} \left(\int_{V_{\rho}} u^{-|1+\beta|} \, d\mu_{N+1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

with $\tilde{C} = \tilde{C}(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \eta, \alpha, p, N)$. Hence, with $\gamma = |1 + \beta|$,

$$|u^{-1}|_{L_{\gamma\kappa}(V_{\rho'})} \le \left(\frac{\tilde{C}^2(1+\gamma)^2}{(\rho-\rho')^2}\right)^{1/\gamma} |u^{-1}|_{L_{\gamma}(V_{\rho})}, \quad 0 < \rho' < \rho \le 1, \ \gamma > 0.$$

Employing the first Moser iteration, Lemma 2.5.1 (with $\bar{p} = 1$), it follows that there exist constants $M_0 = M_0(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \eta, \alpha, p, N)$ and $\tau_0 = \tau_0(\kappa)$ such that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{V_{\theta}} u^{-1} \le \left(\frac{M_0}{(1-\theta)^{\tau_0}}\right)^{1/\gamma} |u^{-1}|_{L_{\gamma}(V_1)} \quad \text{for all } \theta \in (0,1), \ \gamma \in (0,1].$$

Thus if we take $\theta = \sigma' / \sigma$ and notice that

$$\frac{1}{1-\theta} = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma - \sigma'} \le \frac{1}{\sigma - \sigma'}$$

we obtain

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{U_{\sigma'}} u^{-1} \le \left(\frac{M_0}{(\sigma - \sigma')^{\tau_0}}\right)^{1/\gamma} |u^{-1}|_{L_{\gamma}(U_{\sigma})}, \quad \gamma \in (0, 1].$$

Hence the proof is complete.

We put (cf. (2.14))

$$\tilde{\kappa} := \kappa_{1/(1-\alpha)} = \frac{2 + N\alpha}{2 + N\alpha - 2\alpha}.$$

Theorem 5.3.2 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1)–(H3) are satisfied. Let $\eta > 0$ and $\delta \in (0,1)$ be fixed. Then for any $t_0 \in [0,T)$ and r > 0 with $t_0 + \eta r^{2/\alpha} \leq T$, any ball $B = B(x_0, r) \subset \Omega$, any $p_0 \in (0, \tilde{\kappa})$, and any nonnegative weak supersolution u of (5.1) in $(0, t_0 + \eta r^{2/\alpha}) \times B$ with $u_0 \geq 0$ in B, there holds

$$|u|_{L_{p_0}(U'_{\sigma'})} \le \left(\frac{C\mu_{N+1}(U'_1)^{-1}}{(\sigma - \sigma')^{\tau_0}}\right)^{1/\gamma - 1/p_0} |u|_{L_{\gamma}(U'_{\sigma})}, \quad \delta \le \sigma' < \sigma \le 1, \ 0 < \gamma \le p_0/\tilde{\kappa}.$$

Here $U'_{\sigma} = (t_0, t_0 + \sigma \eta r^{2/\alpha}) \times \sigma B$, $C = C(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \eta, \alpha, N, p_0)$, and $\tau_0 = \tau_0(\alpha, N)$.

Proof: We proceed similarly as in the previous proof. Without restriction of generality we may assume that $p_0 > 1$ and r = 1. By replacing u with $u + \varepsilon$ and u_0 with $u_0 + \varepsilon$ and eventually letting $\varepsilon \to 0+$ we may further assume that u is bounded away from zero.

Fix σ' , σ such that $\delta \leq \sigma' < \sigma \leq 1$ and put $B_1 = \sigma B$. For $\rho \in (0,1]$ we set $V'_{\rho} = U'_{\rho\sigma}$. Given $0 < \rho' < \rho \leq 1$, let $t_1 = t_0 + \rho' \sigma \eta$ and $t_2 = t_0 + \rho \sigma \eta$, so $0 \leq t_0 < t_1 < t_2$. We shift the time by means of $s = t - t_0$ and set $\tilde{f}(s) = f(s + t_0)$, $s \in (0, t_2 - t_0)$, for functions f defined on (t_0, t_2) .

We then repeat the first steps of the preceding proof, the only difference being that now we take $\beta \in (-1, 0)$. Note that, as a consequence of this, (5.10) simplifies to

$$-\tilde{u}^{\beta}\partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\tilde{u}) \ge -\frac{1}{1+\beta}\partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\tilde{u}^{1+\beta}), \quad \text{a.a.} \ (s,x) \in (0, t_2 - t_0) \times B,$$

hence we obtain with $\psi \in C_0^1(B_1)$ as above

$$-\frac{1}{1+\beta} \int_{B_{1}} \psi^{2} \partial_{s} (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}^{1+\beta}) dx + |\beta| \int_{B_{1}} \left((h_{n} * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} |\psi^{2} \tilde{u}^{\beta-1} D \tilde{u} \right) dx$$

$$\leq 2 \int_{B_{1}} \left((h_{n} * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} |\psi D \psi \tilde{u}^{\beta} \right) dx, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_{2} - t_{0}).$$
(5.24)

Next, choose $\varphi \in C^1([0, t_2 - t_0])$ such that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$, $\varphi = 1$ in $[0, t_1 - t_0]$, $\varphi = 0$ in $[t_1 - t_0 + (t_2 - t_1)/2, t_2 - t_0]$, and $0 \leq -\dot{\varphi} \leq 4/(t_2 - t_1)$. Multiplying (5.24) by $1 + \beta > 0$ and by $\varphi(s)$, and applying Lemma 2.3.3 to the first term gives

$$-\int_{B_{1}}\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*[\varphi\psi^{2}\tilde{u}^{1+\beta}])\,dx + |\beta|(1+\beta)\int_{B_{1}}\left(\tilde{A}D\tilde{u}|\psi^{2}\tilde{u}^{\beta-1}D\tilde{u}\right)\varphi\,dx$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{s}\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s-\sigma)\big(\varphi(s)-\varphi(\sigma)\big)\big(\int_{B_{1}}\psi^{2}\tilde{u}^{1+\beta}\,dx\big)(\sigma)\,d\sigma$$

$$+2(1+\beta)\int_{B_{1}}\left(\tilde{A}D\tilde{u}|\psi D\psi\,\tilde{u}^{\beta}\right)\varphi\,dx + \mathcal{R}_{n}(s), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_{2}-t_{0}), \quad (5.25)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{n}(s) &= -|\beta|(1+\beta) \int_{B_{1}} \left((h_{n} * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} - \tilde{A}D\tilde{u}|\psi^{2}\tilde{u}^{\beta-1}D\tilde{u} \right) \varphi \, dx \\ &+ 2(1+\beta) \int_{B_{1}} \left((h_{n} * [ADu])^{\tilde{}} - \tilde{A}D\tilde{u}|\psi D\psi \, \tilde{u}^{\beta} \right) \varphi \, dx, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_{2} - t_{0}). \end{aligned}$$

We set again $w = \tilde{u}^{\frac{\beta+1}{2}}$ and estimate exactly as in the preceding proof, using (H1), (H3) and (5.17), to the result

$$-\int_{B_{1}}\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*[\varphi\psi^{2}w^{2}])\,dx + \frac{2\nu|\beta|}{1+\beta}\int_{B_{1}}\varphi\psi^{2}|Dw|^{2}\,dx$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{s}\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s-\sigma)\big(\varphi(s)-\varphi(\sigma)\big)\big(\int_{B_{1}}\psi^{2}w^{2}\,dx\big)(\sigma)\,d\sigma$$

$$+ \frac{2\Lambda^{2}(1+\beta)}{\nu|\beta|}\int_{B_{1}}|D\psi|^{2}\varphi w^{2}\,dx + \mathcal{R}_{n}(s), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_{2}-t_{0}). \tag{5.26}$$

Recall that $g_{1-\alpha,n} = g_{1-\alpha} * h_n$. Putting

$$W(s) = \int_{B_1} \varphi(s)\psi(x)^2 w(s,x)^2 \, dx$$

and denoting the right-hand side of (5.26) by $F_n(s)$, it follows from (5.26) that

$$G_n(s) := \partial_s^{\alpha}(h_n * W)(s) + F_n(s) \ge 0,$$
 a.a. $s \in (0, t_2 - t_0)$

By (5.14) and positivity of h_n , we have

$$0 \le h_n * W = g_\alpha * \partial_s^\alpha (h_n * W) \le g_\alpha * G_n + g_\alpha * [-F_n(s)]_+$$

a.e. in $(0, t_2 - t_0)$, where $[y]_+$ stands for the positive part of $y \in \mathbb{R}$. For any $p \in (1, 1/(1 - \alpha))$ and any $t_* \in [t_2 - t_0 - (t_2 - t_1)/4, t_2 - t_0]$ we thus obtain by Young's inequality

$$|h_n * W|_{L_p([0,t_*])} \le |g_\alpha|_{L_p([0,t_*])} (|G_n|_{L_1([0,t_*])} + |[-F_n]_+|_{L_1([0,t_*])}).$$
(5.27)

Since $t_* \leq t_2 - t_0 \leq \eta$, we have $|g_{\alpha}|_{L_p([0,t_*])} \leq C_1(\alpha, p, \eta)$ with the same constant as in (5.20). By positivity of G_n ,

$$|G_n|_{L_1([0,t_*])} = (g_{1-\alpha,n} * W)(t_*) + \int_0^{t_*} F_n(s) \, ds.$$

Observe that $\mathcal{R}_n \to 0$ in $L_1([0, t_2 - t_0])$ as $n \to \infty$. Hence $|[-F_n]_+|_{L_1([0, t_*])} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Further,

$$\int_0^{t_*} \int_0^s \dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s-\sigma) \big(\varphi(s)-\varphi(\sigma)\big) \big(\int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx\big)(\sigma) \, d\sigma \, ds$$

=
$$\int_0^{t_*} g_{1-\alpha,n}(t_*-\sigma) \big(\varphi(t_*)-\varphi(\sigma)\big) \big(\int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx\big)(\sigma) \, d\sigma$$

$$-\int_0^{t_*} \dot{\varphi}(s) \int_0^s g_{1-\alpha,n}(s-\sigma) \big(\int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx\big)(\sigma) \, d\sigma \, ds$$

$$\leq -\int_0^{t_*} \dot{\varphi}(s) \int_0^s g_{1-\alpha,n}(s-\sigma) \big(\int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx\big)(\sigma) \, d\sigma \, ds,$$

since φ is nonincreasing. We also know that $g_{1-\alpha,n} * W \to g_{1-\alpha} * W$ in $L_1([0, t_2 - t_0])$. Hence we can fix some $t_* \in [t_2 - t_0 - (t_2 - t_1)/4, t_2 - t_0]$ such that for some subsequence $(g_{1-\alpha,n_k} * W)(t_*) \to (g_{1-\alpha} * W)(t_*)$ as $k \to \infty$. Sending $k \to \infty$ it follows then from (5.27), the preceding estimates, and from $\varphi = 1$ in $[0, t_1 - t_0]$ that

$$\Big(\int_0^{t_1-t_0} (\int_{B_1} [\psi(x)w(s,x)]^2 \, dx)^p \, ds\Big)^{1/p} \le C_1(\alpha,p,\eta) \Big((g_{1-\alpha} * W)(t_*) + |F|_{L_1([0,t_2-t_0])}\Big),$$
(5.28)

with

$$F(s) = \frac{2\Lambda^2(1+\beta)}{\nu|\beta|} \int_{B_1} |D\psi|^2 \varphi w^2 \, dx - \dot{\varphi}(s) \big(g_{1-\alpha} * \int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx\big)(s).$$

On the other hand, we can integrate (5.26) over $(0, t_*)$ and take the limit as $k \to \infty$ for the same subsequence as before, thereby getting

$$\int_{0}^{t_{1}-t_{0}} \int_{B_{1}} \psi^{2} |Dw|^{2} dx ds \leq \frac{1+\beta}{2\nu|\beta|} \left((g_{1-\alpha} * W)(t_{*}) + |F|_{L_{1}([0,t_{2}-t_{0}])} \right).$$
(5.29)

Arguing as above (cf. the lines before (5.22)), we conclude from (5.28) and (5.29) that

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi w|^{2}_{V_{p}([0,t_{1}-t_{0}]\times B_{1})} &\leq 4 \int_{0}^{t_{2}-t_{0}} \int_{B_{1}} |D\psi|^{2} w^{2} \, dx \, ds \\ &+ 2 \Big(C_{1}(\alpha,p,\eta) + \frac{1+\beta}{\nu|\beta|} \Big) \Big((g_{1-\alpha} * W)(t_{*}) + |F|_{L_{1}([0,t_{2}-t_{0}])} \Big). \end{aligned}$$
(5.30)

Since $\varphi = 0$ in $[t_1 - t_0 + (t_2 - t_1)/2, t_2 - t_0]$ and $t_* \in [t_2 - t_0 - (t_2 - t_1)/4, t_2 - t_0]$, we have

$$(g_{1-\alpha} * W)(t_*) \leq g_{1-\alpha} ((t_2 - t_1)/4) \int_0^{t_2 - t_0} \int_{B_1} \psi^2 w^2 \, dx \, ds$$

= $\frac{4^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)(\rho - \rho')^{\alpha}(\sigma\eta)^{\alpha}} \int_0^{t_2 - t_0} \int_{\rho B_1} w^2 \, dx \, ds.$

Further,

$$\int_0^{t_2-t_0} \int_{B_1} |D\psi|^2 w^2 \, dx \, ds \le \frac{4}{\sigma^2 (\rho - \rho')^2} \int_0^{t_2-t_0} \int_{\rho B_1} w^2 \, dx \, ds.$$

The term $|F|_{L_1([0,t_2-t_0])}$ is estimated similarly as in the proof of Theorem 5.3.1 (cf. the lines that follow (5.22)). We obtain

$$|F|_{L_1([0,t_2-t_0])} \le C(\nu,\Lambda,\delta,\eta,\alpha) \frac{1+(1+\beta)}{|\beta|(\rho-\rho')^2} \int_0^{t_2-t_0} \int_{\rho B_1} w^2 \, dx \, ds.$$

Notice the additional factor $|\beta|$ in the denominator. Combining these estimates we deduce from (5.30) that

$$|\psi w|_{V_p([0,t_1-t_0]\times B_1)} \le C(\nu,\Lambda,\delta,\eta,\alpha,p) \frac{1+(1+\beta)}{|\beta|(\rho-\rho')} |w|_{L_2([0,t_2-t_0]\times\rho B_1)}$$

By the interpolation inequality (2.15) and since $\psi = 1$ in $\rho' B_1$, this implies for all $\beta \in (-1, 0)$

$$|w|_{L_{2\kappa}([0,t_1-t_0]\times\rho'B_1)} \le C(\nu,\Lambda,\delta,\eta,\alpha,p,N) \frac{1+|1+\beta|}{|\beta|(\rho-\rho')} |w|_{L_2([0,t_2-t_0]\times\rho B_1)},$$
(5.31)

where

$$\kappa = \kappa_p = \frac{2p + N(p-1)}{2 + N(p-1)} \in (1, \tilde{\kappa}).$$

We now fix $1 such that <math>\kappa_p = (p_0 + \tilde{\kappa})/2$. This is possible because $\kappa_p \nearrow \tilde{\kappa}$ as $p \nearrow 1/(1 - \alpha)$.

Next, we set $\gamma = 1 + \beta \in (0, 1)$ and transform back to u to get

$$|u|_{L_{\gamma\kappa}(V_{\rho'}',d\mu)} \le \left(\frac{\tilde{C}}{(\rho-\rho')^2}\right)^{1/\gamma} |u|_{L_{\gamma}(V_{\rho}',d\mu)}, \quad 0 < \rho' < \rho \le 1, \ 0 < \gamma \le p_0/\kappa.$$
(5.32)

Here, $\mu = (\eta \omega_N)^{-1} \mu_{N+1}$, ω_N the volume of the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^N , and $\tilde{C} = \tilde{C}(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \eta, \alpha, N, p_0)$ is independent of $\gamma \in (0, p_0/\kappa]$, since $|\beta|$ is bounded away from zero. Note that $\mu(V_1) \leq 1$.

Finally, we employ the second Moser iteration scheme, Lemma 2.5.2, to conclude from (5.32) that there are constants $M_0 = M_0(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \eta, \alpha, N, p_0)$ and $\tau_0 = \tau_0(\kappa)$ such that

$$|u|_{L_{p_0}(V_{\theta}',d\mu)} \le \left(\frac{M_0}{(1-\theta)^{\tau_0}}\right)^{1/\gamma - 1/p_0} |u|_{L_{\gamma}(V_1',d\mu)}, \quad 0 < \theta < 1, \ 0 < \gamma \le p_0/\kappa.$$
(5.33)

If we take $\theta = \sigma'/\sigma$ and translate (5.33) back to the measure μ_{N+1} , we obtain

$$|u|_{L_{p_0}(U'_{\sigma'})} \le \left(\frac{M_0(\eta\omega_N)^{-1}}{(\sigma - \sigma')^{\tau_0}}\right)^{1/\gamma - 1/p_0} |u|_{L_{\gamma}(U'_{\sigma})}, \quad 0 < \gamma \le p_0/\kappa.$$
(5.34)

Since $\kappa < \tilde{\kappa}$, (5.34) holds in particular for all $\gamma \in (0, p_0/\tilde{\kappa}]$. This finishes the proof.

5.4 Logarithmic estimates

Theorem 5.4.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1)-(H3) are satisfied. Let $\tau > 0$ and δ , $\eta \in (0,1)$ be fixed. Then for any $t_0 \ge 0$ and r > 0 with $t_0 + \tau r^{2/\alpha} \le T$, any ball $B = B(x_0, r) \subset \Omega$, and any weak supersolution $u \ge \varepsilon > 0$ of (5.1) in $(0, t_0 + \tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B$ with $u_0 \ge 0$ in B, there is a constant c = c(u) such that

$$\mu_{N+1}\big(\{(t,x)\in K_{-}: \log u(t,x) > c+\lambda\}\big) \le Cr^{2/\alpha}\mu_{N}(B)\lambda^{-1}, \quad \lambda > 0,$$
(5.35)

and

ŀ

$$\iota_{N+1}\big(\{(t,x) \in K_+ : \log u(t,x) < c - \lambda\}\big) \le Cr^{2/\alpha} \mu_N(B)\lambda^{-1}, \quad \lambda > 0,$$
(5.36)

where $K_{-} = (t_0, t_0 + \eta \tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times \delta B$ and $K_{+} = (t_0 + \eta \tau r^{2/\alpha}, t_0 + \tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times \delta B$. Here the constant C depends only on $\delta, \eta, \tau, N, \alpha, \nu$, and Λ .

Proof: Since $u_0 \ge 0$ in B and u is a positive weak supersolution we may assume without loss of generality that $u_0 = 0$ and $t_0 = 0$. In fact, in the case $t_0 > 0$ we shift the time as $t \to t - t_0$, thereby obtaining an inequality of the same type on the time-interval $J := [0, \tau r^{2/\alpha}]$. Observe that the property $g_{1-\alpha} * u \in C([0, t_0 + \tau r^{2/\alpha}]; L_2(B))$ implies $g_{1-\alpha} * \tilde{u} \in C(J; L_2(B))$ for the shifted function $\tilde{u}(s, x) = u(s + t_0, x)$. So we have

$$\int_{B} \left(v \partial_t (g_{1-\alpha,n} * u) + (h_n * [ADu] | Dv) \right) dx \ge 0, \quad \text{a.a.} \ t \in J, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(5.37)

for any nonnegative test function $v \in \mathring{H}_2^1(B)$.

For $t \in J$ we choose the test function $v = \psi^2 u^{-1}$ with $\psi \in C_0^1(B)$ such that $\operatorname{supp} \psi \subset B$, $\psi = 1$ in δB , $0 \leq \psi \leq 1$, $|D\psi| \leq 2/[(1-\delta)r]$ and the domains $\{x \in B : \psi(x)^2 \geq b\}$ are convex for all $b \leq 1$. We have

$$Dv = 2\psi D\psi u^{-1} - \psi^2 u^{-2} Du,$$

so that by substitution into (5.37) we obtain for a.a. $t \in J$

$$-\int_{B} \psi^{2} u^{-1} \partial_{t} (g_{1-\alpha,n} * u) dx + \int_{B} (ADu|u^{-2}Du) \psi^{2} dx$$
$$\leq 2 \int_{B} (ADu|u^{-1}\psi D\psi) dx + \mathcal{R}_{n}(t), \qquad (5.38)$$

where

$$\mathcal{R}_n(t) = \int_B \left(h_n * [ADu] - ADu | Dv \right) dx.$$

By (H1) and Young's inequality,

$$\left| 2 \left(A D u | u^{-1} \psi D \psi \right) \right| \le 2\Lambda \psi |D\psi| |Du| u^{-1} \le \frac{\nu}{2} \psi^2 |Du|^2 u^{-2} + \frac{2}{\nu} \Lambda^2 |D\psi|^2.$$

Using this, (H2) and $|D\psi| \leq 2/[(1-\delta)r]$, we infer from (5.38) that for a.a. $t \in J$

$$-\int_{B}\psi^{2}u^{-1}\partial_{t}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*u)\,dx + \frac{\nu}{2}\,\int_{B}|Du|^{2}u^{-2}\psi^{2}\,dx \le \frac{8\Lambda^{2}\mu_{N}(B)}{\nu(1-\delta)^{2}r^{2}} + \mathcal{R}_{n}(t).$$
(5.39)

Setting $w = \log u$ we have $Dw = u^{-1}Du$. The weighted Poincaré inequality of Proposition 2.6.1 with weight ψ^2 yields

$$\int_{B} (w - W)^{2} \psi^{2} dx \leq \frac{8r^{2} \mu_{N}(B)}{\int_{B} \psi^{2} dx} \int_{B} |Dw|^{2} \psi^{2} dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in J,$$
(5.40)

where

$$W(t)=\,\frac{\int_B w(t,x)\psi(x)^2dx}{\int_B \psi(x)^2dx}\,,\qquad \text{a.a.}\ t\in J.$$

From (5.39) and (5.40) we deduce that

$$-\int_{B}\psi^{2}u^{-1}\partial_{t}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*u)\,dx + \frac{\nu\int_{B}\psi^{2}dx}{16r^{2}\mu_{N}(B)}\int_{B}(w-W)^{2}\psi^{2}dx \leq \frac{8\Lambda^{2}\mu_{N}(B)}{\nu(1-\delta)^{2}r^{2}} + \mathcal{R}_{n}(t),$$

which in turn implies

$$\frac{-\int_{B}\psi^{2}u^{-1}\partial_{t}(g_{1-\alpha,n}*u)\,dx}{\int_{B}\psi^{2}dx} + \frac{\nu}{16r^{2}\mu_{N}(B)}\int_{\delta B}(w-W)^{2}dx \le \frac{C_{1}}{r^{2}} + S_{n}(t),\tag{5.41}$$

for a.a. $t \in J$, with some constant $C_1 = C_1(\delta, N, \nu, \Lambda)$ and $S_n(t) = \mathcal{R}_n(t) / \int_B \psi^2 dx$.

The fundamental identity (2.6) with $H(y) = -\log y$ reads (with the spatial variable x being suppressed)

$$-u^{-1}\partial_t(g_{1-\alpha,n}*u) = -\partial_t(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\log u) + (\log u - 1)g_{1-\alpha,n}(t) + \int_0^t \left(-\log u(t-s) + \log u(t) + \frac{u(t-s) - u(t)}{u(t)}\right) [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s)] \, ds.$$

In terms of $w = \log u$ this means that

$$-u^{-1}\partial_t(g_{1-\alpha,n} * u) = -\partial_t(g_{1-\alpha,n} * w) + (w-1)g_{1-\alpha,n}(t) + \int_0^t \Psi(w(t-s) - w(t))[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s)] \, ds,$$
(5.42)

where $\Psi(y) = e^y - 1 - y$. Since Ψ is convex, it follows from Jensen's inequality that

$$\frac{\int_B \psi^2 \Psi\big(w(t-s,x) - w(t,x)\big) \, dx}{\int_B \psi^2 dx} \ge \Psi\Big(\frac{\int_B \psi^2\big(w(t-s,x) - w(t,x)\big) \, dx}{\int_B \psi^2 dx}\Big)$$

Using this and (5.42) we obtain

$$\frac{-\int_{B} \psi^{2} u^{-1} \partial_{t} (g_{1-\alpha,n} * u) \, dx}{\int_{B} \psi^{2} dx} \geq -\partial_{t} (g_{1-\alpha,n} * W) + (W-1) g_{1-\alpha,n}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} \Psi (W(t-s) - W(t)) [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s)] \, ds$$
$$= -e^{-W} \partial_{t} (g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{W}), \qquad (5.43)$$

where the last equals sign holds again by (5.42) with u replaced by e^W . From (5.41) and (5.43) we conclude that

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^2\mu_N(B)}\int_{\delta B} (w-W)^2 dx \le e^{-W}\partial_t (g_{1-\alpha,n} \ast e^W) + \frac{C_1}{r^2} + S_n(t), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in J.$$
(5.44)

We choose

$$c(u) = \log\left(\frac{(g_{1-\alpha} * e^W)(\eta\tau r^{2/\alpha})}{g_{2-\alpha}(\eta\tau r^{2/\alpha})}\right).$$
(5.45)

This definition makes sense, since $g_{1-\alpha} * e^W \in C(J)$. The latter is a consequence of $g_{1-\alpha} * u \in C(J; L_2(B))$ and

$$e^{W(t)} \leq \frac{\int_B u(t,x)\psi(x)^2 dx}{\int_B \psi(x)^2 dx}, \qquad \text{a.a. } t \in J,$$

where we apply again Jensen's inequality.

To prove (5.35) and (5.36), one of the key ideas is to use the inequalities

$$\mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x) \in K_{-} : w(t,x) > c(u) + \lambda\}) \\
\leq \mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x) \in K_{-} : w(t,x) > c(u) + \lambda \text{ and } W(t) \leq c(u) + \lambda/2\}) \\
+ \mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x) \in K_{-} : W(t) > c(u) + \lambda/2\}) =: I_{1} + I_{2}, \quad \lambda > 0, \quad (5.46) \\
\mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x) \in K_{+} : w(t,x) < c(u) - \lambda\}) \\
\leq \mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x) \in K_{+} : w(t,x) < c(u) - \lambda \text{ and } W(t) \geq c(u) - \lambda/2\})$$

$$+\mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x)\in K_+: W(t) < c(u) - \lambda/2\}) =: I_3 + I_4, \quad \lambda > 0,$$
 (5.47)

and to estimate each of the four terms I_j separately.

We begin with the estimates for W. To estimate I_2 and I_4 we adopt some of the ideas developed in [83]. We set $J_- := (0, \eta \tau r^{2/\alpha}), J_+ := (\eta \tau r^{2/\alpha}, \tau r^{2/\alpha})$, and introduce for $\lambda > 0$ the sets $J_-(\lambda) := \{t \in J_- : W(t) > c(u) + \lambda\}$ and $J_+(\lambda) := \{t \in J_+ : W(t) < c(u) - \lambda\}$.

Interestingly, positivity and integrability of the function e^W are sufficient to derive the desired estimate for I_2 , cf. also [83, Theorem 2.3]. In fact, with $\rho = \tau r^{2/\alpha}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} e^{\lambda}\mu_1\big(J_-(\lambda)\big) &= e^{\lambda}\mu_1\big(\{t\in J_-: e^{W(t)} > e^{c(u)}e^{\lambda}\}\big) = \int_{J_-(\lambda)} e^{\lambda} dt \\ &\leq \int_{J_-(\lambda)} e^{W(t)-c(u)} dt \leq \int_{J_-} e^{W(t)-c(u)} dt \\ &= \frac{g_{2-\alpha}(\eta\rho)}{(g_{1-\alpha} * e^W)(\eta\rho)} \int_0^{\eta\rho} e^{W(t)} dt \\ &\leq \frac{g_{2-\alpha}(\eta\rho)}{(g_{1-\alpha} * e^W)(\eta\rho)} \cdot \frac{1}{g_{1-\alpha}(\eta\rho)} \int_0^{\eta\rho} g_{1-\alpha}(\eta\rho-t) e^{W(t)} dt \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)} \eta\rho = \frac{\eta\tau r^{2/\alpha}}{1-\alpha}, \end{aligned}$$

and therefore

$$I_2 = \mu_1 \left(J_-(\lambda/2) \right) \mu_N(\delta B) \le \frac{2\eta\tau\delta^N}{(1-\alpha)\lambda} r^{2/\alpha} \mu_N(B), \quad \lambda > 0.$$
(5.48)

We come now to I_4 . For m > 0 define the function H_m on \mathbb{R} by $H_m(y) = y, y \leq m$, and $H_m(y) = m + (y-m)/(y-m+1), y \geq m$. Then H_m is increasing, concave, and bounded above by m + 1. Further, we have $H_m \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$, and so by concavity

$$0 \le y H'_m(y) \le H_m(y) \le m+1, \quad y \ge 0.$$
(5.49)

Multiplying (5.44) by $e^W H'_m(e^W)$ and employing (5.49) as well as the fundamental identity (2.6), we infer that

$$\partial_t \left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * H_m(e^W) \right) + \frac{C_1}{r^2} H_m(e^W) \ge -S_n e^W H'_m(e^W), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in J.$$
(5.50)

For $t \in J_+$ we shift the time by setting $s = t - \eta \tau r^{2/\alpha} = t - \eta \rho$ and put $\tilde{f}(s) = f(s + \eta \rho)$, $s \in (0, (1 - \eta)\rho)$, for functions f defined on J_+ . By the time-shifting identity (5.6), (5.50) implies that for a.a. $s \in (0, (1 - \eta)\rho)$

$$\partial_s \left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) \right) + \frac{C_1}{r^2} H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) \ge \Upsilon_{n,m}(s) - \tilde{S}_n e^{\tilde{W}} H'_m(e^{\tilde{W}}), \tag{5.51}$$

with the history term

$$\Upsilon_{n,m}(s) = \int_0^{\eta\rho} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s+\eta\rho-\sigma) \right] H_m(e^{W(\sigma)}) \, d\sigma.$$

For $\theta \geq 0$ define the kernel $r_{\alpha,\theta} \in L_{1,loc}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ by means of

$$r_{\alpha,\theta}(t) + \theta(r_{\alpha,\theta} * g_{\alpha})(t) = g_{\alpha}(t), \quad t > 0$$

Observe that $r_{\alpha,0} = g_{\alpha}$. Since g_{α} is completely monotone, $r_{\alpha,\theta}$ enjoys the same property (cf. [32, Chap. 5]), in particular $r_{\alpha,\theta}(s) > 0$ for all s > 0. Moreover, we have (see e.g. [83])

$$r_{\alpha,\,\theta}(s) = \Gamma(\alpha)g_{\alpha}(s)\,E_{\alpha,\alpha}(-\theta s^{\alpha}), \quad s > 0, \tag{5.52}$$

where $E_{\alpha,\beta}$ denotes the generalized Mittag-Leffler-function (see e.g. [28, p. 210] and [44, Section 1.8]) defined by

$$E_{\alpha,\beta}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{\Gamma(n\alpha + \beta)}, \quad z \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(5.53)

We put $\theta = C_1/r^2$ and convolve (5.51) with $r_{\alpha,\theta}$. We have a.e. in $(0, (1-\eta)\rho)$

$$\begin{aligned} r_{\alpha,\theta} * \partial_s \Big(g_{1-\alpha,n} * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) \Big) &= \partial_s \Big(r_{\alpha,\theta} * g_{1-\alpha,n} * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) \Big) \\ &= \partial_s \Big([g_\alpha - \theta(r_{\alpha,\theta} * g_\alpha)] * g_{1-\alpha,n} * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) \Big) \\ &= h_n * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) - \theta r_{\alpha,\theta} * h_n * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}), \end{aligned}$$

and so we obtain a.e. in $(0, (1 - \eta)\rho)$

$$h_n * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) \ge r_{\alpha,\,\theta} * \Upsilon_{n,m} - r_{\alpha,\,\theta} * \left[\tilde{S}_n e^{\tilde{W}} H'_m(e^{\tilde{W}})\right] + \theta h_n * r_{\alpha,\,\theta} * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) - \theta r_{\alpha,\,\theta} * H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}).$$
(5.54)

Sending $n \to \infty$ and selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, it follows that

$$H_m(e^{\tilde{W}}) \ge r_{\alpha,\,\theta} * \Upsilon_m, \qquad \text{a.a.} \ s \in (0,\,(1-\eta)\rho), \tag{5.55}$$

where

$$\Upsilon_m(s) = \int_0^{\eta\rho} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(s+\eta\rho-\sigma) \right] H_m(e^{W(\sigma)}) \, d\sigma;$$

in fact, this can be seen by using the approximation property of the kernels h_n .

Observe that for $s \in (0, (1 - \eta)\rho)$ we have

$$0 \le \theta s^{\alpha} \le \frac{C_1}{r^2} (1-\eta)^{\alpha} (\tau r^{2/\alpha})^{\alpha} = C_1 (1-\eta)^{\alpha} \tau^{\alpha} =: \omega,$$

and thus by continuity and strict positivity of $E_{\alpha,\alpha}$ in $(-\infty, 0]$,

$$r_{\alpha,\theta}(s) \ge \Gamma(\alpha)g_{\alpha}(s) \min_{y \in [0,\omega]} E_{\alpha,\alpha}(-y) =: C_2(\alpha,\omega)\Gamma(\alpha)g_{\alpha}(s), \quad s \in (0,(1-\eta)\rho).$$

We may then argue as in [83,Section 2.1] to obtain

$$H_m(e^{\tilde{W}(s)}) \ge C_2(\alpha,\omega) \frac{\alpha(s/[\eta\rho])^{\alpha}}{1+(s/[\eta\rho])} (\eta\rho)^{\alpha-1} (g_{1-\alpha} * H_m(e^W))(\eta\rho), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, (1-\eta)\rho).$$

Evidently, $H_m(y) \nearrow y$ as $m \to \infty$ for all $y \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus by sending $m \to \infty$ and applying Fatou's lemma we conclude that

$$e^{\tilde{W}(s)} \ge C_2(\alpha, \omega) \, \frac{\alpha(s/[\eta\rho])^{\alpha}}{1 + (s/[\eta\rho])} \, (\eta\rho)^{\alpha-1} \big(g_{1-\alpha} * e^W\big)(\eta\rho), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, (1-\eta)\rho). \tag{5.56}$$

We then employ (5.56) to estimate as follows.

$$e^{\lambda}\mu_{1}(J_{+}(\lambda)) = e^{\lambda}\mu_{1}(\{t \in J_{+} : e^{W(t)} < e^{c(u)}e^{-\lambda}\}) = \int_{J_{+}(\lambda)} e^{\lambda} dt$$

$$\leq \int_{J_{+}(\lambda)} e^{c(u)-W(t)} dt \leq \int_{J_{+}} e^{c(u)-W(t)} dt$$

$$= \frac{(g_{1-\alpha} * e^{W})(\eta\rho)}{g_{2-\alpha}(\eta\rho)} \int_{0}^{(1-\eta)\rho} e^{-\tilde{W}(s)} ds$$

$$\leq \frac{C_{2}(\alpha, \omega)^{-1}(\eta\rho)^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha g_{2-\alpha}(\eta\rho)} \int_{0}^{(1-\eta)\rho} (1+s/\eta\rho)(s/\eta\rho)^{-\alpha} ds$$

$$= \frac{\Gamma(2-\alpha)\eta\rho}{\alpha C_{2}(\alpha, \omega)} \int_{0}^{\frac{1-\eta}{\eta}} \sigma^{-\alpha}(1+\sigma) d\sigma = C_{3}(\alpha, \eta, \omega)\rho.$$

Hence

$$I_4 = \mu_1 \left(J_+(\lambda/2) \right) \mu_N(\delta B) \le \frac{2C_3(\alpha, \eta, \omega)\delta^N}{\lambda} r^{2/\alpha} \mu_N(B), \quad \lambda > 0.$$
(5.57)

We come now to I_1 . Set $J_1(\lambda) = \{t \in J_- : c - W(t) + \lambda/2 \ge 0\}$ and $\Omega_t^-(\lambda) = \{x \in \delta B : w(t,x) > c + \lambda\}, t \in J_1(\lambda)$, where c = c(u) is given by (5.45). For $t \in J_1(\lambda)$, we have

$$w(t,x) - W(t) > c - W(t) + \lambda \ge \lambda/2, \quad x \in \Omega_t^-(\lambda),$$

and thus we deduce from (5.44) that a.e. in $J_1(\lambda)$

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^2\mu_N(B)}\ \mu_N\big(\Omega_t^-(\lambda)\big) \le \frac{1}{(c-W+\lambda)^2} \left(e^{-W}\partial_t(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^W) + \frac{C_1}{r^2} + S_n\right).$$
(5.58)

Set $\chi(t,\lambda) = \mu_N(\Omega_t^-(\lambda))$, if $t \in J_1(\lambda)$, and $\chi(t,\lambda) = 0$ in case $t \in J_- \setminus J_1(\lambda)$. Let further $H(y) = (c - \log y + \lambda)^{-1}$, $0 < y \le y_* := e^{c+\lambda/2}$. Clearly, $H'(y) = (c - \log y + \lambda)^{-2}y^{-1}$ as well as

$$H''(y) = \frac{1}{(c - \log y + \lambda)^2 y^2} \left(\frac{2}{c - \log y + \lambda} - 1\right), \quad 0 < y \le y_*,$$

which shows that H is concave in $(0, y_*]$ whenever $\lambda \ge 4$. We will assume this in what follows.

We next choose a C^1 extension \overline{H} of H on $(0,\infty)$ such that \overline{H} is concave, $0 \leq \overline{H}'(y) \leq \overline{H}'(y_*), y_* \leq y \leq 2y_*$, and $\overline{H}'(y) = 0, y \geq 2y_*$. Then

$$0 \le y\bar{H}'(y) \le \frac{2}{\lambda}, \quad y > 0.$$
(5.59)

In fact, for $y \in (0, y_*]$ we have

$$y\bar{H}'(y) = \frac{1}{(c-\log y+\lambda)^2} \le \frac{1}{(c-\log y_*+\lambda)^2} \le \frac{4}{\lambda^2} \le \frac{1}{\lambda},$$
 (5.60)

while in case $y \in [y_*, 2y_*]$ we may simply estimate

$$y\bar{H}'(y) \le 2y_*\bar{H}'(y_*) \le \frac{2}{\lambda}.$$

It is clear that \overline{H} is bounded above. There holds

$$\bar{H}(y) \le \frac{3}{\lambda}, \quad y > 0.$$
 (5.61)

To see this, note that since \bar{H} is nondecreasing with $\bar{H}'(y) = 0$ for all $y \ge 2y_*$, the claim follows if the inequality is valid for all $y \in [y_*, 2y_*]$. For such y we have by (5.60) and by concavity of \bar{H}

$$\bar{H}(y) \le \bar{H}(y_*) + \bar{H}'(y_*)(y - y_*) \le \bar{H}(y_*) + y_*\bar{H}'(y_*) \le \frac{3}{\lambda}$$

Observe also that

$$e^{W(t)}H'(e^{W(t)}) = \frac{1}{(c - W(t) + \lambda)^2}, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in J_1(\lambda).$$

Since $\bar{H}' \ge 0$, and $e^{-W}\partial_t(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^W) + C_1r^{-2} + S_n \ge 0$ on J_- by virtue of (5.44), we infer from (5.58) and (5.59) that

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^{2}\mu_{N}(B)} \chi(t,\lambda) \leq e^{W}\bar{H}'(e^{W}) \Big(e^{-W}\partial_{t}(g_{1-\alpha,n} \ast e^{W}) + \frac{C_{1}}{r^{2}} + S_{n} \Big) \\ \leq \bar{H}'(e^{W})\partial_{t}(g_{1-\alpha,n} \ast e^{W}) + \frac{2C_{1}}{\lambda r^{2}} + \frac{2|S_{n}(t)|}{\lambda}, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in J_{-}.$$
(5.62)

Since \overline{H} is concave, the fundamental identity (2.6) yields

$$\begin{split} \bar{H}'(e^W)\partial_t(g_{1-\alpha,n}*e^W) &\leq \partial_t\left(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\bar{H}(e^W)\right) + \left(-\bar{H}(e^W) + \bar{H}'(e^W)e^W\right)g_{1-\alpha,n} \\ &\leq \partial_t\left(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\bar{H}(e^W)\right) + \frac{2}{\lambda}g_{1-\alpha,n}, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in J_-, \end{split}$$

which, together with (5.62), gives a.e. in J_{-}

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^2\mu_N(B)}\chi(t,\lambda) \le \partial_t \left(\left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \bar{H}(e^W)\right) + \frac{2}{\lambda}g_{1-\alpha,n} + \frac{2C_1}{\lambda r^2} + \frac{2|S_n(t)|}{\lambda} \right).$$
(5.63)

We then integrate (5.63) over $J_{-} = (0, \eta \rho)$ and employ (5.61) for the estimate

$$\left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \bar{H}(e^W)\right)(\eta\rho) \leq \frac{3}{\lambda} \int_0^{\eta\rho} g_{1-\alpha,n}(t) dt$$

By sending $n \to \infty$, this leads to

$$\int_{J_1(\lambda)} \mu_N \left(\Omega_t^{-}(\lambda)\right) dt = \int_0^{\eta\rho} \chi(t,\lambda) dt \le \frac{16r^2 \mu_N(B)}{\nu} \left(\frac{5}{\lambda} g_{2-\alpha}(\eta\rho) + \frac{2C_1 \eta\rho}{\lambda r^2}\right)$$
$$= \frac{16r^{2/\alpha} \mu_N(B)}{\nu \lambda} \left(5g_{2-\alpha}(\eta\tau) + 2C_1 \eta\tau\right) =: C_4 \frac{r^{2/\alpha} \mu_N(B)}{\lambda}, \quad \lambda \ge 4.$$

Hence with $C_5 = \max\{4\tau, C_4\}$ we find that

$$I_1 \le \frac{C_5 r^{2/\alpha} \mu_N(B)}{\lambda}, \quad \lambda > 0.$$
(5.64)

It remains to derive the desired estimate for I_3 . To this purpose we shift again the time by putting $s = t - \eta \rho$, and denote the corresponding transformed functions as above by \tilde{W} , \tilde{w} , ... and so forth. Set further $\tilde{J}_+ := (0, (1 - \eta)\rho)$. By the time-shifting property (5.6) and by positivity of e^W , relation (5.44) then implies

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^2\mu_N(B)}\int_{\delta B} (\tilde{w} - \tilde{W})^2 dx \le e^{-\tilde{W}}\partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{\tilde{W}}) + \frac{C_1}{r^2} + \tilde{S}_n(s), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in \tilde{J}_+.$$
(5.65)

Next, set $J_2(\lambda) = \{s \in \tilde{J}_+ : \tilde{W}(s) - c + \lambda/2 \ge 0\}$ and $\Omega_s^+(\lambda) = \{x \in \delta B : \tilde{w}(s, x) < c - \lambda\}, s \in J_2(\lambda)$. For $s \in J_2(\lambda)$, we have

$$\tilde{W}(s) - \tilde{w}(s, x) \ge \tilde{W}(s) - c + \lambda \ge \lambda/2, \quad x \in \Omega_s^+(\lambda),$$

and thus (5.65) yields that a.e. in $J_2(\lambda)$

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^2\mu_N(B)}\ \mu_N\big(\Omega_s^+(\lambda)\big) \le \frac{1}{(\tilde{W} - c + \lambda)^2} \left(e^{-\tilde{W}}\partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{\tilde{W}}) + \frac{C_1}{r^2} + \tilde{S}_n\right).$$
(5.66)

We proceed now similarly as above for the term I_1 . Set $\chi(s,\lambda) = \mu_N(\Omega_s^+(\lambda))$, if $s \in J_2(\lambda)$, and $\chi(s,\lambda) = 0$ in case $s \in \tilde{J}_+ \setminus J_1(\lambda)$. We consider this time the convex function $H(y) = (\log y - c + \lambda)^{-1}$ for $y \ge y_* := e^{c-\lambda/2}$ with derivative $H'(y) = -(\log y - c + \lambda)^{-2}y^{-1} < 0$. We define a C^1 extension \bar{H} of H on $[0,\infty)$ by means of

$$\bar{H}(y) = \begin{cases} H'(y_*)(y - y_*) + H(y_*) : 0 \le y < y_* \\ H(y) : y \ge y_*. \end{cases}$$

Evidently, $-\bar{H}$ is concave in $[0,\infty)$ and

$$0 \le -\bar{H}'(y)y \le \frac{1}{(\log y_* - c + \lambda)^2} \le \frac{1}{(\lambda/2)^2} \le \frac{4}{\lambda}, \quad y \ge 0, \ \lambda \ge 1.$$
(5.67)

We will assume $\lambda \geq 1$ in the subsequent lines.

Observe that

$$-e^{\tilde{W}(s)}H'(e^{\tilde{W}(s)}) = \frac{1}{(\tilde{W}(s) - c + \lambda)^2}, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in J_2(\lambda).$$

Since $-\bar{H}' \ge 0$, and $e^{-\tilde{W}} \partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{\tilde{W}}) + C_1 r^{-2} + \tilde{S}_n \ge 0$ on \tilde{J}_+ due to (5.65), it thus follows from (5.66) and (5.67) that

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^{2}\mu_{N}(B)} \chi(s,\lambda) \leq -e^{\tilde{W}}\bar{H}'(e^{\tilde{W}}) \Big(e^{-\tilde{W}}\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{\tilde{W}}) + \frac{C_{1}}{r^{2}} + \tilde{S}_{n} \Big) \\ \leq -\bar{H}'(e^{\tilde{W}})\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{\tilde{W}}) + \frac{4C_{1}}{\lambda r^{2}} + \frac{4|\tilde{S}_{n}(s)|}{\lambda}, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in \tilde{J}_{+}.$$
(5.68)

By concavity of $-\overline{H}$, the fundamental identity (2.6) provides the estimate

$$-\bar{H}'(e^{\tilde{W}})\partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n}*e^{\tilde{W}}) \leq -\partial_s\left(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\bar{H}(e^{\tilde{W}})\right) + \left(\bar{H}(e^{\tilde{W}}) - \bar{H}'(e^{\tilde{W}})e^{\tilde{W}}\right)g_{1-\alpha,n}$$
$$\leq -\partial_s\left(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\bar{H}(e^{\tilde{W}})\right) + \bar{H}(0)g_{1-\alpha,n} \leq -\partial_s\left(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\bar{H}(e^{\tilde{W}})\right) + \frac{6}{\lambda}g_{1-\alpha,n},$$

a.e. in \tilde{J}_+ , which when combined with (5.68) leads to

$$\frac{\nu}{16r^2\mu_N(B)}\chi(s,\lambda) \le -\partial_s \Big(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \bar{H}(e^{\tilde{W}})\Big) + \frac{6}{\lambda}g_{1-\alpha,n} + \frac{4C_1}{\lambda r^2} + \frac{4|\tilde{S}_n(s)|}{\lambda},$$

for a.a. $s \in \tilde{J}_+$. We integrate this estimate over \tilde{J}_+ and send $n \to \infty$ to the result

$$\int_{J_{2}(\lambda)} \mu_{N}\left(\Omega_{s}^{+}(\lambda)\right) ds = \int_{0}^{(1-\eta)\rho} \chi(s,\lambda) ds \leq \frac{16r^{2}\mu_{N}(B)}{\nu} \left(\frac{6}{\lambda}g_{2-\alpha}\left((1-\eta)\rho\right) + \frac{4C_{1}(1-\eta)\rho}{\lambda r^{2}}\right) \\ = \frac{16r^{2/\alpha}\mu_{N}(B)}{\nu\lambda} \left(6g_{2-\alpha}\left((1-\eta)\tau\right) + 4C_{1}(1-\eta)\tau\right) =: C_{6}\frac{r^{2/\alpha}\mu_{N}(B)}{\lambda}, \quad \lambda \geq 1.$$

Hence with $C_7 = \max\{\tau, C_6\}$ we obtain that

$$I_3 \le \frac{C_7 r^{2/\alpha} \mu_N(B)}{\lambda}, \quad \lambda > 0.$$
(5.69)

Finally, combining (5.46), (5.47), and (5.48), (5.57), (5.64), (5.69) establishes the theorem. \Box

5.5 The final step of the proof

We are now in position to prove Theorem 5.1.1. Without loss of generality we may assume that $u \ge \varepsilon$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$; otherwise replace u by $u + \varepsilon$, which is a supersolution of (5.1) with $u_0 + \varepsilon$ instead of u_0 , and eventually let $\varepsilon \to 0+$.

For $0 < \sigma \leq 1$, we set $U_{\sigma} = (t_0 + (2 - \sigma)\tau r^{2/\alpha}, t_0 + 2\tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times \sigma B$ and $U'_{\sigma} = (t_0, t_0 + \sigma \tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times \sigma B$. Clearly, $Q_-(t_0, x_0, r) = U'_{\delta}$ and $Q_+(t_0, x_0, r) = U_{\delta}$.

By Theorem 5.3.1,

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{U_{\sigma'}} u^{-1} \le \left(\frac{C\mu_{N+1}(U_1)^{-1}}{(\sigma - \sigma')^{\tau_0}}\right)^{1/\gamma} |u^{-1}|_{L_{\gamma}(U_{\sigma})}, \quad \delta \le \sigma' < \sigma \le 1, \ \gamma \in (0, 1]$$

Here $C = C(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \tau, \alpha, N)$ and $\tau_0 = \tau_0(\alpha, N)$. This shows that the first hypothesis of Lemma 2.5.3 is satisfied by any positive constant multiple of u^{-1} with $\beta_0 = \infty$.

Consider now $f_1 = u^{-1}e^{c(u)}$ where c(u) is the constant from Theorem 5.4.1 with $K_- = U'_1$ and $K_+ = U_1$. Since $\log f_1 = c(u) - \log u$, we see from Theorem 5.4.1, estimate (5.36), that

$$\mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x) \in U_1 : \log f_1(t,x) > \lambda\}) \le M\mu_{N+1}(U_1)\lambda^{-1}, \quad \lambda > 0,$$

where $M = M(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \tau, \eta, \alpha, N)$. Hence we may apply Lemma 2.5.3 with $\beta_0 = \infty$ to f_1 and the family U_{σ} ; thereby we obtain

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{U_{\delta}} f_1 \le M_1$$

with $M_1 = M_1(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \tau, \eta, \alpha, N)$. In terms of u this means that

$$e^{c(u)} \le M_1 \operatorname*{essinf}_{U_{\delta}} u. \tag{5.70}$$

On the other hand, Theorem 5.3.2 yields

$$|u|_{L_p(U'_{\sigma'})} \le \left(\frac{C\mu_{N+1}(U'_1)^{-1}}{(\sigma - \sigma')^{\tau_1}}\right)^{1/\gamma - 1/p} |u|_{L_\gamma(U'_{\sigma})}, \quad \delta \le \sigma' < \sigma \le 1, \ 0 < \gamma \le p/\tilde{\kappa}.$$

Here $C = C(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \tau, \alpha, N, p)$ and $\tau_1 = \tau_1(\alpha, N)$. Thus the first hypothesis of Lemma 2.5.3 is satisfied by any positive constant multiple of u with $\beta_0 = p$ and $\eta = 1/\tilde{\kappa}$. Taking $f_2 = ue^{-c(u)}$ with c(u) from above, we have $\log f_2 = \log u - c(u)$ and so Theorem 5.4.1, estimate (5.35), gives

$$\mu_{N+1}(\{(t,x) \in U'_1 : \log f_2(t,x) > \lambda\}) \le M\mu_{N+1}(U'_1)\lambda^{-1}, \quad \lambda > 0,$$

where M is as above. Therefore we may again apply Lemma 2.5.3, this time to the function f_2 and the sets U'_{σ} , and with $\beta_0 = p$ and $\eta = 1/\tilde{\kappa}$; we get

$$|f_2|_{L_p(U'_s)} \le M_2 \mu_{N+1}(U'_1)^{1/p},$$

where $M_2 = M_2(\nu, \Lambda, \delta, \tau, \eta, \alpha, N, p)$. Rephrasing then yields

$$\mu_{N+1}(U_1')^{-1/p} |u|_{L_p(U_\delta')} \le M_2 e^{c(u)}.$$
(5.71)

Finally, we combine (5.70) and (5.71) to the result

$$\mu_{N+1}(U_1')^{-1/p} |u|_{L_p(U_{\delta}')} \le M_1 M_2 \, \operatorname*{ess\,inf}_{U_{\delta}} u,$$

which proves the assertion.

5.6 Optimality of the exponent $\frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$ in the weak Harnack inequality

In this section we will show that the exponent $\frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$ in Theorem 5.1.1 is optimal. To this purpose consider the performance fractional diffusion equation on \mathbb{R}^N

To this purpose consider the nonhomogeneous fractional diffusion equation on \mathbb{R}^N

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} u - \Delta u = f, \quad t \in (0, T], \, x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(5.72)

with initial condition

$$u(0,x) = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n. \tag{5.73}$$

Following [27], we say that a function $u \in C([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^N) \cap C((0,T]; C^2(\mathbb{R}^N))$ with $g_{1-\alpha} * u \in C^1((0,T]; C(\mathbb{R}^N))$ is a classical solution of the problem (5.72), (5.73) if u satisfies (5.72) and (5.73). For any bounded continuous function f that is locally Hölder continuous in x, there exists a unique classical solution u of the problem (5.72), (5.73), and it is of the form

$$u(t,x) = \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} Y(t-\tau, x-y) f(\tau, y) \, dy \, d\tau,$$
 (5.74)

where

$$Y(t,x) = c(N)|x|^{-N}t^{\alpha-1}H_{12}^{20}\left(\frac{1}{4}t^{-\alpha}|x|^2\Big|_{(N/2,1),(1,1)}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}\right),$$

cf. [27]. Here $H_{12}^{20}(z|_{(N/2,1),(1,1)}^{(\alpha,\alpha)})$ denotes a special H function (also termed Fox's H function), see [44, Section 1.12] and [27] for its definition. It is differentiable for z > 0, the asymptotic behaviour for $z \to \infty$ and $z \to +0$, respectively, is described in [27, formulae (3.9) and (3.14)]. It has been also proved in [27] that Y is nonnegative.

We choose a smooth and nonnegative approximation of unity $\{\phi_n(t,x)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ such that each ϕ_n is bounded. Put $f = \phi_n$ in (5.72) and denote the corresponding classical solution of (5.72), (5.73) by u_n . Evidently, u_n is nonnegative and satisfies

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} u_n - \Delta u_n = \phi_n \ge 0, \quad t \in (0, T], \ x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Hence u_n is a nonnegative supersolution of (5.72) with f = 0 for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Suppose the weak Harnack inequality (5.3) holds for some $p \geq \frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$. Then, by taking $Q_{-} = (0,1) \times B(0,1)$ and $Q_{+} = (2,3) \times B(0,1)$ it follows that

$$\left(\int_{Q_{-}} u_n^p d\mu_{N+1}\right)^{1/p} \le C \inf_{Q_{+}} u_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(5.75)

where the constant C is independent of n. Since $u_n \to Y$ in the distributional sense as $n \to \infty$, we have

$$\inf_{Q_+} u_n \le \frac{1}{\mu_{N+1}(Q_+)} \int_{Q_+} u_n \, d\mu_{N+1} \le 1 + \frac{1}{\mu_{N+1}(Q_+)} \int_{Q_+} Y \, d\mu_{N+1} < \infty, \quad n \ge n_0,$$

for a sufficiently large n_0 . On the other hand, the left-hand side of (5.75) cannot stay bounded, since $Y \notin L_p(Q_-)$ for $p \ge \frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$. In fact, writing $H_{12}^{20}(z) = H_{12}^{20}(z|_{(N/2,1),(1,1)}^{(\alpha,\alpha)})$ for short, we have

$$\begin{split} Y|_{L_{p}(Q_{-})}^{p} &= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{B(0,1)} c(N)^{p} |x|^{-Np} t^{(\alpha-1)p} H_{12}^{20} \left(t^{-\alpha} |x|^{2} / 4\right)^{p} dx \, dt \\ &= c_{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} r^{N-1-Np} t^{(\alpha-1)p} H_{12}^{20} \left(t^{-\alpha} r^{2} / 4\right)^{p} dr \, dt \\ &= c_{1} \int_{0}^{1} \int_{0}^{t^{-\alpha/2}} \left(\rho t^{\alpha/2}\right)^{N-1-Np} t^{(\alpha-1)p+\alpha/2} H_{12}^{20} \left(\rho^{2} / 4\right)^{p} d\rho \, dt \\ &\geq c_{1} \int_{0}^{1} t^{\alpha(N-Np)/2+(\alpha-1)p} \, dt \, \int_{0}^{1} \rho^{N-1-Np} H_{12}^{20} \left(\rho^{2} / 4\right)^{p} d\rho \\ &\geq c_{2} \int_{0}^{1} t^{\alpha(N-Np)/2+(\alpha-1)p} \, dt, \end{split}$$

with some positive constant c_2 . The last integral diverges for all $p \ge \frac{2+N\alpha}{2+N\alpha-2\alpha}$. Hence (5.75) yields a contradiction.

5.7 Applications of the weak Harnack inequality

The strong maximum principle for weak subsolutions of (5.1) may be easily derived as a consequence of the weak Harnack inequality.

Theorem 5.7.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1)–(H3) are satisfied. Let $u \in S_\alpha$ be a weak subsolution of (5.1) in Ω_T and assume that $0 \leq \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega_T} u < \infty$ and that $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_\Omega u_0 \leq \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega_T} u$. Then, if for some cylinder $Q = (t_0, t_0 + \tau r^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, r) \subset \Omega_T$ with $t_0, \tau, r > 0$ and $\overline{B(x_0, r)} \subset \Omega$ we have

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{Q} u = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega_{T}} u, \tag{5.76}$$

the function u is constant on $(0, t_0) \times \Omega$.

Proof: Let $M = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega_T} u$. Then v := M - u is a nonnegative weak supersolution of (5.1) with u_0 replaced by $v_0 := M - u_0 \ge 0$. For any $0 \le t_1 < t_1 + \eta r^{2/\alpha} < t_0$ the weak Harnack inequality with p = 1 applied to v yields an estimate of the form

$$r^{-(N+2/\alpha)} \int_{t_1}^{t_1+\eta r^{2/\alpha}} \int_{B(x_0,r)} (M-u) \, dx \, dt \le C \, \operatorname{essinf}_Q(M-u) \, = \, 0.$$

This shows that u = M a.e. in $(0, t_0) \times B(x_0, r)$. As in the classical parabolic case (cf. [51]) the assertion now follows by a chaining argument.

We next apply the weak Harnack inequality to establish continuity at t = 0 for weak solutions.

Theorem 5.7.2 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1) and (H2) are satisfied. Let $u \in S_\alpha$ be a bounded weak solution of (5.1) in Ω_T with $u_0 = 0$. Then u is continuous at $(0, x_0)$ for all $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $\lim_{(t,x)\to(0,x_0)} u(t,x) = 0$. Moreover, letting $\eta > 0$ we have for any cylinder $Q(x_0, r_0) := (0, \eta r_0^{2/\alpha}) \times B(x_0, r_0) \subset \Omega_T$ and $r \in (0, r_0]$

$$\operatorname{ess osc}_{Q(x_0,r)} u \le C \left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right)^{\delta} |u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)},$$
(5.77)

with $\operatorname{ess}\operatorname{osc}_{Q(x_0,r)} = \operatorname{ess}\operatorname{sup}_{Q(x_0,r)} - \operatorname{ess}\operatorname{inf}_{Q(x_0,r)}$ and constants $C = C(\nu, \Lambda, \eta, \alpha, N) > 0$ and $\delta = \delta(\nu, \Lambda, \eta, \alpha, N) \in (0, 1).$

Proof: Let $u \in S_{\alpha}$ be a bounded weak solution of (5.1) in Ω_T with $u_0 = 0$. Set u(t, x) = 0 and A(t, x) = Id for t < 0 and $x \in \Omega$. For $T_0 > 0$ we shift the time by setting $s = t + T_0$ and put $\tilde{f}(s) = f(s - T_0), s \in (0, T + T_0)$, for functions f defined on $(-T_0, T)$. Since $Du(t, \cdot) = 0$ for t < 0 and

$$\partial_t (g_{1-\alpha,n} * u)(t,x) = \partial_t \int_{-T_0}^t g_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau) u(\tau,x) \, d\tau = \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u})(s,x),$$

the function \tilde{u} is a bounded weak solution of

$$\partial_s^{\alpha} \tilde{u} - \operatorname{div}\left(\tilde{A}(s, x)D\tilde{u}\right) = 0, \quad s \in (0, T + T_0), \, x \in \Omega.$$

Next, assuming $r \in (0, r_0/2]$ we introduce the cylinders

$$Q_*(x_0, r) = \left(-\eta r^{2/\alpha}, \eta r^{2/\alpha}\right) \times B(x_0, r), Q_-(x_0, r) = \left(-\eta (2r)^{2/\alpha}, -\eta (3r/2)^{2/\alpha}\right) \times B(x_0, r),$$

and denote by $\tilde{Q}_*(x_0, r)$ resp. $\tilde{Q}_-(x_0, r)$ the corresponding cylinders in the (s, x) coordinate system. Let us write $M_i = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\tilde{Q}_*(x_0,ir)} \tilde{u}$ and $m_i = \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\tilde{Q}_*(x_0,ir)} \tilde{u}$ for i = 1, 2. Choosing $T_0 \geq \eta(2r)^{2/\alpha}$, we may apply Theorem 5.1.1 with p = 1 to the functions $M_2 - \tilde{u}$, $\tilde{u} - m_2$, which are nonnegative in $(0, \eta(2r)^{2/\alpha} + T_0) \times B(x_0, 2r)$, thereby obtaining

$$r^{-N+2/\alpha} \int_{\tilde{Q}_{-}(x_{0},r)} (M_{2}-\tilde{u}) d\mu_{N+1} \leq C(M_{2}-M_{1}),$$

$$r^{-N+2/\alpha} \int_{\tilde{Q}_{-}(x_{0},r)} (\tilde{u}-m_{2}) d\mu_{N+1} \leq C(m_{1}-m_{2}),$$

where C > 1 is a constant independent of u and r. By addition, it follows that

$$M_2 - m_2 \le C(M_2 - m_2 + m_1 - M_1).$$

Writing $\omega(x_0, r) = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\tilde{Q}_*(x_0, ir)} \tilde{u} - \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\tilde{Q}_*(x_0, ir)} \tilde{u}$, this yields

$$\omega(x_0, r) \le \theta \omega(x_0, 2r), \quad r \le r_0/2, \tag{5.78}$$

where $\theta = 1 - C^{-1} \in (0, 1)$. Iterating (5.78) as in the proof of [29, Lemma 8.23] we obtain

$$\omega(x_0, r) \le \frac{1}{\theta} \left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right)^{\log \theta / \log(1/2)} \omega(x_0, r_0), \quad r \le r_0.$$

The estimate (5.77) then follows by transforming back to the function u and using that u = 0 for negative times. In particular, we also see that u is continuous at $(0, x_0)$ for all $x_0 \in \Omega$ and that $\lim_{(t,x)\to(0,x_0)} u(t,x) = 0$.

The last application is a theorem of Liouville type. We say that a function u on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ is a global weak solution of

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} u - \operatorname{div} \left(A(t, x) D u \right) = 0, \tag{5.79}$$

if it is a weak solution of (5.79) in $(0, T) \times B(0, r)$ for all T > 0 and r > 0.

Corollary 5.7.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$. Assume that $A \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$ and that there exists $\nu > 0$ such that

$$\left(A(t,x)\xi|\xi\right)\geq\nu|\xi|^2,\quad for \ a.a.\ (t,x)\in\mathbb{R}_+\times\mathbb{R}^N,\ and\ all\ \xi\in\mathbb{R}^N.$$

Suppose that u is a global bounded weak solution of (5.79). Then u = 0 a.e. on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$.

Proof: For r > 0 and $x_0 = 0$ it follows from the proof of Theorem 5.7.2 that

$$\omega(0,r) \le \theta \omega(0,2r), \quad r > 0, \tag{5.80}$$

where $\theta \in (0, 1)$ is independent of r and u. By induction, (5.80) yields

$$\omega(0,r) \le \theta^n \omega(0,2^n r) \le 2\theta^n |u|_{L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)}, \quad r > 0, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Sending $n \to \infty$ shows that u is constant. The claim then follows by Theorem 5.7.2.
Chapter 6

Hölder estimates for weak solutions of fractional evolution equations

6.1 The main regularity theorem

Let T > 0 and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . The main purpose of this chapter is to study the regularity of weak solutions to fractional evolution equations of the form

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0) - D_i(a_{ij}(t, x)D_j u) = f, \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega.$$
(6.1)

Here $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $u_0 = u_0(x)$ is a given initial data for $u, A = (a_{ij}) \in L_{\infty}((0,T) \times \Omega; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$, and we use the sum convention.

We assume that

(H1) $A \in L_{\infty}(\Omega_T; \mathbb{R}^{N \times N})$, and

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{N} |a_{ij}(t,x)|^2 \le \Lambda^2, \quad \text{for a.a.} (t,x) \in \Omega_T.$$

(H2) There exists $\nu > 0$ such that

$$a_{ij}(t,x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \nu|\xi|^2$$
, for a.a. $(t,x) \in \Omega_T$, and all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

(H3) $u_0 \in L_{\infty}(\Omega); f \in L_r([0,T]; L_q(\Omega)), \text{ where } r, q \ge 1 \text{ fulfill}$

$$\frac{1}{\alpha r} + \frac{N}{2q} = 1 - \kappa,$$

and

$$r \in \left[\frac{1}{\alpha(1-\kappa)}, \infty\right], \ q \in \left[\frac{N}{2(1-\kappa)}, \infty\right], \ \kappa \in (0,1) \quad \text{for} \quad N \ge 2,$$

$$r \in \left[\frac{1}{\alpha(1-\kappa)}, \frac{2}{\alpha(1-2\kappa)}\right], \ q \in [1,\infty], \ \kappa \in \left(0, \frac{1}{2}\right) \quad \text{for} \quad N = 1.$$

For weak solutions we choose the same regularity class as in Chapter 5, thus u is a weak solution of (6.1) in Ω_T , if u belongs to the space

$$\mathcal{S}_{\alpha} = \{ v \in L_{2/(1-\alpha),w}([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)) \cap L_2([0,T]; H_2^1(\Omega)) \text{ such that} \\ g_{1-\alpha} * v \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)), \text{ and } (g_{1-\alpha} * v)|_{t=0} = 0 \},$$

and for any test function

$$\eta \in \mathring{H}_{2}^{1,1}(\Omega_{T}) = H_{2}^{1}([0,T]; L_{2}(\Omega)) \cap L_{2}([0,T]; \mathring{H}_{2}^{1}(\Omega))$$

with $\eta|_{t=T} = 0$ there holds

$$\int_0^T \int_\Omega \left(-\eta_t \left[g_{1-\alpha} * (u-u_0) \right] + a_{ij} D_j u D_i \eta \right) dx dt = \int_0^T \int_\Omega f \eta \, dx dt.$$

For $\beta_1, \beta_2 \in (0, 1)$ and $Q \subset \Omega_T$ we set

$$[u]_{C^{\beta_1,\beta_2}(Q)} := \sup_{(t,x),(s,y)\in Q,\,(t,x)\neq(s,y)} \Big\{ \frac{|u(t,x)-u(s,y)|}{|t-s|^{\beta_1}+|x-y|^{\beta_2}} \Big\}$$

The main regularity theorem reads as follows.

Theorem 6.1.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0 and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . Let the assumptions (H1)-(H3) be satisfied and suppose that $u \in S_{\alpha}$ is a bounded weak solution of (6.1) in Ω_T . Then there holds for any $Q \subset \Omega_T$ separated from Γ_T by a positive distance d,

$$[u]_{C^{\frac{\alpha\epsilon}{2},\epsilon}(\bar{Q})} \le C\Big(|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_{T})} + |u_{0}|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} + |f|_{L_{r}([0,T];L_{q}(\Omega))}\Big)$$

with positive constants $\epsilon = \epsilon(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \operatorname{diam} \Omega, \inf_{(\tau, z) \in Q} \tau)$ and $C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \operatorname{diam} \Omega, \lambda_{N+1}(Q), d).$

Theorem 6.1.1 gives an interior Hölder estimate for bounded weak solutions of (6.1) in terms of the data and the L_{∞} -bound of the solution. It can be viewed as the time fractional analogue of the classical parabolic version ($\alpha = 1$) of the well-known De Giorgi-Nash theorem on the Hölder continuity of weak solutions to elliptic equations in divergence form (De Giorgi [19], Nash [60]), see also [29],[34],[56] for the elliptic and [49],[51], as well as the seminal contributions by Moser [57],[58] for the parabolic case. In the non-divergence case corresponding results were obtained by Krylov and Safonov [47], [48]. Concerning parabolic degenerate and singular equations we refer to [20] and [23].

The significance of Theorem 6.1.1 lies among others in providing the key a priori estimate for certain quasilinear time fractional diffusion equations to establish global strong (or classical) well-posedness for these problems, see Chapter 7. In order to succeed there, we also have to find conditions which ensure Hölder continuity of weak solutions of (6.1) up to the parabolic boundary. This is achieved by means of Theorem 6.1.1 and suitable extensions to larger domains within the framework of maximal L_p -regularity, see Theorem 6.7.1.

The proof of Theorem 6.1.1, which is contained in Sections 6.2–6.5, relies on local a priori estimates, which are derived by means of the fundamental identity (2.6) for the regularized fractional derivative. In the proof we further use De Giorgi's technique (employed similarly as in [49, Section II.6 and Section V.10], see also [26]) combined with the method of *non-local growth lemmas*, which has been recently developed in [70] for integro-differential operators like the fractional Laplacian, see also [40]. Concerning growth lemmas for partial differential equations we also refer to the work of Landis [50]. The adaption of this method to equations with memory

requires an additional condition on the memory term, see (6.11) and (6.27) below, which naturally appears when shifting the time in the equation. To derive a suitable oscillation estimate for sequences of nested and shrinking cylinders exhibiting the natural scaling behaviour, we proceed by induction. The key idea here is to use the induction hypothesis, that is the oscillation estimate on all larger cylinders, to obtain the required estimate for the memory term.

As already pointed out, boundedness and the weak Harnack inequality, Theorem 5.1.1, are not strong enough for proving regularity of weak solutions. The different quality of the weak Harnack estimate and Theorem 6.1.1 is also reflected by the fact that nonnegative supersolutions of (6.1) are also nonnegative supersolutions of localizations of (6.1) when shifting the time, that is, the memory terms resulting from time-shifts have the right sign and can be dropped in the estimates, see Section 5.2. This is no longer possible in the case of the Hölder estimate, making the proof of the latter substantially more involved.

We further remark that Theorem 6.1.1 can be generalized without much effort to quasilinear equations of the form

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0) - D_i(a_i(t, x, u, Du)) = b(t, x, u, Du), \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega,$$

with appropriate structure conditions on the functions a_i and b, which correspond to the ones given in [49] in the case $\alpha = 1$.

6.2 A basic nonlocal growth lemma

We begin with the regularized weak formulation of (6.1). The proof is the same as for Lemma 4.2.1.

Lemma 6.2.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain. Suppose the assumptions (H1)–(H3) are satisfied. Then $u \in S_{\alpha}$ is a weak solution of (6.1) in Ω_T if and only if for any test function $\psi \in \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)$ and any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_t [g_{1-\alpha,n} * (u-u_0)] + \left(h_n * [a_{ij} D_j u] \right) D_i \psi \right) dx = \int_{\Omega} (h_n * f) \psi \, dx, \quad a.a. \ t \in (0,T).$$
(6.2)

In order to derive local (in time) estimates for (6.1) it is necessary, as in the two previous chapters, to shift the time in the equation, which gives rise to an additional history term. Let $T_0 \in (0, T)$ be fixed. For $t \in (T_0, T)$ we introduce the shifted time $s = t - T_0$ and set $\tilde{v}(s) = v(s + T_0)$, $s \in (0, T - T_0)$, for functions v defined on (T_0, T) . Arguing as in Section 5.2 it follows from (6.2) that for any test function $\psi \in \mathring{H}^1_2(\Omega)$

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}) + \left(h_n * [a_{ij} D_j u] \right)^{\sim} D_i \psi \right) dx = \int_{\Omega} \left((h_n * f)^{\sim} + \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s) u_0(x) \right) \psi(x) dx + \int_{\Omega} \psi(x) \int_0^{T_0} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s+T_0-\tau) \right] u(\tau,x) d\tau dx,$$
(6.3)

for a.a. $s \in (0, T - T_0)$.

Let now u be a bounded weak solution of (6.1) and $(t_1, x_1) \in (0, T] \times \Omega$ be a fixed point. We consider the cylinders

$$Q(\rho) := Q(t_1, x_1, \theta, \rho) = (t_1 - \theta \rho^{2/\alpha}, t_1) \times B_{\rho}(x_1),$$

with scaling parameter $\rho > 0$ and parameter $\theta > 0$. We also write $B_{\rho} = B_{\rho}(x_1)$ for short.

Suppose $Q(2\rho) \subset \Omega_T$, that is $\rho \leq \rho_0 := \max\{1, \operatorname{diam} \Omega/4\}$. We put

$$t_0 = t_1 - \theta(2\rho)^{2/\alpha}, \quad \bar{t} = t_1 - \theta\theta_1 \rho^{2/\alpha}, \quad \theta_1 \in (1, 2^{2/\alpha}),$$

and assume that $t_0 \ge \tau_0$, where $\tau_0 \in (0, T)$ is a fixed number.

Let $\sigma_1 \in (0,1)$ and $k \in \mathbb{R}$. For $t \in (0,t_1)$ we choose in (6.2) the test function $\psi = (u-k)_+ \eta^2$ with $\eta \in C_0^1(\Omega)$ so that $0 \le \eta \le 1$, $\eta = 1$ in $B_{(1-\sigma_1)\rho}$, supp $\eta \subset B_\rho$, and $|D\eta| \le 2/(\sigma_1\rho)$. We have

$$D\psi = \eta^2 D(u-k)_{+} + 2\eta D\eta \, (u-k)_{+},$$

and thus by substitution into (6.2) and inequality (2.7) we obtain

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \eta^{2} \partial_{t} [g_{1-\alpha,n} * (u-k)_{+}^{2}] + \frac{1}{2} \eta^{2} g_{1-\alpha,n} (u-k)_{+}^{2} \right) dx
+ \int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} (h_{n} * [a_{ij}D_{j}u]) D_{i}(u-k)_{+} dx \leq - \int_{B_{\rho}} 2\eta D_{i} \eta (h_{n} * [a_{ij}D_{j}u]) (u-k)_{+} dx
+ \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(h_{n} * f + g_{1-\alpha,n} (u_{0}-k) \right) \eta^{2} (u-k)_{+} dx,$$
(6.4)

for a.a. $t \in (0, t_1)$. Since

$$(u_0 - k)(u - k)_+ \le \frac{1}{2}(u_0 - k)^2 + \frac{1}{2}(u - k)_+^2,$$

it follows that

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \eta^{2} \partial_{t} [g_{1-\alpha,n} * (u-k)_{+}^{2}] + \eta^{2} (h_{n} * [a_{ij}D_{j}u]) D_{i}(u-k)_{+} \right) dx$$

$$\leq \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(-2\eta D_{i}\eta (h_{n} * [a_{ij}D_{j}u])(u-k)_{+} + (h_{n} * f)\eta^{2}(u-k)_{+} \right) dx$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} g_{1-\alpha,n}(u_{0}-k)^{2} dx, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (0,t_{1}).$$
(6.5)

Suppose now that $t \in (\bar{t}, t_1)$ and shift the time by setting $s = t - \bar{t}$. Employing the same notation as in (6.3) with $T_0 = \bar{t}$, that is $\tilde{v}(s) = v(s + \bar{t})$ for functions v defined on (\bar{t}, T) , we have

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \eta^{2} \partial_{s} [g_{1-\alpha,n} * (\tilde{u}-k)_{+}^{2}] + \eta^{2} (h_{n} * [a_{ij}D_{j}u])^{\tilde{}} D_{i}(\tilde{u}-k)_{+} \right) dx \\
\leq \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(-2\eta D_{i}\eta (h_{n} * a_{ij}D_{j}u)^{\tilde{}}(\tilde{u}-k)_{+} + (h_{n} * f)^{\tilde{}} \eta^{2}(\tilde{u}-k)_{+} \right) dx \\
+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(\eta^{2} \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (u_{0}-k)^{2} + \eta^{2} \tilde{H}_{k,n} \right) dx, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_{1}-\bar{t}), \quad (6.6)$$

where

$$H_{k,n}(t,x) = \int_0^t [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)](u(\tau,x)-k)_+^2 d\tau, \ t \in (\bar{t},t_1), \ x \in \Omega.$$

We next convolve (6.6) with g_{α} and observe that in view of

$$g_{1-\alpha,n} * (\tilde{u}-k)^2_+ \in {}_0H_1^1([0,t_1-\bar{t}];L_1(\Omega))$$

and $g_{1-\alpha,n} = g_{\alpha} * h_n$ we have

$$g_{\alpha} * \partial_s \left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * (\tilde{u} - k)_+^2 \right) = \partial_s \left(g_{\alpha} * g_{1-\alpha,n} * (\tilde{u} - k)_+^2 \right) = h_n * (\tilde{u} - k)_+^2.$$

Sending then $n \to \infty$ and selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} (\tilde{u} - k)_{+}^{2} dx + g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_{j} \tilde{u} D_{i} (\tilde{u} - k)_{+} dx$$

$$\leq g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(-2\eta D_{i} \eta \, \tilde{a}_{ij} D_{j} \tilde{u} (\tilde{u} - k)_{+} + \tilde{f} \eta^{2} (\tilde{u} - k)_{+} \right) dx$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} \left(\tilde{g}_{1-\alpha} (u_{0} - k)^{2} + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha} (\bar{t} + \cdot - \tau)] (u(\tau, x) - k)_{+}^{2} d\tau \right) dx, \quad (6.7)$$

for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - \overline{t})$. Note that by boundedness of u, the last integral in (6.7) is well-defined. By (H2), we have

$$\int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_{j} \tilde{u} D_{i} (\tilde{u} - k)_{+} dx = \int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_{j} (\tilde{u} - k)_{+} D_{i} (\tilde{u} - k)_{+} dx$$
$$\geq \nu \int_{B_{\rho}} \eta^{2} |D(\tilde{u} - k)_{+}|^{2} dx.$$

(H1) and Young's inequality imply that

$$2\eta |D_i\eta| \, |\tilde{a}_{ij}| \, |D_j\tilde{u}|(\tilde{u}-k)_+ \le \nu \, \eta^2 |D(\tilde{u}-k)_+|^2 + \frac{\Lambda^2}{\nu} \, |D\eta|^2 (\tilde{u}-k)_+^2.$$

From these relations, relation (6.7), and the properties of η we deduce that

$$\int_{B_{(1-\sigma_{1})\rho}} (\tilde{u}-k)_{+}^{2} dx \leq g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(\frac{8\Lambda^{2}}{\nu(\sigma_{1}\rho)^{2}} (\tilde{u}-k)_{+}^{2} + 2|\tilde{f}|(\tilde{u}-k)_{+}\right) dx
+ g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \left(\tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}(u_{0}-k)^{2} + \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\cdot-\tau)] (u(\tau,x)-k)_{+}^{2} d\tau \right) dx, \quad (6.8)$$

a.e. in $(0, t_1 - \bar{t})$. This estimate is the starting point for the following nonlocal growth lemma. We set

$$\begin{aligned} A_{k,\rho}(t) &= \{ x \in B_{\rho} : u(t,x) > k \}, \quad t \in (t_0,t_1), \\ \tilde{A}_{k,\rho}(s) &= \{ x \in B_{\rho} : \tilde{u}(s,x) > k \}, \quad s \in (0,t_1-\bar{t}), \end{aligned}$$

and introduce the number

$$t_* = t_1 - \theta \theta_2 \rho^{2/\alpha}, \quad \theta_2 \in (1, \theta_1).$$

Proposition 6.2.1 Let u be a bounded weak solution of (6.1) and $M_0 = |u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)}$. Suppose further that the above assumptions are satisfied. Let $M = \text{ess sup}_{Q(2\rho)} u$ and $|k| \leq M_0$. Then there exist constants $1 < \theta_2 < \theta_1 < 2^{2/\alpha}$, $\mu, \xi, \sigma_1, \beta \in (0, 1)$, and $\theta, \gamma_0 > 0$ that depend only on $\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \tau_0, \rho_0, M_0, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))}$ and are such that for any $\gamma \in (0, \gamma_0]$ the following implication holds true: If

$$\max\{\mu(M-k), \rho^{\kappa}\} < \underset{[t_0,t_1] \times B_{\rho}}{\operatorname{ess \, sup}} u - k =: Z_k \tag{6.9}$$

and

$$\lambda_{N+1}\Big(\{(t,x)\in(t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{\rho}:\,u(t,x)\geq k\}\Big)\leq\frac{1}{2}\,\lambda_{N+1}\Big((t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{\rho}\Big),\tag{6.10}$$

 $as \ well \ as$

$$u(t,x) - k \le (M-k) \Big(2 \Big[2^{2/\alpha} (\frac{t_1 - t}{t_1 - t_0}) \Big]^{\gamma} - 1 \Big), \quad a.a. \ (t,x) \in (0,t_0) \times B_{\rho}, \tag{6.11}$$

then

$$\lambda_N \Big(A_{k+\xi Z_k,\rho}(t) \Big) \le \beta \lambda_N(B_\rho), \quad a.a. \ t \in (t_*, t_1).$$
(6.12)

Proof. Let $\xi \in (0,1)$ and suppose that $t \in (t_*, t_1)$, i.e. $s \in (t_* - \overline{t}, t_1 - \overline{t})$. Then

$$\lambda_N \Big(\tilde{A}_{k+\xi Z_k,\rho}(s) \Big) \leq \lambda_N \Big(\tilde{A}_{k+\xi Z_k,(1-\sigma_1)\rho}(s) \Big) + \lambda_N (B_\rho) - \lambda_N (B_{(1-\sigma_1)\rho}) \\ \leq \lambda_N \Big(\tilde{A}_{k+\xi Z_k,(1-\sigma_1)\rho}(s) \Big) + \sigma_1 N \lambda_N (B_\rho).$$
(6.13)

By the definition of Z_k , which is positive, by assumption (6.9), we have

$$(\xi Z_k)^2 \lambda_N \Big(\tilde{A}_{k+\xi Z_k, (1-\sigma_1)\rho}(s) \Big) \le \int_{\tilde{A}_{k,(1-\sigma_1)\rho}(s)} (\tilde{u}-k)^2 \, dx.$$

This, together with (6.8), yields that

$$\lambda_{N} \Big(\tilde{A}_{k+\xi Z_{k},(1-\sigma_{1})\rho}(s) \Big) \leq \frac{8\Lambda^{2}}{\nu(\xi Z_{k})^{2}(\sigma_{1}\rho)^{2}} g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} (\tilde{u}-k)^{2}_{+} dx + \frac{2}{(\xi Z_{k})^{2}} g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} |\tilde{f}|(\tilde{u}-k)_{+} dx + \frac{1}{(\xi Z_{k})^{2}} g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}(u_{0}-k)^{2} dx + \frac{1}{(\xi Z_{k})^{2}} g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \int_{0}^{t_{0}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\cdot-\tau)] (u(\tau,x)-k)^{2}_{+} d\tau dx + \frac{1}{(\xi Z_{k})^{2}} g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \int_{t_{0}}^{\bar{t}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\cdot-\tau)] (u(\tau,x)-k)^{2}_{+} d\tau dx =: \mathcal{M}_{1} + \mathcal{M}_{2} + \mathcal{M}_{3} + \mathcal{M}_{4} + \mathcal{M}_{5}.$$
(6.14)

We now estimate the \mathcal{M}_i terms one after the other. Evidently,

$$\mathcal{M}_{1} \leq \frac{C(\Lambda,\nu)}{(\xi\sigma_{1}\rho)^{2}} g_{1+\alpha}(s)\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho}) \leq \frac{C(\Lambda,\nu)}{(\xi\sigma_{1}\rho)^{2}} g_{1+\alpha}(t_{1}-\bar{t})\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})$$
$$\leq \frac{C(\Lambda,\nu,\alpha)}{(\xi\sigma_{1}\rho)^{2}} \left(\theta\theta_{1}\rho^{2/\alpha}\right)^{\alpha}\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho}) \leq C_{1}(\Lambda,\nu,\alpha) \frac{\theta^{\alpha}}{(\xi\sigma_{1})^{2}} \lambda_{N}(B_{\rho}).$$
(6.15)

Using (H3), (6.9), and Hölder's inequality, we have with $q^\prime=q/(q-1)$

$$\mathcal{M}_{2} \leq \frac{4M_{0}}{\Gamma(\alpha)(\xi Z_{k})^{2}} \int_{0}^{s} (s-\tau)^{(\alpha-1)} |\tilde{f}(\tau,\cdot)|_{L_{q}(B_{\rho})} d\tau \lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})^{\frac{1}{q'}}$$

$$\leq \frac{C(\alpha,r)M_{0}s^{\alpha-\frac{1}{r}}}{(\xi Z_{k})^{2}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_{r}([0,t_{1}-\bar{t}];L_{q}(B_{\rho}))}\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})^{\frac{1}{q'}}$$

$$\leq \frac{C(\alpha,r,|f|_{L_{r}(L_{q})})M_{0}}{\xi^{2}\rho^{2\kappa}} (\theta\theta_{1}\rho^{2/\alpha})^{\alpha-\frac{1}{r}}\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})^{1-\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\leq C(\alpha,r,q,N,|f|_{L_{r}(L_{q})})M_{0}\frac{\theta^{\alpha-\frac{1}{r}}}{\xi^{2}}\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho}).$$
(6.16)

Further,

$$\mathcal{M}_{3} \leq \frac{|u_{0} - k|^{2}_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}}{(\xi Z_{k})^{2}} \lambda_{N}(B_{\rho}) \int_{0}^{s} g_{\alpha}(s - \sigma)g_{1-\alpha}(\sigma + \bar{t}) d\sigma$$

$$\leq \frac{|u_{0} - k|^{2}_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}}{\xi^{2}\rho^{2\kappa}} \lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})g_{1-\alpha}(\tau_{0})g_{1+\alpha}(t_{1} - \bar{t})$$

$$\leq C(\alpha, \tau_{0}, \rho_{0}) \left(M_{0}^{2} + |u_{0}|^{2}_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}\right) \frac{\theta^{\alpha}}{\xi^{2}} \lambda_{N}(B_{\rho}).$$
(6.17)

We come now to the short-term memory term \mathcal{M}_5 . By means of assumption (6.10) and the fact that $-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}$ is positive and decreasing, we may estimate for $\sigma \in (0, t_1 - \bar{t})$,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{t_0}^{\bar{t}} \int_{B_{\rho}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\sigma-\tau)] \left(u(\tau,x) - k \right)_{+}^2 dx d\tau \le Z_k^2 \int_{t_0}^{\bar{t}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\sigma-\tau)] \lambda_N(A_{k,\rho}(\tau)) d\tau \\ &\le Z_k^2 \lambda_N(B_{\rho}) \int_{\frac{t_0+\bar{t}}{2}}^{\bar{t}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\sigma-\tau)] d\tau \le Z_k^2 \lambda_N(B_{\rho}) \Big(g_{1-\alpha}(\sigma) - g_{1-\alpha}(\sigma+\frac{\bar{t}-t_0}{2}) \Big). \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\mathcal{M}_{5} \leq \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{\xi^{2}} \int_{0}^{s} g_{\alpha}(s-\sigma) \Big(g_{1-\alpha}(\sigma) - g_{1-\alpha}(\sigma + \frac{\bar{t} - t_{0}}{2}) \Big) d\sigma$$

$$= \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{\xi^{2}} \Big(1 - \int_{0}^{1} g_{\alpha}(1-\varsigma) g_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{\bar{t} - t_{0}}{2s}) d\varsigma \Big)$$

$$\leq \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{\xi^{2}} \Big(1 - \int_{0}^{1} g_{\alpha}(1-\varsigma) g_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{\bar{t} - t_{0}}{2(t_{*} - \bar{t})}) d\varsigma \Big)$$

$$= \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{\xi^{2}} \Big(1 - \int_{0}^{1} g_{\alpha}(1-\varsigma) g_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{2^{2/\alpha} - \theta_{1}}{2(\theta_{1} - \theta_{2})}) d\varsigma \Big). \tag{6.18}$$

For the long-term memory term \mathcal{M}_4 we use the assumptions (6.9), (6.11). For a.a. $\sigma \in (0, t_1 - \bar{t})$ we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{B_{\rho}} \int_{0}^{t_{0}} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\sigma-\tau) \right] (u(\tau,x)-k)_{+}^{2} d\tau \, dx \\ &\leq \frac{Z_{k}^{2} \lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{\mu^{2}} \int_{0}^{t_{0}} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\bar{t}+\sigma-\tau) \right] \left(2 \left[2^{2/\alpha} (\frac{t_{1}-\tau}{t_{1}-t_{0}}) \right]^{\gamma} - 1 \right)^{2} d\tau \\ &\leq \frac{Z_{k}^{2} \lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{\mu^{2}} \left(t_{1}-t_{0} \right) \int_{1}^{\infty} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\sigma+\bar{t}-t_{1}+\tau(t_{1}-t_{0})) \right] \left(2 [2^{2/\alpha}\tau]^{\gamma} - 1 \right)^{2} d\tau. \end{split}$$

Observe that the last integral is finite provided that $2\gamma < \alpha$. We will assume this in what follows. Setting

$$\psi_{\gamma}(\tau) = 2[2^{2/\alpha}\tau]^{\gamma} - 1, \quad \tau \ge 1,$$

we then obtain

$$\mathcal{M}_{4} \leq \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{(\mu\xi)^{2}} (t_{1} - t_{0}) \int_{0}^{s} g_{\alpha}(s - \sigma) \int_{1}^{\infty} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\sigma + \bar{t} - t_{1} + \tau(t_{1} - t_{0})) \right] \psi_{\gamma}^{2}(\tau) d\tau d\sigma$$

$$= \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{(\mu\xi)^{2}} \cdot \frac{t_{1} - t_{0}}{s} \int_{0}^{1} g_{\alpha}(1 - \varsigma) \int_{1}^{\infty} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{\bar{t} - t_{1} + \tau(t_{1} - t_{0})}{s}) \right] \psi_{\gamma}^{2}(\tau) d\tau d\varsigma$$

$$= \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})(t_{1} - t_{0})}{(\mu\xi)^{2}s} \int_{0}^{1} g_{\alpha}(1 - \varsigma) \int_{1}^{\infty} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{\bar{t} - t_{1} + \tau(t_{1} - t_{0})}{s}) \right] (\psi_{\gamma}^{2}(\tau) - 1) d\tau d\varsigma$$

$$+ \frac{\lambda_{N}(B_{\rho})}{(\mu\xi)^{2}} \int_{0}^{1} g_{\alpha}(1 - \varsigma) g_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{\bar{t} - t_{0}}{s}) d\varsigma =: \mathcal{M}_{4,1} + \mathcal{M}_{4,2}. \tag{6.19}$$

To estimate the second term we use the monotonicity of $g_{1-\alpha}$ and $s \leq t_1 - \bar{t}$, thereby getting

$$\mathcal{M}_{4,2} \le \frac{\lambda_N(B_\rho)}{(\mu\xi)^2} \int_0^1 g_\alpha(1-\varsigma)g_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{2^{2/\alpha} - \theta_1}{\theta_1}) \, d\varsigma. \tag{6.20}$$

For $\mathcal{M}_{4,1}$ we need both the lower and the upper bound for s. We conclude that

$$\mathcal{M}_{4,1} \le \frac{2^{2/\alpha} \lambda_N(B_{\rho})}{(\mu\xi)^2(\theta_1 - \theta_2)} \int_0^1 g_{\alpha}(1 - \varsigma) \int_1^\infty \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{2^{2/\alpha} \tau - \theta_1}{\theta_1}) \right] \left(\psi_{\gamma}^2(\tau) - 1 \right) d\tau d\varsigma.$$
(6.21)

Combining (6.13) – (6.21) and enlarging \mathcal{M}_5 by the factor $1/\mu^2$ we obtain with some constant

$$C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \tau_0, \rho_0, M_0, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, |f|_{L_r(L_q)})$$

the inequality

$$\begin{split} \lambda_N \Big(\tilde{A}_{k+\xi Z_k,\rho}(s) \Big) &\leq \lambda_N(B_\rho) \Big\{ \sigma_1 N + C \Big[\frac{\theta^{\alpha}}{(\xi \sigma_1)^2} + \frac{\theta^{\alpha - \frac{1}{r}}}{\xi^2} + \frac{\theta^{\alpha}}{\xi^2} \Big] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\mu^2 \xi^2} \Big[1 - \int_0^1 g_{\alpha} (1-\varsigma) \Big(g_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{2^{2/\alpha} - \theta_1}{2(\theta_1 - \theta_2)}) - g_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{2^{2/\alpha} - \theta_1}{\theta_1}) \Big) \, d\varsigma \Big] \\ &+ \frac{2^{2/\alpha}}{(\theta_1 - \theta_2)\mu^2 \xi^2} \int_0^1 g_{\alpha} (1-\varsigma) \int_1^{\infty} \Big[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\varsigma + \frac{2^{2/\alpha} \tau - \theta_1}{\theta_1}) \Big] \, \big(\psi_{\gamma}^2(\tau) - 1) \, d\tau d\varsigma \Big\} \\ &=: \lambda_N(B_\rho) \Big(\sigma_1 N + \beta_1(\theta, \xi, \sigma_1) + \beta_2(\theta_1, \theta_2, \mu, \xi) + \beta_3(\theta_1, \theta_2, \mu, \xi, \gamma) \Big). \end{split}$$

Observe that the integral occurring in β_2 is strictly positive if and only if

$$\frac{2^{2/\alpha} - \theta_1}{2(\theta_1 - \theta_2)} < \frac{2^{2/\alpha} - \theta_1}{\theta_1}, \qquad (6.22)$$

by monotonicity of $g_{1-\alpha}$. (6.22) is equivalent to the condition $2\theta_2 < \theta_1$, which can be satisfied by suitable θ_1 , θ_2 subject to $1 < \theta_2 < \theta_1 < 2^{2/\alpha}$. Notice as well that with $\xi, \sigma_1, \mu, \theta_1, \theta_2$ being fixed, we have $\beta_1 \to 0$ as $\theta \to 0$, and $\beta_3 \to 0$ as $\gamma \to 0$. The last assertion follows from Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem.

We will now fix the parameters as follows. 1. Choose θ_1 and θ_2 such that $2 < 2\theta_2 < \theta_1 < 2^{2/\alpha}$. 2. Select then $\xi, \mu \in (0, 1)$ both close enough to 1 so that $\beta_2(\theta_1, \theta_2, \mu, \xi) < 1$. 3. Choose $\sigma_1 > 0$ sufficiently small so that $\sigma_1 N + \beta_2(\theta_1, \theta_2, \mu, \xi) < 1$. 4. Finally fix sufficiently small $\theta > 0$ and $\gamma_0 \in (0, \alpha/2)$ such that

$$\beta := \sigma_1 N + \beta_1(\theta, \xi, \sigma_1) + \beta_2(\theta_1, \theta_2, \mu, \xi) + \beta_3(\theta_1, \theta_2, \mu, \xi, \gamma_0) < 1.$$

Since β_3 is non-increasing in γ , the assertion of the proposition follows immediately.

Remark 6.2.1 Note that the assertion of Proposition 6.2.1 remains valid when equation (6.1) has a second term on the right-hand side of the form $-D_i g^i$, where $|g|^2 \in L_r([0,T]; L_q(\Omega))$. In fact, this would result in the additional term

$$g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \tilde{g}^{i} D_{i} \psi \, dx = g_{\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho}} \tilde{g}^{i} \left(\eta^{2} D_{i} (u-k)_{+} + 2\eta (u-k)_{+} D_{i} \eta \right) \, dx$$

on the right of (6.7). Using $\tilde{g}^i D_i(u-k)_+ \leq \epsilon_0 |D(u-k)_+|^2 + C(\epsilon_0)|\tilde{g}|^2$ with sufficiently small $\epsilon_0 > 0$ the term containing $|D(u-k)_+|^2$ can be absorbed and the $|\tilde{g}|^2$ -term is estimated similarly as the \tilde{f} -term above. Further, $\tilde{g}^i \eta(u-k)_+ D_i \eta$ can be estimated by Young's inequality, too, leading to suitable terms.

From now on we will assume that

(P) The set of parameters θ , θ_1 , θ_2 , μ , ξ , σ_1 , β , γ_0 is fixed such that the implication of Proposition 6.2.1 holds true.

Recall that $M = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{Q(2\rho)} u$. Let $m = \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{Q(2\rho)} u$ and $\overline{m} = (M+m)/2$. Suppose u satisfies (6.9), (6.10), and (6.11) for $k = \overline{m}$. Then, by Proposition 6.2.1,

$$\lambda_N \Big(A_{\bar{m}+\xi Z_{\bar{m}},\rho}(t) \Big) \le \beta \lambda_N(B_{\rho}), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (t_*,t_1).$$

Consequently,

$$\lambda_N \Big(\{ x \in B_\rho : u(t, x) - \bar{m} \le \xi(M - \bar{m}) \} \Big) \ge \lambda_N \Big(\{ x \in B_\rho : u(t, x) - \bar{m} \le \xi Z_{\bar{m}}) \} \Big) \\\ge (1 - \beta) \lambda_N(B_\rho), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (t_*, t_1).$$
(6.23)

Consider then in $(t_*, t_1) \times B_{2\rho}$ the function

$$v = \log\left(\frac{(1-\xi)(M-\bar{m})}{M-u+\varepsilon(M-\bar{m})+\rho^{\kappa}}\right),\tag{6.24}$$

where $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ is a parameter. Observe that we have $v \leq 0$ whenever $u - \bar{m} \leq \xi(M - \bar{m})$. In view of (6.23), the set of points in B_{ρ} for which this holds constitutes a certain portion of B_{ρ} , for a.a. $t \in (t_*, t_1)$. This property will later allow us to apply the weighted Poincaré inequality, Proposition 2.6.2, with suitable weight to v_+ in $(t_*, t_1) \times B_{2\rho}$.

Notice as well that the estimate

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{Q(\rho)} v \le M_1 \tag{6.25}$$

(with $M_1 \ge 0$ independent of ρ, ε) implies the inequality

$$u \le M - [e^{-M_1}(1-\xi) - \varepsilon](M - \bar{m}) + \rho^{\kappa}$$
 a.e. in $Q(\rho)$.

Setting $\omega(\rho) = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{Q(\rho)} u - \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{Q(\rho)} u$ and choosing ε sufficiently small, it follows that

$$\tilde{\mu} := \max\left\{1 - e^{-M_1}(1-\xi)/2 + \varepsilon/2, (1+\mu)/2\right\} \in (1/2, 1)$$

and

$$\omega(\rho) \le \tilde{\mu}\omega(2\rho) + \rho^{\kappa}. \tag{6.26}$$

If the condition (6.9) with $k = \bar{m}$ is violated, then

$$\omega(\rho) \le \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{[t_0, t_1] \times B_{\rho}} u - m \le \mu(M - \bar{m}) + \bar{m} - m + \rho^{\kappa} = \frac{\mu + 1}{2} (M - m) + \rho^{\kappa},$$

and hence the oscillation estimate(6.26) holds in this case as well.

Our next objective is to establish (6.25). We proceed in two steps. First we derive an L_2 estimate for v on a slightly larger cylinder. Using De Giorgi's iteration technique this estimate
then allows us to establish a sup-bound for v on $Q(\rho)$.



6.3 An L_2 -estimate for v on a cylinder containing $Q(\rho)$

Let $\tilde{t} = t_1 - \theta \theta_3 \rho^{2/\alpha}$ with $\theta_3 \in (1, \theta_2)$ being fixed. Our goal is to derive an L_2 -estimate for v on the cylinder $(\tilde{t}, t_1) \times B_{3\rho/2}(x_1)$.

Proposition 6.3.1 Let $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ and u be a bounded weak solution of (6.1). Suppose that the assumptions formulated at the beginning of Section 6.2 are satisfied. Suppose that (P) holds and that the conditions (6.9) and (6.10) are satisfied with $k = \overline{m}$. Suppose further that

$$u(t,x) - \bar{m} \le (M - \bar{m}) \Big(2 \Big[2^{2/\alpha} (\frac{t_1 - t}{t_1 - t_0}) \Big]^{\gamma} - 1 \Big), \quad a.a. \ (t,x) \in (0,t_0) \times B_{2\rho}, \tag{6.27}$$

where $\gamma \in (0, \gamma_0]$ is such that

$$\varepsilon \ge \varepsilon_{\gamma} := \int_{1}^{\infty} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha} (\sigma - \frac{\theta_2}{2^{2/\alpha}}) \right] (\psi_{\gamma}(\sigma) - 1) \, d\sigma.$$
(6.28)

Then

$$\int_{\tilde{t}}^{t_1} \int_{B_{\frac{3\rho}{2}}} v(t,x)^2 \, dx \, dt \leq C \, \rho^{N+\frac{2}{\alpha}}$$

where $C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \tau_0, \rho_0, \xi, \beta, \theta, \theta_2, \theta_3, M_0, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))})$, in particular C does not depend on ρ, ε , and γ .

Proof. Let $t \in (t_*, t_1)$ and shift the time by setting $s = t - t_*$. Letting $u_{\bar{m}} = u - \bar{m}$ and using the same notation as in (6.3) with $T_0 = t_*$, we have for all $\psi \in \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)$,

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) + (h_n * [a_{ij}D_j u]) \tilde{D}_i \psi \right) dx = \int_{\Omega} \left((h_n * f) \tilde{f} + \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (u_0 - \bar{m}) + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n} \right) \psi \, dx, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t_*), \tag{6.29}$$

where

$$\mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}(t,x) = \int_0^{t_*} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)](u(\tau,x) - \bar{m}) \, d\tau, \ t \in (t_*,t_1), \ x \in \Omega.$$

Define

$$\Phi(y) = -\log\left(\frac{(1+\varepsilon)(M-\bar{m}) - y + \rho^{\kappa}}{(1-\xi)(M-\bar{m})}\right), \quad y \in [m-\bar{m}, M-\bar{m}].$$
(6.30)

Then Φ is bounded and

$$\Phi(y) \ge -\log\left(\frac{4}{1-\xi}\right) =: -C_{\infty},\tag{6.31}$$

since (6.9) with $k = \bar{m}$ implies

$$\rho^{\kappa} < Z_{\bar{m}} \le M - \bar{m}.$$

We further have

$$\Phi'(y) = \frac{1}{(1+\varepsilon)(M-\bar{m}) - y + \rho^{\kappa}}$$

and

$$\Phi''(y) = \frac{1}{((1+\varepsilon)(M-\bar{m}) - y + \rho^{\kappa})^2} = \Phi'(y)^2 > 0,$$

for all $y \in [m - \bar{m}, M - \bar{m}]$. In particular, Φ is a convex function.

For $s \in (0, t_1 - t_*)$ we choose in (6.29) the test function $\psi = \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})w^2$ with $w \in C_0^1(B_{2\rho})$ such that $\operatorname{supp} w \subset B_{2\rho}$, w = 1 in $B_{3\rho/2}$, $0 \le w \le 1$, $|Dw| \le 4/\rho$, and the domains $\{x \in B_{2\rho} : w(x)^2 \ge c\}$ are convex for all $c \le 1$.

By the fundamental identity (2.6) and since $\tilde{v} = \Phi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})$, we have (with the spatial variable x being suppressed)

$$\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s))\partial_{s}(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(s) = \partial_{s}\left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \Phi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\right)(s) + \left(-\Phi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s)) + \tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s)\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s))\right)g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) \\
+ \int_{0}^{s} \left(\Phi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s-\sigma)) - \Phi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s)) - \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s))[\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s-\sigma) - \tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s)]\right)[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(\sigma)] d\sigma \\
\geq \partial_{s}\left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{v}\right)(s) + \left(-\tilde{v}(s) - 1 + (M - \bar{m})\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}(s))\right)g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) \\
+ \int_{0}^{s} \Upsilon(\tilde{v}(s) - \tilde{v}(s-\sigma))[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(\sigma)] d\sigma,$$
(6.32)

where $\Upsilon(y) = e^y - 1 - y, y \in \mathbb{R}$.

We next consider the history term on the right of (6.29). We write

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}(t,x) &= \int_0^{t_0} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)](u(\tau,x)-\bar{m})\,d\tau + \int_{t_0}^{t_*} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)](u(\tau,x)-\bar{m})\,d\tau \\ &=: \mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}^{(1)}(t,x) + \mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}^{(2)}(t,x). \end{aligned}$$

Since $u \leq M$ in $Q(2\rho)$, the short-term memory term can be estimated as follows.

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n}^{(2)}(s,x) \le (M-\bar{m})[g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) - g_{1-\alpha,n}(s+t_*-t_0)], \quad \text{a.a.} \ (s,x) \in (0,t_1-t_*) \times B_{2\rho}. \ (6.33)$$

Thanks to (6.27) we further have

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n}^{(1)}(s,x) \leq (M-\bar{m}) \int_{0}^{t_{0}} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s+t_{*}-\tau) \right] \left(\psi_{\gamma} \left(\frac{t_{1}-\tau}{t_{1}-t_{0}} \right) - 1 \right) d\tau \\
+ (M-\bar{m}) \int_{0}^{t_{0}} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s+t_{*}-\tau) \right] d\tau \\
\leq \varepsilon_{\gamma,n} (M-\bar{m}) (t_{1}-t_{0})^{-\alpha} + (M-\bar{m}) g_{1-\alpha,n}(s+t_{*}-t_{0}),$$
(6.34)

for a.a. $(s, x) \in (0, t_1 - t_*) \times B_{2\rho}$, where

$$\varepsilon_{\gamma,n} = (t_1 - t_0)^{1+\alpha} \int_1^{\frac{t_0}{t_1 - t_0}} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (t_* - t_1 + \sigma(t_1 - t_0)) \right] \left(\psi_{\gamma}(\sigma) - 1 \right) d\sigma.$$
(6.35)

By means of integration by parts and the approximation property of the kernels h_n one verifies that as $n \to \infty$,

$$\varepsilon_{\gamma,n} \to \varepsilon_{\gamma,\infty} := \int_{1}^{\frac{t_0}{t_1 - t_0}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\sigma - \frac{\theta_2}{2^{2/\alpha}})](\psi_{\gamma}(\sigma) - 1) \, d\sigma$$
$$\leq \int_{1}^{\infty} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\sigma - \frac{\theta_2}{2^{2/\alpha}})](\psi_{\gamma}(\sigma) - 1) \, d\sigma = \varepsilon_{\gamma}. \tag{6.36}$$

Setting

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_n(s) &= \int_{B_{2\rho}} \left((h_n * f) \tilde{} - \tilde{f} + (u_0 - \bar{m}) (\tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n} - \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}) \right) \psi \, dx \\ &+ \int_{B_{2\rho}} \left((\varepsilon_{\gamma,n} - \varepsilon_{\gamma,\infty}) (M - \bar{m}) (t_1 - t_0)^{-\alpha} \psi + \left[\tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{u} - (h_n * [a_{ij} D_j u]) \tilde{} \right] D_i \psi \right) dx, \end{aligned}$$

for $s \in (0, t_1 - t_*)$, it follows from (6.29), (6.32), (6.33), (6.34), and (6.36) that with $\psi = \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})w^2$

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \Big(\partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{v}) - (\tilde{v}+1)g_{1-\alpha,n} \Big) dx
+ \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \int_0^s \Upsilon(\tilde{v}(s,x) - \tilde{v}(s-\sigma,x)) [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(\sigma)] d\sigma dx + \int_{B_{2\rho}} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{u} D_i \psi dx
\leq \int_{B_{2\rho}} \Big(\tilde{f} + (u_0 - \bar{m}) \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha} + \varepsilon_\gamma (M - \bar{m}) (t_1 - t_0)^{-\alpha} \Big) \psi dx + \mathcal{R}_n(s),$$
(6.37)

for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t_*)$.

By (H1), (H2), and since $D\tilde{v} = \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})D\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}$ and $\Phi''(y) = \Phi'(y)^2$, we have

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{u} D_i \psi \, dx = \int_{B_{2\rho}} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{u} \Big(w^2 \Phi''(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) D_i \tilde{u}_{\bar{m}} + 2w \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) D_i w \Big) \, dx \\
= \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{v} D_i \tilde{v} \, dx + 2 \int_{B_{2\rho}} w \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{v} D_i w \, dx \\
\ge \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 |D\tilde{v}|^2 \, dx - \frac{2\Lambda^2}{\nu} \int_{B_{2\rho}} |Dw|^2 \, dx \\
\ge \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 |D\tilde{v}|^2 \, dx - C(\nu, \Lambda, N) \rho^{N-2}, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t_*).$$
(6.38)

Since u satisfies (6.23), we may apply Proposition 2.6.2 with weight w^2 to \tilde{v}_+ in $B_{2\rho}$ pointwise for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t_*)$. In view of $\tilde{v}^2 \leq (\tilde{v}_+)^2 + C_{\infty}^2$ (c.p. (6.31)), and $|D\tilde{v}_+|^2 \leq |D\tilde{v}|^2$ we obtain

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \, \tilde{v}^2 \, dx \le C_\infty^2 \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \, dx + \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \, [\tilde{v}_+]^2 \, dx$$

$$\le C_\infty^2 \lambda_N(B_{2\rho}) + C(N) \, \frac{(4\rho)^{2N}}{([1-\beta]\lambda_N(B_\rho))^{\frac{2(N-1)}{N}}} \, \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \, |D\tilde{v}_+|^2 \, dx$$

$$\le C_\infty^2 \lambda_N(B_{2\rho}) + C(N,\beta)\rho^2 \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \, |D\tilde{v}|^2 \, dx, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t_*). \tag{6.39}$$

Turning to the first term on the right of (6.37), we may estimate for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t_*)$,

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} \tilde{f}\psi \, dx \, \leq \, \frac{1}{\rho^{\kappa}} \, |\tilde{f}(s,\cdot)|_{L_q(\Omega)} \lambda_N(B_{2\rho})^{\frac{1}{q'}} = C(N,q) |\tilde{f}(s,\cdot)|_{L_q(\Omega)} \rho^{2\kappa + \frac{2}{\alpha r} + N - 2 - \kappa} \\ \leq C(N,q,\rho_0) |\tilde{f}(s,\cdot)|_{L_q(\Omega)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha r} + N - 2}.$$
(6.40)

Further, since $g_{1-\alpha}(s+t_*) \leq g_{1-\alpha}(\tau_0)$,

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} (u_0 - \bar{m}) \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha} \psi \, dx \leq \frac{1}{\rho^{\kappa}} \left(|u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} + M_0) \lambda_N(B_{2\rho}) g_{1-\alpha}(s + t_*) \right)$$
$$\leq C(|u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, M_0, N, \alpha, \tau_0, \rho_0) \rho^{N-2}.$$
(6.41)

Note that $\psi \leq [\varepsilon(M - \bar{m})]^{-1}$. By assumption (6.28) we also have $\varepsilon_{\gamma} \leq \varepsilon$. Therefore

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} \varepsilon_{\gamma} (M - \bar{m}) (t_1 - t_0)^{-\alpha} \psi \, dx \le (t_1 - t_0)^{-\alpha} \lambda_N (B_{2\rho}) = C(\alpha, \theta, N) \rho^{N-2}.$$
(6.42)

From (6.37)–(6.42) we infer that

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \Big(\partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{v}) - (\tilde{v}+1)g_{1-\alpha,n} \Big) dx
+ \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \int_0^s \Upsilon(\tilde{v}(s,x) - \tilde{v}(s-\sigma,x)) [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(\sigma)] d\sigma dx + \frac{\nu_0}{\rho^2} \int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \tilde{v}^2 dx
\leq C \rho^{N-2} \Big(1 + |\tilde{f}(s,\cdot)|_{L_q(\Omega)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha r}} \Big) + \mathcal{R}_n(s), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t_*),$$
(6.43)

where $\nu_0 = \nu_0(\nu, N, \beta)$ and $C = C(|u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, M_0, N, \alpha, \tau_0, \rho_0, \nu, \Lambda, q, \theta, \beta, C_{\infty})$ are positive constants.

We next introduce the function

$$V(s) = \frac{\int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^2 \,\tilde{v}(s,x) \, dx}{\int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^2 \, dx}, \quad s \in (0, t_1 - t_*).$$

By Jensen's inequality,

$$V(s)^{2} \leq \frac{\int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^{2} \,\tilde{v}(s,x)^{2} \,dx}{\int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^{2} \,dx}, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_{1} - t_{*}).$$
(6.44)

Since Υ is convex, Jensen's inequality also yields

$$\int_{0}^{s} \Upsilon \Big(V(s) - V(s - \sigma) \Big) [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(\sigma)] \, d\sigma \\
\leq \int_{0}^{s} \frac{1}{\int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^{2} \, dx} \int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^{2} \Upsilon (\tilde{v}(s,x) - \tilde{v}(s - \sigma,x)) [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(\sigma)] \, d\sigma \, dx,$$
(6.45)

a.e. in $(0, t_1 - t_*)$. By the fundamental identity (2.6) with $H(y) = -\log y$ applied to the function e^{-V} , we further have

$$-e^{V(s)} \partial_s \Big(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{-V} \Big)(s) = \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * V)(s) - \Big(V(s) + 1 \Big) g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) + \int_0^s \Upsilon \Big(V(s) - V(s-\sigma) \Big) [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(\sigma)] \, d\sigma, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t_*).$$
(6.46)

Dividing then (6.43) by $\int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 dx$, and setting

$$F(s) = 1 + |\tilde{f}(s, \cdot)|_{L_q(\Omega)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha r}}, \quad \bar{\mathcal{R}}_n(s) = \frac{|\mathcal{R}_n(s)|}{\int_{B_{2\rho}} w^2 \, dx}$$

it follows by virtue of (6.44)-(6.46) that

$$-e^{V(s)} \partial_s \left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{-V}\right)(s) + \frac{\nu_1}{\rho^2} V(s)^2 + \frac{\nu_1}{\rho^{N+2}} \int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^2 \,\tilde{v}(s,x)^2 \,dx$$

$$\leq \frac{C_1}{\rho^2} F(s) + \bar{\mathcal{R}}_n(s), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t_*), \tag{6.47}$$

with $\nu_1 = \nu_1(\nu, N, \beta) > 0$ and $C_1 = C_1(|u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, M_0, N, \alpha, \tau_0, \rho_0, \nu, \Lambda, q, \theta, \beta, C_{\infty}) > 0$. We next put

$$W(s) = V(s) + C_{\infty} + 1, \quad s \in (0, t_1 - t_*).$$

Since $\tilde{v} \geq -C_{\infty}$ (see (6.31)), we have $W \geq 1$. Furthermore, (6.47) implies

$$-e^{W(s)} \partial_s \Big(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{-W} \Big)(s) + \frac{\nu_1}{2\rho^2} W(s)^2 + \frac{\nu_1}{\rho^{N+2}} \int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^2 \, \tilde{v}(s,x)^2 \, dx$$

$$\leq \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} F(s) + \bar{\mathcal{R}}_n(s), \quad \text{a.a.} \ s \in (0, t_1 - t_*), \tag{6.48}$$

where $C_2 = C_1 + (C_{\infty} + 1)^2 \nu_1$. We then fix a negative number ζ such that

$$-1 < \zeta < \frac{1}{\alpha} - 2. \tag{6.49}$$

Multiplying (6.48) by $W^{\zeta}(\leq 1)$ and dropping the third term on the left-hand side gives

$$-W^{\zeta} e^{W} \partial_{s} \left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * e^{-W} \right) + \frac{\nu_{1}}{2\rho^{2}} W^{2+\zeta} \leq \frac{C_{2}}{\rho^{2}} F + \bar{\mathcal{R}}_{n}.$$
(6.50)

By the fundamental identity (2.6) applied to the function $H(y) = (-\log y)^{1+\zeta}/(1+\zeta)$, where $y \in (0, 1/e]$, we have

$$-W^{\zeta}e^{W}\partial_{s}\left(g_{1-\alpha,n}*e^{-W}\right) \geq \partial_{s}\left(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\frac{W^{1+\zeta}}{1+\zeta}\right) - \left(\frac{W^{1+\zeta}}{1+\zeta}+W^{\zeta}\right)g_{1-\alpha,n}.$$

In fact, H is convex since

$$H''(y) = \frac{1}{y^2} \left(-\log y \right)^{\zeta - 1} \left(\zeta - \log y \right) \ge 0, \quad y \in (0, 1/e].$$

From (6.50) and $W^{\zeta} \leq 1$ we thus conclude that for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t_*)$,

$$\partial_s \Big(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \frac{W^{1+\zeta}}{1+\zeta} \Big) + \frac{\nu_1}{2\rho^2} W^{2+\zeta} \le \Big(\frac{W^{1+\zeta}}{1+\zeta} + 1 \Big) g_{1-\alpha,n} + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} F + \bar{\mathcal{R}}_n.$$

Integrating from 0 to $t_1 - t_*$ and sending $n \to \infty$ yields

$$\frac{\nu_1}{2\rho^2} \int_0^{t_1-t_*} W^{2+\zeta} \, ds \leq \int_0^{t_1-t_*} \left(\frac{W^{1+\zeta}}{1+\zeta} + 1\right) g_{1-\alpha} \, ds + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} \, |F|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} \\ \leq \int_0^{t_1-t_*} \left(\tilde{\varepsilon} \, W^{2+\zeta} + \tilde{\varepsilon}^{-(1+\zeta)} C(\zeta) g_{1-\alpha}^{2+\zeta}\right) \, ds + |g_{1-\alpha}|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} \, |F|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])}$$

for all $\tilde{\varepsilon} > 0$. By Hölder's inequality,

$$\frac{1}{\rho^2} |F|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} \le \theta \theta_2 \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha}-2} + \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha r}-2} |\tilde{f}|_{L_r([0,t_1-t_*];L_q(\Omega))} (\theta \theta_2)^{\frac{1}{r'}} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha r'}}.$$

Choosing $\tilde{\varepsilon} = \nu_1/(4\rho^2)$ it then follows that

$$\int_{0}^{t_{1}-t_{*}} W \, ds \le \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t_{*}} W^{2+\zeta} \, ds \le C_{3} \rho^{2/\alpha} \Big(1 + |f|_{L_{r}([0,T];L_{q}(\Omega))} \Big), \tag{6.51}$$

where $C_3 = C_3(\nu_1, \theta, \theta_2, \alpha, r, \zeta, C_2)$. This L_1 -estimate for the function W on $(0, t_1 - t_*)$ is crucial for what follows.

We return to (6.48) and use the identity (6.46) (with V replaced by W) to reformulate the first term. Note that the last term in (6.46) is nonnegative, due to the convexity of $H(y) = -\log y$. Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n} * W)(s) - \left(W(s) + 1\right) g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) + \frac{\nu_1}{\rho^{N+2}} \int_{B_{2\rho}} w(x)^2 \, \tilde{v}(s,x)^2 \, dx \\ &\leq \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} \, F(s) + \bar{\mathcal{R}}_n(s), \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t_*). \end{aligned}$$

We choose $\varphi \in C^1([0, t_1 - t_*])$ such that $0 \le \varphi \le 1$, $\varphi = 0$ in $[0, (\tilde{t} - t_*)/2]$, $\varphi = 1$ in $[\tilde{t} - t_*, t_1 - t_*]$, and $0 \le \dot{\varphi} \le 4/(\tilde{t} - t_*)$. Multiplying the last inequality by $\varphi(s)$ and using Lemma 2.3.3 yields

$$\partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * [\varphi W])(s) - \left(W(s) + 1\right)\varphi(s)g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) + \frac{\nu_1}{\rho^{N+2}} \int_{B_{2\rho}} \varphi(s)w(x)^2 \,\tilde{v}(s,x)^2 \,dx$$

$$\leq \int_0^s [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s-\sigma)] \big(\varphi(s) - \varphi(\sigma)\big) W(\sigma) \,d\sigma + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} F(s) + \bar{\mathcal{R}}_n(s)$$

$$\leq \frac{4}{\tilde{t} - t_*} \int_0^s [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(s-\sigma)](s-\sigma) W(\sigma) \,d\sigma + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} F(s) + \bar{\mathcal{R}}_n(s).$$

We next integrate from 0 to $t_1 - t_*$ and send $n \to \infty$. Selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, and employing (6.51) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{\nu_1}{\rho^{N+2}} & \int_0^{t_1-t_*} \int_{B_{2\rho}} \varphi(s) w(x)^2 \, \tilde{v}(s,x)^2 \, dx \, ds \leq \int_0^{t_1-t_*} \left(W(s)+1 \right) \varphi(s) g_{1-\alpha}(s) \, ds \\ & + \frac{4}{\tilde{t}-t_*} \int_0^{t_1-t_*} \int_0^s [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(s-\sigma)](s-\sigma) W(\sigma) \, d\sigma \, ds + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} \, |F|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} \\ & \leq g_{1-\alpha} \left(\frac{\tilde{t}-t_*}{2}\right) |W+1|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} + \frac{4\alpha}{\tilde{t}-t_*} \left(g_{2-\alpha} * W\right) (t_1-t_*) + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} \, |F|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} \\ & \leq g_{1-\alpha} \left(\frac{\tilde{t}-t_*}{2}\right) \left(t_1-t_* + |W|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])}\right) + \frac{4\alpha g_{2-\alpha}(t_1-t_*)}{\tilde{t}-t_*} \, |W|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} \\ & + \frac{C_2}{\rho^2} \, |F|_{L_1([0,t_1-t_*])} \\ & \leq C_4(\alpha,\theta,\theta_2,\theta_3,C_3) \, \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha}-2} \left(1 + |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))}\right), \end{split}$$

which in turn implies

$$\int_{\tilde{t}}^{t_1} \int_{B_{\frac{3\rho}{2}}} v(t,x)^2 \, dx \, dt \le C_5(\nu_1, C_4) \, \rho^{N+\frac{2}{\alpha}} \Big(1 + |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))} \Big).$$

This completes the proof of Proposition 6.3.1.

Remark 6.3.1 Note that the assertion of Proposition 6.3.1 remains true when equation (6.1) has a second term on the right-hand side of the form $-D_i g^i$, where $|g|^2 \in L_r([0,T]; L_q(\Omega))$. In fact, recall Remark 6.2.1 and note that for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t_*)$ and any $\epsilon_0 > 0$ we have

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} \tilde{g}^i D_i \psi \, dx = \int_{B_{2\rho}} \tilde{g}^i \left(w^2 \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) D_i \tilde{v} + 2w \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) D_i w \right) \, dx$$
$$\leq \int_{B_{2\rho}} \left(\epsilon_0 w^2 |D\tilde{v}|^2 + C(\epsilon_0) |\tilde{g}|^2 \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})^2 + |Dw|^2 \right) \, dx.$$

The first term can be absorbed for sufficiently small ϵ_0 , while the second term is estimated similarly to the \tilde{f} -term above:

$$\int_{B_{2\rho}} \tilde{g}^i D_i \psi \, dx \le C(N,q) \left| |\tilde{g}(s,\cdot)|^2 \right|_{L_q(\Omega)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha r} + N - 2}.$$

Observe that this is possible, since in the line before (6.40) we have an extra factor ρ^{κ} at disposal which is just good enough to control the additional factor $\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})$.

6.4 A sup-bound for v on the cylinder $Q(\rho)$

Proposition 6.4.1 Let the assumptions of Proposition 6.3.1 be satisfied. Then

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{Q(\rho)} v \le M_1,\tag{6.52}$$

where $0 \leq M_1 = M_1(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \tau_0, \rho_0, \xi, \beta, \theta, \theta_2, \theta_3, M_0, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))})$, in particular M_1 does not depend on ρ, ε , and γ .

Proof. 1. Local truncated energy estimates. We introduce the family of nested cylinders

$$Q(\vartheta,\rho) = (t_1 - [1 + \vartheta(\theta_3 - 1)]\theta\rho^{2/\alpha}, t_1) \times B_{\rho(1+\vartheta/2)}(x_1)$$

with parameter $\vartheta \in [0,1]$. Note that $Q(0,\rho) = Q(\rho)$ and $Q(1,\rho) = (\tilde{t},t_1) \times B_{3\rho/2}$. Let $0 \leq \vartheta_1 < \vartheta_2 \leq 1$ be fixed. We set

$$t' = t_1 - [1 + \vartheta_2(\theta_3 - 1)]\theta \rho^{2/\alpha}, \quad \hat{t} = t_1 - [1 + \vartheta_1(\theta_3 - 1)]\theta \rho^{2/\alpha}$$

Let $t \in (t', t_1)$ and shift the time by setting s = t - t'. Employing the same notation as in (6.3) with $T_0 = t'$, we have for all $\psi \in \mathring{H}_2^1(\Omega)$,

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\psi \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha,n} * \tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) + (h_n * [a_{ij}D_j u])^{\tilde{}} D_i \psi \right) dx = \int_{\Omega} \left((h_n * f)^{\tilde{}} + \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (u_0 - \bar{m}) + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n} \right) \psi \, dx, \quad \text{a.a. } s \in (0, t_1 - t'), \tag{6.53}$$

where

$$\mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}(t,x) = \int_0^{t'} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)](u(\tau,x) - \bar{m}) \, d\tau, \ t \in (\tilde{t},t_1), \ x \in \Omega.$$

Define the function Ψ by means of

$$\Psi(y) = \frac{1}{2} (\Phi(y) - k)_{+}^{2}, \quad y \in [m - \bar{m}, M - \bar{m}]$$

with Φ as in (6.30) and k > 0. Then Ψ is a C^1 function,

$$\Psi'(y) = \Phi'(y)(\Phi(y) - k)_{+} = \frac{(\Phi(y) - k)_{+}}{(1 + \varepsilon)(M - \bar{m}) - y + \rho^{\kappa}},$$

and Ψ is convex, by virtue of $\Phi', \Phi'' > 0$.

For $s \in (0, t_1 - t')$ we choose in (6.53) the test function $\psi = \Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\eta^2$ where $\eta \in C_0^1(B_{2\rho})$ has values only in [0, 1], supp $\eta \subset B_{\rho(1+\vartheta_2/2)}$, $\eta = 1$ in $B_{\rho(1+\vartheta_1/2)}$, and $|D\eta| \leq 4/(\rho[\vartheta_2 - \vartheta_1])$. Since

$$-\Psi(y) + \Psi'(y)y = -\frac{1}{2} (\Phi(y) - k)_{+}^{2} + (\Phi(y) - k)_{+} \Phi'(y)y$$

$$\geq -\frac{1}{2} (\Phi(y) - k)_{+}^{2} + ([M - \bar{m}]\Phi'(y) - 1)(\Phi(y) - k)_{+}$$

and $\tilde{v} = \Phi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})$, the fundamental identity (2.6) yields

$$\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\partial_s(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) \ge \partial_s\Big(g_{1-\alpha,n}*\Psi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\Big) + \Big(-\Psi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})+\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\Big)g_{1-\alpha,n} \\ \ge \frac{1}{2}\partial_s\Big(g_{1-\alpha,n}*(\tilde{v}-k)_+^2\Big) + \Big(-\frac{1}{2}(\tilde{v}-k)_+^2 + \big([M-\bar{m}]\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})-1\big)(\tilde{v}-k)_+\Big)g_{1-\alpha,n}.$$
(6.54)

We split again the history term on the right of (6.53) into a long- and a short-term memory term:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}(t,x) = \int_0^{t_0} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)](u(\tau,x) - \bar{m}) \, d\tau + \int_{t_0}^{t'} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n}(t-\tau)](u(\tau,x) - \bar{m}) \, d\tau$$

=: $\mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}^{(1)}(t,x) + \mathcal{H}_{\bar{m},n}^{(2)}(t,x).$

Similarly as in the proof of Proposition 6.3.1 (c.p. (6.33) and (6.34)) we obtain

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n}^{(2)}(s,x) \le (M-\bar{m})[g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) - g_{1-\alpha,n}(s+t'-t_0)],\\ \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n}^{(1)}(s,x) \le \varepsilon_{\gamma,n}(M-\bar{m})(t_1-t_0)^{-\alpha} + (M-\bar{m})g_{1-\alpha,n}(s+t'-t_0),$$

for a.a. $(s, x) \in (0, t_1 - t') \times B_{2\rho}$, and hence

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n}(s,x) \le (M-\bar{m})g_{1-\alpha,n}(s) + \varepsilon_{\gamma,n}(M-\bar{m})(t_1-t_0)^{-\alpha}, \tag{6.55}$$

for a.a. $(s, x) \in (0, t_1 - t') \times B_{2\rho}$, where $\varepsilon_{\gamma,n}$ is defined as in (6.35). Inserting $\psi = \Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\eta^2$ into (6.53) and using (6.54) and (6.55) we obtain with $\rho_2 := \rho(1 + t)$ $\vartheta_2/2)$

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \eta^2 \partial_s \left(g_{1-\alpha,n} * (\tilde{v}-k)_+^2 \right) dx - \frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \eta^2 (\tilde{v}-k)_+^2 g_{1-\alpha,n} dx \\
+ \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \eta^2 (M-\bar{m}) \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) (\tilde{v}-k)_+ g_{1-\alpha,n} dx - \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \eta^2 (\tilde{v}-k)_+ g_{1-\alpha,n} dx \\
+ \int_{B_{\rho_2}} (h_n * [a_{ij}D_ju]) \tilde{D}_i \left[\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) \eta^2 \right] dx \\
\leq \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \left((h_n * f) \tilde{} + \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (u_0 - \bar{m}) + \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{m},n} \right) \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) (\tilde{v}-k)_+ \eta^2 dx \\
\leq \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \left((h_n * f) \tilde{} + \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (u_0 - \bar{m}) \right) \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) (\tilde{v}-k)_+ \eta^2 dx \\
+ \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \left((M - \bar{m}) g_{1-\alpha,n} + \varepsilon_{\gamma,n} (M - \bar{m}) (t_1 - t_0)^{-\alpha} \right) \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) (\tilde{v}-k)_+ \eta^2 dx,$$
(6.56)

for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t')$. Next, choose $\varphi \in C^1([0, t_1 - t'])$ such that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$, $\varphi = 0$ in $[0, (\hat{t} - t')/2]$, $\varphi = 1$ in $[\hat{t} - t', t_1 - t']$, and $0 \leq \dot{\varphi} \leq 4/(\hat{t} - t')$. We multiply (6.56) by φ^2 and apply Lemma 2.3.3. Estimating the commutator term similarly as above we get

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \eta^2 \,\partial_s \Big(g_{1-\alpha,n} * \big[\varphi(\tilde{v}-k)_+ \big]^2 \Big) \,dx + \int_{B_{\rho_2}} (h_n * [a_{ij}D_j u]) \tilde{D}_i \big[\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\eta^2 \big] \varphi^2 \,dx \\ &\leq \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 \Big((\tilde{v}-k)_+ + \frac{1}{2} \,(\tilde{v}-k)_+^2 \Big) g_{1-\alpha,n} \,dx \\ &+ \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \Big((h_n * f) \tilde{} + \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (u_0 - \bar{m}) + \varepsilon_{\gamma,n} (M - \bar{m}) (t_1 - t_0)^{-\alpha} \Big) \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) (\tilde{v} - k)_+ \eta^2 \varphi^2 \,dx \\ &+ \frac{4}{\hat{t} - t'} \int_0^s [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha,n} (s - \sigma)] (s - \sigma) \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \eta(x)^2 \big(\tilde{v}(\sigma, x) - k \big)_+^2 \,dx \,d\sigma. \end{split}$$

Convolve this last inequality with g_{α} and send $n \to \infty$. Selecting an appropriate subsequence, if necessary, this gives

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+^2 \, dx + g_\alpha * \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{u} \, D_i \big[\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) \eta^2 \big] \varphi^2 \, dx \le g_\alpha * G_1, \tag{6.57}$$

for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t')$, where

$$G_{1}(s) = \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \varphi^{2} \eta^{2} \Big((\tilde{v} - k)_{+} + \frac{1}{2} (\tilde{v} - k)_{+}^{2} \Big) g_{1-\alpha} \, dx + \frac{4\alpha}{\hat{t} - t'} g_{1-\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \eta^{2} (\tilde{v} - k)_{+}^{2} \, dx \\ + \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \Big(|\tilde{f}| + \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}|u_{0} - \bar{m}| + \varepsilon_{\gamma} (M - \bar{m})(t_{1} - t_{0})^{-\alpha} \Big) \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(\tilde{v} - k)_{+} \eta^{2} \varphi^{2} \, dx.$$

Since $\tilde{v} = \Phi(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})$ and $\Phi''(y) = \Phi'(y)^2$, we further have

$$D[\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\eta^2] = \eta^2 \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})D(\tilde{v}-k)_+ + \eta^2(\tilde{v}-k)_+ \Phi''(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})D\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}} + 2\eta D\eta \,\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(\tilde{v}-k)_+ = \eta^2 \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})D(\tilde{v}-k)_+ + \eta^2 \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(\tilde{v}-k)_+ D\tilde{v} + 2\eta D\eta \,\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(\tilde{v}-k)_+,$$

and therefore by (H1) and (H2)

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{u} \, D_i \big[\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) \eta^2 \big] \varphi^2 \, dx &= \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 \tilde{a}_{ij} D_j \tilde{v} \big(D_i (\tilde{v} - k)_+ + (\tilde{v} - k)_+ D_i \tilde{v} \big) \, dx \\ &+ \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \tilde{a}_{ij} (\tilde{v} - k)_+ D_j \tilde{v} \, 2\eta D_i \eta \, dx \\ &\geq \nu \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 \Big(|D(\tilde{v} - k)_+|^2 + (\tilde{v} - k)_+ |D\tilde{v}|^2 \Big) \, dx \\ &- 2\Lambda \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+ |D(\tilde{v} - k)_+| \, |D\eta| \eta \, dx \\ &\geq \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 |D(\tilde{v} - k)_+|^2 \, dx - \frac{2\Lambda^2}{\nu} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 |D\eta|^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+^2 \, dx. \end{split}$$

Combining this and (6.57) we infer that

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+^2 \, dx + g_\alpha * \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 |D(\tilde{v} - k)_+|^2 \, dx \le g_\alpha * G, \tag{6.58}$$

for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t')$, where G is defined by

$$G(s) = G_1(s) + \frac{2\Lambda^2}{\nu} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 |D\eta|^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+^2 dx.$$

We may drop the second term in (6.58), which is nonnegative. By Young's inequality for convolutions we conclude that for all $p \in (1, 1/(1 - \alpha))$

$$|\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2p}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{2}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} \leq 2|g_{\alpha}|_{L_{p}([0,t_{1}-t'])}|G|_{L_{1}([0,t_{1}-t'])}.$$
(6.59)

Here

$$|g_{\alpha}|_{L_{p}([0,t_{1}-t'])} = \frac{(t_{1}-t')^{\alpha-1+1/p}}{\Gamma(\alpha)[(\alpha-1)p+1]^{1/p}} \le C_{1}(\alpha,p,\theta)\rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha}(\alpha-1+\frac{1}{p})}.$$
(6.60)

We may also drop the first term in (6.58), convolve the resulting inequality with $g_{1-\alpha}$ and evaluate at $s = t_1 - t'$, thereby obtaining

$$\int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \varphi^{2} \eta^{2} |D(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2} dx ds \leq \frac{2}{\nu} |G|_{L_{1}([0,t_{1}-t'])}.$$
(6.61)

Using

$$\int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} |D(\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+})|^{2} dx ds \leq 2 \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} (\varphi^{2}\eta^{2} |D(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2} + \varphi^{2} |D\eta|^{2} (\tilde{v}-k)_{+}^{2}) dx ds$$

we deduce from (6.59)–(6.61) and the definition of G that

$$\rho^{-\frac{2}{\alpha}(\alpha-1+\frac{1}{p})} |\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2p}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{2}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} + \left|D[\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}]\right|^{2}_{L_{2}([0,t_{1}-t']\times B_{\rho_{2}})} \\ \leq C_{2}(\nu,\Lambda,C_{1}) \Big(\int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} G_{1}(s) \, ds + \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \varphi^{2} |D\eta|^{2} (\tilde{v}-k)^{2}_{+} \, dx \, ds \Big).$$
(6.62)

We will next estimate the right-hand side of (6.62). By the assumptions on φ and η we have

$$\int_0^{t_1-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 |D\eta|^2 (\tilde{v}-k)_+^2 \, dx \, ds \le \frac{16}{\rho^2 (\vartheta_2 - \vartheta_1)^2} \int_0^{t_1-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} (\tilde{v}-k)_+^2 \, dx \, ds.$$

Turning to G_1 we set

$$\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_2}(s) = \{ x \in B_{\rho_2} : \tilde{v}(s,x) > k \}, \quad s \in (0, t_1 - t').$$

Then we have for a.a. $s \in (0, t_1 - t')$

$$\begin{split} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+ g_{1-\alpha} \, dx &\leq g_{1-\alpha} \left(\frac{\hat{t} - t'}{2}\right) \int_{\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_2}(s)} \left((\vartheta_2 - \vartheta_1)^\alpha + \frac{(\tilde{v} - k)_+^2}{(\vartheta_2 - \vartheta_1)^\alpha} \right) dx \\ &\leq \frac{C_3(\alpha, \theta, \theta_3)}{\rho^2} \int_{\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_2}(s)} \left(1 + \frac{(\tilde{v} - k)_+^2}{(\vartheta_2 - \vartheta_1)^{2\alpha}} \right) dx, \end{split}$$

and also

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varphi^2 \eta^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+^2 g_{1-\alpha} \, dx \le \frac{C_4(\alpha, \theta, \theta_3)}{\rho^2 (\vartheta_2 - \vartheta_1)^\alpha} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} (\tilde{v} - k)_+^2 \, dx.$$

Further,

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \frac{4\alpha}{\hat{t}-t'} \, g_{1-\alpha} * \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \eta^{2} (\tilde{v}-k)_{+}^{2} \, dx \, ds &\leq \frac{4\alpha g_{2-\alpha}(t_{1}-t')}{\hat{t}-t'} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} (\tilde{v}-k)_{+}^{2} \, dx \, ds \\ &\leq \frac{C_{5}(\alpha,\theta,\theta_{3})}{\rho^{2}(\vartheta_{2}-\vartheta_{1})} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} (\tilde{v}-k)_{+}^{2} \, dx \, ds. \end{split}$$

By (H3), there exists $p \in (1, 1/(1 - \alpha))$ such that for r and q from (H3) we have

$$\frac{p'}{r} + \frac{N}{2q} = 1 - \tilde{\kappa} \quad \text{with } \tilde{\kappa} \in (0, 1).$$

Here p' = p/(p-1) as usual. We fix this p and set

$$\delta = \frac{2\tilde{\kappa}}{2(p'-1)+N}$$

and $\tilde{r} = 2r'(1+\delta)$ and $\tilde{q} = 2q'(1+\delta)$. Observing that $\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) \leq \rho^{-\kappa}$ on $[0, t_1 - t'] \times B_{\rho_2}$ and using Hölder's inequality, we then have for any $\varepsilon_1 > 0$

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} |\tilde{f}| \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(\tilde{v}-k)_{+} \eta^{2} \varphi^{2} \, dx \, ds &\leq \rho^{-\kappa} |\tilde{f}|_{L_{r}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{q}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} \\ & \times |\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|_{L_{\bar{r}}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{\bar{q}}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} \mu_{k,\rho_{2}}^{(1+2\delta)/\bar{r}} \\ & \leq \varepsilon_{1} |\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|_{L_{\bar{r}}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{\bar{q}}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} \rho^{-z} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{1}} \mu_{k,\rho_{2}}^{2(1+2\delta)/\bar{r}} \rho^{z-2\kappa} |f|_{L_{r}([0,T];L_{q}(\Omega))}^{2}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\mu_{k,\rho_2} = \begin{cases} \int_0^{t_1-t'} \lambda_N(\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_2})^{\frac{r'}{q'}} ds & :q>1\\ \lambda_1(\{s \in (0,t_1-t') : \lambda_N(\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_2}(s)) > 0\}) & :q=1, \end{cases}$$

and

$$z = 2\left(\frac{2}{\alpha\tilde{r}} + \frac{N}{\tilde{q}}\right) + 2 - \frac{2}{\alpha} - N.$$

Further

$$\mu_{k,\rho_2}^{\frac{2(1+2\delta)}{\hat{r}}}\rho^{z-2\kappa} = \mu_{k,\rho_2}^{\frac{1}{r'} + \frac{\delta}{r'(1+\delta)}}\rho^{z-2\kappa} \le C_6(\alpha,\theta,\theta_3,r,\delta)\mu_{k,\rho_2}^{\frac{1}{r'}}\rho^{\frac{\delta}{1+\delta}\left(\frac{N}{q'} + \frac{2}{\alpha r'}\right) + z-2\kappa}$$

and

$$\frac{\delta}{1+\delta} \left(\frac{N}{q'} + \frac{2}{\alpha r'}\right) + z - 2\kappa = \frac{\delta}{1+\delta} \left(\frac{N}{q'} + \frac{2}{\alpha r'}\right) + \frac{2}{1+\delta} \left(\frac{1}{\alpha r'} + \frac{N}{2q'}\right) + 2 - \frac{2}{\alpha} - N - 2\kappa$$

$$= \left(\frac{2}{\alpha r'} + \frac{N}{q'}\right) + 2 - \frac{2}{\alpha} - N + 4(1-\kappa) - 4 + 2\kappa$$

$$= \left(\frac{2}{\alpha r'} + \frac{N}{q'}\right) - 2 - \frac{2}{\alpha} - N + 4\left(\frac{1}{\alpha r} + \frac{N}{2q}\right) + 2\kappa$$

$$= -\left(\frac{2}{\alpha r'} + \frac{N}{q'}\right) + \frac{2}{\alpha} + N - 2 + 2\kappa.$$
(6.63)

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} |\tilde{f}| \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(\tilde{v}-k)_{+} \eta^{2} \varphi^{2} \, dx \, ds &\leq \varepsilon_{1} |\varphi \eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{\bar{r}}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{\bar{q}}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} \rho^{-z} \\ &+ \frac{C_{6}}{\varepsilon_{1}} \mu_{k,\rho_{2}}^{\frac{1}{r'}} \rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha r'}+\frac{N}{q'}\right)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha}+N-2} \rho_{0}^{2\kappa} |f|^{2}_{L_{r}([0,T];L_{q}(\Omega))}. \end{split}$$

Using $\tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}(s) < g_{1-\alpha}(\tau_0)$, the same argument yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha} \left| u_{0} - \bar{m} \right| \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})(\tilde{v}-k)_{+} \eta^{2} \varphi^{2} \, dx \, ds &\leq \varepsilon_{1} |\varphi \eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{\bar{r}}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{\bar{q}}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} \rho^{-z} \\ &+ \frac{C_{7}}{\varepsilon_{1}} \, \mu_{k,\rho_{2}}^{\frac{1}{r'}} \rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha r'} + \frac{N}{q'}\right)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha} + N - 2} \rho_{0}^{2\kappa} \end{split}$$

with $C_7 = C_7(\alpha, N, \theta, \theta_3, r, q, C_6, \tau_0, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, M_0).$ Finally, since $\varepsilon_{\gamma} \leq \varepsilon$, we may estimate

$$\int_{B_{\rho_2}} \varepsilon_{\gamma} (M - \bar{m}) (t_1 - t_0)^{-\alpha} \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}}) (\tilde{v} - k)_+ \eta^2 \varphi^2 \, dx \le \frac{1}{4\theta^{\alpha} \rho^2} \int_{B_{\rho_2}} (\tilde{v} - k)_+ \eta^2 \varphi^2 \, dx$$
$$\le \frac{1}{4\theta^{\alpha} \rho^2} \int_{\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_2}(s)} \left(1 + (\tilde{v} - k)_+^2 \right) \, dx.$$

From (6.62) and the previous estimates it follows that for any $\varepsilon_1 > 0$

$$\rho^{-\frac{2}{\alpha}(\alpha-1+\frac{1}{p})} |\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2p}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{2}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} + \left|D[\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}]\right|^{2}_{L_{2}([0,t_{1}-t']\times B_{\rho_{2}})} \\ \leq 2\varepsilon_{1} |\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{\bar{r}}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{\bar{q}}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} \rho^{-z} + C_{8} \Big(\frac{1}{\rho^{2}(\vartheta_{2}-\vartheta_{1})^{2}} |(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}]\Big|^{2}_{L_{2}([0,t_{1}-t']\times B_{\rho_{2}})} \\ + \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{1}} \mu^{\frac{1}{r'}}_{k,\rho_{2}} \rho^{-\Big(\frac{2}{\alpha r'}+\frac{N}{q'}\Big)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha}+N-2} + \frac{1}{\rho^{2}} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \lambda_{N}(\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_{2}}) \, ds\Big),$$

$$(6.64)$$

where $C_8 = C_8(\alpha, \theta, \theta_3, \nu, \Lambda, \tau_0, p, r, q, \delta, \rho_0, |f|_{L_r(L_q)}, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, M_0).$ Observe that (6.64) is scaling invariant with respect to $\rho > 0$, in fact, each of the terms behaves like $\rho^{N-2+2/\alpha}$ when changing coordinates as $s \to s/\rho^{2/\alpha}$ and $x \to x_1 + (x - x_1)/\rho$. Notice as well that the numbers \tilde{r} and \tilde{q} are subject to conditions (2.12) with (r, q) replaced by (\tilde{r}, \tilde{q}) . Therefore, choosing ε_1 sufficiently small, the first term on the right-hand side of (6.64) is dominated by one half of the sum on the left-hand side.

Further, it is appropriate to reformulate the last term in (6.64) in order to obtain the same structure as for the term involving μ_{k,ρ_2} . To this end, we put

$$\hat{r} = \frac{\frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2}}{1 - \kappa},$$

which means that the pair (\hat{r}, \hat{q}) with $\hat{q} := \hat{r}$ satisfies the same condition as (r, q) in (H3). Then we have

$$\hat{\mu}_{k,\rho_{2}} := \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \lambda_{N}(\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_{2}})^{\frac{\hat{r}'}{q'}} ds = \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \lambda_{N}(\tilde{A}_{k,\rho_{2}}) ds$$
$$\leq \hat{\mu}_{k,\rho_{2}}^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} dx \, ds\right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \leq C_{9}(\alpha, N, \theta, \theta_{3}, \hat{r}) \, \hat{\mu}_{k,\rho_{2}}^{\frac{1}{p'}} \rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha\hat{r}'} + \frac{N}{q'}\right)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha} + N}$$

We conclude that

$$\rho^{-\frac{2}{\alpha}(\alpha-1+\frac{1}{p})} |\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2p}([0,t_{1}-t'];L_{2}(B_{\rho_{2}}))} + \left|D[\varphi\eta(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}]\right|^{2}_{L_{2}([0,t_{1}-t']\times B_{\rho_{2}})} \\
\leq C_{10} \left(\frac{1}{\rho^{2}(\vartheta_{2}-\vartheta_{1})^{2}} |(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2}([0,t_{1}-t']\times B_{\rho_{2}})} + \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha}+N-2} \left[\mu^{\frac{1}{r'}}_{k,\rho_{2}}\rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha r'}+\frac{N}{q'}\right)} + \hat{\mu}^{\frac{1}{p'}}_{k,\rho_{2}}\rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha \bar{r'}}+\frac{N}{q'}\right)}\right]\right), \quad (6.65)$$

with $C_{10} = C_{10}(C_8, C_9, N, \hat{r})$. Returning to the function v and using the properties of the cut-off functions we obtain with $J(\vartheta, \rho) = (t_1 - [1 + \vartheta(\theta_3 - 1)]\theta \rho^{2/\alpha}, t_1)$

$$\rho^{-\frac{2}{\alpha}(\alpha-1+\frac{1}{p})}|(v-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2p}(J(\vartheta_{1},\rho);L_{2}(B_{\rho(1+\vartheta_{1}/2)}))} + |D(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2}(Q(\vartheta_{1},\rho))} \\
\leq C_{10}\Big(\frac{1}{\rho^{2}(\vartheta_{2}-\vartheta_{1})^{2}}|(v-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2}(Q(\vartheta_{2},\rho))} \\
+ \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha}+N-2}\Big[\mu(k,\vartheta_{2},\rho)^{\frac{1}{r'}}\rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha\bar{r'}}+\frac{N}{q'}\right)} + \hat{\mu}(k,\vartheta_{2},\rho)^{\frac{1}{\bar{r'}}}\rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha\bar{r'}}+\frac{N}{q'}\right)}\Big]\Big)$$
(6.66)

for all $0 \leq \vartheta_1 < \vartheta_2 \leq 1$ and k > 0, where

$$\mu(k,\vartheta,\rho) = \begin{cases} \int_{J(\vartheta,\rho)} \lambda_N(A_{k,\rho(1+\vartheta/2)}(t))^{\frac{r'}{q'}} dt & :q>1\\ \lambda_1(\{t \in J(\vartheta,\rho) : \lambda_N(A_{k,\rho(1+\vartheta/2)}(t))>0\}) & :q=1, \end{cases}$$
$$A_{k,\tilde{\rho}}(t) = \{x \in B_{\tilde{\rho}} : v(t,x)>k\}, \quad t \in (\tilde{t},t_1), \ \tilde{\rho}>0, \end{cases}$$

and $\hat{\mu}(k, \vartheta, \rho)$ is defined correspondingly.

2. Iterative Inequalities. We next normalize to $\rho = 1$. To this purpose we change variables as $t \to t_1 + (t - t_1)/\rho^{2/\alpha}$ and $x \to x_1 + (x - x_1)/\rho$. Denoting the new variables again by t and x and the transformed function again by v the inequalities (6.66) take the form

$$|(v-k)_{+}|^{2}_{V_{p}(Q(\vartheta_{1},1))} \leq 2C_{10} \Big(\frac{1}{(\vartheta_{2}-\vartheta_{1})^{2}} |(v-k)_{+}|^{2}_{L_{2}(Q(\vartheta_{2},1))} + \mu(k,\vartheta_{2},1)^{\frac{1}{r'}} + \hat{\mu}(k,\vartheta_{2},1)^{\frac{1}{r'}} \Big).$$
(6.67)

We consider the family of boxes $Q_n = Q(\zeta_n, 1) = J(\zeta_n, 1) \times B_{1+\zeta_n/2}$ with $\zeta_n = 2^{-(n+1)}$, $n = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$, and introduce the sequence of increasing levels

$$k_n = K\left(2 - \frac{1}{2^n}\right),$$

where $K \ge 1$ is a number to be chosen. For n = 0, 1, 2, ... we set

$$Y_n = \frac{1}{K^2} \left| (v - k_n)_+ \right|_{L_2(Q_n)}^2$$

and

$$Z_n = \mu(k_n, \zeta_n, 1)^{\frac{1}{r'(1+\delta)}} + \hat{\mu}(k_n, \zeta_n, 1)^{\frac{1}{r'(1+\delta)}}.$$

Let $\tilde{\zeta}_n = (\zeta_n + \zeta_{n+1})/2$. Choose a cutoff-function $\eta_n \in C^1(B_{1+\zeta_n/2})$ that has values only in [0, 1], such that $\operatorname{supp} \eta_n \subset B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_n/2}, \ \eta_n = 1$ in $B_{1+\zeta_{n+1}/2}$, and $|D\eta_n| \leq 32 \cdot 2^n$. Let

$$\chi = \frac{2p + N(p-1)}{2 + N(p-1)}.$$

Then we have with $J_n = J(\zeta_n, 1)$

$$\begin{split} Y_{n+1} &\leq K^{-2} \int_{J_{n+1}} \int_{A_{k_{n+1},1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n/2}}} (v-k_{n+1})^2 \eta_n^2 \, dx \, dt \\ &\leq K^{-2} \Big(\int_{J_{n+1}} \lambda_N (A_{k_{n+1},1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n/2}}) \, dt \Big)^{\frac{1}{\chi'}} \Big(\int_{J_{n+1}} \int_{A_{k_{n+1},1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n/2}}} \left[(v-k_{n+1}) \eta_n \right]^{2\chi} \, dx \, dt \Big)^{\frac{1}{\chi}} \\ &\leq C(p,N) K^{-2} \Big(\int_{J_{n+1}} \lambda_N (A_{k_{n+1},1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n/2}}) \, dt \Big)^{\frac{1}{\chi'}} \left| (v-k_{n+1})_+ \eta_n \right|^2_{V_p(J_{n+1} \times B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n/2}})}, \end{split}$$

where we use the embedding $V_p \hookrightarrow L_{2\chi}$ from (2.13).

Further,

$$\begin{split} \int_{J_{n+1}} \lambda_N(A_{k_{n+1},1+\tilde{\zeta}_n/2}) \, dt &\leq (k_{n+1}-k_n)^{-2} \int_{J_{n+1}} \int_{A_{k_{n+1},1+\tilde{\zeta}_n/2}} (v-k_n)_+^2 \, dx \, dt \\ &\leq (k_{n+1}-k_n)^{-2} K^2 Y_n \leq 4^{n+1} Y_n. \end{split}$$

Using the properties of η_n and applying (6.67) with $\vartheta_2 = \zeta_n > \tilde{\zeta}_n = \vartheta_1$ and $k = k_{n+1}$ we also have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (v - k_{n+1})_{+} \eta_{n} \right|_{V_{p}(J_{n+1} \times B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n}/2})}^{2} &\leq 2 \left| (v - k_{n+1})_{+} \right|_{V_{p}(J_{n+1} \times B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n}/2})}^{2} \\ &+ 2 \int_{J_{n+1}} \int_{A_{k_{n+1},1+\tilde{\zeta}_{n}/2}} (v - k_{n+1})_{+}^{2} \left| D\eta_{n} \right|^{2} dx \, dt \\ &\leq 4 C_{10} \left(4^{n+3} \left| (v - k_{n+1})_{+} \right|_{L_{2}(Q_{n})}^{2} + \mu(k_{n+1},\zeta_{n},1)^{\frac{1}{r'}} + \hat{\mu}(k_{n+1},\zeta_{n},1)^{\frac{1}{r'}} \right) \\ &+ 2 \cdot 4^{n+5} \left| (v - k_{n+1})_{+} \right|_{L_{2}(Q_{n})}^{2} \\ &\leq 4^{n+4} (C_{10} + 8) K^{2} Y_{n} + 4 C_{10} Z_{n}^{1+\delta}. \end{aligned}$$
 (6.68)

It follows that

$$Y_{n+1} \le C_{11} 16^n \left(Y_n^{1+\frac{1}{\chi'}} + Y_n^{\frac{1}{\chi'}} Z_n^{1+\delta} \right).$$
(6.69)

Turning to Z_{n+1} note that

$$\begin{aligned} (k_{n+1} - k_n)^2 Z_{n+1} &= (k_{n+1} - k_n)^2 \left(\mu(k_{n+1}, \zeta_{n+1}, 1)^{\frac{1}{r'(1+\delta)}} + \hat{\mu}(k_{n+1}, \zeta_{n+1}, 1)^{\frac{1}{r'(1+\delta)}} \right) \\ &\leq |(v - k_n)_+ \eta_n|^2_{L_{2r'(1+\delta)}(J_{n+1}; L_{2q'(1+\delta)}(B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_n/2}))} \\ &+ |(v - k_n)_+ \eta_n|^2_{L_{2\hat{r}'(1+\delta)}(J_{n+1}; L_{2\hat{q}'(1+\delta)}(B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_n/2}))} \\ &\leq 2C(p, N) \left| (v - k_n)_+ \eta_n \right|^2_{V_p(J_{n+1} \times B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_n/2})}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.70)

The right-hand side is estimated in the same way as in (6.68) replacing k_{n+1} by k_n . This yields

$$Z_{n+1} \le 2C(p,N)4^{n+1}K^{-2} (4^{n+4}(C_{10}+8)K^2Y_n + 4C_{10}Z_n^{1+\delta}),$$

and therefore

$$Z_{n+1} \le C_{11} 16^n \Big(Y_n + Z_n^{1+\delta} \Big), \tag{6.71}$$

where we may take the same constant $C_{11} = C_{11}(C_{10}, N, p)$ as in (6.69).

In view of (6.69) and (6.71), Lemma 2.4.2 implies that Y_n and Z_n tend to zero as $n \to \infty$ provided that

$$Y_0 + Z_0^{1+\delta} \le (2C_{11})^{-\frac{1+\delta}{\delta_1}} 16^{-\frac{1+\delta}{\delta_1^2}}, \quad \text{with } \delta_1 := \min\left\{\delta, \frac{1}{\chi'}\right\}.$$
(6.72)

This condition is satisfied whenever K is sufficiently large. In fact, for Y_0 we have

$$Y_0 = K^{-2} | (v - K)_+ |_{L_2(J(1/2, 1) \times B_{5/4})} \le K^{-2} | v |_{L_2(Q(1, 1))}.$$

 Z_0 can be estimated as in (6.70) if one assumes that $k_{-1} = K/2$ and $\zeta_{-1} = 1$. This gives

$$Z_0 \le \frac{8C(p,N)}{K^2} |(v-k_{-1})\eta_{-1}|^2_{V_p(J_0 \times B_{1+\tilde{\zeta}_{-1}/2})}$$

Using (6.68) with k_{n+1} replaced by k_{-1} we then obtain for some $C_{12} = C_{12}(p, N, C_{10})$

$$Z_{0} \leq C_{12}K^{-2} \Big(|v|_{L_{2}(Q(1,1))} + \mu(K/2), 1, 1)^{\frac{1}{r'}} + \hat{\mu}(K/2, 1, 1)^{\frac{1}{r'}} \Big)$$

$$\leq C_{12}K^{-2} \Big(|v|_{L_{2}(Q(1,1))} + \big(\theta_{3}\theta\lambda_{N}(B_{3/2})\big)^{\frac{1}{r'}} + \big(\theta_{3}\theta\lambda_{N}(B_{3/2})\big)^{\frac{1}{r'}} \Big).$$

Normalizing the L_2 -estimate from Proposition 6.3.1 to $\rho = 1$ yields an a priori bound for $|v|_{L_2(Q(1,1))}$. Hence there exists a number $K \geq 1$ depending only on $\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \tau_0, \rho_0, \xi, \beta, \theta, \theta_2, \theta_3, M_0, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, |f|_{L_r(L_q)}$ such that (6.72) is fulfilled.

Since $k_n \to 2K$ and $Y_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, it follows that $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{Q(0,1)} v \leq 2K$. Scaling back to the original variables, this means that (6.52) holds with $M_1 = 2K$.

Remark 6.4.1 Note that the assertion of Proposition 6.3.1 remains true when equation (6.1) has a second term on the right-hand side of the form $-D_i g^i$, where $|g|^2 \in L_r([0,T]; L_q(\Omega))$. In fact, recall Remark 6.3.1 and note that for any $\epsilon_0 > 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \!\!\!\!\int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \varphi^{2} g^{i} D_{i} \left[\Psi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})\eta^{2} \right] dx \, ds &\leq \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \!\!\!\!\int_{B_{\rho_{2}}} \left(\epsilon_{0} \varphi^{2} \eta^{2} \left[|D(\tilde{v}-k)_{+}|^{2} + (\tilde{v}-k)_{+}| D\tilde{v}|^{2} \right] \right. \\ &+ C(\epsilon_{0}) \left[|\tilde{g}|^{2} \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})^{2} (\tilde{v}-k)_{+} + |D\eta|^{2} (\tilde{v}-k)_{+}^{2} \right] \right) dx \, ds \\ &+ C(\epsilon_{0}) \int_{0}^{t_{1}-t'} \!\!\!\!\int_{A_{k,\rho_{2}}} |\tilde{g}|^{2} \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})^{2} \, dx \, ds. \end{split}$$

The terms with factor ϵ_0 can be absorbed if ϵ_0 is selected small enough. The term containing $|\tilde{g}|^2 \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})^2 (\tilde{v} - k)_+$ is estimated similarly as the \tilde{f} -term above; note that the additional factor $\Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})$ can be controlled thanks due the last summand in (6.63). Finally, by Hölder's inequality,

$$\int_0^{t_1-t'}\!\!\!\int_{A_{k,\rho_2}} |\tilde{g}|^2 \Phi'(\tilde{u}_{\bar{m}})^2 \, dx \, ds \le \left| |g|^2 \right|_{L_r(L_q)} \mu_{k,\rho_2}^{\frac{1}{r'}} \rho^{-\left(\frac{2}{\alpha r'} + \frac{N}{q'}\right)} \rho^{\frac{2}{\alpha} + N - 2},$$

which is the right estimate to proceed as above.

6.5 Oscillation estimates

Suppose u is a bounded weak solution of (6.1). Without restriction of generality we may assume that $\operatorname{ess} \operatorname{osc}_{\Omega_T} u \leq 1$.

As in the previous sections we let $\tau_0 \in (0,T)$ be fixed and $(t_1, x_1) \in (\tau_0, T] \times \Omega$. We consider the family of nested cylinders

$$Q(\rho) := Q(t_1, x_1, \theta, \rho) = (t_1 - \theta \rho^{2/\alpha}, t_1) \times B_{\rho}(x_1),$$

with scaling parameter $\rho = 2^{-l}$, $l \in \mathbb{Z}$, and the fixed parameter $\theta > 0$ (cf. assumption (P)). By \tilde{l} we denote the integer that corresponds to the largest of those cylinders $Q(2^{-l})$ that are properly contained in $(\tau_0, T) \times \Omega$. Let further $l_0 \geq \tilde{l}$ be an integer, which will be fixed later appropriately. For $l \leq l_0$ we set $a_l := \operatorname{ess\,inf}_{\Omega_T} u$ and $b_l := a_l + 2^{-(l-l_0)\kappa_1}$, where $\kappa_1 > 0$ is another parameter which will be chosen later. Then trivially we have for all $j \leq l_0$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

(i)
$$a_j \le u \le b_j$$
 a.e. in $Q(2^{-j}) \cap \Omega_T$, (ii) $b_j - a_j = 2^{-(j-l_0)\kappa_1}$. (6.73)

Let now $l \ge l_0$ and assume that there exist sequences $(a_j), (b_j) \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that (6.73) is satisfied for all $j \le l$. The objective is then to construct two numbers a_{l+1} and b_{l+1} such that (i) and (ii) in (6.73) hold also true for j = l + 1.

The first observation is that the induction hypothesis implies an estimate of power type for the memory term. More precisely, we have the following

Lemma 6.5.1 Let $m_l = (a_l + b_l)/2$, and $t_0 = t_1 - \theta 2^{-2l/\alpha}$. Then

$$|u(t,x) - m_l| \le (b_l - m_l) \left(2 \left[2^{2/\alpha} \left(\frac{t_1 - t}{t_1 - t_0} \right) \right]^{\frac{\alpha \kappa_1}{2}} - 1 \right), \tag{6.74}$$

for a.a. $(t,x) \in (0,t_0) \times B_{2^{-l}}(x_1)$.

Proof. Let $x \in B_{2^{-l}}(x_1)$. Given $t \in (0, t_0)$ we find an integer $l_* \leq l$ so that

$$t_1 - \theta 2^{-2(l_*-1)/\alpha} < t \le t_1 - \theta 2^{-2l_*/\alpha}, \tag{6.75}$$

which means that $(t, x) \in Q(2^{-(l_*-1)})$. By the induction hypothesis,

$$u(t,x) - m_l \le b_{l_*-1} - m_l = b_{l_*-1} - a_{l_*-1} + a_{l_*-1} - m_l$$

$$\le b_{l_*-1} - a_{l_*-1} + a_l - m_l = 2^{-(l_*-1-l_0)\kappa_1} - \frac{1}{2} 2^{-(l-l_0)\kappa_1}$$

$$= (b_l - m_l) \Big(2 \cdot 2^{-(l_*-1-l)\kappa_1} - 1 \Big).$$

From (6.75) and $t_1 - t_0 = \theta 2^{-2l/\alpha}$ we deduce that

$$2^{-2(l_*-l)/\alpha} = \frac{\theta 2^{-2l_*/\alpha}}{\theta 2^{-2l/\alpha}} \le \frac{t_1 - t}{t_1 - t_0}$$

Hence

$$u(t,x) - m_l \le (b_l - m_l) \left(2 \cdot 2^{\kappa_1} 2^{-(l_* - l)\kappa_1} - 1 \right)$$
$$\le (b_l - m_l) \left(2 \left[2^{2/\alpha} \left(\frac{t_1 - t}{t_1 - t_0} \right) \right]^{\frac{\alpha \kappa_1}{2}} - 1 \right)$$

The desired lower estimate for $u - m_l$ is proved analogously.

From now on we will assume that

$$\gamma := \frac{\alpha \kappa_1}{2} \in (0, \gamma_0] \quad \text{and} \quad \varepsilon_{\gamma} \le \varepsilon.$$
 (6.76)

In the next step we distinguish two cases. With $\bar{t} = t_1 - \theta \theta_1 2^{-2l/\alpha}$ at least one of the following inequalities is satisfied:

(A)
$$\lambda_{N+1}\Big(\{(t,x)\in(t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{2^{-l}}(x_1): u(t,x)\geq m_l\}\Big)\leq \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{N+1}\Big((t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{2^{-l}}(x_1)\Big),$$

or

(B)
$$\lambda_{N+1}\Big(\{(t,x)\in(t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{2^{-l}}(x_1): u(t,x)\leq m_l\}\Big)\leq \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{N+1}\Big((t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{2^{-l}}(x_1)\Big).$$

Suppose (A) holds. We again distinguish two cases. Let us first assume that

$$\max\left\{\mu(b_l - m_l), 2^{-(l+1)\kappa}\right\} < \underset{[t_0, t_1] \times B_{2^{-(l+1)}}}{\operatorname{ess sup}} u - m_l.$$
(6.77)

From Lemma 6.5.1 and Lemma 6.4.1 we then infer that the function v defined in (6.24) with $\rho = 2^{-(l+1)}$, $M = b_l$, and $\bar{m} = m_l$ is subject to

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{Q(2^{-(l+1)})} v \le M_1$$

where $M_1 \ge 0$ is the a priori bound from (6.52). This in turn implies

$$u \le b_l - [e^{-M_1}(1-\xi) - \varepsilon](b_l - m_l) + 2^{-(l+1)\kappa}$$
 a.e. in $Q(2^{-(l+1)})$

If (6.77) is violated, we have

$$u \leq m_l + \mu(b_l - m_l) + 2^{-(l+1)\kappa}$$

$$\leq b_l - [1 - \mu](b_l - m_l) + 2^{-(l+1)\kappa} \quad \text{a.e. in } Q(2^{-(l+1)}).$$

We next set

$$\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2} e^{-M_1} (1 - \xi)$$
 and $\varepsilon_* = \frac{1}{2} \min\{\varepsilon, 1 - \mu\}.$

Then the previous estimates show that if condition (A) holds, we have in any case

$$u \le b_l - \varepsilon_*(b_l - a_l) + 2^{-(l+1)\kappa}$$
 a.e. in $Q(2^{-(l+1)})$. (6.78)

Define now

$$a_{l+1} = a_l$$
 and $b_{l+1} = a_l + 2^{-(l+1-l_0)\kappa_1}$.

Then by the induction hypothesis,

$$b_{l+1} \ge b_l - \varepsilon_* (b_l - a_l) + 2^{-(l+1)\kappa}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad 2^{-(l+1-l_0)\kappa_1} \ge (1 - \varepsilon_*) 2^{-(l-l_0)\kappa_1} + 2^{-(l+1)\kappa}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad 1 \ge 2^{\kappa_1} (1 - \varepsilon_*) + 2^{-(l-l_0+1)(\kappa-\kappa_1)} 2^{-l_0\kappa}.$$

Assuming $\kappa_1 \leq \kappa$ and recalling that $l \geq l_0$, the last condition certainly follows from

$$2^{\kappa_1}(1-\varepsilon_*) + 2^{-l_0\kappa} \le 1. \tag{6.79}$$

We choose now $\kappa_1 \in (0, \min\{\kappa, 2\gamma_0/\alpha\}]$ so small and $l_0 \geq \tilde{l}$ so large that $\varepsilon_{\gamma} \leq \varepsilon$ and (6.79) are satisfied. In particular κ_1 and l_0 are independent of $l \geq l_0$. In view of (6.78) and the definition of a_{l+1} and b_{l+1} it is then evident that (6.73) holds for j = l + 1.

Suppose now that (B) holds. Setting

$$\hat{u} = b_l + a_l - u$$
 and $\hat{u}_0 = b_l + a_l - u_0$,

 \hat{u} is a bounded weak solution of

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(\hat{u} - \hat{u}_0) - D_i(a_{ij}D_j\hat{u}) = -f, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega.$$
(6.80)

We further put

$$\hat{a}_j = b_l + a_l - b_j, \quad \hat{b}_j = b_l + a_l - a_j, \quad j \le l.$$

By the induction hypothesis, we have for all $j \leq l, j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\hat{a}_j \le \hat{u} \le \hat{b}_j$$
 a.e. in $Q(2^{-j}) \cap \Omega_T$ and $\hat{b}_j - \hat{a}_j = b_j - a_j = 2^{-(j-l_0)\kappa_1}$.

Note also that $\hat{a}_l = a_l$, $\hat{b}_l = b_l$, and

$$\hat{m}_l := \frac{\hat{b}_l + \hat{a}_l}{2} = m_l$$

Moreover,

$$u \ge m_l \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \hat{u} \le m_l.$$

Hence

$$\lambda_{N+1}\Big(\{(t,x)\in(t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{2^{-l}}(x_1):\,\hat{u}(t,x)\geq m_l\}\Big)\leq \frac{1}{2}\,\lambda_{N+1}\Big((t_0,\bar{t})\times B_{2^{-l}}(x_1)\Big),$$

so that we are in the situation of case (A). We may now argue as above, replacing u, a_j , and b_j by \hat{u} , \hat{a}_j , and \hat{b}_j , respectively, and using equation (6.80). Since $|\hat{u}_0 - \hat{m}_l|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} = |u_0 - m_l|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}$ the corresponding estimates in Propositions 6.2.1, 6.3.1, and 6.4.1 hold with the same constants as above. Thus we obtain

$$\hat{u} \leq \hat{b}_l - \varepsilon_* (\hat{b}_l - \hat{a}_l) + 2^{-(l+1)\kappa}$$
 a.e. in $Q(2^{-(l+1)})$,

where ε_* is as above. It follows that

$$\hat{a}_l < \hat{u} < \hat{a}_l + 2^{-(l+1-l_0)\kappa_1}$$
 a.e. in $Q(2^{-(l+1)})$,

where κ_1 and l_0 are the same as before. In terms of u this means that

$$a_{l+1} := b_l - 2^{-(l+1-l_0)\kappa_1} \le u \le b_l =: b_{l+1}$$
 a.e. in $Q(2^{-(l+1)})$.

Hence in case (B), this is an admissible choice of a_{l+1} and b_{l+1} in order to satisfy (6.73) for j = l + 1.

Summarizing, we obtain the following result.

Proposition 6.5.1 Let u be a bounded weak solution of (6.1). Let $\tau_0 \in (0,T)$ be fixed and $(t_1, x_1) \in (\tau_0, T] \times \Omega$. Let further $Q(\rho) = (t_1 - \theta \rho^{2/\alpha}, t_1) \times B_{\rho}(x_1)$, where $\theta > 0$ is the fixed parameter from assumption (P). Then

$$\operatorname{ess osc}_{Q(2^{-j})\cap\Omega_T} u \le C \, 2^{-j\kappa_1}, \quad j \in \mathbb{Z},$$

where $\kappa_1 = \kappa_1(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \tau_0, \operatorname{diam}\Omega, |u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)}, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))})$ and $C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \tau_0, \operatorname{diam}\Omega, |u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)}, |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}, |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))}, \operatorname{dist}(x_1, \partial\Omega), |t_1 - \tau_0|).$

Note that here C, compared with κ_1 , also depends on $t_1 - \tau_0$ and dist $(x_1, \partial\Omega)$. C explodes when $\min\{t_1 - \tau_0, \text{dist}(x_1, \partial\Omega)\} \to 0$. This comes from fixing first $\kappa_1 \in (0, \min\{\kappa, 2\gamma_0/\alpha\}]$ so small that $2^{\kappa_1}(1 - \varepsilon_*) < 1$ as well as $\varepsilon_{\gamma} \leq \varepsilon$ and choosing then $l_0 \geq \tilde{l}$ such that (6.79) is satisfied. With κ_1 being fixed, the factor $2^{l_0\kappa_1}$ increases with l_0 , and by definition of \tilde{l} we have

$$\left(\frac{\theta}{t_1-\tau_0}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}, \frac{1}{\operatorname{dist}\left(x_1,\partial\Omega\right)} \leq 2^{\tilde{l}} \leq 2^{l_0}.$$

We further remark that the case $\omega := \operatorname{ess} \operatorname{osc}_{\Omega_T} u > 1$ can be simply reduced to the case considered above by means of the normalization $u \to u/\omega$, $u_0 \to u_0/\omega$, $f \to f/\omega$ and the trivial estimate $\operatorname{ess} \operatorname{osc}_{\Omega_T} u \leq 2|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)}$.

The estimate in Proposition 6.5.1 can be improved in that one can derive a bound for the oscillation of u on $Q(2^{-j}) \cap \Omega_T$ that depends linearly on the sum

$$\mathcal{D} := |u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)} + |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} + |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))}.$$
(6.81)

To this purpose we normalize by setting $\hat{u} = u/2\mathcal{D}$, $\hat{u}_0 = u_0/2\mathcal{D}$, and $\hat{f} = f/2\mathcal{D}$. Then $|u(t,x)|, |u_0(x)| \leq 1/2$ for a.a. $t \in (0,T)$ and $x \in \Omega$, $\operatorname{ess} \operatorname{osc}_{\Omega_T} u \leq 1$ as well as $|\hat{f}|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))} \leq 1/2$. Since \hat{u} is a weak solution of

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(\hat{u} - \hat{u}_0) - D_i(a_{ij}D_j\hat{u}) = \hat{f}, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega,$$

we may apply Propositions 6.2.1, 6.3.1, and 6.4.1 to \hat{u} and obtain corresponding estimates which do not depend on $|\hat{u}|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)}$, $|\hat{u}_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)}$, and $|\hat{f}|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))}$, by normalization and the above proofs. In particular the geometric parameter θ and the bound M_1 do not depend on these quantities. We may then argue as in the proof of Proposition 6.5.1 to obtain corresponding oscillation estimates for \hat{u} . Finally, rescaling to the original function u yields the following result.

Theorem 6.5.1 Let $\tau_0 \in (0,T)$ be fixed and $(t_1, x_1) \in (\tau_0, T] \times \Omega$. Then there exist positive numbers θ , κ_1 depending only on Λ , ν , α , r, q, N, diam Ω , τ_0 , and there is a positive constant $C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, \text{diam } \Omega, \tau_0, \text{dist}(x_1, \partial \Omega), |t_1 - \tau_0|)$ such that for any bounded weak solution u of (6.1) in Ω_T there holds

$$\operatorname{ess\,osc}_{Q(2^{-j})\cap\Omega_T} u \le C \, 2^{-j\kappa_1} \Big(|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_T)} + |u_0|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} + |f|_{L_r([0,T];L_q(\Omega))} \Big), \quad j \in \mathbb{Z},$$

with $Q(\rho) = (t_1 - \theta \rho^{2/\alpha}, t_1) \times B_{\rho}(x_1).$

As a simple consequence we obtain the subsequent oscillation estimate for general cylinders with continuous scaling parameter.

Corollary 6.5.1 Let $\tau_0 \in (0,T)$ be fixed and $(t_1, x_1) \in (\tau_0,T] \times \Omega$. Let further $\tau_1 > 0$ and $\tilde{Q}(\rho) = (t_1 - \tau_1 \rho^{2/\alpha}, t_1) \times B_{\rho}(x_1)$ for $\rho > 0$. Then there exist positive numbers $\kappa_1 = \kappa_1(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, diam \Omega, \tau_0)$ and $C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, r, q, N, diam \Omega, \tau_0, \tau_1, dist(x_1, \partial\Omega), |t_1 - \tau_0|)$ such that for any bounded weak solution u of (6.1) there holds

$$\operatorname{ess osc}_{\tilde{Q}(\rho)\cap\Omega_{T}} u \leq C \,\rho^{\kappa_{1}} \Big(|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_{T})} + |u_{0}|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} + |f|_{L_{r}([0,T];L_{q}(\Omega))} \Big), \quad \rho > 0.$$

In particular, any bounded weak solution u of (6.1) in Ω_T is Hölder continuous in Ω_T .

Proof. Suppose that $\tau_1 \geq \theta$, where θ is the same as in Theorem 6.5.1. Given $\rho > 0$ we put $\hat{\rho} = \rho(\tau_1/\theta)^{\alpha/2}$. There exists $j_* \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $2^{-(j_*+1)} \leq \hat{\rho} < 2^{-j_*}$. By Theorem 6.5.1, we then have with D as in (6.81)

$$\underset{\tilde{Q}(\rho)\cap\Omega_T}{\operatorname{ess osc}} u \leq \underset{Q(\hat{\rho})\cap\Omega_T}{\operatorname{ess osc}} u \leq \underset{Q(2^{-j_*})\cap\Omega_T}{\operatorname{ess osc}} u \leq C \, 2^{-j_*\kappa_1} D \\ \leq C 2^{\kappa_1} \hat{\rho}^{\kappa_1} D \leq C 2^{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{\tau_1}{\theta}\right)^{\frac{\alpha\kappa_1}{2}} \rho^{\kappa_1} D.$$

The case $\tau_1 < \theta$ is treated similarly.

The interior Hölder estimate stated in Theorem 6.1.1 follows now from Corollary 6.5.1 by means of a standard covering argument.

Remark 6.5.1 All results of this section can be generalized to the case where the right-hand side of equation (6.1) has the form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{k_f} f_k - \sum_{k=1}^{k_g} D_i g_k^i,$$

with $f_k \in L_{r_k}([0,T]; L_{q_k}(\Omega))$, $k = 1, \ldots, k_f$, $\sum_{i=1}^N (g_k^i)^2 \in L_{r^{(k)}}([0,T]; L_{q^{(k)}}(\Omega))$, $k = 1, \ldots, k_g$, and all pairs of exponents (r_k, q_k) and $(r^{(k)}, q^{(k)})$, respectively, are subject to the condition in (H3). This follows from Remark 6.4.1 and by straightforward modifications of the proofs given above.

6.6 Regularity up to t = 0

The objective of this and the following section is to find conditions on the data which ensure Hölder continuity up to the parabolic boundary. Here we do not aim at great generality but at results which are sufficient for the quasilinear problem to be studied in Chapter 7. Since there we will work with the setting of maximal L_p -regularity, it is natural (and also not so difficult) to use corresponding regularity results to achieve the goal.

We first discuss regularity up to t = 0.

Theorem 6.6.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0 and Ω be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^N . Let the assumptions (H1)-(H3) be satisfied. Let further $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ be an arbitrary subdomain and assume that

$$u_0|_{\tilde{\Omega}} \in B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\tilde{\Omega}) \quad with \quad p > \frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2},$$

for some C^2 -smooth domain $\tilde{\Omega}$ such that $\Omega' \subset \tilde{\Omega} \subset \Omega$ and Ω' is separated from $\partial \tilde{\Omega}$ by a positive distance d. Assume in addition that $p \geq 2$ if N = 1. Then, for any bounded weak solution u of (6.1) in Ω_T , there holds

$$[u]_{C^{\frac{\alpha\epsilon}{2},\epsilon}([0,T]\times\overline{\Omega'})} \le C\Big(|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_{T})} + |u_{0}|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega)} + |u_{0}|_{B^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}_{pp}(\tilde{\Omega})} + |f|_{L_{r}([0,T];L_{q}(\Omega))}\Big)$$
(6.82)

with positive constants $\epsilon = \epsilon(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, p, r, q, N, \operatorname{diam} \Omega)$ and $C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, p, r, q, N, d, \operatorname{diam} \Omega, T, \lambda_N(\Omega')).$

Proof. The basic idea of the proof is to extend u to $[-1, T] \times \Omega$ such that u is Hölder continuous on $[-1, 0] \times \overline{\Omega'}$ and to apply Theorem 6.1.1.

To this purpose we first extend $u_0|_{\tilde{\Omega}} \in B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\tilde{\Omega})$ to a function $\hat{u}_0 \in B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. By [82, Theorem 3.1], the problem

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} \left(w - \hat{u}_0 \right) - \Delta w = 0, \quad t \in (0, 1), \, x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
$$w|_{t=0} = \hat{u}_0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$

possesses a unique solution w in the class

$$Z := H_p^{\alpha}([0,1]; L_p(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L_p([0,1]; H_p^2(\mathbb{R}^N)),$$

and one has an estimate of the form

$$|w|_{Z} \le C_{0} |\hat{u}_{0}|_{B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\mathbb{R}^{N})} \le \tilde{C}_{0} |u_{0}|_{B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\tilde{\Omega})}.$$

Note that by the mixed derivative theorem (cf. [71]),

$$Z \hookrightarrow H_p^{\alpha(1-\varsigma)}([0,1]; H_p^{2\varsigma}(\mathbb{R}^N)), \quad \varsigma \in [0,1],$$

and thus $Z \hookrightarrow BUC^{\delta}([0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ for some sufficiently small $\delta \in (0, \alpha/2)$. In fact, the assumption $p > \frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2}$ ensures existence of some $\varsigma \in (0, 1)$ with $\alpha(1 - \varsigma) - \frac{1}{p} > \delta$ and $2\varsigma - \frac{N}{p} > \delta$.

Multiplying w by a suitable smooth cut-off function $\varphi(t)$ we can construct a function $\hat{w} \in Z$ with $\hat{w}|_{t=0} = \hat{u}_0$ and $\hat{w}|_{t=1} = 0$. We then extend u to $[-1,T] \times \Omega$ by setting $u(t,x) = \hat{w}(-t,x)$ for $t \in [-1,0)$ and $x \in \Omega$.

Next, we shift the time by setting $\tau = t + 1$. Put $\hat{u}(\tau, x) = u(\tau - 1, x), \tau \in (0, T + 1), x \in \tilde{\Omega}$. Define further

$$g := \partial_{\tau}^{\alpha} \hat{u} - \Delta \hat{u}, \quad \tau \in (0, 1), \, x \in \tilde{\Omega}$$

Then $g \in L_p([0,1] \times \tilde{\Omega})$, since $\hat{u}|_{\tau \in (0,1)} \in H_p^{\alpha}([0,1]; L_p(\tilde{\Omega})) \cap L_p([0,1]; H_p^2(\tilde{\Omega}))$ and $\hat{u}|_{\tau=0} = 0$. Furthermore we have for any test function $\eta \in \mathring{H}_2^{1,1}([0,T+1] \times \tilde{\Omega})$,

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{\Omega}} \left(-\eta_{\tau}(g_{1-\alpha} * \hat{u}) + D_{j}\hat{u}D_{i}\eta \right) dx \, d\tau = \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\tilde{\Omega}} g\eta \, dx \, d\tau - \int_{\tilde{\Omega}} \eta(g_{1-\alpha} * \hat{u}) \, dx \Big|_{\tau=1}.$$
 (6.83)

On the other hand, we have for a.a. $(\tau, x) \in (1, T+1) \times \tilde{\Omega}$,

$$(g_{1-\alpha} * \hat{u})(\tau, x) = (g_{1-\alpha} * u)(\tau - 1, x) + \int_0^1 g_{1-\alpha}(\tau - \sigma)\hat{u}(\sigma, x) d\sigma$$

= $(g_{1-\alpha} * (u - u_0))(\tau - 1, x) + g_{2-\alpha}(\tau)u_0(x)$
+ $\int_0^1 g_{1-\alpha}(\tau - \sigma)(\hat{u}(\sigma, x) - u_0(x)) d\sigma.$

 Set

$$h(\tau, x) = g_{1-\alpha}(\tau)u_0(x) + \int_0^1 \dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\tau - \sigma) \left(\hat{u}(\sigma, x) - u_0(x) \right) d\sigma =: h_1(\tau, x) + h_2(\tau, x),$$

 $\hat{a}_{ij}(\tau, x) = a_{ij}(\tau - 1, x)$, and $\hat{f}(\tau, x) = f(\tau - 1, x)$ for $(\tau, x) \in (1, T + 1) \times \tilde{\Omega}$. Since u is a weak solution of (6.1) in Ω_T , we thus obtain after a short computation that for any $\eta \in$

 $\mathring{H}_{2}^{1,1}([0,T+1] \times \tilde{\Omega})$ with $\eta|_{\tau=T+1} = 0$

$$\int_{1}^{T+1} \int_{\tilde{\Omega}} \left(-\eta_{\tau}(g_{1-\alpha} * \hat{u}) + \hat{a}_{ij} D_{j} \hat{u} D_{i} \eta \right) dx \, d\tau = \int_{1}^{T+1} \int_{\tilde{\Omega}} (\hat{f} + h) \eta \, dx \, d\tau + \int_{\tilde{\Omega}} \eta(g_{1-\alpha} * \hat{u}) \, dx \Big|_{\tau=1}.$$
(6.84)

Adding (6.83) and (6.84) shows that \hat{u} is a weak solution of

$$\partial_{\tau}^{\alpha}\hat{u} - D_i(b_{ij}D_j\hat{u}) = \tilde{f}, \ \tau \in (0, T+1), \ x \in \tilde{\Omega},$$

where

$$b_{ij}(\tau, x) = \chi_{[0,1]}(\tau) + \chi_{(1,T+1]}(\tau)\hat{a}_{ij}(\tau, x)$$

and

$$\tilde{f}(\tau, x) = \chi_{[0,1]}(\tau)g(\tau, x) + \chi_{(1,T+1]}(\tau)(\hat{f} + h)(\tau, x)$$

Evidently, $\chi_{[0,1]}(\tau)g \in L_p([0,T+1]\times\tilde{\Omega})$ and $\chi_{(1,T+1]}(\tau)\hat{f} \in L_r([0,T+1];L_q(\tilde{\Omega}))$. Concerning the *h*-term we clearly have $\chi_{(1,T+1]}(\tau)h_1 \in L_{\infty}([0,T+1] \times \tilde{\Omega})$. To estimate $\chi_{(1,T+1]}(\tau)h_2$, we employ the Hölder estimate

$$|\hat{u}(\sigma, x) - u_0(x)| = |\hat{u}(\sigma, x) - \hat{u}(1, x)| \le C_1(1 - \sigma)^{\delta}, \quad \sigma \in [0, 1], x \in \tilde{\Omega},$$

which results from the embedding $Z \hookrightarrow BUC^{\delta}([0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ and the construction of \hat{u} . It follows that for $1 < \tau = t + 1 \leq 1 + T$ and $x \in \tilde{\Omega}$

$$|h_2(\tau, x)| \le C_1 \int_0^1 [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(\tau - \sigma)](1 - \sigma)^\delta \, d\sigma$$
$$= \frac{\alpha C_1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_0^1 (t + \sigma)^{-1-\alpha} \sigma^\delta \, d\sigma.$$

Assuming that $t = \tau - 1 \in (0, 1)$ we then have

$$\begin{aligned} |h_2(\tau, x)| &\leq \frac{\alpha C_1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \left(\int_0^t (t+\sigma)^{-1-\alpha} \sigma^{\delta} \, d\sigma + \int_t^1 (t+\sigma)^{-1-\alpha} \sigma^{\delta} \, d\sigma \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha C_1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \left(\int_0^t (t+\sigma)^{-1-\alpha} t^{\delta} \, d\sigma + \int_t^1 \sigma^{-1-\alpha+\delta} \, d\sigma \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha C_1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} t^{-\alpha+\delta} \left(\frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\alpha-\delta} \right) \\ &\leq 3C_1(\tau-1)^{\delta} g_{1-\alpha}(\tau-1). \end{aligned}$$

This shows that $\chi_{(1,T+1]}(\tau)h_2 \in L_{r_0}([0,T+1];L_{\infty}(\tilde{\Omega}))$ for all $1 \leq r_0 < \frac{1}{\alpha-\delta}$. In particular we find some $\hat{r} > \frac{1}{\alpha}$ such that $\chi_{(1,T+1]}(\tau)h_2 \in L_{\hat{r}}([0,T+1];L_{\infty}(\tilde{\Omega}))$. All in all we see that \tilde{f} is of the form $\tilde{f} = \sum_{i=1}^4 \tilde{f}_i$, where $\tilde{f}_i \in L_{r_i}([0,T+1];L_{q_i}(\tilde{\Omega}))$ with

$$\frac{1}{\alpha r_i} + \frac{N}{2q_i} < 1, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$

Hence Theorem 6.1.1 and Remark 6.5.1 imply that \hat{u} is Hölder continuous in $[1/2, T+1] \times \overline{\Omega'}$. This in turn yields Hölder continuity of u in $[0,T] \times \overline{\Omega'}$, and it is not difficult to see that u is subject to the estimate (6.82). **Remark 6.6.1** It follows from Remark 6.5.1 and the proof above, that Theorem 6.6.1 can be generalized to the case where the right-hand side of equation (6.1) has the form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{k_f} f_k - \sum_{k=1}^{k_g} D_i g_k^i$$

with f_k and g_k^i as in Remark 6.5.1.

6.7 Regularity up to the parabolic boundary

The following result gives conditions on the data which are sufficient for Hölder continuity on $[0,T] \times \overline{\Omega}$.

Theorem 6.7.1 Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, T > 0, $N \ge 2$, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain with C^2 smooth boundary Γ . Let the assumptions (H1)-(H3) be satisfied. Suppose further that

$$u_0 \in B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\Omega), \quad g \in Y_D := B_{pp}^{\alpha(1-\frac{1}{2p})}([0,T]; L_p(\Gamma)) \cap L_p([0,T]; B_{pp}^{2-\frac{1}{p}}(\Gamma))$$

with $p > \frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2}$, and that the compatibility condition

$$u_0 = g|_{t=0}$$
 on Γ

is satisfied. Then for any bounded weak solution u of (6.1) in Ω_T such that u = g a.e. on $(0,T) \times \Gamma$, there holds

$$[u]_{C^{\frac{\alpha\epsilon}{2},\epsilon}([0,T]\times\overline{\Omega})} \le C\Big(|u|_{L_{\infty}(\Omega_{T})} + |u_{0}|_{B^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}_{pp}(\Omega)} + |f|_{L_{r}([0,T];L_{q}(\Omega))} + |g|_{Y_{D}}\Big)$$
(6.85)

with positive constants $\epsilon = \epsilon(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, p, r, q, N, \Omega)$ and $C = C(\Lambda, \nu, \alpha, p, r, q, N, \Omega, T)$.

Proof. By Theorem 2.8.1, the problem

$$\begin{split} \partial_t^\alpha(v-u_0) - \Delta v &= 0, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega \\ v &= g, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Gamma, \\ v|_{t=0} &= u_0, \ x \in \Omega, \end{split}$$

admits a unique strong solution v in the class

$$v \in Z := H_p^{\alpha}([0,T]; L_p(\Omega)) \cap L_p([0,T]; H_p^2(\Omega))$$

and

$$|v|_Z \le C_0(|u_0|_{B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\Omega)} + |g|_{Y_D}),$$

where C_0 only depends on α, p, N, T, Ω . As in the proof of Theorem 6.6.1 we see that $v \in C^{\delta}([0,T] \times \overline{\Omega})$ for some $\delta > 0$. Furthermore, the mixed derivative theorem implies that

$$D_i v \in H_p^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,T]; L_p(\Omega)) \cap L_p([0,T]; H_p^1(\Omega)) \hookrightarrow H_p^{\frac{\alpha\varsigma}{2}}([0,T]; H_p^{1-\varsigma}(\Omega))$$

for all $\varsigma \in [0,1]$. Without restriction of generality we may assume that $p \in (\frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2}, \frac{2}{\alpha} + N)$. With

$$\tilde{p} := \frac{\frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2}}{\frac{2}{\alpha p} + \frac{N}{p} - 1} > \frac{1}{\alpha} + \frac{N}{2}$$

and $\varsigma := \frac{2}{\alpha p} - \frac{1}{\alpha \tilde{p}} \in (0,1)$ we then have $H_p^{\frac{\alpha \varsigma}{2}}([0,T]; H_p^{1-\varsigma}(\Omega)) \hookrightarrow L_{2\tilde{p}}(\Omega_T)$, which shows that $|D_i v|^2 \in L_{\tilde{p}}(\Omega_T)$ with $\frac{1}{\alpha \tilde{p}} + \frac{N}{2\tilde{p}} < 1$. Setting w = u - v, w is a bounded weak solution of

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} w - D_i(a_{ij}D_jw) = f + D_i(a_{ij}D_jv) - \Delta v, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega,$$

and w = 0 a.e. on $(0, T) \times \Gamma$.

Next, let Ω_0 be an arbitrary bounded domain containing Ω such that $dist(\Omega, \partial \Omega_0) > 0$. We extend w, f, a_{ij} and $\varphi_i := D_i v$ to $[0,T] \times \Omega_0$ by setting $w, f, \varphi_i = 0$ and $a_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$ on $[0,T] \times (\Omega_0 \setminus \Omega)$. Then w solves

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} w - D_i(a_{ij}D_jw) = f + D_i(a_{ij}\varphi_j - \varphi_i), \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega_0,$$

in the weak sense, and thus Theorem 6.6.1 and Remark 6.6.1 imply that w is Hölder continuous on $[0,T] \times \overline{\Omega}$. Since u = v + w, the assertion of Theorem 6.7.1 follows.

Chapter 7

Global solvability of a quasilinear problem

7.1 The global solvability theorem

In this chapter we want to show how the Hölder estimates derived in the previous chapter can be used to prove global solvability of certain quasilinear problems.

Let $\alpha \in (0, 1), T > 0, N \ge 2$, and $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a bounded domain with C^2 -smooth boundary Γ . We consider the quasilinear problem

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0) - D_i(a_{ij}(u)D_j u) = f, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega, u = g, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Gamma, u|_{t=0} = u_0, \ x \in \Omega,$$
(7.1)

where we use again the sum convention. Letting $p > N + \frac{2}{\alpha}$ we will assume that

- (Q1) $f \in X^T := L_p([0,T]; L_p(\Omega)), g \in Y_D^T := B_{pp}^{\alpha(1-\frac{1}{2p})}([0,T]; L_p(\Gamma)) \cap L_p([0,T]; B_{pp}^{2-\frac{1}{p}}(\Gamma)), u_0 \in Y_{\gamma} := B_{pp}^{2-\frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\Omega), \text{ and } u_0 = g|_{t=0} \text{ on } \Gamma;$
- (Q2) $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j=1,\dots,N} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}; \operatorname{Sym}\{N\})$, and there exists $\nu > 0$ such that $a_{ij}(y)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \nu|\xi|^2$ for all $y \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

The main result concerning the problem (7.1) reads as follows.

Theorem 7.1.1 Let T > 0 be an arbitrary number, $p > N + \frac{2}{\alpha}$, and suppose that the assumptions (Q1) and (Q2) are satisfied. Then the problem (7.1) possesses a unique strong solution u in the class

$$u \in Z^T := H_p^{\alpha}([0,T]; L_p(\Omega)) \cap L_p([0,T]; H_p^2(\Omega)).$$

7.2 Proof of the theorem

The proof of theorem 7.1.1 is divided into three parts, devoted respectively to local wellposedness, existence of a maximally defined solution, and to a priori estimates which lead to global existence. 1. Local well-posedness. Short-time existence and uniqueness in the regularity class Z^{δ} can be established by means of the contraction mapping principle and maximal L_p -regularity for an appropriate linearized problem. We proceed similarly as in [82], see also [12] and [64].

We first define a reference function $w \in Z^T$ as the unique solution of the linear problem

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t^{\alpha}(w - u_0) - a_{ij}(u_0) D_i D_j w &= f + a'_{ij}(u_0) D_i u_0 \ D_j u_0, \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Omega \\ w &= g, \ t \in (0, T), \ x \in \Gamma, \\ w|_{t=0} &= u_0, \ x \in \Omega, \end{aligned}$$

see Theorem 2.8.1. Note that the condition $p > N + \frac{2}{\alpha}$ ensures the embedding

$$u_0 \in Y_{\gamma} = B_{pp}^{2 - \frac{2}{p\alpha}}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C^1(\overline{\Omega}).$$

and thus we also have

$$Z^T \hookrightarrow C([0,T];Y_{\gamma}) \hookrightarrow C([0,T];C^1(\overline{\Omega})).$$

For $\delta \in (0, T]$ and $\rho > 0$ let

$$\Sigma(\delta, \rho) = \{ v \in Z^{\delta} : v |_{t=0} = u_0, \, |v - w|_{Z^{\delta}} \le \rho \}$$

which is a closed subset of Z^{δ} . By Theorem 2.8.1, we may define the mapping $F : \Sigma(\delta, \rho) \to Z^{\delta}$ which assigns to $u \in \Sigma(\delta, \rho)$ the unique solution v = F(u) of the linear problem

$$\partial_{t}^{\alpha}(v - u_{0}) - a_{ij}(u_{0})D_{i}D_{j}v = f + h(u, Du, D^{2}u), \ t \in (0, \delta), \ x \in \Omega,$$

$$v = g, \ t \in (0, \delta), \ x \in \Gamma,$$

$$v|_{t=0} = u_{0}, \ x \in \Omega,$$
(7.2)

where

$$h(u, Du, D^{2}u) = (a_{ij}(u) - a_{ij}(u_{0}))D_{i}D_{j}u + a'_{ij}(u)D_{i}u D_{j}u.$$

Observe that every fixed point u of F is a local solution of (7.1) and vice versa, at least for some small time interval $[0, \delta]$.

Since $Z^{\delta} \hookrightarrow C([0, \delta]; C^1(\overline{\Omega}))$ we may set

$$\mu_w(\delta) := \max\{|w(t,x) - u_0(x)| + |Dw(t,x) - Du_0(x)| : t \in [0,\delta], x \in \overline{\Omega}\}.$$

Evidently, $\mu_w(\delta) \to 0$ as $\delta \to 0$, due to $w|_{t=0} = u_0$. Letting $u \in \Sigma(\delta, \rho)$ we then have for all $t \in [0, \delta]$ and $x \in \overline{\Omega}$

$$|u(t,x) - u_0(x)| + |Du(t,x) - Du_0(x)| \le |u - w|_{C([0,\delta];C^1(\overline{\Omega}))} + \mu_w(\delta)$$

$$\le M_0 |u - w|_{Z^{\delta}} + \mu_w(\delta) \le M_0 \rho + \mu_w(\delta),$$
(7.3)

where the embedding constant $M_0 > 0$ does not depend on u and $\delta \in (0, T]$; the latter is true since u - w belongs to the space ${}_0Z^{\delta} := \{\varphi \in Z^{\delta} : \varphi|_{t=0} = 0\}$. (7.3) yields for any $u \in \Sigma(\delta, \rho)$ the bound

$$|u(t,x) - u_0(x)| + |Du(t,x) - Du_0(x)| \le M_0\rho_0 + \mu_w(T), \quad t \in [0,\delta], \ x \in \overline{\Omega},$$
(7.4)

where we assume $\rho \in (0, \rho_0]$.

Let now $u \in \Sigma(\delta, \rho)$ and v = F(u). Then $v - w \in {}_0Z^{\delta}$ solves the problem

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t^{\alpha}(v-w) - a_{ij}(u_0)D_iD_j(v-w) &= h(u, Du, D^2u) - a'_{ij}(u_0)D_iu_0 D_ju_0, \ t \in (0, \delta), \ x \in \Omega, \\ v-w &= 0, \ t \in (0, \delta), \ x \in \Gamma, \\ (v-w)|_{t=0} &= 0, \ x \in \Omega. \end{aligned}$$
Consequently, it follows from Theorem 2.8.1 that for some constant $M_1 > 0$ which is independent of $\delta \in (0, T]$ there holds

$$\begin{aligned} |v - w|_{Z^{\delta}} &\leq M_1 |h(u, Du, D^2 u) - a'_{ij}(u_0) D_j u_0 |_{X^{\delta}} \\ &\leq M_1 | (a_{ij}(u) - a_{ij}(u_0)) D_i D_j u |_{X^{\delta}} + M_1 |a'_{ij}(u) D_i u D_j u - a'_{ij}(u_0) D_i u_0 D_j u_0 |_{X^{\delta}}. \end{aligned}$$

Using (7.3) and (7.4) we may estimate the first term as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} |(a_{ij}(u) - a_{ij}(u_0))D_iD_ju|_{X^{\delta}} &\leq (|A(u) - A(w)|_{(L_{\infty})^{N^2}} + |A(w) - A(u_0)|_{(L_{\infty})^{N^2}}) \\ &\times (|D^2u - D^2w|_{(X^{\delta})^{N^2}} + |D^2w|_{(X^{\delta})^{N^2}}) \\ &\leq M_2(\rho + \mu_w(\delta))(\rho + |D^2w|_{(X^{\delta})^{N^2}}), \end{aligned}$$

where $M_2 > 0$ does not depend on δ and ρ . Similarly we obtain

$$|a'_{ij}(u)D_{i}u D_{j}u - a'_{ij}(u_{0})D_{i}u_{0} D_{j}u_{0}|_{X^{\delta}} \le M_{3}(\rho + \mu_{w}(\delta))(\rho + \delta^{\frac{1}{p}}),$$

with $M_3 > 0$ being independent of δ and ρ ; here the factor $\delta^{\frac{1}{p}}$ comes from the estimate $|z|_{X^{\delta}} \leq (\lambda_N(\Omega)\delta)^{1/p}|z|_{\infty}$. We conclude that

$$|v - w|_{Z^{\delta}} \le M \big((\rho + \mu(\delta))^2, \tag{7.5}$$

where M and $\mu(\delta)$ are constants, which do not depend on ρ , M is independent of δ , and $\mu(\delta)$ is non-decreasing with $\mu(\delta) \to 0$ as $\delta \to 0$.

Next let $u_i \in \Sigma(\delta, \rho)$ and $v_i = F(u_i)$, i = 1, 2. Then $v_1 - v_2 \in {}_0Z^{\delta}$ solves the problem

$$\begin{split} \partial_t^{\alpha}(v_1 - v_2) - a_{ij}(u_0) D_i D_j(v - w) &= h(u_1, Du_1, D^2 u_1) - h(u_2, Du_2, D^2 u_2), \ t \in (0, \delta), \ x \in \Omega, \\ v_1 - v_2 &= 0, \ t \in (0, \delta), \ x \in \Gamma, \\ (v_1 - v_2)|_{t=0} &= 0, \ x \in \Omega, \end{split}$$

hence

$$|v_1 - v_2|_{Z^{\delta}} \le M_1 |h(u_1, Du_1, D^2 u_1) - h(u_2, Du_2, D^2 u_2)|_{X^{\delta}}$$

Estimating similarly as above we obtain

$$|v_1 - v_2|_{Z^{\delta}} \le M((\rho + \mu(\delta))|u_1 - u_2|_{Z^{\delta}},$$
(7.6)

where M and $\mu(\delta)$ are like those in (7.5).

Finally, the estimates (7.5) and (7.6) show that for sufficiently small ρ and δ the mapping F is a strict contraction which leaves the set $\Sigma(\delta, \rho)$ invariant. Local existence and uniqueness of strong solutions to (7.1) follows now by the contraction mapping principle.

2. The maximally defined solution. The local solution $u \in Z^{\delta}$ obtained in the first part can be continued to some larger interval $[0, \delta + \delta_1] \subset [0, T]$. In fact, let $u_{\delta} := u|_{t=\delta} \in Y_{\gamma}$ and define the set

$$\Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho) := \{ v \in Z^{\delta + \delta_1} : v|_{[0,\delta]} = u, |v - w|_{Z^{\delta + \delta_1}} \le \rho \},\$$

where the reference function $w \in Z^T$ is now defined as the solution of the linear problem

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t^{\alpha}(w - u_0) - a_{ij}(u_{\delta})D_iD_jw &= f + h_1 + \chi_{(\delta,T]}(t)a'_{ij}(u_{\delta})D_iu_{\delta} D_ju_{\delta}, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega, \\ w &= g, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Gamma, \\ w|_{t=0} &= u_0, \ x \in \Omega, \end{aligned}$$

with

$$h_1 = \chi_{[0,\delta]}(t) \Big(\big(a_{ij}(u) - a_{ij}(u_{\delta}) \big) D_i D_j u + a'_{ij}(u) D_i u D_j u \Big).$$

Observe that $w|_{[0,\delta]} = u$, by uniqueness. So $\Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho)$ is not empty and it becomes a complete metric space when endowed with the metric induced by the norm of $Z^{\delta+\delta_1}$.

Define next the mapping $F : \Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho) \to Z^{\delta+\delta_1}$ which assigns to $\tilde{u} \in \Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho)$ the solution $v = F(\tilde{u})$ of the linear problem

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t^{\alpha}(v-u_0) - a_{ij}(u_{\delta})D_iD_jv &= f + \tilde{h}(\tilde{u}, D\tilde{u}, D^2\tilde{u}), \ t \in (0, \delta + \delta_1), \ x \in \Omega, \\ w &= g, \ t \in (0, \delta + \delta_1), \ x \in \Gamma, \\ w|_{t=0} &= u_0, \ x \in \Omega, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\tilde{h}(\tilde{u}, D\tilde{u}, D^{2}\tilde{u}) = \left(a_{ij}(\tilde{u}) - a_{ij}(u_{\delta})\right) D_{i} D_{j}\tilde{u} + a'_{ij}(\tilde{u}) D_{i}\tilde{u} D_{j}\tilde{u}$$

Since $\tilde{u}|_{[0,\delta]} = u$ we have also $v|_{[0,\delta]} = u$, by uniqueness.

Observe that $h_1 = \tilde{h}(\tilde{u}, D\tilde{u}, D^2\tilde{u})$ on $[0, \delta]$ and thus

$$|v-w|_{Z^{\delta+\delta_1}} \leq M_1 |h(\tilde{u}, D\tilde{u}, D^2\tilde{u}) - a'_{ij}(u_{\delta}) D_i u_{\delta} D_j u_{\delta}|_{L_p([\delta, \delta+\delta_1] \times \Omega)}.$$

Further,

$$|F(\tilde{u}_1) - F(\tilde{u}_2)|_{Z^{\delta+\delta_1}} \le M_1 |\tilde{h}(\tilde{u}_1, D\tilde{u}_1, D^2\tilde{u}_1) - \tilde{h}(\tilde{u}_2, D\tilde{u}_2, D^2\tilde{u}_2)|_{L_p([\delta, \delta+\delta_1] \times \Omega)}$$

for $\tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2 \in \Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho)$. Therefore we may estimate analogously to the first step to see that for sufficiently small δ_1 and ρ we have $F(\Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho)) \subset \Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho)$ and F is a strict contraction. Hence the contraction mapping principle yields existence of a unique fixed point of F in $\Sigma(\delta, \delta_1, \rho)$, which is the unique solution of (7.1) on $[0, \delta + \delta_1]$.

Repeating this argument we obtain a maximal interval of existence $[0, T_{max})$ with $T_{max} \leq T$, that is T_{max} is the supremum of all $\tau \in (0, T)$ such that the problem (7.1) has a unique solution $u \in Z^{\tau}$.

3. A priori bounds and global well-posedness. In order to establish global existence we will show that $|u|_{Z^{\tau}}$ stays bounded as $\tau \nearrow T_{max}$.

Let $\tau \in (0, T_{max})$ and $u \in Z^{\tau}$ be the unique solution of (7.1). Setting $b_{ij}(t, x) = a_{ij}(u(t, x))$, it is evident that u is a weak solution of

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) - D_i(b_{ij}D_ju) = f, \ t \in (0,\tau), \ x \in \Omega.$$

Since $Y_{\gamma} \hookrightarrow C(\overline{\Omega})$ and $Y_D^{\tau} \hookrightarrow C([0,\tau] \times \Gamma)$, Corollary 4.2.1 implies a uniform sup-bound for |u|, namely

$$|u(t,x)| \leq C_1, \quad t \in [0,\tau], x \in \overline{\Omega},$$

where the constant C_1 depends only on the data $|f|_{X^T}, |g|_{\infty}, |u_0|_{\infty}, \Omega, T, \alpha, N$, and ν , not on τ . It follows then from Theorem 6.7.1 that for some $\varepsilon > 0$ we have

$$|u|_{C^{\varepsilon}([0,\tau]\times\overline{\Omega})} \leq C_2,$$

where the number $C_2 \ge 1$ depends only on $|f|_{X^T}, |g|_{Y_D^T}, |u_0|_{Y_\gamma}, \Omega, T, \alpha, N$, and ν , not on τ . In particular, we obtain a uniform Hölder estimate for the coefficients $b_{ij}, i, j = 1, \ldots, N$.

The first equation of (7.1) can be rewritten as

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) - b_{ij}D_iD_ju = f + a'_{ij}(u)D_iu D_ju.$$

By Theorem 2.8.1, the linear problem

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(v-u_0) - b_{ij}D_iD_jv = f, \ t \in (0,\tau), \ x \in \Omega,$$
$$v = g, \ t \in (0,\tau), \ x \in \Gamma,$$
$$v|_{t=0} = u_0, \ x \in \Omega,$$

has a unique solution $v \in Z^{\tau}$ and there exists a constant $M_1 > 0$ independent of τ such that

$$|u - v|_{Z^{\tau}} \leq M_1 |a'_{ij}(u) D_i u D_j u|_{X^{\tau}}$$

$$\leq M_1 \sum_{i,j=1}^N \max_{|y| \leq C_1} |a'_{ij}(y)| \left| |Du|^2 \right|_{X^{\tau}}.$$
(7.7)

The assumption on p implies $p > \frac{N}{2}$ and thus

$$H^2_p(\Omega) \hookrightarrow H^1_{2p}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C^{\varepsilon_0}(\overline{\Omega})$$

for some $\varepsilon_0 \in (0, \varepsilon]$. By the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality, there exists then $\theta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ such that

$$|Du(t,\cdot)|_{L_{2p}(\Omega;\mathbb{R}^N)} \le C|u(t,\cdot)|^{\theta}_{H^2_p(\Omega)}|u(t,\cdot)|^{1-\theta}_{C^{\varepsilon}(\overline{\Omega})} \le CC_2|u(t,\cdot)|^{\theta}_{H^2_p(\Omega)}, \quad t \in [0,\tau],$$

and hence by Hölder's and Young's inequality

$$\begin{split} \left| |Du|^2 \right|_{X^{\tau}} &\leq \tilde{C} |Du|^2_{L_{2p}([0,\tau] \times \Omega; \mathbb{R}^N)} \leq C_3 |u|^{2\theta}_{L_p([0,\tau]; H^2_p(\Omega))} \tau^{\frac{1-2\theta}{p}} \\ &\leq C_4 |u|^{2\theta}_{Z^{\tau}} \leq \varepsilon_1 |u|_{Z^{\tau}} + C_5(\varepsilon_1, \theta, C_4), \end{split}$$

for all $\varepsilon_1 > 0$. This together with (7.7) yields a bound for $|u - v|_{Z^{\tau}}$ which is uniform w.r.t. τ . Since $|v|_{Z^{\tau}}$ stays bounded as $\tau \nearrow T_{max}$, it follows that $|u|_{Z^{\tau}}$ enjoys the same property. Hence we have global existence.

Chapter 8

The Harnack inequality for the fractional derivation operator

8.1 Harnack inequalities and the main result

Harnack inequalities have been proved to be an important tool in the theory of linear and nonlinear partial differential equations. We refer to the recent survey [42] for an introduction into this subject. A variant of the classical Harnack inequality for the Laplace operator can be stated as follows. Denote by $B_{\rho}(y)$ the open ball in \mathbb{R}^n with radius $\rho > 0$ and center $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose that u is a nonnegative harmonic function in $B_{4\rho}(y)$. Then

$$\sup_{B_{\rho}(y)} u \le 3^n \inf_{B_{\rho}(y)} u,$$

see e.g. [29, Section 2.3]. The classical parabolic Harnack inequality (i.e. for the heat operator) is due to Hadamard [33] and Pini [61]. The following version was introduced by Moser [57] in a more general context, see also [21]. Letting $\rho > 0$, $\sigma \in (0, 1)$, and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we define the boxes

$$Q_{-} = (-\rho^2, -\sigma\rho^2) \times B_{\rho}(y), \quad Q_{+} = (\sigma\rho^2, \rho^2) \times B_{\rho}(y).$$

Then there exists a constant M > 0 depending only on n and σ such that for any nonnegative and sufficiently smooth function u in $(-4\rho^2, \rho^2) \times B_{4\rho}(y)$ satisfying

$$\partial_t u - \Delta u = 0$$
 in $(-4\rho^2, \rho^2) \times B_{4\rho}(y)$

there holds the inequality

$$\sup_{Q_-} u \le M \, \inf_{Q_+} u.$$

For more general results on Harnack inequalities in the elliptic and parabolic case we refer to [20], [29], [42] [51], and the references given therein.

Concerning non-local operators it is known that the Harnack inequality also holds for fractional powers of the negative Laplacian. Let $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and suppose that u is a sufficiently smooth function on \mathbb{R}^n that is nonnegative everywhere and satisfies $(-\Delta)^{\alpha}u = 0$ in $B_{4\rho}(y)$. Then

$$\sup_{B_{\rho}(y)} u \le M \inf_{B_{\rho}(y)} u,$$

where the constant M depends only on α and n, cf. [5, Theorem 5.1]. We point out that here the Harnack inequality fails, if the global positivity assumption is replaced by a local one, cf. [40]. This is due to the non-local nature of $(-\Delta)^{\alpha}$. More general results on Harnack estimates for integro-differential operators like $(-\Delta)^{\alpha}$ can be found in [2].

The main objective of this chapter is to show that a Harnack inequality also holds for the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivation operator ∂_t^{α} with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$.

To state the main result we need some notation. Given $0 \le t_1 < t_2$ we define the space $Z(t_1, t_2)$ by

$$Z(t_1, t_2) = \{ u \in C([0, t_2]) : g_{1-\alpha} * u|_{[t_1, t_2]} \in H^1_1([t_1, t_2]) \}.$$

For $t_* \geq 0$, $0 < \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \sigma_3$, and $\rho > 0$ we introduce the intervals

$$W_{-} = (t_* + \sigma_1 \rho, t_* + \sigma_2 \rho), \quad W_{+} = (t_* + \sigma_2 \rho, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho).$$

Then the main result of this chapter is the following.

Theorem 8.1.1 Let $t_* \ge 0$, $0 < \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \sigma_3$, and $\rho > 0$. Let further $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $u_0 \ge 0$. Then for any function $u \in Z(t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ that is nonnegative on $(0, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ and that satisfies

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0)(t) = 0, \quad a.a. \ t \in (t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho),$$
(8.1)

there holds the inequality

$$\sup_{W_{-}} u \le \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_1} \inf_{W_{+}} u. \tag{8.2}$$

Note that in Theorem 8.1.1 we do not assume that $u(0) = u_0$. So by setting $u_0 = 0$ we obtain the Harnack inequality for the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative. If we assume in addition that $u(0) = u_0$ then Theorem 8.1.1 yields the Harnack inequality for the so-called Caputo fractional derivation operator, which is a regularized version of the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative, cf. the monographs [44] and [67].

In Section 8.3 we will show that, similarly to the case of the fractional Laplacian, the Harnack inequality fails if the global positivity assumption is replaced by a local one. Furthermore, we will demonstrate that the above Harnack estimate breaks down if the relation $\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0) = 0$ is only satisfied on the smaller interval $(t_* + \sigma_1 \rho, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$.

In the last section of this chapter we generalize Theorem 8.1.1 to nonnegative solutions of the fractional differential equation

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0)(t) + \mu u(t) = f(t), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho), \tag{8.3}$$

where $u_0, \mu \ge 0$ and $f \in L_p([t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho])$ for some $p > 1/\alpha$, see Theorem 8.4.1 below.

It is highly desirable to have a Harnack inequality also for nonnegative solutions of time fractional diffusion equations the prototype of which reads

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0)(t,x) - \Delta u(t,x) = 0, \quad t \in (0,T), \ x \in \Omega,$$

$$(8.4)$$

where T > 0, Ω is a domain in \mathbb{R}^N , $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, and $u_0 = u_0(x)$ is a given function. This is an open problem, even for the Laplacian. However, the results of this contribution indicate that a Harnack inequality should also hold in this situation. The author believes that the estimates obtained in Chapter 6 are potentially very useful to solve this problem.

Before giving the proof of Theorem 8.1.1, let us remark again (cf. Section 5.1) that a weak Harnack inequality is valid for nonnegative supersolutions of (8.3), see [83]. Adopting the notation of the present note and assuming for simplicity that f = 0 and $\mu = 0$ it is shown in [83] that for any function $u \in Z(t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ that is nonnegative on $(0, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ and that satisfies

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u-u_0)(t) \ge 0$$
, a.a. $t \in (t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$, $u(0) = u_0$,

we have

$$\rho^{-1/p} |u|_{L_p((t_*, t_* + \sigma_1 \rho))} \le C \inf_{W_\perp} u, \tag{8.5}$$

for all 0 , where the constant <math>C > 0 depends only on $0 < \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \sigma_3$, p, and $\alpha \in (0,1)$. The critical exponent $\frac{1}{1-\alpha}$ is optimal. Notice that on the left of (8.5) we have the interval $(t_*, t_* + \sigma_1 \rho)$, not W_- as in (8.2).

8.2 Proof of the Harnack inequality

Suppose $u \in Z(t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ is nonnegative on $(0, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ and satisfies (8.1). We introduce the shifted time $s = t - t_*$ and define the function \tilde{u} by means of $\tilde{u}(s) = u(s + t_*)$, $s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho)$. Then (8.1) implies that

$$\partial_s^{\alpha} \tilde{u}(s) = g_{1-\alpha}(t_* + s)u_0 + h(s), \quad s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho),$$
(8.6)

where the history term h(s) is given by

$$h(s) = \int_0^{t_*} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(t_* + s - \tau)] u(\tau) \, d\tau, \quad s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho).$$
(8.7)

Here, by \dot{g} we mean the derivative of the function g.

Since $(g_{1-\alpha} * \tilde{u})(0) = 0$ and $g_{\alpha} * g_{1-\alpha} = 1$, we have

$$g_{\alpha} * \partial_s^{\alpha} \tilde{u} = g_{\alpha} * \partial_s (g_{1-\alpha} * \tilde{u}) = \partial_s (g_{\alpha} * g_{1-\alpha} * \tilde{u}) = \tilde{u}$$

Therefore convolving (8.6) with g_{α} yields

$$\tilde{u}(s) = u_0 \big(g_\alpha * g_{1-\alpha}(\cdot + t_*) \big)(s) + (g_\alpha * h)(s), \quad s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho).$$
(8.8)

The first term on the right-hand side of (8.8) can be rewritten by the use of the identity

$$(g_{\alpha} * g_{1-\alpha}(\cdot + t_*))(s) = \int_0^s g_{\alpha}(s-\sigma)g_{1-\alpha}(t_*+\sigma) d\sigma$$
$$= s \int_0^1 g_{\alpha}(s-rs)g_{1-\alpha}(t_*+rs) dr$$
$$= \int_0^1 g_{\alpha}(1-r)g_{1-\alpha}(r+\frac{t_*}{s}) dr$$
$$=: \varphi(s), \quad s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho).$$
(8.9)

Similarly, we have for the second term

$$(g_{\alpha} * h)(s) = \int_{0}^{s} g_{\alpha}(s - \sigma) \int_{0}^{t_{*}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(t_{*} + \sigma - \tau)]u(\tau) d\tau d\sigma$$

$$= \frac{1}{s} \int_{0}^{1} g_{\alpha}(1 - r) \int_{0}^{t_{*}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(r + \frac{t_{*} - \tau}{s})]u(\tau) d\tau dr \qquad (8.10)$$

$$=: \psi(s), \quad s \in (0, \sigma_{3}\rho).$$

Consequently, (8.8) is equivalent to

$$\tilde{u}(s) = u_0 \varphi(s) + \psi(s), \quad s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho).$$

Let now $s \in (\sigma_1 \rho, \sigma_2 \rho)$ and $\bar{s} \in (\sigma_2 \rho, \sigma_3 \rho)$. Since $g_{1-\alpha}$ is nonincreasing, we evidently have $\varphi(s) \leq \varphi(\bar{s})$. As to ψ , we use the positivity of u on $(0, t_*)$ and the monotonicity of $-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}$ to estimate as follows.

$$\begin{split} \psi(s) &\leq \frac{1}{\sigma_1 \rho} \int_0^1 g_\alpha (1-r) \int_0^{t_*} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha} (r + \frac{t_* - \tau}{\sigma_2 \rho})] u(\tau) \, d\tau \, dr \\ &\leq \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_1 \bar{s}} \int_0^1 g_\alpha (1-r) \int_0^{t_*} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha} (r + \frac{t_* - \tau}{\bar{s}})] u(\tau) \, d\tau \, dr \\ &= \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_1} \, \psi(\bar{s}). \end{split}$$

By positivity of u_0 , we thus obtain

$$\tilde{u}(s) \le \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_1} \tilde{u}(\bar{s}),$$

which immediately implies inequality (8.2). This completes the proof of Theorem 8.1.1.

Remark 8.2.1 Note that in case $t_* = 0$ relation (8.1) implies $u(t) = u_0$ for all $t \in [0, \sigma_3 \rho]$, thus the Harnack inequality (8.2) trivially holds with the constant $\frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_1} > 1$ being replaced by 1.

8.3 Counterexamples

Example 8.3.1 We show first that the Harnack inequality fails for nonnegative functions $u \in Z(t_* + \sigma_1 \rho, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ satisfying the relation $\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0) = 0$ only on the smaller interval $(t_* + \sigma_1 \rho, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$.

To this purpose fix $W_{-} = (1,2)$ and $W_{+} = (2,3)$ and consider the family of functions u_{ε} , $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$, defined by

$$u_{\varepsilon}(t) = \begin{cases} 0 : 0 \le t \le 1 - \varepsilon \\ \frac{1}{\varepsilon} (t - 1 + \varepsilon) : 1 - \varepsilon \le t \le 1, \end{cases}$$

$$(8.11)$$

and

$$\partial_t^{\alpha} u_{\varepsilon} = 0, \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (1,3).$$
 (8.12)

Apparently $u_{\varepsilon}|_{[0,1]} \in H^1_1([0,1])$ so that (8.12) means that with s = t - 1 and $\tilde{u}_{\varepsilon}(s) = u_{\varepsilon}(s+1)$ we have

$$\tilde{u}_{\varepsilon}(s) = (g_{\alpha} * h_{\varepsilon})(s), \quad s \in (0, 2),$$
(8.13)

where

$$h_{\varepsilon}(s) = \int_0^1 [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(1+s-\tau)] u_{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau, \quad s \in (0,2).$$

Observe that u_{ε} is nonnegative on (0,3) and that $u_{\varepsilon} \in Z(1,3)$ for all $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$. From $u_{\varepsilon} = 0$ in $[0, 1 - \varepsilon]$ and $u_{\varepsilon} \leq 1$ in $[1 - \varepsilon, 1]$ we infer the estimate

$$h_{\varepsilon}(s) \leq \int_{1-\varepsilon}^{1} \left[-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(1+s-\tau) \right] d\tau = g_{1-\alpha}(s) - g_{1-\alpha}(s+\varepsilon), \quad s \in (0,2).$$

In view of (8.13) this gives for $s \in (1, 2)$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}(s) &\leq \int_0^s g_\alpha(s-\sigma) [g_{1-\alpha}(\sigma) - g_{1-\alpha}(\sigma+\varepsilon)] \, d\sigma \\ &= \int_0^1 g_\alpha(1-r) [g_{1-\alpha}(r) - g_{1-\alpha}(r+\frac{\varepsilon}{s})] \, dr \\ &\leq \int_0^1 g_\alpha(1-r) [g_{1-\alpha}(r) - g_{1-\alpha}(r+\varepsilon)] \, dr =: \delta(\varepsilon) \end{split}$$

By the dominated convergence theorem, $\delta(\varepsilon)$ vanishes as $\varepsilon \to 0+$. Hence

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0+} \inf_{W_+} u_{\varepsilon} = 0.$$

On the other hand we have $u_{\varepsilon}(1) = \tilde{u}(0) = 1$ for all $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$, and therefore

$$\sup_{W_{-}} u_{\varepsilon} \ge 1, \quad \varepsilon \in (0, 1].$$

This shows that an estimate of the form

$$\sup_{W_{-}} u \le M \inf_{W_{+}} u$$

with M independent of u cannot hold.

Example 8.3.2 We next show that the Harnack inequality fails if the positivity assumptions $u_0 \ge 0$ and $u \ge 0$ in $(0, t_*)$ are dropped.

Fix $t_* > 0$ and consider the family of functions u_{ε} , $\varepsilon > 0$, defined by

$$u_{\varepsilon}(t) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} (t - t_* + \varepsilon), \quad 0 \le t \le t_*,$$

and

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u_{\varepsilon} - u_{0,\varepsilon}) = 0, \quad \text{a.a. } t > t_*,$$

$$(8.14)$$

where

$$u_{0,\varepsilon} = u_{\varepsilon}(0) = 1 - \frac{t_*}{\varepsilon}.$$

Observe that u_{ε} has negative values in $[0, t_*]$ if and only if $\varepsilon \in (0, t_*)$. Setting $s = t - t_*$ and $\tilde{u}_{\varepsilon}(s) = u_{\varepsilon}(s + t_*), s \ge 0$, (8.14) is equivalent to

$$\tilde{u}_{\varepsilon}(s) = u_{0,\varepsilon} \big(g_{\alpha} * g_{1-\alpha}(\cdot + t_*) \big)(s) + (g_{\alpha} * h_{\varepsilon})(s), \quad s > 0,$$
(8.15)

where

$$h_{\varepsilon}(s) = \int_{0}^{t_{*}} [-\dot{g}_{1-\alpha}(t_{*}+s-\tau)] u_{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau$$

= $\left[g_{1-\alpha}(t_{*}+s-\tau)u_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\right]_{\tau=0}^{\tau=t_{*}} - \int_{0}^{t_{*}} g_{1-\alpha}(t_{*}+s-\tau)\dot{u}_{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau$
= $g_{1-\alpha}(s) - g_{1-\alpha}(t_{*}+s)u_{0,\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(g_{2-\alpha}(s) - g_{2-\alpha}(s+t_{*})\right), \quad s > 0.$

Inserting the last identity into (8.15) yields

$$\tilde{u}_{\varepsilon}(s) = 1 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(g_{\alpha} * \left[g_{2-\alpha} - g_{2-\alpha}(\cdot + t_*) \right] \right)(s), \quad s \ge 0.$$

In particular \tilde{u}_{ε} is differentiable in $(0,\infty)$ and we have

$$\dot{\tilde{u}}_{\varepsilon}(s) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(g_{\alpha} * \left[g_{1-\alpha} - g_{1-\alpha}(\cdot + t_*) \right] \right)(s) - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} g_{\alpha}(s) g_{2-\alpha}(t_*) < \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(1 - g_{\alpha}(s) g_{2-\alpha}(t_*) \right), \quad s > 0.$$

This shows that \tilde{u}_{ε} is strictly decreasing in the interval $[0, s_*]$ with

$$s_* = \frac{t_*}{[\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(2-\alpha)]^{1/(1-\alpha)}}$$

Selecting

$$\varepsilon = (g_{\alpha} * [g_{2-\alpha}(\cdot + t_*) - g_{2-\alpha}])(s_*),$$

we have

$$\tilde{u}_{\varepsilon}(s_*) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{u}_{\varepsilon}(s) > 0, \ s \in [0, s_*).$$

$$(8.16)$$

Note that $\varepsilon < t_*$, for otherwise we would have $u_{0,\varepsilon} \ge 0$ and $u_{\varepsilon} > 0$ in $(0, t_*]$, which by (8.15), entails strict positivity of \tilde{u}_{ε} , a contradiction.

Choosing the parameters in such a way that $s_* = t_* + \sigma_3 \rho$, (8.16) shows that an estimate of the form

$$\sup_{W_{-}} u_{\varepsilon} \le M \inf_{W_{+}} u_{\varepsilon}$$

cannot hold.

8.4 Nonhomogeneous fractional differential equations

In this section we derive a Harnack estimate for nonnegative solutions of the more general equation

$$\partial_t^{\alpha}(u - u_0)(t) + \mu u(t) = f(t), \quad \text{a.a. } t \in (t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho), \tag{8.17}$$

here $\mu \ge 0$ is another parameter and we assume that $f \in L_p([t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho])$ for some $p > 1/\alpha$. The other parameters are as before.

Suppose $u \in Z(t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ is nonnegative on $(0, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ and satisfies (8.17). Setting $s = t - t_*$ and $\tilde{u}(s) = u(s + t_*)$, $\tilde{f}(s) = f(s + t_*)$, $\tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}(s) = g_{1-\alpha}(s + t_*)$, $s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho)$, we infer from (8.17) that

$$\partial_s^{\alpha} \tilde{u}(s) + \mu \tilde{u}(s) = \tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}(s)u_0 + h(s) + \tilde{f}(s), \quad s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho),$$
(8.18)

where h(s) is given by (8.7). Let $r_{\alpha,\mu}$ denote the resolvent kernel corresponding to (8.17), that is

$$r_{\alpha,\,\mu}(s) + \mu(r_{\alpha,\,\mu} * g_{\alpha})(s) = g_{\alpha}(s), \quad s > 0.$$

Equation (8.18) then implies

$$\tilde{u}(s) = (r_{\alpha,\,\mu} * [\tilde{g}_{1-\alpha}u_0 + h + \tilde{f}])(s), \quad s \in (0,\sigma_3\rho).$$
(8.19)

Recall that (cf. (5.52))

$$r_{\alpha,\mu}(s) = \Gamma(\alpha)g_{\alpha}(s) E_{\alpha,\alpha}(-\mu s^{\alpha}), \quad s > 0,$$

where $E_{\alpha,\beta}$ denotes the generalized Mittag-Leffler-function defined in (5.53).

Let now $\omega > 0$ be a fixed constant and assume that

$$\mu \rho^{\alpha} \leq \omega.$$

By continuity and strict positivity of $E_{\alpha,\alpha}$ in $(-\infty, 0]$ we then have

$$0 < c_1 := \min_{z \in [0, \omega \sigma_3^{\alpha}]} E_{\alpha, \alpha}(-z) \le E_{\alpha, \alpha}(-\mu s^{\alpha}) \le \max_{z \in [0, \omega \sigma_3^{\alpha}]} E_{\alpha, \alpha}(-z) =: c_2, \quad s \in (0, \sigma_3 \rho).$$

Setting $C_i = C_i(\alpha, \omega, \sigma_3) = c_i \Gamma(\alpha), i = 1, 2$, we thus have

$$C_1 g_{\alpha}(s) \le r_{\alpha,\mu}(s) \le C_2 g_{\alpha}(s), \quad s \in (0,\sigma_3\rho).$$

$$(8.20)$$

Further,

$$\max_{s \in [0,\sigma_3\rho]} (g_{\alpha} * |\tilde{f}|)(s) \le |g_{\alpha}|_{L_{p'}([0,\sigma_3\rho])} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])} = C_3 \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])},$$
(8.21)

with

$$C_3 = \frac{\sigma_3^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}}}{\Gamma(\alpha)[(\alpha - 1)p' + 1]^{1/p'}}.$$

Using the functions φ and ψ from Section 8.2, we infer from (8.19), (8.20), and (8.21) that

$$\tilde{u}(s) \le C_2 \big(\varphi(s)u_0 + \psi(s) + C_3 \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])}\big), \quad s \in (0,\sigma_3\rho),$$
(8.22)

as well as

$$\tilde{u}(s) \ge C_1(\varphi(s)u_0 + \psi(s)) - C_2 C_3 \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])}, \quad s \in (0,\sigma_3\rho).$$
(8.23)

Suppose now that $s \in (\sigma_1 \rho, \sigma_2 \rho)$ and $\bar{s} \in (\sigma_2 \rho, \sigma_3 \rho)$. Employing (8.22), (8.23), and the estimates for φ and ψ from Section 8.2, we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}(s) &\leq C_2 \Big(\varphi(\bar{s}) u_0 + \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_1} \psi(\bar{s}) + C_3 \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])} \Big) \\ &\leq \frac{C_2 \sigma_3}{C_1 \sigma_1} \left(C_1[\varphi(\bar{s}) u_0 + \psi(s)] - C_2 C_3 \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])} \right) \\ &\quad + C_2 C_3 \Big(1 + \frac{C_2 \sigma_3}{C_1 \sigma_1} \Big) \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])} \\ &\leq \frac{C_2 \sigma_3}{C_1 \sigma_1} \, \tilde{u}(\bar{s}) + C_2 C_3 \Big(1 + \frac{C_2 \sigma_3}{C_1 \sigma_1} \Big) \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |\tilde{f}|_{L_p([0,\sigma_3\rho])}. \end{split}$$

We have thus proved the following result.

Theorem 8.4.1 Let $\omega > 0$ be fixed. Let $t_*, \mu \ge 0, 0 < \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \sigma_3$, and $\rho > 0$. Let further $\alpha \in (0,1), u_0 \ge 0$, and $f \in L_p([t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho])$ for some $p > 1/\alpha$. Assume that $\mu \rho^{\alpha} \le \omega$. Then there exists a positive constant $M = M(\alpha, p, \sigma_1, \sigma_3, \omega)$ such that for any function $u \in Z(t_*, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ that is nonnegative on $(0, t_* + \sigma_3 \rho)$ and that satisfies (8.17) there holds the inequality

$$\sup_{W_{-}} u \leq M \left(\inf_{W_{+}} u + \rho^{\alpha - \frac{1}{p}} |f|_{L_{p}([t_{*}, t_{*} + \sigma_{3}\rho])} \right).$$
(8.24)

Bibliography

- Bass, R. F.; Kassmann, M.: Harnack inequalities for non-local operators of variable order. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 357 (2005), 837–850.
- Bass, R. F.; Kassmann, M.: Hölder continuity of harmonic functions with respect to operators of variable order. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 30 (2005), 1249–1259.
- [3] Bazhlekova, E.: Fractional evolution equations in Banach spaces. Dissertation, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 2001.
- Bombieri, E., Giusti, E.: Harnack's inequality for elliptic differential equations on minimal surfaces. Invent. Math. 15 (1972), 24–46.
- [5] Caffarelli, L.; Silvestre, L.: An extension problem related to the fractional Laplacian. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 32 (2007), 1245–1260.
- [6] Caffarelli, L.; Silvestre, L.: Regularity theory for fully nonlinear integro-differential equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 62 (2009), 597–638.
- [7] Caputo, M.: Diffusion of fluids in porous media with memory. Geothermics 28 (1999), 113-130.
- [8] Caputo, M.: Mean fractional-order-derivatives, differential equations and filters. Ann. Univ. Ferrara Sez. VII (N.S.) 41 (1995), 73–84.
- [9] Chechkin, A. V.; Gorenflo, R.; Sokolov, I. M.: Retarding subdiffusion and accelerating superdiffusion governed by distributed order fractional diffusion equations. Phys. Rev. E (3) 66 (046129) (2002), 1–7.
- [10] Chechkin, A. V.; Gorenflo, R.; Sokolov, I. M.; Gonchar, V. Yu.: Distributed order time fractional diffusion equation. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 6 (2003), 259–279.
- [11] Clément, Ph.: On abstract Volterra equations in Banach spaces with completely positive kernels. Infinitedimensional systems (Retzhof, 1983), 32–40, Lecture Notes in Math., 1076, Springer, Berlin, 1984.
- [12] Clément, Ph.; Li, S.: Abstract parabolic quasilinear evolution equations and applications to a groundwater problem. Adv. Math. Sci. Appl. 3 (1994), 17–32.
- [13] Clément, Ph.; Gripenberg, G.; Londen, S.-O.: Regularity properties of solutions of fractional evolution equations. Evolution equations and their applications in physical and life sciences (Bad Herrenalb, 1998), 235–246, Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., 215, Dekker, New York, 2001.
- [14] Clément, Ph.; Londen, S.-O.; Simonett, G.: Quasilinear evolutionary equations and continuous interpolation spaces. J. Differ. Eq. 196 (2004), 418–447.
- [15] Clément, Ph.; Nohel, J.A.: Asymptotic behavior of solutions of nonlinear Volterra equations with completely positive kernels. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 12 (1981), 514–534.
- [16] Clément, Ph.; Prüss, J.: Completely positive measures and Feller semigroups. Math. Ann. 287 (1990), 73–105.
- [17] Clément, Ph.; Prüss, J.: Global existence for a semilinear parabolic Volterra equation. Math. Z. 209 (1992), 17–26.

- [18] Clément, Ph.; Zacher, R.: A priori estimates for weak solutions of elliptic equations. Technical Report (2004), Martin-Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Germany.
- [19] De Giorgi, E.: Sulla differenziabilità e l'analiticità delle estremali degli integrali multipli regolari. Mem. Accad. Sci. Torino. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. 3 (1957), 25–43.
- [20] DiBenedetto, E.: Degenerate parabolic equations. Springer, New York, 1993.
- [21] DiBenedetto, E.: Partial differential equations. Birkhäuser, 1995.
- [22] DiBenedetto, E.; Gianazza, U.; Vespri, V.: Alternative forms of the Harnack inequality for non-negative solutions to certain degenerate and singular parabolic equations. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Rend. Lincei (9) Mat. Appl. 20 (2009), 369–377.
- [23] DiBenedetto, E.; Gianazza, U.; Vespri, V.: Harnack estimates for quasi-linear degenerate parabolic differential equations. Acta Math. 200 (2008), 181–209.
- [24] DiBenedetto, E.; Gianazza, U.; Vespri, V.: Harnack type estimates and Hlder continuity for non-negative solutions to certain sub-critically singular parabolic partial differential equations. Manuscripta Math. 131 (2010), 231–245.
- [25] DiBenedetto, E.; Gianazza, U.; Vespri, V.: Subpotential lower bounds for nonnegative solutions to certain quasi-linear degenerate parabolic equations. Duke Math. J. 143 (2008), 1–15.
- [26] Dung, L.: Remarks on Hölder continuity for parabolic equations and convergence to global attractors. Nonlinear Analysis 41 (2000), 921–941.
- [27] Eidelman, S. E.; Kochubei, A. N.: Cauchy problem for fractional diffusion equations. J. Differ. Eq. 199 (2004), 211–255.
- [28] Erdélyi, A.; Magnus, W.; Oberhettinger, F.; Tricomi, F. G.: *Higher transcendental functions*. Vol. III. Based, in part, on notes left by Harry Bateman. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York-Toronto-London, 1955.
- [29] Gilbarg, D., Trudinger, N.: Elliptic partial differential equations of second order. Springer, 1977.
- [30] Grafakos, L.: Classical and modern Fourier analysis. Pearson Education Inc., Upper Saddle River, New Jersey 07458, 2004.
- [31] Gripenberg, G.: Volterra integro-differential equations with accretive nonlinearity. J. Differ. Eq. 60 (1985), 57–79.
- [32] Gripenberg, G.; Londen, S.-O.; Staffans, O.: Volterra integral and functional equations. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, 34. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [33] Hadamard, J.: Extension à l'équation de la chaleur d'un théorème de A. Harnack. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 3 (1954), 337–346.
- [34] Han, Q., Lin, F.: Elliptic partial differential equations. Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1, 1997.
- [35] Hilfer, R.: Fractional time evolution. in: Hilfer, R. (Ed.) Applications of fractional calculus in physics, 87–130, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 2000.
- [36] Hilfer, R.: On fractional diffusion and continuous time random walks. Phys. A 329 (2003), 35-40.
- [37] Jakubowski, V. G.: Nonlinear elliptic-parabolic integro-differential equations with L₁-data: existence, uniqueness, asymptotics. Dissertation, University of Essen, 2001.
- [38] Jakubowski, V. G.; Wittbold, P.: On a nonlinear elliptic-parabolic integro-differential equation with L¹data. J. Differential Equations 197 (2004), 427–445.
- [39] Husseini, R.; Kassmann, M.: Jump processes, *L*-harmonic functions, continuity estimates and the Feller property. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincar Probab. Stat. 45 (2009), 1099–1115.
- [40] Kassmann, M.: A priori estimates for integro-differential operators with measurable kernels. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 34 (2009), 1–21.

- [41] Kassmann, M.: The classical Harnack inequality fails for non-local operators. Preprint.
- [42] Kassmann, M.: Harnack inequalities: an introduction. Bound. Value Probl. 2007, Art. ID 81415, 21 pp.
- [43] Kassmann, M.: The theory of De Giorgi for non-local operators. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 345 (2007), 621–624.
- [44] Kilbas, A. A.; Srivastava, H. M.; Trujillo, J. J.: Theory and applications of fractional differential equations. Elsevier, 2006.
- [45] Kochubei, A. N.: The Cauchy problem for evolution equations of fractional order. Differential Equations 25 (1989), 967–974.
- [46] Kochubei, A. N.: Distributed order calculus and equations of ultraslow diffusion. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 340 (2008), 252–281.
- [47] Krylov, N. V.; Safonov, M. V.: An estimate for the probability of a diffusion process hitting a set of positive measure. (Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 245 (1979), 18–20.
- [48] Krylov, N. V.; Safonov, M. V.: A property of the solutions of parabolic equations with measurable coefficients. (Russian) Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 44 (1980), 161–175.
- [49] Ladyzenskaja, O. A.; Solonnikov, V. A.; Uralceva, N. N.: Linear and quasilinear equations of parabolic type. Translations of Mathematical Monographs 23, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I. 1968.
- [50] Landis, E. M.: Second order equations of elliptic and parabolic type. Translations of Mathematical Monographs 171, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998.
- [51] Lieberman, G. M.: Second order parabolic differential equations. World Scientific, London, 1996.
- [52] Lions, J. L.; Magenes, E.: Non-homogeneous boundary value problems and Applications. Volume I, Springer, Berlin, 1972.
- [53] Luchko, Y.: Maximum principle for the generalized time-fractional diffusion equation. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 351 (2009), 218–223.
- [54] Meerschaert, M. M.; Scheffler, H.-P.: Stochastic model for ultraslow diffusion. Stochastic Process. Appl. 116 (2006), 1215–1235.
- [55] Metzler, R.; Klafter, J.: The random walk's guide to anomalous diffusion: a fractional dynamics approach. Phys. Rep. 339 (2000), 1–77.
- [56] Moser, J.: A new proof of De Giorgi's theorem concerning the regularity problem for elliptic differential equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 13 (1960), 457–468.
- [57] Moser, J.: A Harnack inequality for parabolic differential equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 17 (1964), 101–134. Correction in Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 20 (1967), 231–236.
- [58] Moser, J.: On a pointwise estimate for parabolic differential equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 24 (1971), 727–740.
- [59] Naber, M.: Distributed order fractional subdiffusion. Fractals 12 (2004), 23-32.
- [60] Nash, J.: Continuity of solutions of parabolic and elliptic equations. Amer. J. Math. 80 (1958), 931-954.
- [61] Pini, B.: Sulla soluzione generalizzata di Wiener per il primo problema di valori al contorno nel caso parabolico. Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 23 (1954). 422-434.
- [62] Podlubny, I.: Fractional differential equations. Academic Press, San Diego, 1999.
- [63] Prüss, J.: Evolutionary Integral Equations and Applications. Monographs in Mathematics 87, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1993.
- [64] Prüss, J.: Maximal regularity for evolution equations in L_p-spaces. Conf. Semin. Mat. Univ. Bari 285 (2002), 1–39.

- [65] Roman, H. E.; Alemany P. A.: Continuous-time random walks and the fractional diffusion equation. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 27 (1994), 3407–3410.
- [66] Saloff-Coste, L.: Aspects of Sobolev-type inequalities. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 289, Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- [67] Samko, S. G.; Kilbas, A. A.; Marichev, O. I.: Fractional integrals and derivatives. Theory and applications. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Yverdon, 1993.
- [68] Scalas, E.; Gorenflo, R.; Mainardi, F.: Fractional calculus and continuous-time finance. Physica A 284 (2000), 376–384.
- [69] Schneider, W. R.; Wyss, W.: Fractional diffusion and wave equations. J. Math. Phys. 30 (1989), 134-144.
- [70] Silvestre, L.: Hölder estimates for solutions of integro-differential equations like the fractional Laplace. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 55 (2006), 1155–1174.
- [71] Sobolevskii, P.E.: Coerciveness inequalities for abstract parabolic equations. Soviet Math. (Doklady) 5 (1964), 894–897.
- [72] Song, R.; Vondraček, Z.: Harnack inequality for some classes of Markov processes. Math. Z. 246 (2004), 177–202.
- [73] Sokolov, I. M.; Chechkin, A. V., Klafter, J.: Distributed-order fractional kinetics. Acta Phys. Polon. B 35 (2004), 1323–1341.
- [74] Trudinger, N. S.: Pointwise estimates and quasilinear parabolic equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 21 (1968), 205–226.
- [75] Vergara, V.; Zacher, R.: Lyapunov functions and convergence to steady state for differential equations of fractional order. Math. Z. 259 (2008), 287–309.
- [76] Vergara, V.; Zacher, R.: A priori bounds for degenerate and singular evolutionary partial integro-differential equations. To appear in Nonlinear Analysis.
- [77] Wyss, W.: The fractional diffusion equation. J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986), 2782–2785.
- [78] Zacher, R.: Boundedness of weak solutions to evolutionary partial integro-differential equations with discontinuous coefficients. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 348 (2008), 137–149.
- [79] Zacher, R.: The Harnack inequality for the Riemann-Liouville fractional derivation operator. To appear in Math. Inequal. Appl.
- [80] Zacher, R.: Hölder estimates for weak solutions of fractional evolution equations with discontinuous coefficients. Preprint 2010.
- [81] Zacher, R.: Maximal regularity of type L_p for abstract parabolic Volterra equations. J. Evol. Equ. 5 (2005), 79–103.
- [82] Zacher, R.: Quasilinear parabolic integro-differential equations with nonlinear boundary conditions. Differential Integral Equations 19 (2006), 1129–1156.
- [83] Zacher, R.: A weak Harnack inequality for fractional differential equations. J. Integral Equations Appl. 19 (2007), 209–232.
- [84] Zacher, R.: A weak Harnack inequality for fractional evolution equations with discontinuous coefficients. Submitted 2009.
- [85] Zacher, R.: Weak solutions of abstract evolutionary integro-differential equations in Hilbert spaces. Funkcialaj Ekvacioj 52 (2009), 1–18.
- [86] Zeidler, E.: Nonlinear functional analysis and its applications. I: Fixed-point theorems. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986.
- [87] Zeidler, E.: Nonlinear functional analysis and its applications. II/A: Linear monotone operators. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1990.

Erklärung an Eides statt

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, keine anderen als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und die den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen als solche kenntlich gemacht habe.

Halle (Saale), 17. Juni 2010

Rico Zacher

Curriculum Vitae

Personal Details

Name: Date/Place of Birth: Nationality: Marital Status: Children:	Rico Zacher 04.12.1973, Weimar German married one daughter
Education	
1993 - 1999	studies in mathematics (major) and physics (minor), University Halle/S., Germany
Sept. 1995 – June 1996	visiting student, University College Cork in Ireland
Jan. 1999	diploma,
April 1999 – Febr. 2003	PhD student at the Department of Mathematics, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg
Febr. 2003	Defense of the PhD thesis: 'Quasilinear parabolic problems with nonlinear boundary conditions', Thesis Supervisor: Prof. J. Prüss
Positions	
June 2002 – July 2003	'Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter' (Research Assistant) MLU Halle
Aug. 2003 – present	'C1-Wissenschaftlicher Assistent' (Assistant Professor) MLU Halle
Oct. 2003 – March 2004	Postdoc at Technical University Delft, Netherlands (on leave in Halle)
Aug. 2006 – July 2007	Visiting Professor at Vanderbilt University, Nashville, USA (on leave in Halle)
Oct. 2009 – present	Substitute Professor (W2) at OvG University Magdeburg

Awards/Prizes/Scholarships

1992	winner of the Federal Competition in Mathematics
Oct. 1993 – March 1999	scholarship from the 'Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes'
Oct. 1999	Laudert Award of the Georg Cantor Organization
Nov. 1999 – March 2002	PhD scholarship from the 'Studienstiftung'
Aug. 2006 – July 2007	research fellowship from the 'Deutsche Forschungs-
	gemeinschaft' (DFG)

(on leave in Halle)

Halle, 17 June 2010